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From our beginnings as a 20 bed 

hospital in the early 1890’s to the 

present day, The Christie is renowned 

as a world pioneer in the care, 

treatment and research of cancer. 

 

Today we build on this legacy, translating 

innovation and research breakthroughs into 

very real patient benefits and continually 

raising standards and striving to improve 

the lives of the 44,000 plus patients we 

treat each year. 

 

Many of our advances and discoveries have 

become world defining moments. 

The development of the ‘Manchester 

Method’ of radium treatment in 1932 

became the international standard for 

radium treatment and still influences cancer 

treatment in the present day. 

 

Our leading work with breast cancer drug 

trials saw us conduct the first ever drug 

trial of Tamoxifen in 1970 which is still in 

use today and which millions of women 

have benefitted from. 

 

And more recently we have carried out the 

groundbreaking technique of umbilical cord 

stem cell transplants which replace 

patients’ damaged cells with blood stem 

cells from a newborn baby. 

 

All of these innovations ensure we continue 

to play a crucial role in the advancement of 

cancer treatment and care. 

Our charity continues to support the work 

of the Trust through its fundraising 

activities, and delivering projects, 

equipment and improvements that are in 

line with the Trust’s overall plans and 

strategy, but would not be affordable 

under the NHS.  

 

The contributions of our clinical and 

scientific staff to research, education and 

medical developments ensure that today’s 

work at The Christie is tomorrow’s 

treatments across the globe. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

About us  
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Our whole focus and aspiration at The 

Christie is to provide our patients with 

world class care and treatment, whilst 

driving forward internationally 

recognised research and education in 

cancer.   

 
Once again, thanks to the efforts and hard 

work of our wonderful staff, the past year 

has seen huge progress in these ambitions. 

We saw the opening of our £12m Palatine 

Treatment Centre which houses our 

teenage and young adult services and our 

haematology and transplant inpatients and 

as part of our plans to offer care closer to 

patients’ homes, The Christie at Wigan 

chemotherapy unit opened in partnership 

with Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS 

Foundation Trust and Macmillan. 

 

We also received positive feedback from 

patients about our service and standards of 

care, scoring extremely highly in both the 

National Inpatient Survey and the patient 

Friends and Family Test. 

 

The Christie plays a vital role in 

championing change and improvement in 

cancer care through research and 

innovation, education and progressive 

practice. We are extremely proud to be re-

accredited by the Organisation of European 

Cancer Institutes, which aims to improve 

the quality of cancer care and translational 

research. 

 

We have been at the forefront of advanced 

research for our 100 year plus history, and 

research continues to be a core component 

of our vision. So we were delighted to be 

the top recruiter of patients to clinical 

research trials in England. 

 

We are thrilled that Cancer Research UK has 

identified us, with our local academic 

partners, as one of two new pioneering 

research centres, alongside Oxford.  We are 

also one of the largest performers of 

commercial drug trials in the UK.   

 

Our exciting and ambitious plans for the 

future see The Christie becoming 

acknowledged as one of the top five 

comprehensive cancer centres in the world. 

We are looking forward to establishing the 

UK’s first NHS high energy proton beam 

therapy centre, opening a new Manchester 

Cancer Research Centre facility, as well as a 

new Maggie’s centre and the development 

of an integrated procedures unit on our site 

over the next few years. 

 

We will continue to develop our innovative 

care models delivering the best possible 

outcomes for our patients as we push 

ourselves to achieve more in terms of our 

care and support for patients and their 

families, as well as driving forward research 

and education. 

The national NHS Five Year Forward View 

sets out a vision of a better NHS, the steps 

needed to get there, and the actions 

Chair and Chief Executive’s 

statement 
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needed from all health providers to make 

this happen. 

 

As a specialist cancer hospital, we have an 

important contribution to make, both on 

our own and in our all-important 

collaborations with partner hospitals and 

community services in Manchester. For 

example, in building on our specialist 

clinical research and translating our 

discoveries to make rapid improvements in 

care and being at the forefront of offering 

our patients’ personalised care with better 

cure rates and fewer side effects.  

 

We couldn’t achieve any of this without all 

our staff, partners, governors, members, 

volunteers, patients and so many other 

groups we work with across both the 

Greater Manchester community as well as 

the UK and internationally. 

 

We thank you for your continued support, 

commitment and dedication ensuring we 

always remain true to our primary goal 

which is, and always will be, to provide the 

very best care and to develop treatments 

that increase the life expectancy and 

quality of life of our patients.  

 

 

 
Christine Outram 

Chair 

 

 
Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 
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The directors’ report is presented on 

behalf of the directors who served on 

the board during the year. The 

composition of the board of directors 

during 2014/15 was as follows: 

 

Sir Hugh Taylor 

Chair (until 30th September 2014) 

 

Christine Outram 

Chair (from 1st October 2014) 

 

Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive (interim until 4th March 

2015) 

 

Executive directors 

Jackie Bird 

Executive Director of Nursing & Quality 

 

Mr Anthony Blower 

Executive Medical Director 

 

Joanne Fitzpatrick 

Executive Director of Finance & Business 

Development 

 

Jason Dawson 

Interim Chief Operating Officer (from 6th 

January 2014) 

 

Non-executive directors (all considered 

by the board to be independent) 

Jennie Johnson (resigned 30th June 2014) 

 

Lee Childs (Senior NED - term of office 

ended 31st July 2014) 

Barrie Bernstein (resigned 2nd September 

2014) 

 

Patrick Loftus (resigned 2nd September 

2014) 

 

Dame Christine Beasley (interim from 12th 

May 2014) 

 

Kathryn Riddle (interim from 12th May 

2014) 

 

Neil Large (interim from 17th July 2014) 

 

Dr Ronald Stout (interim from 17th July 

2014) 

 

Jayne Brown (interim from 2nd October 

2014) 

 

Gender Number of 

directors*(substantive) 

% 

Female 6 54 

Male 5 46 

Total 11 100 

*Includes executive directors  
 

Signed on behalf of the board of directors 

 
Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 

28
th
 May 2015 

Composition of the board 
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We are always striving to achieve the 

very best care for our patients. 

Standards at The Christie are very high, 

but we are always seeking to improve. 

This year, further improvements have 

been made. Whether it’s the standard 

of our care, the methods of our 

research, or the effectiveness of our 

management, it all contributes to 

providing a better service to our 

patients.  

 

The following provides an overview of our 

achievements, and the improvements we 

made for our patients during 2014/15. 

 

Quality priorities for 2014/15 

1. To develop an electronic business 

intelligence solution for sharing quality 

outcomes with patients and the public. 

2. To implement quality surveillance tools 

and deliver focussed quality 

improvements in:  

(i) 95% of patients with pain are 

comprehensively assessed by March 

2015 

(ii) 10% reduction in Grade 2 hospital 

acquired pressure ulcers and 

maintenance of zero Grade 3 & 4 by 

March 2015 

(iii) 95% of patients have a documented 

oral care assessment by March 2015. 

3. To publish patient outcome data in the 

following three cancer diagnoses 

Breast, Upper Gastro-intestinal and 

Prostate. 

Key achievements in 2014/15 

 achievement of more than 85% of our 

outpatients being seen within 20 

minutes of their appointment time 

 achievement of more than 80% of 

patients being treated with 

chemotherapy within one hour 

 achievement of more than 90% of 

patients being treated with 

chemotherapy over 2 days 

 achievement of more than 80% of 

patients waiting no more than 20 

minutes turnaround time for their 

prescriptions in pharmacy   

 excellent results in the Friends and 

Family test of our patients 

recommending us as a place of care 

with an average score of 89 out of 100 

 significant improvement in the 

response rate of patients 

recommending The Christie for family 

and friends  

 excellent results in our Staff Friends and 

Family test with a result of 92% of staff 

would recommend The Christie as a 

place to work 

 significant reduction of patient harm by 

reducing the number of inpatient falls  

 we have received excellent results in 

the Care Quality Commission national 

inpatient survey 2014/15. For 36 

questions we scored better than most 

other trusts and for the other 22 

questions we performed the same. 

There were no questions where our 

performance was worse than other 

trusts   

Our performance 
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 achievement of 100% of our patients 

not in mixed sex accommodation 

without a justified reason 

 achievement of our quality goals 

agreed with our commissioners 

 achievement of all national cancer 

waiting times   

 

Managing effectively and quality of 

services 

1. We have achieved a net promoter score 

of +71 year to date in our patient 

satisfaction survey. 

2. In 2014/15 we had zero cases of MRSA 

bacteraemia.  

3. We have very low rates of infection for 

our patients whilst maintaining 

screening for MRSA to 100% of our 

inpatients. 

4. We achieved consistently low rates of 

Clostridium difficile infection for our 

patients, with just 4 attributable cases.  

 

Access to treatments 

 we have achieved all the national 

targets in 2014/15  

 we have consistently achieved the 

target thresholds for patients to spend 

no longer than 18 weeks from referral 

to treatment. 

 waiting times for routine computerized 

tomography (CT) and magnetic 

resonance (MR) diagnostic imaging 

have been consistently short 

throughout the year 

 

Efficiency 

 reconfiguration of treatments to 

provide more appropriate care for our 

patients in day case or outpatient 

settings rather than in inpatient beds. 

 maintaining an excellent financial risk 

rating 

 reducing drug wastage 

 

Patient eligibility and selection criteria 

Patients are eligible for free NHS treatment 

at The Christie NHS Foundation Trust if they 

are: 

1. Ordinarily resident in the UK, or 

2. Overseas visitors, but entitled to free 

NHS services under the National Health 

Service (Charges to Overseas Visitors) 

Regulations 2011 (as amended in 2012). 

 

Regulatory ratings 

Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework 

constitutes their approach to overseeing 

foundation trusts under licence rules.  

 

There are two types of assessment ratings: 

 a governance rating setting out 

Monitor’s degree of concern about the 

governance of a Trust. The new 

governance rating is now either Green 

or Red.  Red indicates formal 

intervention and Green no issues. There 

is also a ‘middle’ area which indicates 

there may be some concerns but no 

intervention 

 the continuity of services risk rating 

describing the risk of a provider of 

Commissioner Requested Services (CRS) 
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failing to carry on as a going concern. 

This represents Monitor’s view of the 

likelihood that a licence holder is, will 

be, or could be in breach of the 

continuity of services licence conditions.  

There are four rating categories ranging 

from 1, which represents the most 

serious risk, to 4, representing the least 

risk 

 

The summary table below shows the 

performance rating throughout the year 

with the expectation in our annual plan.   

 

Risks declared in 2014/15 

 Continuity 
of service 
risk 
 

Governance 
risk  

Annual plan 
2014/15   

4 Green 

Q1 2014/15   
 

4 Red 

Q2 2014/15   
 

4 Green* 

Q3 2014/15  
 

4 Green* 

Q4 2014/15   4 Green 

 

*In March 2014 Monitor issued the Trust 

with a section 105 notice of intervention 

following concerns raised about the 

governance of the board of directors, the 

suspension of the previous chief executive 

and the resignation of our previous 

chairman; this automatically red rated the 

Trust. The requirements of the notice were 

complied with and a certificate of the 

Trust’s return to full compliance with its 

license condition was issued on 18th 

November 2014. The Trust’s governance 

rating returned to green (backdated to Q2). 

In July 2014 our regulators, Monitor and the 

CQC, undertook a joint review following 

concerns raised with them. The review 

confirmed there were no serious 

governance failings or failings of culture at 

the Trust  

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/

Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20int

o%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%

20The%20Christie.pdf. 

 

One of the recommendations from the 

review was for the Trust to commission an 

independent external review of leadership 

and governance. This was carried out 

during Quarter 4 and the findings 

confirmed those of our Regulators  

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/1

5-

17b%20xindependent%20review%20report

.pdf. 

 

There is a requirement from Monitor for 

NHS Foundation Trusts to put in place a 

robust planning process to assess the risks 

to sustainability of high quality services and 

the options available to address any 

identified sustainability risks. The plan is 

required to set out the process for delivery 

including financial projections which are 

consistent and based on credible 

assumptions. A summary of our 5 year 

strategic plan can be viewed on our 

website at 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
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http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/654482/F

ive%20year%20strategy%20for2014-19.pdf    

 

We were also required to produce a 2 year 

operational plan which provided a robust 

analysis of our position articulating the key 

areas of focus. The operational plan 2014-

16 can be viewed on our website at 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/654839/

Operational%20Plan%202014-16.pdf  

 
Although NHS foundation trusts are 

expected to continually develop their 

strategies, in most cases this does not mean 

fully recreating them each year. In fact, 

Monitor would generally consider this 

counter-productive. Therefore a refreshed 

submission of the operational plan covering 

1 year which incorporates a focus on the 

Trust’s strategic context and resilience for 

the next 12 months ending 31st March 2016 

has been submitted.  

 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/654482/Five%20year%20strategy%20for2014-19.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/654482/Five%20year%20strategy%20for2014-19.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/654839/Operational%20Plan%202014-16.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/654839/Operational%20Plan%202014-16.pdf
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To take care of our patients we have to 

take care of the finances too. Every 

penny that we spend impacts on the 

wellbeing of the people we care for, so 

it’s really important that we manage 

our finances well.  

 

2014/15 was another strong year for the 

Trust financially and reflects the hard work 

and dedication from all of our staff to 

ensure our patients continue to receive the 

best quality services delivered in the most 

efficient and effective way.  

 

Financial highlights 

Metric Actual Monitor 

rating 

Capital 

Service 

Cover 

Times 3.35 4 

Liquidity 

Rating 

Liquidity 

Days 

69.3 4 

Weighted average rating 4 

Continuity 

of Service 

Risk Rating 

  4 

 

A Monitor rating of 4 indicates an 

organisation with the lowest risk of 

financial failure. 

 

Performance 

We are pleased to report that our financial 

results for the year ending 31
st
 March 2015 

were better than our plan. This is against 

the backdrop of a “tightening of the public 

purse” but with the absolute expectation of 

an increase in the quality and safety of the 

care we provide.  

 

Based on changes to accounting policy we 

are now required to consolidate our 

accounts with those of The Christie charity. 

This means that we now present Group 

accounts which combine the charity and the 

Foundation Trust alongside the Foundation 

Trust’s individual accounts. 

 

Our performance for the financial year 

ended 31
st
 March 2015 is shown overleaf. 

Financial performance 

2014/15 



The Christie Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 

 

15 

 

  Group Trust 

  
2014-15 

actual 

2013-14 

actual 

Year on 

year 

change 

2014-15 

actual 

2013-14 

actual 

Year on 

year 

change 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Total income 231.2 213.5 17.7 224.4 215.9 8.5 

Total operating expenditure 

(excluding depreciation) 
(213.2) (188.4) (24.8) (213.2) (188.4) (24.8) 

EBITDA 18.0 25.1 (7.1) 11.2 27.5 (16.3) 

Gain/(Loss) on revaluation and 

disposal of investment assets 
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Depreciation (11.1) (9.1) (2.0) (11.1) (9.1) (2.0) 

Dividend (2.5) (2.0) (0.5) (2.5) (2.0) (0.5) 

Interest (0.4) (0.5) 0.1 (0.6) (0.7) 0.1 

Share of loss of Joint Ventures 

accounted for using the equity 

method  

4.4 2.9 1.5 4.4 2.9 1.5 

Retained surplus 

(before exceptional items)  
8.4 16.3 (7.9) 1.4 18.5 (17.1) 

Exceptional items 4.5 (0.5) 5.0 4.5 (0.5) 5.0 

Retained surplus (defecit)  12.9 15.9 (3.0) 5.9 18.0 (12.1) 

* EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation**Exceptional items represent 

building asset impairment of £0.2m and reversal of impairments of £4.7m 
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The results deliver an overall continuity of 

service risk rating of 4 and represent 

increasing levels of activity and good cost 

control across all areas of the organisation.   

 

A 6.7% increase in total revenues has been 

delivered through improved productivity 

and efficiency. This has meant we were 

able to generate a surplus of £5.9m (£12.9m 

for the group).   

 

Activity and income 

The Trust receives the majority of its 

income for the delivery of patient care, 

£185m. Of this total, the Trust received 

£164.1m during the year from its sole 

English commissioner, NHS England. Total 

clinical income has increased by £23.8m 

14.7%) over the last 12 months. This 

represents significant investment by our 

commissioners in additional cancer 

treatments and the best safety and quality 

of care available for the population we 

serve.  

 

Income from the provision of NHS goods 

and services was greater than the income 

from the provision of goods and services 

for any other purposes.  Any surplus 

derived from the limited diversification of 

income has helped support the Trust in 

delivering highest quality healthcare 

services for our patients. 

Value for money and improved 

efficiency 

Our total operating expenses for the Trust 

(excluding depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment) rose during the year to 

£213.2m (£188.4m in 2013/14). Of this 

£98.7m was spent on staffing, ensuring we 

continued to attract and retain over 221 

doctors, 528 nurses, 476 scientific, technical 

and therapeutic staff and 329 health care 

assistants, as well as 745 support staff.  

 

Over 27.8% of our total operating expenses 

(excluding depreciation) was spent on 

chemotherapy and other cancer treatment 

drugs and has helped ensure our patients 

continue to have access to the latest 

treatments.   

 

The £5.9m surplus was achieved by 

delivering £5.0m of efficiency savings.  

These have been achieved through a 

combination of quality led service change, 

improved productivity, procurement and a 

reduction in wastage. 

 

Quality Innovation Productivity & 

Prevention (QIPP) 

QIPP is a national scheme supported by NHS 

England which is recognised as the major 

vehicle to encourage organisations to 

transform their services and deliver the 

savings required by the NHS. In 2014/15 the 

Trust delivered QIPP savings which were 

passed directly onto our commissioners 

through schemes such as the Improving 

Access to Medicines Scheme which saw the 
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redesign of the pathway for patients on 

long term oral chemotherapy treatments.  

 

Joint venture 

The Christie Clinic LLP was formed on the 15 

September 2010, and is a joint venture 

partnership with HCA (Healthcare America) 

for the provision of private oncology 

activity. 

 

The in year profit reported of £4.4m is as 

per the terms of the LLP membership 

agreement. The achievement of our profit 

share is due to increased activity, in 

particular chemotherapy.  

 

In June 2014 we entered into a second joint 

venture partnership with Synlab UK who 

are the UK divisions of one of the largest 

European independent providers of 

pathology services. The Christie Pathology 

Partnership (CPP) will allow the Trust to 

develop further its pathology services.  

 

Charitable funding 

We are fortunate to be supported in our 

activities by The Christie charity. These 

funds are administered by a separate 

charity for which the Board of Directors acts 

as corporate trustees. Based on accounting 

policy change the charity is considered a 

subsidiary and therefore there is a 

requirement to consolidate its accounts 

with that of the Foundation Trust. However 

the charity accounts will continue to be 

reported in its separate annual report. 

Over the past 12 months we spent £1.5m 

on capital projects from charitable grants 

and we received a charitable revenue 

contribution of £4.9m to enable us to 

enhance our services. Further information 

on contributions from the charity is 

provided on page 121. 

 

Value of our buildings 

All property, plant and equipment are 

measured initially by cost. All our assets are 

subsequently measured at fair value in line 

with our accounting polices. To ensure an 

independent and fair value of our estate 

we engage with the District Valuer (DV), 

who undertakes a review of our asset 

values. An increase in the building value 

indices in 2014/15 drove a revaluation of 

our assets of £7.3m which is recognised in 

Other Comprehensive Income in the 

accounts.  

 

Capital investment 

The Trust has continued to invest in its 

estate and equipment assets with another 

comprehensive capital investment 

programme for 2014/15. This includes the 

upgrade and replacement of two state of 

the art linear accelerators as part of our 

major asset replacement plan ensuring our 

patients have access to the latest 

treatments and imaging technology. We 

also successfully completed the upgrade of 

our Patient Administration System (PAS) 

and clinical information system.  
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We have also commenced work on future 

projects work such as the proton beam 

therapy unit which will see the introduction 

of the latest, most precise form of radiation 

treatment.  

 

Cash flow and balance sheet 

We ended the year with cash and 

investments balance of £48.4m (£92.7m for 

the group). This is a decrease on the 

previous year end and reflects the 

continued investment in our ambitious 

capital plan. 

 

Public sector payment policy – better 

payments practice code 

In accordance with the Better Payments 

Practice Code and government accounting 

rules, the Trust’s payment policy is to pay 

creditors within 30 days of the receipt of 

the goods or a valid invoice (whichever is 

the later) unless other terms have been 

agreed. The Trust paid 95% of non-NHS 

trade invoices within 30 days. (94% for the 

group). 

 

Trading environment and financial risks 

Whilst we have continued to maintain a 

healthy financial position during 2014/15, 

there have continued to be significant 

changes over the last 2 years in the external 

economic and political environment which 

will significantly impacted on our 

operational and strategic plans for the 

future.  

 

 

The implications for lower growth in health 

spending are continuing to be seen with a 

tariff deflator of 1.6% for 2015/16. Pay 

increases have been capped with those on 

low to mid pay bands receiving a 1% pay 

increase for 2015/16; and with all senior 

staff grades receiving a pay freeze. In 

addition we continue to feel the impact of 

rising prices particularly for new drugs and 

energy. Our plans for future years are 

taking all of this into account. 

 

Investment NHS 

funded        

£m 

Donated                    

£m 

Total                     

£m 

Land 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Building 1.71 0.50 2.21 

Dwellings 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Asset under 

construction 7.79 0.87 8.66 

Plant & 

machinery 2.40 0.14 2.54 

Transport 

equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 

IT including 

intangibles 2.69 0.00 2.69 

Total 14.59 1.51 16.10 
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2015/16 will also see continued 

developments in structure and tariff as 

Monitor reviews the current national 

payment mechanism. There is also a greater 

need to introduce efficiency schemes that 

benefit the trust and commissioners as the 

challenge to close the financial gap 

between income and costs intensifies. All of 

these changes pose financial risk and 

uncertainty for both us and our 

commissioners. Our English services 

commissioned under one contract held by 

NHS England , using the principle of fair 

balance of risk and reward which we have 

had in place over a number of years, we 

signed a contract with NHS England on 21st 

May 2015 which mitigates this risk for both 

parties and enables us to manage the 

impact on services. This is a testament to 

the strong relationship we hold with our 

commissioners which we will continue to 

foster throughout 2015/16. 

 

Our partnership with HCA International in 

The Christie Clinic continues to flourish and 

perform well, our forward plans anticipate 

further growth which will secure support 

for our NHS services.  

 

During 2015/16 we will continue to develop 

our plans for a national proton therapy 

service, which will bring significant 

additional investment into the local health 

system and significantly expand our service 

base. This was documented in the Trust 

operational plan which was submitted to 

Monitor on May 14th 2015. 

 

Going concern 

Based on current performance and 

assessment of the external NHS 

enviorment, the directors have a reasonable 

expectation that the Trust has adequate 

resources to continue in operation for the 

foreseeable future. For this reason they 

continue to adopt the going concern basis 

in preparing the accounts. 

 

External audit services 

PwC were appointed as our external 

auditors on 1st October 2012 for a period of 

three years. The contract had the option to 

extend for a further 2 years. It was agreed 

that the trust would take advantage of the 

option to extend for 1 further year; 

therefore the contract is due to expire on 

30th September 2016.  

 

We incurred £62k (£72k for the group) in 

audit service fees in relation to the 

statutory audit of our accounts for the 

period ending 31st March 2015.  

 

Non-audit services provided by the 

auditor 

Our external auditor provides non-audit 

services in limited circumstances in 

accordance with a policy recommended by 

the audit committee and approved by the 

council of governors.   Auditor objectivity 

and independence is safeguarded for any 

non-audit services provided by the auditor 

by limiting the fees arising from such work 

in any one year to £50k + VAT and ensuring 

that different auditors carry out the work.  
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PWC have provided external assurance on 

board governance, the review was 

completed in 2014-15 for a value of £50k + 

VAT.   

 

Countering fraud and corruption 

The board of directors attaches significant 

importance to the issue of fraud and 

corruption and has continued its increased 

investment during the year. Reported 

concerns have been investigated by our 

local counter fraud specialists in liaison 

with the NHS Counter Fraud and Security 

Management Service and the police as 

necessary. 

 

We work hard to maintain an anti-fraud 

culture and have a range of policies and 

procedures to minimise risk in this area.  A 

number of events were held over the year 

to highlight how staff can raise concerns 

and suspicions. As part of our mandatory 

training programme we ask staff to 

complete anti-fraud awareness training.  

Statutory framework  

This is the eighth set of annual financial 

results prepared since we became a 

foundation trust on 1st April 2007.  

Consistent with our statutory status these 

accounts have been prepared under a 

direction issued by the independent 

regulator Monitor.  In producing our 

financial statements there is no relevant 

information which has not been brought to 

the auditor’s attention so far as the 

directors are aware. 

In undertaking NHS business transaction 

the Trust has complied with the cost 

allocation and charging requirement set out 

in HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector  

Information Guidance. 
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Everything we do at The Christie is 

directed at achieving the best quality 

care and outcomes for our patients.  I 

am pleased to introduce this year’s 

quality accounts which build on a 

strong platform of high quality services. 

 

Part 1: Statement on quality from the 

Chief Executive  

Our track record of publishing information 

on the quality of our services continues, 

with our integrated quality and 

performance report available monthly and 

sharing data on each of the three 

components of quality, patient experience, 

safety and effectiveness of care.  This 

annual account shows the progress we 

have made over the past 12 months and 

our plans for the future. 

 

Through the hard work of all our staff we 

have achieved all national targets in 

2014/15.  During this year we reported 

regulators rating from Monitor as excellent 

for quality of care and full compliance with 

all the Care Quality Commissions outcome 

measures.  We continue to be one of the 

top scoring trusts for quality of care in the 

national inpatient survey. 

 

During the course of the year Monitor and 

the CQC both reviewed governance 

arrangements at the trust when concerns 

had been raised with them.  In addition to 

this the board commissioned an 

independent review of leadership and 

governance from Price Waterhouse Coopers 

(PWC).  Both reviews confirmed that there 

are no serious concerns about the 

governance and culture of our trust and can 

be found on our website 

www.christie.nhs.uk. We have been 

carrying out work recommended to move 

our arrangements from good to great. 

 

During the course of 2014/15 we have 

continued to work hard on presenting 

readily available information for our 

patients about the quality of our services.  

Excellent progress has seen the 

introduction of information screens outside 

each ward and department giving live 

information about safe staffing levels and 

current safety standards.  In addition we 

have introduced our Christie quality mark, 

developed by patients and awarded 

following assessment of chemotherapy 

units both at The Christie and in other 

hospitals that have met high standards of 

care that our patients expect. 

 

Our results show that we provide high 

quality care and we want to maintain this.  

However, it is the voices of patients that 

really make the difference both in assuring 

us that we get it right most of the time and 

more importantly letting us know when we 

get it wrong and allowing us to make 

changes.  We are extremely grateful to the 

many people who as health and social care 

partners, governors, members, patient 

representatives and our patients take the 

time to support and advise us. 

 

Our high standards  

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/
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The board of directors is strongly 

committed to building on our existing high 

standards of quality.  We aim to maintain 

our reputation for excellence throughout 

the coming years, especially when any 

additional resources available to the NHS 

next year will be very limited.  The board 

has a quality assurance committee which 

scrutinises and monitors our quality 

programmes.  Further assurance is given by 

our governors’ quality committee through 

which our council of governors supports 

and advises on current quality and priorities 

for the future. 

 

I am pleased to present this report to you 

and to certify the accuracy of the data it 

contains. 

 

 

Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive  

28th May 2015 
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Part 2: Priorities for improvement and 

statements of assurance from the board  

 

Quality priorities for 2014/15 

In 2014/15 we set ourselves three priorities 

for quality improvement:   

1. To develop an electronic business 

intelligence solution for sharing quality 

outcomes with patients and the public 

2. To implement quality surveillance tools 

and deliver focussed quality 

improvements in:  

(i) 95% of patients with pain are 

comprehensively assessed by 

March 2015;  

(ii) a 10% reduction in Grade 2 hospital 

acquired pressure ulcers and 

maintenance of zero Grade 3 & 

4 by March 2015;  

(iii) 95% of patients have a 

documented oral care 

assessment by March 2015 

3. To publish patient outcome data in the 

following three cancer diagnoses 

Breast, Upper Gastro-intestinal and 

Prostate 

 

Our priorities for improving quality in 

2014/15 were approved by the board of 

directors as part of our corporate objectives 

for the year, within the overarching context 

of our quality framework. The same 

approach will be taken to monitor our 

2015/16 priorities. 

 

These objectives are based on the 

milestones set out in our five year strategy 

and bring together national policy with 

internal clinical priorities (the quality plan 

can be seen on page 17) as well as feedback 

from stakeholders (clinicians, 

commissioners, local authorities, 

universities and members of Manchester 

Cancer) obtained through our regular 

stakeholders engagement.   

 

All three of our quality objectives for 

2014/15 have been achieved.  The 3 chosen 

are quality improvements that required the 

development of electronic solutions to 

provide the information in real-time and 

are part of the programme of ensuring our 

developments are for patient benefit 

allowing them to make an informed choice.   

 

The findings for the quality priorities are 

outlined overleaf: 
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Indicator 1: To develop an electronic business intelligence solution for sharing quality 

outcomes with patients and the public 

During 2014/15 the lead nurse for quality, along with the informatics team have worked to 

develop a real time information system to provide our patients and the public with ward level 

information. The electronic boards at the entrance to wards provide information on the 

staffing levels of registered nurses and health care assistants on a shift by shift basis showing 

planned staffing levels ‘v’ actual staffing levels including ‘red flags’ in line with the National 

Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidance.  

 

The boards also display the number of days since the last harm of a MRSA bacteraemia, 

(bloodstream infection), Clostridium difficile infection, patient falls and grade 2 and above 

hospital acquired pressure ulcers. The electronic boards also provide the results of the wards 

national Friends and Family Test score and narrative comments that patients have made about 

the care they have received on the ward. There has also been the opportunity to demonstrate 

quality improvement within the Trust and the screens have described, for example, the 

appointment of Specialist Nurses for dementia, diabetes and tissue viability, and their 

contribution to patient ‘s experience, safety and outcomes whilst being cared for in the 

hospital. 

 

The Executive Director of Nursing & Quality has an amalgamated electronic screen where she is 

able to view all of the wards and review staffing levels in real time and be assured that the 

staffing levels are correct for the patient dependency. This system has been revolutionary in 

providing accurate, real time visible data for our patients and their families. 

 

This indicator is a new quality initiative for The Christie and there is no previous data available.  

 

Indicator 2: To implement quality surveillance tools and deliver focused quality 

improvements in:  

 

(i) 95% of patients with pain are comprehensively assessed by March 2015 

 

The implementation of our clinical web portal nurse assessment forms (e-forms) commenced in 

December 2014. The chart below demonstrates full compliance of patients with pain 

comprehensively assessed since the introduction of the e-forms in December 2014. 
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We are now confident that the assessment of patients and their level of pain are captured, 

updated regularly and that a personalised care plan is implemented.  

(ii) a 10% reduction in Grade 2 hospital acquired pressure ulcers and maintenance of zero 

Grade 3 & 4 by March 2015  

 
At the end of 2014/15 we have achieved a 24% reduction against the planned reduction of 

10%. 

 

There has been one episode of a grade 3 pressure ulcer.  The pressure ulcer, following a full 

root cause analysis was deemed to be unavoidable as the patient refused to comply with care 

and education about reducing the risk of pressure ulcer development.  The information on 

preventing a pressure ulcer was provided by their consultant and named nurses.  

 

Pressure ulcers are graded according to the European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel (EPUAP) 

grading system from 1-4, with 4 being the most severe.  

 

Where pressure ulcers are diagnosed on admission, or within 72 hours of admission, these are 

excluded as they have been deemed not to be attributable to the care provided at the Trust. 

Only hospital acquired pressure ulcers are included in the indicator.  
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Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2013/14 Total 3 6 8 13 18 22 26 30 31 35 35 41

2014/15 Total 0 4 5 7 8 9 13 13 18 23 24 31

14/15 Reduction Trajectory 3 6 9 12 15 18 22 25 28 31 34 37
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(iii) 95% of patients have a documented oral care assessment by March 2015 
 

The implementation of our clinical web portal nurse assessment forms commenced in December 

2014. The chart below demonstrates full compliance on documented oral care assessments 

since December 2014. 
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Patients with 
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Like the pain assessments we are confident that all patients who require an oral care 

assessment because of their illness e.g. leukaemia or as a consequence of their treatment e.g. 

chemotherapy are having a timely assessment and a personalised care plan.  

 

Indicator 3: To publish patient outcome data in the following three cancer diagnoses: 

breast, upper gastrointestinal and prostate 

 

Cancer of the Breast 

The following report includes clinical outcomes data on breast cancer based on analyses of new 

cases for which clinicians have entered completed diagnosis and stage (DS) forms. The report 

focuses on new patients in 2013.  

 

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in the UK, accounting for 30% of all new cases of 

cancer in females (Cancer Research UK CRUK) 2014.  Breast cancer represents approximately 

18% of all new referrals for treatment at The Christie each year (based on 2014 Diagnosis and 

Stage (DS) forms and non-clinician entered Clinical Outcomes (ACOG), excluding patients 

attending peripheral clinics). Survival from breast cancer is high; 85% of women in England 

diagnosed with breast cancer survive at least 5 years (National Cancer Intelligence Network 

NCIN 2014), ten year survival is estimated to be 78% (CRUK 2014).  One year survival for 

women in England ranges from 100% (95% confidence levels (CIs) 97%-100%) for stage I 

disease to 67% (95% confidence incidents CIS) (65% - 69%) for stage IV disease (NCIN 2014).  

One year survival estimates for Christie breast cancer patients who are referred for primary 

treatment are similar to these national figures, ranging from 98% (95% CIs 95% - 99%) for 

stage I disease to 66% (95% CIs 55% - 75%) for patients with stage IV disease. 

 

As with all outcomes data, care should be taken when comparing Christie outcomes data with 

published national survival figures. The majority of breast cancer patients are referred to the 

Christie after receiving treatment such as surgery elsewhere and therefore the types of patients 

referred to the Christie are not entirely representative of the UK or England breast cancer 

population as a whole. Furthermore our data for breast cancers are not yet sufficiently mature 

for full outcomes analyses. One and two year survival is not very informative. Further work is 

needed on more long term survival and more breast specific analyses. We do not currently have 

sufficient follow up to undertake these analyses but this will be possible in the next couple of 

years. Furthermore national analyses of survival by stage are also relatively immature and will 

take some time before being robustly comparable to Trust level data.  

 

 

http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/incidence/commoncancers/#Twenty
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Christie clinical outcomes 

 

Breast cancer 

Around 2,500 patients are referred to The 

Christie each year with breast cancer. The 

average age of breast patients at The 

Christie is 63 years. 

 

Number of new breast patients in 2013 

 
 

Incidence 

The national incidence for breast cancer 

was estimated at 160 new cases per 100,000 

female population in 2012. Greater 

Manchester and Cheshire East had an 

estimated female population of 1.5M in 

2012 that translates to 2,500 expected new 

cases of breast cancer per year. 

 

To determine the efficacy of some 

treatment options, breast cancer can be 

sub-divided into groups based on presence 

or absence of the cells having hormone-

receptors and/or protein-receptors. 

Hormone-receptors can be further sub-

divided into oestrogen-receptors (ER) and 

progesterone-receptors (PR). The protein- 

receptor of most significance for breast 

cancer is human epidermal growth factor 2 

(HER2). The relative incidence of these 

types is shown below. 

 

Incidence by receptor type in 2013 
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12% 1% 10% 60% 83% 

HER2 

Positive 
6% 0% 4% 8% 17% 

Total 17% 1% 13% 68% 100% 

 

The majority of Christie patients are 

residents of the North West of England and 

in particular around the Greater Manchester 

and Cheshire East regions. A very small 

number of patients travel from outside the 

NW for treatment.  

 

Catchment area for 98% Christie 
patients. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Quality report 

 

29 

 

Size and depth of colour is relative to 

number of patients from the same area. 

 

Diagnosis 

Disease stage is a way of describing the size 

and spread of cancer. Stage 0 and I are 

small cancers which have not spread, stage 

IV is where the cancer has spread to other 

parts of the body. The chart below shows 

that almost three quarters of breast 

patients  that come to The Christie for 

treatment have early stage disease.  

 

Disease stage 

 

Christie treatment 

The type of treatment a patient will receive 

at The Christie will depend upon many 

factors which the clinician will discuss with 

the patient. The discussion will include the 

stage of disease at presentation, other 

health problems that the patient has at the 

time of treatment (comorbidities) and the 

patient’s ability to cope with the potential 

effects of the treatment. 

87% of Christie breast patients are referred 

for curative treatment. Of those receiving  

treatment with curative intent, 91% are 

referred for chemotherapy or radiotherapy 

prior to or following surgery at another 

hospital. The remainder patients receive 

chemotherapy or radiotherapy as their first 

treatment. 

 

Treatment intent by stages of cancer 

 

Comorbidities 

Comorbidities are illnesses and conditions  

that patients have (other than cancer) such 

as heart disease and respiratory problems 

that can impact on their treatment and 

likely outcomes. All Christie patients are 

regularly assessed for comorbidities on a 

scale of no comorbidities to severe 

comorbidities. Ninety percent of Christie 

breast patients have either no or only mild  

comorbidities. The most common 
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comorbidity among breast patients  is 

cardiovascular.   

 

Number of patients with comorbidities 
in 2013 

 
Survival outcomes 

Survival outcomes are also dependent on 

stage of disease. One year overall survival 

for all breast patients treated at The 

Christie is 93% measured from the date first 

seen at The Christie.  

 

Survival estimates for breast patients 
diagnosed with different stages of 
cancer 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cancers of the upper gastrointestinal 
tract  
The following report includes analyses of 

clinical outcomes data on cancers of the 

upper gastrointestinal tract (UGI) including 

cancers of the gastro-oesophageal junction 

(GOJ), oesophagus and stomach for 2013 up 

to mid-2014.  One year survival for these 

patients overall is estimated to be 59% 

(95% CI 55%-61%).  Oesophageal cancers 

make up over half  (55%) of the cases 

within the UGI diagnosis group at the 

Christie, cancers of the gastro-oesophageal 

junction (GOJ)  and stomach cancers making 

up 23% and 20% of cases respectively.  

There are also a small number of cancers of 

the duodenum.    

 

One year survival for oesophageal patients 

at The Christie is estimated at 59% (95% CI 

55% - 63%). One year survival for stomach 

cancer patients is 51% (95% 43%-58%).  

One year survival for GOJ cancers is 64% 

(95% CI 57%-70%).  One year survival for 

patients in the UK as a whole are estimated 

to be 42% for cancers of both the 

oesophagus and the stomach (CRUK 

published data for 2010-2011 diagnosis). 

Unfortunately it is not yet possible to make 

any direct comparisons of Christie survival 

statistics with population level estimates 

and patients at The Christie are not likely to 

be representative of the population as a 

whole.  The patients treated at The Christie 

have been discussed at the multi-

disciplinary team meeting (MDT) and 

agreed to be potentially suitable for 

chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy either 
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with curative or palliative intent.  Patients 

with a very poor prognosis will not be 

referred for treatment at The Christie and 

patients with a very good prognosis, for 

example T1N0M0 disease, will proceed 

directly to surgery without the need for 

chemotherapy. Therefore overall survival 

for The Christie patients is expected to 

differ from the entire population of UGI 

cancer patients. 

 

Comparisons of survival from hospital to 

population level need to take into account, 

at the very least, stage at diagnosis but 

also, ideally, other factors that will 

influence the treatment given.  As yet this 

level of detail is not available at the 

population level.  

 

Number of new upper gastrointestinal 
patients per year (2013 presentations)  
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Over 500 patients are referred to The 

Christie each year with a new diagnosis of 

upper gastrointestinal (UGI) cancer 

(including disease sites of the small bowel, 

stomach and oesophagus). There are more 

than 40 new clinical appointments each 

month. The average age of UGI cancer 

patients at The Christie is 68 years. 78% of 

UGI cancer patients are over 60 years old. A 

third (33%) of patients are female 

compared to two-thirds male (67%). 

 

Comorbidities 

 

Comorbidities are diseases, other than 

cancer, that a patient has that can impact 

on treatment and outcome. All Christie 

patients are regularly assessed for 

comorbidities on a scale of no comorbidities 

to severe comorbidities. Most Christie UGI 

cancer patients have either no 

comorbidities (36%) or mild comorbidities 

(31%). For UGI cancer patients in 2013, 

there was no correlation between severity 

of comorbidities and disease site or stage. 

However, severity increased with age (as 

would be expected). 

 

The majority of Christie patients are 

residents of the North West of England and 

in particular around the Greater Manchester 
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region. A small number of patients travel 

from outside the NW for treatment.  

 

Catchment area for 98% of Christie UGI 
patients  

 
Size and depth of colour is relative to the number of 

patients from the same area. 

 

Diagnosis 

Disease stage describes the size and spread 

of cancer. Stage 0 and I are small cancers 

which have not spread, stage IV is where 

the cancer has spread to other parts of the 

body. The chart below shows the stage of 

UGI cancer patients split by the three most 

commonly diagnosed UGI disease sites: 

gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ), 

oesophagus, stomach. 82% of patients who 

presented with stomach cancer in 2013 had 

stage IV disease. 

 

Disease stage 

 

Christie treatment 

The type of treatment a patient will receive 

at The Christie will depend upon various 

factors which the clinician will discuss with 

the patient. Factors will include the stage of 

disease at presentation, other health 

problems that the patient has at the time of 

treatment (comorbidities) and the patient’s 

ability to cope with the potential effects of 

the treatment.  

 

Treatment intent by stages of cancer  

(Patients diagnosed in 2013) 
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Around 80% of all upper gastrointestinal 

cancer patients in 2013 had stage III or IV 

disease.  

 

Survival outcomes 

Survival outcomes are dependent on stage 

of disease) and the patient’s  performance 

status (their general health and fitness).  All 

Christie patients are assessed for 

performance status (ECOG) using a scale of 

0 (patient is fully active) to 4 (completely 

disabled by poor health). Approximately 

50% of Christie upper gastrointestinal 

cancer patients who presented in 2013 had 

a performance status of 1 (restricted in 

physically strenuous activity). One year 

survival for all upper gastrointestinal 

patients treated at The Christie is 59%. 

 

Survival estimates for upper 
gastrointestinal cancer patients 
diagnosed with different stages of 
cancer between 2007 and 2013 
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Survival estimates for upper 
gastrointestinal cancer patients 
diagnosed 2007-2013 by level of fitness 
(ECOG performance status).  
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Cancer of the prostate 

The following report includes clinical 

outcomes data on prostate cancer based on 

analyses of new cases where diagnosis and 

stage (DS) forms have been completed by 

clinicians. The report focuses on new 

patients from January 2014 to March 2015 

and survival estimates include patients 

from January 2013 onwards.  

 

Prostate cancer is the most common cancer 

in men in the UK, accounting for 25% of all 

new cases of cancer in males (CRUK 2014).  

Prostate cancer represents approximately 

11% of all new referrals for treatment at 

The Christie each year (based on 2014 DS 

and ACOG forms, excluding patients 

attending clinics at our peripheral 

hospitals). Survival from diagnosis for 

prostate cancer is high; five year survival in 

the North West for men diagnosed in 2004-

2006 was 84%. One year prostate by stage 

at diagnosis in England ranges from 100% 

for stage I disease to 87% for stage IV 

(based on patients diagnosed in 2012).  One 

year survival for Christie patients who are 

referred for primary treatment are similar 

to these national figures, ranging from 99% 

(95% CIs 98% - 100%) for stage I disease to 

91% (95% CIs 85% - 95%) for patients with 

stage IV disease. 

 

As with all outcomes data, care should be 

taken when comparing Christie outcomes 

data with published national survival 

figures as the Christie prostate patient 

population is not entirely representative of 

the UK or England prostate cancer 

population as a whole. Furthermore our 

data for prostate cancers are not yet 

sufficiently mature for full outcomes 

analyses. One and two year survival is not 

very informative for prostate cancer and 

further work is needed on more long term 

survival and more prostate specific 

analyses, for example PSA free survival. We 

do not currently have sufficient follow up 

to undertake these analyses but this will be 

possible in the next couple of years. 

Furthermore national analyses of survival 

by stage are also relatively immature and 

will take some time before being robustly 

comparable to Trust level data.  

 

North West England incidence and 
Christie patients 
Approximately 5,000 new cases of prostate 

cancer are diagnosed each year in the North 

West of England1 which represent 

approximately 105 new diagnosis per year 

per 100,000 population. In the Greater 

Manchester region there are approximately 

101 new diagnoses per 100,000 population 

per year. Rates of prostate cancer in the 

North West are similar to those for England 

as a whole. Since January 2014,  2230 

prostate patients have been newly referred 

to The Christie for treatment. Median age 

of prostate cancer patients referred here 

since January 2014 was 69 years. 

 

Referrals to The Christie 

Prostate cancer patients at The Christie are 

predominantly referred for primary 

http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/incidence/commoncancers/#Twenty
http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/incidence/commoncancers/#Twenty
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treatment given either with curative intent 

(72% of referrals) or as palliative care 

(13%). The remainder of patients receive 

their primary treatment elsewhere and then 

are referred for secondary radical treatment 

or palliative care after their disease has 

progressed. The majority (97%) of Christie 

patients are residents of the North West of 

England and in particular around the 

Greater Manchester region. A small number 

of patients travel from outside the NW for 

treatment.  

 

Age distribution of prostate patients 
(2014-2015 new presentations) 
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Diagnosis by disease stage 

Disease stage describes the size and spread 

of cancer. Stage 0 and I are small cancers 

which have not spread, stage IV is where 

the cancer has spread to other parts of the 

body. Prostate cancers are staged using the 

UICC TNM Classification (version 7). The 

majority of Christie patients with prostate 

cancer who are referred for primary 

treatment present with stage I disease. 

Among those that are referred following 

treatment elsewhere, 60% have metastatic 

disease and receive palliative care.   

 

Number of new Christie patients with 
prostate cancer  

 
Depth of colour is relative to the number of patients 

from the same CCG.  

 

Distribution of stage at diagnosis for 
new patients (2014-2015) referred to 
The Christie for primary treatment 
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(Based on patients for whom DS forms are 

available). Numbers above each bar are 

percentage of patients in each stage group.   

 

Performance status and comorbidities 

All Christie patients are assessed for 

performance status (ECOG) using a scale of 

0 (patient is fully active) to 4 (completely 

disabled by poor health). Patients are also 

assessed for their comorbidity status. 

Comorbidities are diseases that a patient 

has, other than cancer, that can impact on 

treatment and outcome. Comorbidity status 

is measured on a scale of 1 (no comorbidity) 

to 4 (severe comorbidity). Among prostate 

cancer patients for whom data have been 

captured in this way, the majority have 

either no comorbidity or mild comorbidity 

and a performance status of 0 or 1. 

 

Survival outcomes 

One year survival from date of diagnosis 

for cancers of the prostate in England is 

estimated to be 93.6%. In the North West 

of England one year survival was estimated 

at 96%1. Five year survival in the North 

West for men diagnosed in 2004-2006 was 

84%. This is comparable to 84% five year 

survival for England as a whole.  

 

Survival is dependent on stage of disease at 

diagnosis and the patient’s performance 

status (their general health and fitness).  

These factors should be taken into account 

when interpreting outcomes. One year 

prostate cancer survival by stage in England 

ranges from 100% for stage I disease to 

87% for stage IV cancer (based on patients 

diagnosed in 2012). 

 

Comorbidity and performance status 

for prostate cancer patients referred 

since January 2014  

31.8 26.2 6.7 0.8

5.8 13.1 6.6 1.8

0.4 1.7 2.8 1.2

0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3

0.2 0.1 0.1
ECOG 4

ECOG 3

ECOG 2

ECOG 1

ECOG 0

No comorbidity
Mild comorbidity

Moderate comorbidity
Severe comorbidity

No Previous Treatment

 
 

22.1 14.1 2.3

8.5 13.1 7.5 1.4

2.8 7.5 4.2 0.5

2.3 3.3 3.8 4.7

0.9 0.5 0.5
ECOG 4

ECOG 3

ECOG 2

ECOG 1

ECOG 0

No comorbidity
Mild comorbidity

Moderate comorbidity
Severe comorbidity

Post Previous treatment

 
(based on DS forms) by treatment status at time of 

referral. 
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Survival estimates for prostate cancer 

patients referred to The Christie with 

no previous treatment 2013 – 2014 by 

stage at diagnosis  
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(Based on patients with DS forms only - follow up to 

end of March 2015). 

 

Survival estimates for prostate cancers 

patients referred to The Christie with 

local disease or metastatic disease after 

treatment elsewhere.   
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Survival is estimated from time first seen at The 

Christie (2013-2014) (based on patients with DS forms 

only) with follow up to March 2015) 

One year survival for prostate cancer for all 

patients presenting to The Christie for 

primary treatment  is estimated to be 98% 

(95% CIs 97% - 99%) with one year survival 

ranging from 99% (95% CIs 98% - 100%) 

for stage I disease to 91% (95% CIs 85% - 

95%) for patients with stage IV disease (Fig 

4). For patients who present to the Christie 

after receiving treatment elsewhere, we are 

interested in survival from their first 

referral date (Fig 5). One year survival from 

date first seen for these patients is 

estimated to be 94% (95% Cis 83% - 98%) 

for patients with local disease (no 

metasteses) and 36% (95% CIs 25% -48%) 

for patients with metastatic disease. 
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The Trust’s five year strategy has four 

themes those of: 

 

 Leading Cancer Care    

 The Christie Experience 

 Local & Specialist Care 

 Best Outcomes 

 

From these themes and from the quality 

plan, three quality objectives have been 

chosen and these have taken account of the 

comments of our staff, our patients and the 

public. 

 

In deciding the three quality improvements 

for 2015/16 we have taken account of 

national priorities such as the abolition of 

the Liverpool care of the dying pathway 

and the introduction of personalised care 

plans for patients in the last days of life.   

Regional priorities working with the 

Academic Health Science Network (ASHN) 

on medicines optimization ensuring that 

chemotherapy treatment outcomes are 

analysed and changes to practice made as 

required.  The local priority is focusing on 

the development of two patient reported 

outcome measures for lung cancer patients.  

This local priority was chosen, as nationally 

there are no agreed patient reported 

outcome measures for cancer patients and 

therefore this could help us in 

understanding more the patient’s views of 

their treatment and pathway of cancer care 

and treatment.  

 

 

Our quality ambitions for 2015/16  

 

1) To develop and pilot two patient 

reported outcome measures 

(PROMs) for lung cancer patients 

 

2) 95% of patients recognised as dying 

will have documented evidence of: 

 Confirmation of dying by a 

senior doctor; 

 Daily medical reviews; 

 Senior Medical review at least 

every three days; 

 A nursing review every 4 hours. 

 

3) The breast and colorectal clinical 

teams will use the national Systemic 

Anti-Cancer Therapy (SACT) dataset 

to review clinical practice. This data 

along with data collected by the 

clinical outcomes unit will be used 

to demonstrate more than before 

how patients respond to their 

chemotherapy treatment. 
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Quality plan 2015/16 
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Statements of assurance from the board 

 

Review of services 

During 2014/15 The Christie provided 14 relevant health services: 

1. Critical care 

2. Haematology and transplantation 

3. Specialist surgery 

4. Endocrinology 

5. Clinical oncology 

6. Medical oncology 

7. Acute oncology 

8. Chemotherapy 

9. Radiotherapy including intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) and  image guided 

radiotherapy (IGRT) 

10. Brachytherapy and molecular imaging  

11. Teenage and young oncology 

12. Radiology 

13. Pathology  (this became a joint venture in June 2014)  

14. Christie Medical Physics & Engineering 

 

The Christie has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in all 14 of these 

relevant health services. This takes place through monthly performance reviews and at our 

Management Board and Risk and Quality Governance committee. The Board of Directors review 

the information each month and annually spends a day undertaking an in-depth review of all 

services 

 

The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2014/15 represents 100% of 

the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by The Christie for 

2014/15. 

 

The data reviewed covers the three dimensions of quality, patient safety, clinical effectiveness 

and patient experience.   

 

Participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries 

During 2014/15 twelve clinical audits listed, and two national confidential enquiries covered 

relevant health services that The Christie provides.                                 
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During 2014/15 The Christie participated in 100% national clinical audits and 100% national 

confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.  

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that The Christie was eligible to 

participate in during 2014/15 are as follows:  

1. BTS (PP) – British Thoracic Society – Pleural procedures 

2. DAHNO - National head and neck cancer audit  

3. ICNARC (CMP) - Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre Case Mix Programme  

4. NBOCAP - National bowel cancer audit  

5. NLCA – National lung cancer audit  

6. NOGCA – National oesophageal cancer audit (AUGIS)  

7. NPCA – National prostate cancer audit  

8. NCAA – National Cardiac Arrest Audit  

9. NCABT (PIC) – patient information and consent 

10. NELA - National Emergency Laparotomy Audit  

11. NCEPOD – Sepsis 

12. NCEPOD - Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage 

 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that The Christie participated in, 

and for which data collection was completed during 2014/15, are listed below alongside the 

number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of 

registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry. 

 

Name of audit or enquiry 
Numbers submitted 

(eligible) 
Percentage of eligible 

submitted 

BTS (PP) 11 (11) 100% 

DAHNO 272 (272) 100% 

ICNARC (CMP) 258 (258) 100% 

NBOCAP 67 (67) 100% 

NLCA 1171 (1171) 100% 

NOGCA 268 (268) 100% 

NPCA 39 (39) 100% 

NCAA 6 (6) 100% 

NCABT (PIC) 68 (68) 100% 

NELA 17 (17) 100% 

NCEPOD (Sepsis) 0 (0) 100% 

NCEPOD (Gastrointestinal 

Haemorrhage) 

1 (2) 50% 
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The reports of 10 national clinical audits were reviewed by The Christie in 2014/15 and The 

Christie intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided 

(see appendix 1 for actions).     

 

The reports of 160 local clinical audits were reviewed by The Christie in 2014/15 and The 

Christie intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided 

(see appendix 1 for actions). 

  

Participation in clinical research 

The Christie has a long history of supporting research; this was recognised in 2007 with the 

creation of the Research and Development Division which serves a population of 3.2 million 

and is the largest cancer research network in the country.  The success of research is 

demonstrated by continued high recruitment of patients into clinical trials.  

 

The number of patients receiving health services provided or sub-contracted by The Christie in 

2014/15, that were recruited during this period to participate in research approved by a 

research ethics committee was 1830.  Our recruitment is slightly down on last year when we 

achieved 1960 patients recruited into trials.  This is due to the complexity of trials increasing 

and also more targeted therapies being made available. There has however been a 50% 

increase in Phase I trials that have been opened at The Christie during the last financial year. 

 

Quality goals and the CQUIN framework 

A proportion of The Christie’s income in 2014/15 was conditional upon achieving quality 

improvement and innovation goals agreed between The Christie and any person or body they 

entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health 

services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework.  Further 

details of the agreed goals for 2014/15 and for the following 12 month period are available 

electronically at: http//www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk 

 

The total amount of income in 2014/15 that The Christie received was conditional upon 

achieving the CQUIN goals was £3,858,600. All the CQUINs were fully achieved in 2014/15.  In 

2013/14 the total amount of income that The Christie NHS Foundation Trust received that was 

conditional upon achieving the CQUIN goals was £3,577,457.  
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 Category Quality requirement Threshold / compliance 

criteria 

Reporting 

frequency/ 

implement-

ation date 

Performance 

March 2015 

National 

CQUINS 

Friends and 

family 

Implementation of staff FFT 

as per guidance, according 

to the national timetable 

Commissioner signoff June 2014 Achieved 

Full delivery of FFT across all 

services delivered by the 

provider as outlined in 

guidance 

October 2014 Achieved 

Increased or maintained 

response rate in providers 

A response rate for 

quarter 1 that is at least 

25% for inpatient 

services 

Monthly Achieved 

A response rate for 

quarter 4 that is at least 

30% for inpatient 

services 

Annual  Achieved 

Safety 

thermometer 

Completion of monthly audit 95% Monthly Achieved 

Reduction in the prevalence 

of pressure ulcers 

38 Annual Achieved 

Dementia 

Screening 90% per month Monthly Achieved 

Risk assessments 90% per month Monthly Achieved 

Specialist referrals 90% per month Monthly Achieved 

Clinical leadership & 
appropriate training plan 

Deliver training plan Annual Achieved 

Carer support Undertake audit 6 monthly  Achieved 

Local CQUINS 

Survivorship Implement steps/projects to 

assist patients with care and 

support post treatment 

Commissioner signoff Quarterly Achieved 

Acute 

oncology 

Co-ordination of pathways 

between local/acute 

providers 
Commissioner signoff Quarterly Achieved 

Provide best patient 

outcomes 

Improve quality of care 

Supportive 

care initiative 

Improving the care of 

patients with advanced 

progressing disease 

Commissioner signoff Quarterly Achieved 

Patient 

dashboard 

Promote open and honest 

care agenda and provide 

transparency to patients and 

visitors by implementing 

electronic displays for every 

ward providing patients and 

visitors information 

Provide patients and 

visitors information on: 

list of nurses on duty, 

ward information, 

Friends and Family Test, 

ward improvement 

activity, days since last 

CDIF/MRSA infection, 

compliance against harm 

freecare quality 

improvement targets, 

performance against 

Christie CODE quality 

Annual Achieved 
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surveillance tools 

Patient held 

records 

Assist chemotherapy 

patients with information 

and symptom management 

of their care 

Prototype of solution to 

be outlined to 

commissioners 

6 monthly Achieved 

7 day 

working 

Work towards consultation 

reviews within 24 hours of 

admission for all non-

elective admissions 

Agree baseline / develop 

electronic assessment 

tool / ensure all 

emergency patients are 

seen within 24 hours by a 

consultant 

Quarterly Achieved 

Long term 

follow up in 

specialist care 

Reducing the number of 

patients on long-term follow 

up following specialised 

cancer treatment and its 

associated side effects 

within an NHS specialised 

service attending the tertiary 

centre for their follow-up 

20% of suitably 

identified prostate 

patients 

Quarterly Achieved 

20% of suitably 

identified endocrinology/ 

thyroid patients 

Quarterly Achieved 

30% of suitably 

identified lymphoma 

patients 

Quarterly Achieved 

Quality 
requirements 

Preventing 
people dying 
prematurely 

Clinical outcomes and 
survival rate data 

Commissioner signoff 6 monthly Achieved 

Enhancing 
the quality of 
life of people 
with long 
term 
conditions 

‘Look good, feel better’ 
initiative – success 
monitored through patient 
feedback systems 

Commissioner signoff Annual Achieved 

Helping 
people to 
recover from 
episodes of 
ill-health or 
following 
injury 

Survivorship programme and 
‘life ahead’ plans – success 
monitored through patient 
feedback systems 

Commissioner signoff Annual Achieved 

Ensuring that 
people have a 
positive 
experience of 
care 

Annual Cancer Patient 
Experience Survey 

Commissioner signoff Annual Achieved 

Treating and 
caring for 
people in a 
safe 
environment 
and 
protecting 
them from 
avoidable 
harm 

90 day mortality following 
completion of radical or 
adjuvant radiotherapy at 
The Christie 

% survival rate Monthly  
(3 month lag) 

Achieved 

30 day mortality following 
chemotherapy at The 
Christie 

% survival rate Monthly  
(1 month lag) 

Achieved 

Wrong route chemotherapy Zero Monthly  
 

Achieved 

30 day mortality following 
palliative radiotherapy 

% survival rate Monthly  
(1 month lag) 

Achieved 

30 day survival following 
major surgery 

% survival rate Monthly  
(1 month lag) 

Achieved 

Duty of 
candour 

Patient safety 
reporting 

To ensure that responsible 
commissioner is notified of 
every suspected or actual 
Reportable Patient Safety 
Incident 

Reported to 
commissioners 

Within 2 days 
of incident 

Achieved 
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Care Quality Commission  

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission 

(CQC) and its current registration status is registered to provide diagnostic and screening 

procedures, treatment of disease, disorder or injury and assessment or medical treatment for 

persons detained under the Mental Health Act 1983.  The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has no 

conditions on registration. 

 

The Christie has participated in a joint preliminary review by the Care Quality Commission and 

Monitor relating to the Governance of the Board of Directors during 2014/15. In March 2014 

Monitor issued a 105 notice of intervention following concerns raised about the governance of 

the board of directors because of the suspension of the previous chief executive and the 

resignation of its chairman Lord Bradley.  The notice of intervention required the appointment 

of Sir Hugh Taylor as chairman and regular reporting to Monitor of progress with board 

governance.  These requirements were complied with and a notice of the Trust’s return to full 

compliance with its license condition was issued on 18th November 2014. 

 

In July 2014 concerns were raised with Monitor and the CQC that the Trust was failing to 

respond to issues raised by staff which could constitute governance and poor culture failings.  

Following a joint review by both regulators including a combined visit to the Trust and staff 

meetings, they issued a report Monitor/CQC review.  This confirmed that there were no serious 

governance failings or failings of culture.  It also identified areas of good practice and areas 

where improvements could be made.  A coordinated plan to do this has been enacted and can 

be found at Monitor/CQC improvement plan.  At no time have there been any concerns about 

the standards of care and treatment of patients and services identified. 

 

In consideration of the Risk Assessment Framework requirements set out by the regulator and 

following both of these events, the Board of Directors commissioned an independent review of 

leadership and governance.  This was carried out by PwC during Quarter 4.  The findings also 

confirm that there are no serious failings of governance or culture at the Trust.  The review 

identifies a number of areas of good practice and makes recommendations aimed at moving 

our leadership and governance arrangements from good to great.  

 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against The Christie NHS 

Foundation Trust during 2014/15. 

 

CQC special reviews   

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in special reviews or investigations by 

the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas during 2014/15  

 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20plan%20Jan%202015.pdf
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CQC responsive inspection  

The Christie NHS Foundation trust has not been part of any responsive inspections during 

2014/15. 

 

Data quality   

The Christie submitted records during 2014/15 to the secondary uses service (SUS) for inclusion 

in the hospital episode statistics which are included in the latest published data.  The 

percentage of records in the published data: 

 

 % of records in published 
data which included the 
patient’s valid NHS number 

% of records in published data 
which included the patient’s 
valid general practitioner 
registration code 

Admitted patient care 99.8% 100% 

Outpatient care 98.7% 100% 

Accident and emergency care Not applicable Not applicable 

 

Information governance  

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust’s information governance assessment report overall score 

for 2014/15 was 81% and was graded as green. 

 

Payment by Results updated 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust was subject to the Payment by Results (PbR) clinical coding 

audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission and the error rates reported in the 

latest published audit for that period for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) were: 

 

2013/14 
  

% correct 

Primary diagnosis 87.90% 

Secondary diagnosis 90.00% 

Primary procedure  91.80% 

Secondary procedure 71.10% 

The above results should not be extrapolated further than the actual sample audited, and they 

were based on a sample size of 200 sets of casenotes relating to 200 finished consultant 

episodes (FCEs).  The split of patients looked at was apportioned across two different 

specialties and across two areas including; co morbidities and complications.    

100 FCE’s – Urological 

100 FCE’s – Infectious diseases 

2014/15 % correct 

Primary diagnosis 97% 

Secondary diagnosis 98% 

Primary procedure 93% 

Secondary procedure 99% 
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Data quality  

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following actions to improve data quality: 

 Continuous weekly data quality reporting.  

 Data collection processes well established in the overwhelming majority of disease groups. 
The final few are in progress.  

 Additional data cleansing undertaken to ensure successful data migration into the new 
clinical systems 

 

Reporting against core indicators 

 

NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

The value and 
banding of the 
summary hospital-
level mortality 
indicator (‘SHMI’)  
The percentage of 
patient deaths with 
palliative care coded 
at either diagnosis or 
specialty level 

Preventing people 
from dying 
prematurely.  

 
 
 
Enhancing quality 
of life for people 
with long-term 
conditions. 

Not applicable to The Christie as this is a tertiary 
centre 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this indicator is not applicable to the Trust as all 
our patients have a cancer diagnosis and are not part of the inclusion criteria. 

 

 

NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

The Trust’s patient 
reported outcome 
measures scores for: 

i. groin hernia 
surgery 

ii. varicose vein 
surgery 

iii. hip replacement 
surgery 

iv. knee-replacement 
surgery 

Helping people 
to recover 
from episodes 
of ill health or 
following 
injury 

This is not applicable to The Christie as we are a 

specialist cancer hospital. 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this indicator is not applicable to the Trust as all 
our patients have a cancer diagnosis and are not part of the inclusion criteria. 
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NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

The percentage of 
patients aged: 

i. 0 to 15 

ii. 16 or over 
Readmitted to a hospital 
which forms part of the 
Trust within 28 days of 
being discharged from 
hospital which forms part 
of the Trust.  

Helping people 
to recover 
from episodes 
of ill health or 
following 

injury 

This is not applicable to The Christie as we are a 

specialist cancer hospital. 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this indicator is not applicable to the Trust as all 
our patients have a cancer diagnosis and are not part of the inclusion criteria. 

 

 

NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2012/13 

The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

National 

average 

 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

The Trust’s 
responsiveness to the 
personal needs of its 
patients 

Ensuring 
that 
people 
have a 
positive 
experience 
of care 

83.9% 82.6% 68.7%  
H - 84.2% 
L  - 54.4% 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: to show the percentage of patients receiving a good experience of care whilst under the 
care of The Christie.  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above 
target and to take any remedial action if required. This will be reviewed through monthly Board 
level scrutiny of patient satisfaction surveys and the National Friends and Family Test. 
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NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

The percentage of staff 
employed by, or under 
contract to, the Trust 
who would recommend 
the Trust as a provider of 
care to their family or 
friends.   

Ensuring 
that 
people 
have a 
positive 
experience 
of care.  

90%  92% 65% 
H - 93% 
L -  38% 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: to show the percentage of staff who would recommend The Christie as an organisation 
that provides good quality care for their family or friends.  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above 
target and to take any remedial action if required. This will be reviewed through quarterly Board 
level scrutiny of the outcomes of the National Friends and Family Test. 

 

 

NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 (net 

promoter 

score) 

National 

average 

(2014/15) 

(net 

promoter 

score) 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

(net 

promoter 

score) 

The percentage of 
patients admitted as an 
inpatient to the Trust 
who would recommend 
the Trust as a provider 
of care to their family or 
friends.   

Ensuring 
that 
people 
have a 
positive 
experience 
of care.  

85%  89.6% 
 

73.3% 
 

 H 98.2% 
 L  33.4% 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: to show the percentage of patients admitted to the Trust who would recommend The 
Christie as an organisation that provides good quality care for their family or friends.  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above 
target and to take any remedial action if required. This will be reviewed through monthly Board 
level scrutiny of the National Friends and Family Test. 
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NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

(2012) 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

Percentage of patients 
who were admitted to 
hospital and who were 
risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism  

Treating and 
caring for 
people in a 
safe 
environment 
and protecting 
them from 
avoidable 
harm.  

98% 96%  

96% 
(based 
on Q1-
Q3 on 
UNIFY) 

H -100% 
L -  88% 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: to show the percentage of patients admitted to The Christie that have had a full risk 
assessment of venous thromboembolism. 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above 
target and to take any remedial action if required. This will be reviewed through monthly Board 
level scrutiny of the results of the venous thromboembolism assessments on admission. 

 

 

NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

(2013/14) 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

Rate per 100,000 bed 
days of cases of  
C. difficile infection 
reported within the Trust 
amongst patients aged 2 
or over.   

Treating and 
caring for 
people in a 
safe 
environment 
and protecting 
them from 
avoidable 
harm. 

6.14 7.73  
 

14.7 
 

H -37.1 
L -  0 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: to show the rate of C. difficile infection reported at The Christie and that they are kept 
at a minimum and below our agreed set trajectory.  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above 
target and to take any remedial action if required. This will be reviewed through monthly Board 
level scrutiny of the results of the C. difficile numbers and through the monthly review with our 
commissioners. 
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NHS Outcomes 

Framework 

Indicator The Christie 

performance 

2013/14 

The Christie 

performance 

2014/15 

National 

average 

(2014/15) 

National 

highest/ 

lowest 

The number and, where 
available, rate of patient 
safety incidents reported 
within the Trust, and  
 
The number and 
percentage of such 
patient safety incidents 
per 100 admissions that 
resulted in severe harm 
or death.  

Treating and 
caring for 
people in a 
safe 
environment 
and protecting 
them from 
avoidable 
harm. 
 

 
1794 

incidences 
 
 

5 incidents 
0.028% 

 
1530 

incidences 

 
 

7 incidents 
0.038% 

 
19188* 

incidences 
 
 

0.56% 
 

*H 4.19% 

*L-  0%  

*This is based on the first six months of data only, from the National reporting and learning 
system from April 2014 – September 2014 on all acute specialist trusts  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: to record the incidences of patient safety, the rate of incidences and the percentage of 
severe harm or death of patient safety incidences within The Christie.   
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
percentage and so the quality of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above 
target and to take any remedial action if required. This will be reviewed through monthly 

Board level scrutiny of the rates of incidents. 
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Part 3: Other information 

 

Review of quality performance in 2014/15 

 

Introduction 

In February 2009, The Christie adopted a framework for quality reporting (see diagram) which 

provides the framework for monthly quality accounts reporting as part of our regular 

performance reports and this annual document. The board of directors believes that quality of 

care should where possible be reported and scrutinised frequently so that adverse trends can 

be identified early.   

 

The monthly quality accounts for the Trust as a whole are reviewed at the management board 

with key senior clinical leaders, as well as the directors of research and education.  Quality 

metrics for individual divisions are reviewed as part of the regular performance review 

meetings with the executive team. Any matters of concern are followed up either through the 

divisional meetings or through the risk and quality governance committee.   

 

The board’s Quality Assurance Committee is responsible for providing board assurance on 

these issues.  Reports on quality of care are made to the council of governors meetings and a 

governor sub-committee on quality receives reports and assurance of the quality work of the 

Trust.  The Governors made the decision to follow all 3 quality indicators and have chosen the 

pressure ulcer indicator to be the one assessed by the external auditors.  The executive team 

regularly reviews the quality of care within the hospital through visits to clinical areas, through 

a programme of Executive walk rounds.  Non-executives and governors also undertake regular 

visits to clinical areas to see at first hand the quality of care and environment and to hear 

directly from patients about their experience of the hospital.    

 

This section of our quality accounts draws on monthly performance reports and includes 

additional annual indicators for which annual reporting is appropriate. The data is drawn from 

regular surveys, audits or routine data systems that have been established to provide a focus 

on and assurance about quality of care.   
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Patient experience  

Satisfaction levels with care provided at The Christie are extremely high and all our efforts are 

directed towards ensuring the best possible experience for patients at a time of enormous 

stress and worry for them and their families. In 2014/15 we were one of the top trusts 

nationally for overall quality of care in the national inpatient survey.   

 

In line with the Health and Social Care Information Centre requirements, the trust assesses the 

quality of healthcare, including the environment for care using the new Patient-Led 

Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) programme which commenced on 2nd April 

2013.  The assessment at The Christie was carried out on 24th March 2014 (the 2014/15 results 

are not available until August), involved in the assessment were patients, Governors and lay 

members that carried out inspections and food tasting across all areas of the Trust.  We 

received high scores in the four categories, Cleanliness, Food, Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing, 

and Condition, Appearance and Maintenance. The results were as follows: 

 

PLACE inspection area 
 

The Christie score 
 

National average 
 

Cleanliness 98.6% 97.2% 

Food 95.3%  88.7% 

Privacy, dignity & wellbeing 93.9% 87.7% 

Condition, appearance and 
maintenance 

95.9% 91.9% 
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We are highly rated in surveys for respecting our patients’ privacy and dignity.   

We place particular emphasis on the feedback received directly from patients and their 

families whether that be through our own patient surveys, complaints, the results of national 

surveys or other mechanisms. Some examples of patient experience feedback are outlined 

below:  

 

Patient experience stories to the board  

Throughout 2014/15 the board of directors were given presentations by Clinicians and Staff 

on specific cancer related subjects and the impacts these have on patients.  There were 10 

presentations which are outlined below:  

 

Month Presented by: Title 

April 2014 Jim Cavet Myeloma Progress in 21st Century 

May 2014 David Mowatt Plastic Surgery at The Christie 

June 2014 Lorraine Burgess 

 

The Reality of Living with Cancer 
and Dementia – a patient’s carer 
was part of the presentation 

July 2014 Sarah O’Dwyer The Peritoneal tumour service 

August no meeting 

September 
2014 

Andrew Sykes Head and neck oncology – it’s all 
about the team 

October 
2014 

Rob Duncombe The national chemotherapy 
dataset- applying SACT data to 
clinical practice’ 

November 
2014 

Fiona Thistlethwaite The Patient Journey – Unexpected 
Insights and New Horizons, 
Patient presented her personal 
story 

December no meeting 

January 
2015 

Elena Takeuchi, consultant in medical 
oncology 

‘Christie@Wigan’ 

February 
2015 

Dr Wendy Makin, Consultant in 
Palliative Care & Deputy Medical 
Director 

 

MCIP (Manchester Cancer 
Improvement Partnership and the 
role of The Christie 

March 
2015 

David Shackley, Medical Director, GM 
cancer services 

Manchester Cancer – working 
together across the city 



Quality report 

 

55 

 

Quality rounds  
In 2014 the programme of Quality rounds continued. This is where members of the multi-

professional team in the Trust review the clinical wards and departments against a set of 

established evidence based standards covering the fundamental aspects of patient care. The 

walk rounds involved asking patients to describe how they were involved in agreeing the plan 

of care and if they had any concerns with the standard of care they were receiving. In addition 

the health records were reviewed to check for evidence of patient assessment, personalised 

care plans, timely review of care provided and evaluation of the outcomes of care.  

 

The fundamental aspects of care that were reviewed were: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The outcomes of the reviews were captured, any areas requiring immediate action were 

escalated to the senior nurse on duty and Matron for that area, and issues requiring longer 

term improvement were escalated to the most relevant member of staff and actions monitored 

by the Quality & Standards Team. A poster detailing the areas of good practice together with 

the areas requiring improvement are circulated to all areas following the walk round.  

 

Over 2014 our fundamentals of care standards originally developed for the quality walk rounds 

were refined and utilised as the basis on which to develop our bespoke Christie CODE Quality 

Month Subject 

April 2014 Safeguarding 

May 2014 One Day Every Patient 

June 2014 Communication 

July 2014 Care Environment 

/Infection Prevention 

August 2014 One Day Every Patient 

September 2014 Privacy and Dignity 

October 2014 Falls Prevention 

November 2014 One Day Every Patient 

December 2014 Pain Management 
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Scheme. The Christie CODE is our framework for measuring the quality of care provided to 

patients through observation, clear documentation and patient and staff experience. This 

framework will strengthen professional leadership, empower doctors, nurse, allied health 

professionals and other team members to lead and deliver quality improvements at ward level 

for patient benefit.  

 

The quality scheme was developed by the Quality Improvement Service and launched by the 

Executive Director of Nursing & Quality on 20th March 2015. The aim of the scheme is:   

 To put patients at the centre of everything we do 

 To celebrate excellence  

 To demonstrate commitment to quality improvement 

 To have methodological rigour and draw on the evidence base in the development of 

standards and in the process used to assess levels of performance 

 To share best practice 

 To be inclusive of all multi-disciplinary staff who make a substantial contribution to the 

delivery of clinical care 

 To engage learners in the quality improvement process for better patient care 

 To demonstrate The Christie Commitment. 

 

Quality Strategy 2014-2017 

The Trust developed a three year quality strategy that builds upon the ambitions set out in the 

Trust’s five year strategy.  The strategy has provided an opportunity to scope the quality 

improvement work taking place across the Trust to show the achievements and to identify the 

priorities for the next three years.  

 

The Trust is committed to improving quality and delivering safe, effective and personal care, 

within a culture of learning and continuous service improvement.  The quality strategy 

compliments the existing Board of Directors approved Risk Management Strategy and 

organizational Development Strategy as well as the Education and Clinical Audit strategies to 

ensure that there is a cohesive approach to meeting the Trusts’s commitments.  

 

The strategy equally demonstrates to our patient’s Governors, membership, the pubic and our 

regulators the plans we have in place to continually improve the quality of our care and 

services.  

 

The Quality Assurance Committee in January 2015 received and approved the outcomes of the 

first year of the strategy. 
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Delivery against 2014/15 outcomes 
 

Outcome 1  

To ensure a trust culture where high quality care and outstanding leadership are  

fundamental in all that we do. 

2014-15 Deliverables Evidence Achieved 

To increase multi-professional engagement 
in all elements of the Quality Cycle 

Quality improvement work 
streams as part of the Sign up to 
Safety Campaign. Four teams 
have taken part in ISA4C and 
tow further applications have 
gone in for 2015/16. 

 

To develop a suite of Christie specific, 
evidence-based standards for fundamental 
care 

The Christie CODE standards 
were approved in April 2014  

To develop a suite of assessment tools to 
measure achievement of the standards 

The Christie CODE assessment 
tools were approved by the 
EDNQ in April 2014 and are 
now in use to monitor quality of 
care and helped to inform the 
Quality Mark system. 

 

To establish a monthly multi-professional 
quality walk-round schedule 

Monthly walk-rounds 
established utilising the 
evidence-based standards for 
fundamental care & assessment 
tools. The  

 

To develop a Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Handbook for staff who are 
novice to basic theories and methodologies 

Handbooks delivered to all ward 
managers and available to 
download from the Quality & 
Standards Web page 

 

Undertake a patient safety culture 
questionnaire  

Questionnaire completed by 
33% staff in May 2014 

 

To develop a bespoke leadership programme 
for clinical leaders and managers 

Programme developed and 
delivered to 47 staff in 5 cohorts 
as well as a dedicated junior 
doctor leadership programme 

 

To extend access to the ‘aspiring leaders 
development programme’ (NHS Leadership 
Academy) 

Ten successful applicants for 
NHS leadership programmes in 
2014/15 and more have been 
successful for 2015/16 

 

To further a culture of transparency by 
participation in the north west transparency 
project 

The NW transparency project is 
now a national initiative known 
as Open & Honest Care. Data is 
submitted nationally each 
month, the report is published 
on the trust website and data is 
visible on the ward electronic 
screens   
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Outcome 2  
To promote and support quality initiatives and develop quality improvement incentives 
 

2014-15 Deliverables Evidence Achieved 

To develop and establish The Christie 
‘Quality mark’ to denote excellence in care & 
treatment   
 
 

The Christie Quality Mark was 
launched at the annual 
members meeting on 13th 
September 2014 

 

To develop the Clinical outcomes unit to 
support prospective comprehensive outcome 
data on all patients’ 

Clinical outcomes unit are now 
publishing outcome data by 
disease group on a monthly 
basis in the integrated Quality & 
performance report 

 

To evaluate the information provided to 
patients and other professionals, including 
GPs, at the conclusion of treatment and 
follow up 

This work is still in progress and 
will run across into 2015/16 

 

To establish an in-patient Diabetes Service, 
together with supporting education, policy 
and evaluation  

The in-patient diabetes service, 
policy and supporting education 
package established. Specialist 
Diabetes Nurse post approved 
and specialist nurse in post 

 

To review and develop patient and staff 
interaction during consultant led ward rounds   

In planning and will be delivered 
during 2015/16 

 

To embed The Christie endorsed quality 
standards into everyday care and practice 

The Christie quality standards 
have been developed further to 
underpin the ward accreditation 
framework to ensure they are 
part of everyday care and 
practice 

 

To establish a tissue viability service, 
together with supporting education, policy 
and evaluation  

Tissue Viability Nurse post 
approved and appointed to in 
order to further expand the 
service, care and education. 

 

To establish a Dementia Nurse Specialist 
post enabling  the development and 
implementation of dementia screening and 
awareness-raising, education provision, carer 
support, dementia-friendly environments, 
appropriate use of antipsychotic medication 
and thereby demonstrate our commitment to 
the care of people with dementia at The 
Christie  

Dementia Nurse specialist post 
was made substantive in 2014 
and was recognised nationally 
as an outstanding development 
by winning the Nursing Times – 
Nurse of the Year Award.  
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Outcome 3 
To use data to demonstrate best outcomes and achievement of established standards 
 

2014-15 Deliverables Evidence Achieved 

To publish quality and performance data 
internally and externally  

All quality and performance data 
published publically within the 
Board papers through the 
Integrated Quality & 
Performance report. 

 

To review and further improve all ward & 
department dashboards to ensure the high 
quality data is available and acted upon  

Ward dashboards have been 
reviewed and the four harms 
and staff availability as well as 
improvement stories and FFT 
comments are now on the 
electronic screens at the 
entrance to wards. 

 

Introduction of ‘at a glance’ dynamic screens 
on each ward area for presentation of quality 
information 

Each inpatient ward has its own 
dedicated screen to present 
quality data relating staffing 
levels, harms and quality 
improvement initiatives 

 

To continue to use the AUKUH model of 
patient acuity to inform on-going workforce 
succession planning  

Safer Nursing Care tool 
continues to be utilities to inform 
nursing establishments and skill 
mix. The requirement is set 
down in policy and approved by 
the Board of Directors six 
monthly and the monthly 
performance is produced in the 
integrated Quality & 
Performance  

 

To be able to demonstrate a causal link 
between all available data and the 
experience of care received by patients and 
publish findings on the external website 

This is being captured in the 
quarterly, Patient and staff 
safety and experience report 
which triangulates all the 
information through an editorial 
board and is presented to the 
Quality Assurance Committee 
and we will move to publish in 
2015/16 

 

Clinical outcomes reporting The Trust is now reporting 
patient reported outcomes  

 

To lead on the national drive to fully integrate 
clinical audit methodology alongside other 
quality improvement initiatives so that the 
focus is on improvement rather than 
measurement only 

Collaborative work stream 
between QIS and CA in the 
development of the bespoke 
Ward Accreditation Scheme   
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Outcome 4  
To ensure that the delivery of quality standards is inherent in the attitudes, behaviours and 
performance of the trust workforce. 
 

2014-15 Deliverables Evidence Achieved 

To ensure that all consultant grade medical 
staff undertake a leadership programme 
within 2 years of appointment to the trust 

The first Consultant programme 
has taken place 16 consultants 
took part and a further 23 have 
attended a mentoring 
programme. 

 

For all ward & department managers to fully 
utilise the suit of  Advancing Quality Alliance 
(AQuA) Quality Improvement Methodologies 
courses 

A bespoke in-house course 
delivered by AQuA is under 
development to address some 
of the barriers to participation  

 

To embed The Christie Commitment in our 
recruitment and selection procedures and 
PDR process to ensure that staff who work 
for us understand their role in improving 
patient care and experience 

The Christie Commitment is 
included in all recruitment 
literature and embedded in the 
induction and PDR process. 
Values based recruitment 
commences in Quarter 1 
2015/16  

 

To improve staff engagement and 
consequently patient and staff experience 
evidenced through local and national surveys 
and quality walkabouts 

A range of staff and patient 
engagement events have taken 
place including: one day every 
inpatient; one day every 
outpatient; one week all staff; 
Hospital internal inspections 
against CQC standards, 
Executive Quality & Patient 
safety walkrounds, 
Organisational safety culture. 

 

  

The Christie Quality Mark 

Through the five year strategy the Trust set out its ambition to deliver its services to a Christie 

quality mark standard that would be recognised by patients across the country.  With this 

ambition in mind a patient focus group was held at the end of July 2013 where a group of 

patients and carers spent time describing what the “Christie experience” meant to them and 

over the next few weeks with the support of the patient focus group a set of 5 statements 

were develop and agreed. 

 

The statements that the patients and carers developed and subsequently formed the basis of 

the development of the quality mark standards were: 

 We want to experience the same standard of care as if we were in  The Christie@ 

Withington when we have chemotherapy and radiotherapy services; 
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 We want the same safe, clean environment with standards of pride as The Christie@ 

Withington; 

 We want to be greeted with a warm welcome and where we are a returning patient to 

be recognised by staff; 

 We want continuity of care by our doctors and nurses and to know that we are 

partners in all care and decision making 

 We want to recognise The Christie team in ‘The Christie@’ sites 

 

The quality mark scheme was launched at the September 2014 annual members meeting.  

Through the steering group which included patients, Governors, consultants and nurses the 

quality mare accreditation scheme was developed and piloted.  During January and February 

2015 the first two clinical areas were assessed and accredited and these were the Oak Road 

Patient Treatment Centre and the Victoria Unit at the Royal Oldham hospital.  

 

A video about the quality mark can be seen at   www.christie.nhs.uk/openandhonest 

 

Family and Friends Test 

The NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT) is an important tool whereby The Christie receives direct, 

regular and real time feedback from our patients. This feedback is used to help shape and 

further improve our services for our patients.  

 

Following their most recent experience at the Christie, patients are invited to answer the 

question: “How likely are you to recommend our service to friends and family if they needed 

similar treatment”. Patients can respond via text message (free of charge) or on a paper form. 

Text messages are sent to patients within 48 hours of their inpatient stay. As an alternative, 

nursing staff ensure paper forms are available for patients to complete and return on the day 

of discharge. Patients can opt out of responding at any time.  

 

Given the number of patients who are regular patients for treatment, the text message is sent 

to the patient’s mobile number once per month only, even if they have attended more 

frequently, and asks them to think about their most recent experience. Patients are asked to 

respond on a 1-5 point scale from extremely likely to recommend, to extremely unlikely to 

recommend. 

 

Following the patient’s response a second, follow up question is asked which reminds them 

that their comments will help us improve our services, and asks them to state in their own 

words, what the best/worst parts of the service were. Specific comments are anonymised, 

though patients are encouraged to contact our Patient Advice and Liaison Service should they 

wish their comments to be handled directly.  

 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/openandhonest
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The response rate for FFT and individual ward/department results are collated monthly and 

high level results published in the performance report as well as at ward level on the ward 

screens, where specific quotes from patients are also displayed. 

 

During the year April 2014 to March 2015 response rates for the inpatient ward areas ranged 

from 26.7% to 60.6% (average 35.3%). FFT scores ranged from +86.79 to +94.68 (average 

+89.76). 

 

Examples of feedback received: 

“I got the best treatment from everyone there. From reception staff through treatment staff 

doc and even the lady in café -  thanks to them all” 

 

“Your service is impeccable you do not need to change anything I have admiration for the job 

every member of staff do, don't change a thing” 

 

“There were no bad aspects of the service. From the doctor, the radiologists, the administration 

clerks, I have nothing but praise for their attitude, and their ability and competence.” 

 

“One of best things or should I say THE BEST were the nursing staff, polite helpful and a great 

sense of humour they put with anything god bless ‘em” 

 

National inpatient survey 2014   

The Christie has again received excellent results in the annual inpatient survey by the Care 

Quality Commission (CQC). We have performed better than most other trusts in all but one of 

the section scores and 1 of the eleven section scores (waiting list and planned admissions) 

achieved the highest score.  

 

For 36 out of 58 questions we scored better than most other trusts and 22 were about the 

same.  There were no questions where our performance was worse than most other trusts. 

Patients were asked to rate their overall experience of care and the Trust scored a high score of 

8.7.  The lowest score by any trust was 7.2 and the highest achieved was 9.2. 

 

Results 

850 patients who had a stay of at least one night in May, June or July 2014 were invited to take 

part, 496 responded, giving an overall response rate of 62% against a national response rate of 

49%. The results are set out in eleven sections of which ten are relevant to the Trust and we 

are viewed as better than most in all but one of the sections.   

 

(The black diamond is the Trust score, if it lies in the green section then it is better than most 

other trusts, the orange indicates the same as most other trusts and the red is worse compared 

to most other trusts).  
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Following the 2013 survey a number of areas were identified for specific action.  Of these, the 

action related to improving the results for delay on discharge has not given the desired result 

so therefore this area remains as a focus for 2015.   

 

The section score on operations and procedures has moved in year from being a top section 

score in the 2013 survey to the top of the middle 20% of Trust’s in 2014, these elements in this 

section score will form part of action planning for quality improvement in 2015.  

 

The other targeted areas for quality improvement are: 

 Finding someone on the hospital staff to talk to about worries and fears; 

 Hospital staff doing everything they could to help control pain; 

 Being involved in decisions about discharge and delays in discharge 

 

Safer staffing 

The safe staffing levels indicator is a national quality measure that was introduced in 2014.  It 

looks to measure and ensure that a hospital’s nursing staffing requirements are being met.  The 

measure focuses on two distinct groups of staff, registered nurses and non-registered care 

staff.  The data collected each day for both Day & Night shifts allows a member of the public to 

see whether the actual number of staff on duty met what was planned on a ward.  This data is 

then submitted at ward & trust level nationally and is made visible on the NHS choices website 
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as well as the Trust’s internet site under the umbrella of Open and Honest Care reporting.  The 

data is also made visible to patients and visitors in real-time on each ward. 

 

For 2014/15, 95.15% of the required hours were filled with the planned numbers of registered 

nurses and care staff.  

 

Clinical indicators - patient experience 

 

Patient survey 

Where available, comparative and benchmark data has been included and unless otherwise 

stated the indicators are not governed by standard national definitions and the source of the 

data is the Trusts local systems. 

 

2013/14 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr-13
May-

13
Jun-13 Jul-13 Aug-1 3 Sep-1 3 Oct-13 Nov-1 3 Dec-1 3 Jan-14 Fe b-14 Mar-14

Excellence % Rating 60.7% 55.8% 69.0% 59.0% 66.3% 60.3% 62.6% 57.9% 66.3% 64.2% 62.4% 65.1%

Good % Rating 34.9% 40.2% 26.9% 37.9% 30.7% 35.8% 33.4% 38.7% 30.4% 31.5% 32.8% 30.8%

Fa ir % Rating 3.6% 3.2% 3.2% 2.7% 2.7% 3.5% 3.2% 3.0% 2.9% 3.9% 4.2% 3.8%

Poor % Rat ing 0.8% 0.7% 1.0% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.8% 0.3% 0.5% 0.4% 0.6% 0.3%

Patient Satisfaction Survey 

 
 

2014/15 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Net Promoter Score 67 73 83 70 72 75 63 66 70 73 67 71

0

100

Patient Survey Net Promoter Score
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The scoring methodology was changed in 2014-15 to bring our patient satisfaction survey in 

line with the family and friends national reporting.  The above table shows our net promoter 

score month on month for our patients satisfaction. 

 

Complaints  

The grading system has been updated into grades 1 – 5 as demonstrated below: 

1 2 3 4 5 

►Query/suggestion 

►Verbal concerns 
resolved by the end 
of the next working 
day 

►Anonymous 
comment forms 
raising concerns 

►Allegation that 
service received 
substandard 

►Simple complaints 
which can be resolved 
quickly 

►Single issue 
complaints with  
allegation of lack of 
appropriate care 

►Serious 
complaints  
containing one issue 

►Simple complaint 
where more than one 
complaint has been 
received regarding 
the same subject 
from different 
complainants 

►Multiple issue 
complaints with 
allegations of 
lack of care 

►Serious 
complaints  
containing more 
than one issue 

►Multiple issue, 
complex complaints 

►Serious complaint 
where more than one 
complaint has been 
received regarding the 
same subject from 
different complainants 

►Risk to organisational 
reputation 

  
Complaints by division   

 

2013/14 

In 2013/14 The Christie received 66 complaints. 

The graphs and tables below show the number of complaints received by each division. 

 

 

Grade 2  Grade 3  Grade 4  Grade 5  

 

Total  

 

Network Services 8 22 22 0 52 

Cancer Centre Services 2 6 4 0 12 

Estates and Facilities 1 0 0 0 1 

Research and Development 0 1 0 0 1 
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2014/15 

In 2014/15 The Christie received 65 complaints. 

The graphs and tables below show the number of complaints received by each division. 

 

Grade 2  Grade 3  Grade 4  Grade 5  

 

Total  

 

Network Services 6 26 14 0 46 

Cancer Centre Services 1 11 5 0 17 

Estates and Facilities 1 0 0 0 1 

Research and Development 1 0 0 0 1 

 

The above table shows the grading of complaints at the time they are received into the Trust. 

The grades are reviewed as part of the investigation process and can be either downgraded or 

upgraded as a consequence of the investigation outcome. 

 

Complaints by type  

2013/14 
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Complaints by type  

2014/15 
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We continue to resolve complaints at source; our clinicians, matrons, ward sisters and charge 

nurses have a high profile on wards and in clinical departments where they focus on the 

patient experience and ensuring continual improvement in care and service delivery on a day 

by day basis.   All complaints are reviewed weekly by the executive directors and all new 

complaints are triaged through an executive review process so that there is a triangulation 

between incidents, claims and complaints. 

 

233 issues were raised within the 65 complaints received during this year. Care, treatment and 

diagnosis issues were the most common ones raised this year (55 issues within the 65 

complaints).  All issues within a complaint are logged separately so if a complaint raises a 

number of issues all relating to care and treatment, all of these issues are logged separately.  

The receipt of 55 issues relating to care, treatment and diagnosis is not indicative of a 

widespread problem in these areas and all of the concerns were thoroughly reviewed and 

action plans put in place as appropriate.   

  

Between April 2014 and March 2015, 47 written complaint responses were sent. The deadline 

for the response to be sent was met in all but 2 cases, one was posted a day late and one 

required further investigation and a new response date was negotiated and agreed with the 

complainant. 16 complaint resolution meetings were held. We always offer a follow up 

meeting within our written response to discuss the content of the response and we met with 

one and are due to meet with another complainant in this manner.    
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One complaint was referred to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO); the 

PHSO was satisfied that the Trust had managed both the care and management of the patient 

and the complaint appropriately; therefore the referral to the PHSO was not upheld. 

 

2014/15 learning from complaints  

Integral to the investigation of every complaint is the learning to prevent a similar situation 

developing in the future and an action plan is generated for each complaint that is now shared 

with the complainant as part of the response. The following action points are examples of 

those identified to mitigate a future complaint or patient safety incident: 

 The increased consultant presence at the specialist gynaecology multi-disciplinary teams 

meetings. 

 Greater input from stoma nurse in pre-operative assessment clinic. 

 Samples for transportation in a Thermos to be highlighted prior to clinic visit. 

 Improved palliative care and symptom control system and availability to contact team. 

 Introduced a new electronic system to assist with appointment bookings. 

 Implemented customer service training to improve patient/carers experience. 

 Newly appointed Tissue Viability Nurse to assist with complex wound management. 

 Designing a poster to informed patients to turn off mobile phone. 

 Highlighted the importance of communicating changes of theatre lists.  

 Newly appointed Matron and seniors sisters for the surgical ward 

 Providing surgical patients with a key worker 

 Reviewed clinic waiting times and clinic templates 

 Implementation of new protocol for patients who had have a reaction to chemotherapy, to 

be reviewed within a week and offered alternative treatment 

 Physiotherapist to attend weekly multi-disciplinary meetings 

 Physiotherapists to carry bleeps to be on call if physiotherapy input required 

 

The Christie has routinely sent complainants a questionnaire asking their views on how their 

complaint was handled and their opinion of the complaint response. 69 questionnaires were 

sent and 23 responses were received giving a response rate of 33%. The Patient Experience 

Focus Group, a group of patients, relatives and members of the public were asked to review a 

sample of complaint responses, and provide an independent opinion on the quality of the 

response. This included reviewing the feedback from the complainant where the complainant 

had made themselves known on the feedback form. 

 

The report outlining the survey responses and the focus group feedback was discussed at the 

Governance Leads meeting and the Patient Experience Committee. The actions focused on 

providing complainants with the action plan developed during the investigation of their 

complaint so they can feel confident that The Christie had listened and taken steps to improve, 



Quality report 

 

69 

 

developing a list of complainant “likes and dislikes” in terms of complaint responses and 

including feedback and learning points from the survey and focus group in complaints training. 

 

On-the-day waiting times   

We have continued to set ourselves the challenging target of ensuring that 80% of outpatients 

were seen within 20 minutes of their appointment time when attending The Christie, 80% of 

patients would wait no longer than one hour for their chemotherapy treatment, and that 80% 

of patients would receive their prescription within 20 minutes.  This would ensure a 

significantly better patient experience in all three of these areas.    

 

The graphs show that we have achieved these targets in 2014/15 and we continue to monitor 

these targets on a weekly basis.      

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Target 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80%

2013/14 80.0% 80.1% 80.1% 91.9% 81.7% 80.4% 84.1% 82.7% 88.4% 80.3% 81.4% 80.7%

2014/15 81.8% 82.2% 83.7% 88.7% 81.2% 90.8% 88.2% 81.3% 83.0% 83.6% 80.9% 80.8%
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Outpatient department waiting time compliance

 
 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

target 45% 45% 45% 75% 78% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80%

2013/14 60% 55% 50% 75% 79% 81% 86% 87% 87% 88% 88% 87%

2014/15 84% 88% 83% 90% 85% 81% 89% 84% 88% 89% 85% 88%
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Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Target 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80%

2013/14 82.5% 84.5% 85.7% 82.0% 87.8% 87.7% 90.8% 86.1% 87.7% 90.8% 90.2% 90.9%

2014/15 89.1% 88.5% 92.1% 82.2% 87.2% 88.9% 85.5% 87.1% 91.0% 87.1% 91.0% 87.2%

50%
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80%

90%

100%

Pharmacy waiting time compliance

 
 

Clinical indicators - clinical effectiveness.  

National and local clinical audits show that the care provided by The Christie is effective in 

prolonging life and reducing the pain and distress associated with cancer and its treatment. 

 

As described in our 2013/14 quality accounts outcomes such as mortality and complication rates 

after complex urological surgery, complex gynaecological surgery and complex colorectal 

surgery at The Christie have been reported to the board of directors and when published have 

set international benchmarks for standards of care. Similarly, outcomes of radiotherapy and 

chemotherapy for specific cancer types have shown care at The Christie to be of international 

standard. These results are published in professional journals and discussed at the Trust’s 

regular mortality and morbidity meetings.   

 

The board of directors receives a monthly presentation from a clinician describing a patient’s 

story including the outcomes and effectiveness of the care that they provide. The board of 

directors also receives summary reports on the outcome measures. Reports are discussed at the 

quarterly morbidity and mortality meetings with the technical reports available to board 

members if required.   

 

Nationally published data shows that whilst one year survival rates (proxy for stage at 

presentation) in Greater Manchester are slightly lower than the national average five year 

survival rates (proxy for treatment quality) are not statistically different from the national 

average.   

 

We work in a part of the country where many people have poor general health including, for 

example, a higher rate of smoking related diseases such as cancer. In some parts of our cancer 

network, general practitioner and diagnostic services have been weak and it is only in the last 

five years that the type of specialist diagnostic and initial treatment teams that are needed for 

effective, early treatment have been formed.  We, therefore tend to see patients for treatment 

whose cancer is at a more advanced stage or who have other illnesses such as heart disease 

which prevents them from receiving the most effective, but potentially dangerous treatment.   
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These factors show up in the one year survival rates published nationally and summarised in 

the table. They are a recognised proxy for timeliness of presentation and diagnosis. 

 

Clinical effectiveness projects at The Christie 

 

Macmillan Late Effects Co-ordinator (MLEC) pilot 

“Thoughts about life ahead begin about two minutes after the cancer diagnosis” 

From a past patient and advocate for change 

 

Macmillan research has shown that the number of people living with and beyond cancer will 

double to four million over the next twenty years. While more people are cured of their cancer 

than ever before, increasing numbers – around 500.000 people in the UK will experience 

symptoms and concerns and poor life quality after cancer treatment (Macmillan 2012, 2013).  

 

Government policy directs health services to ‘Take Action to Improve Outcomes’ (DoH 2013) 

recommends the implementation of the recovery package including a holistic assessment, and 

management of problems at the end of treatment. It is anticipated that the national cancer 

strategy will place increasing emphasis on better preparation of patients during their treatment 

for life after cancer and more effective provision of care and support subsequently. This applies 

both to those who may be cured of their cancer and also to those living alongside it. 

 

Within this there needs to be identification and appropriate support for the later consequences 

of the treatments that have been undergone which can have lasting impact, physical and 

psychological, on the individual. Some of these are specific to the tumour site or treatment 

such as radiation- induced tissue changes or cardiotoxicity from certain drugs) or more generic 

such as fatigue, issues with body image or anxiety about cancer recurrence. 

 

In 2013-14, Macmillan Cancer Support funded a proposal to pilot and evaluate a new role in the 

Christie: a nurse coordinator for the management of later consequences of radiotherapy to the 

pelvis. Such treatment often leads to chronic bowel symptoms, possible effects on bone, pain 

and issues with sexual function and fertility. It also applies to a range of cancer in men and 

women including gynecological, rectal, bladder and prostate tumours. Problems may not be 

volunteered by patients or they may not be recognised by GPs and other professionals, or the 

professional may be unclear how to respond to them. 

 

A pilot project to test the effectiveness of a role to coordinate the holistic assessment and 

management of patients with possible unmet needs following pelvic radiotherapy, enabling 

supported self-management and additional help for the consequences of treatment has been 

undertaken. Working with the specialist teams, the MLEC undertook ‘screening and 

signposting’ with a small cohort of 36 patients. The work also led to development of specific 

pathways and algorithms for management of 9 different problems which might affect this 
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group of patients; this enabled professionals to refer on to services within and outside of the 

Christie and also promoted individual self-management. This work was supported by a steering 

group of Christie staff and patients. 

 

The pilot work demonstrated the potential for specialist teams to use a brief and effective 

process for screening concerns among patients on follow up. It was well evaluated by patients.  

‘Low level’ listening to patient concerns and simple signposting may avoid more complex 

problems building.  Through development of the problem management pathways, there is 

improved co-ordination between the existing support services within The Christie, all of which 

currently see cancer survivors, to ensure that all of an individual’s concerns are addressed. 

 

The MLEC role has potential as a focal point for contact by professionals beyond the Christie 

and also past patients who are no longer on follow up who require information, advice and 

possible direction via the specialist oncology team or to specific support services. This may 

become an increasing demand as the numbers of cancer survivors in the population increase 

and also with commissioner expectations for reduced or shortened hospital monitoring, 

particularly after treatment of early cancer. 

 

The Christie Cancer Survivorship strategy is being refreshed and will build upon learning from 

this pilot. The intention is to extend the range of   problem management algorithms to provide 

a response for the generic and specific problems that may follow all cancer sites that are 

treated at The Christie. Possible models are being considered to facilitate MDT discussion, 

involving the cancer specialist teams, and the specialists with expertise in management of late 

effects for those people who have multiple complex and difficult problems and a senior nursing 

role for cancer survivorship would be integral to this.  

 

The importance of quality of life beyond treatment is important to patients and may be 

underestimated by professionals when the focus is on the treatment itself. The Christie is 

developing its leading role in cancer survivorship through clinical care, education and research 

 

MCIP Manchester Cancer Improvement Partnership 

The MCIP partnership is a multi-agency transformational programme to improve patient and 

carer experience and outcomes by whole system change. Sponsored by Macmillan Cancer 

Support who have invested £3.6 million, the initiative is owned and led by Manchester CCGs 

with the support of Manchester Cancer and Manchester Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

The Christie is among the partners - community/primary, acute providers; local commissioners; 

social care, third sector, patient and carers- in the design and implementation of the 

programme. All organisations are represented on the MCIP Board. The work is confined to the 

population within the City of Manchester and with expectation that successful models would 

be shared and implemented more widely. 
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Phase 1 invests £2.35m in primary, palliative, community and end of life care. It includes 

enhanced training for the health and social care workforce and the development of new 

palliative care services, especially in North Manchester. The aim is better and more proactive 

support to people in the community, ultimately achieving more deaths at home and fewer 

avoidable hospital admissions. 

 

In phase 2, commencing 2014, Macmillan has invested £1.1m to fund improvements across 

breast and lung pathways.  All of the areas of work were proposed and refined through lung 

and breast stakeholder events, shaped with patient and carer involvement, and agreed by the 

MCIP Board. Phase 1 underpins developments in phase 2, for example enabling more flexible 

approaches to follow up because primary and community staff are better informed, and 

through improved information and co-ordination, can engage more with the cancer pathway. 

 

The breast work focuses on those with a diagnosis of early cancer, in whom the emphasis is on 

supporting recovery and survivorship care, and the needs of patients with advanced breast 

cancer. This will enable different approaches in cancer follow up for a proportion of patients. In 

the latter group, some live with stable metastatic disease for some time whereas in others 

there may be rapid progression. The lung cancer work-stream includes a pilot to identify those 

at greater risk of lung cancer as well as improving the diagnostic and staging pathway. Other 

aspects aim to improve access to supportive and palliative care and improved co-ordination and 

information flow. The aim is for patients to have an improved experience of care in a seamless 

service. 

 

The Christie has supported the MCIP via a secondment for Dr Makin, deputy medical director to 

Macmillan to assist in the work. A number of Christie staff are engaged in the phase two 

workstreams supported by a project manager within the Trust.  The School of Oncology is 

assisting with delivery of some of the education to GPs and community teams within the Phase 

1 work.  MCIP is well into implementation and initial evaluation is taking place towards the end 

of 2015 but it is expected that the work will continue into 2016. 

 

Survival rates   

 

Reviews of deaths occurring on wards at The Christie January - December 2014 

It is important to look at the circumstances of deaths that follow admission to all hospitals, as 

part of scrutiny of care and to make sure that there is learning and improvements in care if 

necessary. Acute hospital trusts must comply with a national system that requires them to 

report the ratio of observed to expected deaths, adjusted for case mix, for their population of 

patients who are admitted each year. A specialist hospital such as The Christie is not required 

to take part in this process and so a system of scrutiny and case review has been put in place 

that is appropriate for the work of a cancer centre. 
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All patients who are admitted to the Christie are Christie-registered patients and admitted here 

only for problems related to the underlying cancer or as a complication of treatment. Those 

with acute general medical or acute general surgical problems will be directed to the nearest 

acute trust.  Most people who come here are receiving active cancer treatments and a number 

will have more advanced stages of disease.  The majority of those who need end of life care 

when no further treatment can be offered will be looked after in their nearest hospital, hospice 

or at home whenever possible. 

 

Each health record is screened following a death against a number of triggers based upon 

clinical criteria and one or more of which will lead to a case note review of care in the last 

admission by a clinician. This is undertaken by the responsible consultant or registrar in 

recognition of the site specialisation of oncological management but at least 10% of these are 

reviewed by a second consultant, including all deaths on the critical care unit. 

 

Particular attention is paid to markers of acute deterioration while on the ward and 

complications of cancer treatment; also if there has been any untoward event, hospital 

acquired infection as the cause of death, or a need to report the death to the coroner.  The 

reviewer comments on the evidence from the documentation of senior medical review, 

observations and response, prescribing and communication with patient and family. They are 

asked to comment on quality of care and if any improvements were needed. Subsequently 

information is triangulated with that from other sources, for example the reviews of deaths 

within 30 days of chemotherapy undertaken within diseases groups, or additional information 

from post-mortem examination or coroner inquest where applicable. 

 

A three-monthly meeting is held with the medical and deputy medical directors, clinical 

directors, a senior nurse and clinical audit to discuss the findings of these and any additional 

information relating to the previous quarter. Actions are agreed by the senior clinical group 

and acted upon at the time. 

 

Three monthly reports are compiled by the deputy medical director and clinical audit team for 

the Board of Directors and an overview of the process and learning is presented at Morbidity 

and Mortality meetings in an on-going process. 

 

Between January to December 204, 205 deaths occurred which is fewer than the previous two 

years.  160 deaths (88%) were among those admitted as an emergency and 46 (22%) following 

a planned admission. 

 

All deaths were screened against the clinical criteria and 100 triggered a detailed review which 

was completed for all cases. The most frequent triggers were for deaths within 30 days of the 

last systemic anticancer treatment (SACT), death reported to the coroner (which include the 
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former), and death associated with indicators of acute deterioration following admission, 

including death on the critical care unit.  

 

From the analysis of the detailed reviews, 93% of patients with solid tumours (73/78) had 

cancer at a locally advanced or metastatic stage. 85% of all patients were on active treatment 

pathways at the time of admission. 

 

Cancer was given a direct or significant contributory cause in 82 deaths.  8 were referred to 

coroner as immediate cause uncertain). In an additional 7 cases the immediate cause of death 

was given as infection or pulmonary embolus without cancer on the certificate, but all of these 

patients had underlying advanced malignancy. There were two deaths unrelated to cancer in 

the postoperative period, one due to a myocardial infarction. 

 

19 of the inpatient deaths last year were within 30 days of chemotherapy and associated with 

a complication of treatment, usually infection; two were as a consequence of neutropenic 

sepsis.  5 followed recent bone marrow transplants and an additional 3 deaths were as a 

consequence of graft versus host disease. Deaths following treatment are reviewed and 

discussed further in disease group morbidity and mortality meetings to consider if any change 

in clinical practice such as selection criteria for treatment is indicated. 

 

Overall the reviews of inpatient deaths provide assurance of good care.  5 deaths were 

associated with a reported clinical incident were scrutinised further at executive review 

meetings.  No death was found to be avoidable as a result of poor care or treatment. Actions 

taken to improve care have included prompting completion of clinical summary letters to the 

GP; ensuring all new medical staff are familiar with the guidance on completion of death 

certificates and discuss each with a senior doctor; revised clinical guidance on symptom 

management in the last days of life. These have been presented at two hospital grand round 

meetings. A more detailed annual report is available if required. 

 

One-year survival index (%) for all cancers combined (excluding non-melanoma skin 

and prostate 2011: all adults (aged 15-99 years) by NHS Local Area Team and for 

England as a whole 

Local Area Team Persons (%) 

Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral   68.1 

Greater Manchester    68.9 

Lancashire    68.8 

Merseyside 68.7 

England 68.2 
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One-year age standardised net survival (%) for individual cancer types 2011 by gender: 

all adults (aged 15-99 years) for Greater Manchester Local Area Team and England 

Cancer site 

Males (%) 

95% CI  (lwr-uppr) 

Females(%) 

95% CI  (lwr-uppr) 

England Greater Manchester England Greater Manchester 

Female 

breast   

96.4 

 (96.3 - 96.5) 

96.5 

 (96.0 - 96.9) 

Cervix   

84.5 

 (83.9 - 85.1) 

81.9  

(80.4 - 83.3) 

Oesophagus 

45.4 

 ( 44.7 - 46.0) 

44.1 

 ( 41.6 - 46.5) 

39.6   

(38.6 – 40.6) 

39.9 

 (37.3 – 42.4) 

Stomach 

45.9 

 (45.2 - 46.6) 

44.9  

(42.0 - 47.8) 

40.2 

 (39.2 – 41.2) 

40.6 

 (36.6 – 44.6) 

Colorectal 

77.1 

 (76.7 - 77.5) 

77.1 

 (76.1 - 78.1) 

73.1 

 (72.6 - 73.5) 

73.9 

 (71.7 - 76.0) 

Lung 

31.6 

(31.3 - 31.9) 

31.8 

  (31.0 - 32.5) 

34.7 

 (34.5 - 34.9) 

37.2 

(35.9 - 38.6) 

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS)Five-year age standardised net survival 

(%) for individual cancer types 2006 by gender: all adults (aged 15-99 years) for 

Greater Manchester Local Area Team and England.    
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Cancer site 

Males (%) 

95% CI  (lwr-uppr) 

Females(%) 

95% CI  (lwr-uppr) 

England Greater Manchester LAT England 

Greater Manchester 

LAT 

Female 

breast   

84.1 

 (83.9 - 84.3) 

84.4  

(83.7 - 85.2) 

Cervix   

66.0 

 (65.4 - 66.5) 

63.3 

 (61.7 - 64.9) 

Oesophagus 

12.9 

 (12.5 - 13.2) 

12.8 

 (11.4 - 14.2) 

11.1 

(10.6 - 11.5) 

12.4 

(10.8 - 13.9) 

Stomach 

17.3 

 (16.9 - 17.7) 

17.3  

(15.7 - 18.8) 

16.2 

 (15.7 - 16.7) 

17.4 

 (15.2 - 19.6) 

Colorectal 

53.4 

 (53.0 - 53.8) 

52.5 

 (51.4 - 53.6) 

52.8 

 (52.3 - 53.2) 

51.1 

 (49.1 - 53.1) 

Lung 

7.7  

(7.6 - 7.9) 

9.2  

(8.9 - 9.6) 

10.5  

(10.4 - 10.6) 

9.6  

(8.9 - 10.3) 

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 

 

Our aim is to provide leadership within Greater Manchester and Cheshire to improve 

awareness of cancer symptoms and to support earlier local diagnosis, for example 

through supporting screening programmes.   

 

The table shows that for all cancer types the five year survival figures in Greater 

Manchester are similar to those for England as a whole. Differences between the 

figures do not reach statistical significance. 

 

Our aim at The Christie is to work with the providers in Greater Manchester and 

Cheshire to ensure effective diagnostic, treatment and referral pathways to The 
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Christie and to ensure, through our clinical audit and other mechanisms that the 

treatment we provide meets best evidence based practice guidelines.  As the cancer 

centre we have a responsibility to lead improvements in cancer services across 

Greater Manchester and Cheshire and whilst both one year and five year survival 

rates are the result of many factors other than the services provided by The Christie 

they are influenced by our services. We have the opportunity to support efforts at 

cancer prevention and earlier detection, as well as ensuring rapid diagnosis and 

referral when needed.   

 

Demonstrating that our treatments are effective is very important as is demonstrating 

our contribution to improvements in cancer care across Greater Manchester and 

Cheshire. We have selected three indicators: the coverage of our clinical audit 

programme, examples of outcome data available and patient safety.    

 

Clinical audit of our services provides data on the effectiveness and outcomes of care 

directly provided by The Christie. The audit programme is approved by the Board of 

directors and the outcomes of individual audits monitored by the clinical audit 

committee. 

 

Local clinical audits  

In 2014/15 160 audits were completed across the divisions as shown in the table: 

 

Division Number of 

completed audits 

in 2011/12 

Number of 

completed audits 

in 2012/13 

Number of 

completed audits 

in 2013/14 

Number of 

completed audits 

in 2014/15 

Cancer Centre 

Services 
40 51 60 78 

Networked 

Services 
25 48 62 68 

Other (Quality 

& Standards, 

School of 

Oncology, 

Research) 

8 9 11 14 

Total 76 108 133 160 

 

The results of these audits are described in the annual clinical audit report with data 

from some of these audits being reported to the board of directors. 
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Venous thrombo-embolism assessment 

Our aim is to increase the number of patients receiving a thromboprophylaxis 

assessment on admission to over 95%. This is presented monthly in the integrated 

performance report and is also uploaded nationally.    

 

The table below demonstrates the last 2 years performance which is consistently 

above 95% and is fully compliant.  

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2013/14 97.4% 97.7% 97.8% 98.5% 98.9% 98.4% 98.3% 98.3% 97.1% 97.7% 98.1% 98.7%

2014/15 97.7% 98.1% 95.3% 95.1% 95.1% 95.5% 95.1% 96.3% 95.5% 95.6% 96.8% 95.4%

Target (2013-15) 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%

80%

82%

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

100%

VTE assessments

 

Patient safety 
 
Healthcare acquired infections  
We have low levels of healthcare acquired infections despite the particular 

vulnerability of many of our patients to infections as a result of their disease and 

treatment. Low rates of healthcare acquired infections indicate high standards of 

cleanliness, hygiene, antibiotic use and other measures to prevent cross-infection.   

 

MRSA bacteraemia 
In 2013/14 we had one case of MRSA bacteraemia, with an acceptable maximum 

threshold of 0.  A multi-disciplinary root cause analysis was undertaken and this was 

found to be unavoidable as the patient’s condition was the priority. The Trust 

declared this MRSA bacteraemia to its commissioners during quarter 2 2013/14.    
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In 2014/15 we have had zero cases of MRSA bacteraemia, against an acceptable 

threshold of 0.   

 

MRSA % appropriate elective patients screened 
In 2014/15 we screened 100% of appropriate elective patients. 

 

Healthcare acquired infections - Clostridium difficile 
There were fifteen cases of Clostridium difficile infections (CDI) that upon full root 

cause analysis were deemed as not being attributable to The Christie which was 

confirmed by our commissioners. There were thirty-four cases that were identified on 

admission or pre 72 hours of admission and are therefore not attributable. The 

maximum impact of infection is an outbreak of Clostridium difficile of which the Trust 

has had none. All cases of CDI are sent for further testing which has demonstrated 

that there have been no instances of cross infection indicating high standards of 

infection prevention and control in the hospital.  

 

In 2014/15 we had four cases of Clostridium difficile infection (CDI) where lapses in 

documentation and the timeliness of sending samples meant that the Trust had to 

accept the cases as avoidable. 

 

In 2013/14 we had three cases of Clostridium difficile infection (CDI) where lapses in 

documentation and the timeliness of sending samples meant that the Trust had to 

accept the cases as avoidable. 

 

Each case of CDI is subjected to a rigorous review and multi-disciplinary root cause 

analysis. This has demonstrated that each attributable case of CDI was induced by 

the specialist treatment provided at The Christie. These treatments make our patients 

extremely susceptible to CDI.  In order to reduce the number of infections further we 

would need to change our cancer treatments, making successful treatment less likely. 
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Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Avoidable + Unavoidable 0 3 4 8 11 11 14 15 17 19 19 19

Avoidable 0 0 0 1 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4

Avoidable Target (Moni tor) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Avoidable + Unavoidable  Target (NHS

England)
2 3 5 7 8 10 12 13 15 17 18 20

Avoidable Target (National ) 0.33 0.67 1.00 1.33 1.67 2.00 2.33 2.67 3.00 3.33 3.67 4.00
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Clostridium Difficile (cumulative) against annual target

 

Incidents management 

We have a strong system of incident reporting and review which enables us to 

identify underlying problems and to learn from events, thereby preventing 

recurrence.   

 

In addition to our internal system we report patient safety events to the National 

Reporting and Learning System (NRLS). Comparison of our reporting practices with 

those of trusts in the same cluster shows that we have good levels of reporting but 

low levels of patient harm, indicating appropriate culture of reporting and learning 

within the organisation.   

 

Our reporting rate is approximately two per ten hospital admissions which indicates 

appropriate levels when compared with similar trusts. Many of these are ‘near miss’ 

incidents and allow us to learn without harm occurring to our patients and/or staff. 

 

All reported incidents are investigated with the level of investigation commensurate 

with the incident grade. All incidents with an impact grade of 3 and above, out of a 

maximum of 5, are reported on a weekly basis to the executive team. These incidents 

are triaged by an executive review team consisting of the executive director of 

nursing and quality, the deputy medical director, the deputy director of nursing and 

the head of safety and risk, and a root cause analysis is then presented to this review 
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group. The same process is followed for complaints and any concerning on-going 

trend of incidents of any grade. 

 

We also review our systems and processes in the light of incidents that have 

happened at other trusts as well as learning from national reports in order to ensure 

that a similar incident will not happen at The Christie. 

 

2013/14 and 2014/15 patient safety incidences.  
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The Christie is regarded nationally as a high reporting, low harm organisation. The 

Trust uploads information about its patient safety incidents into the National 

Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) on a monthly basis. Twice yearly reports are 

published and made available into the public domain by the NRLS, based on the 

incidents submitted by the Trust.  

 

The Christie has a small number of beds, compared with other hospitals, and 80% of 

its activity is ambulatory care (out patients and day cases), hence the denominator of 

'per 100 admissions' means that that the patient safety incident % rate shows a higher 

rate than other hospitals. 

 

The data for the second half of 2014/15 is not formally closed down until the end of 

May 2015, therefore the data contained within these accounts is subject to further 

validation.  



Quality report 

 

83 

 

Never event 

There have been 0 (zero) never events in 2014/15.  

 

Serious incidents 

There have been two serious incidents this year. Both occurred in quarter three of 

2014-15 and both were patient falls where the patients sustained a fractured neck of 

femur. Both were subjected to a multi-disciplinary root cause analysis investigation 

and review by a serious incident panel.  

 

For one of the patient falls, the serious incident panel found that there was clear 

learning from this incident which may not have prevented the fall from happening, but 

could minimise the risk of recurrence. An action plan was been agreed following 

acceptance of the investigation recommendations by the serious incident panel. 

 

The SI panel which considered the second patient fall accepted that this fall had been 

an accident which occurred when the patient was medically fit for discharge and that 

there was evidence of good practice documented within the report.  

 

A further incident was reported to the commissioners. This was a Grade 3 pressure 

ulcer that was deemed unavoidable using the NHS England criteria because the 

patient refused to adhere to prevention strategies in spite of education of the 

consequences of non-adherence. It was nevertheless reportable. 

 

All three patients were kept fully informed and a full ‘Duty of Candour’ process has 

taken place in line with our approach to being open with patients and their families. 

 

The three cases were reported to and closed down with our Commissioners in line 

with our contractual requirements. 

 

Performance against key national priorities  

The Christie aims to meet all national targets and priorities. We have provided an 

overview of the national targets and minimum standards including those set out 

within Monitor’s Compliance Framework below. 

  The indicators "18 Week Targets - 18 week incomplete pathways" and "Cancer 

Targets - % of cancer patients waiting a maximum 62 days from GP referral to first 

definitive treatment including rare and testicular cancers (based on reallocated 

position)" in the table below have been subject to external assurance from our 



Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 

84 

 

auditors based on the annual out-turn performance. Following their work, the 18 week 

incomplete pathways indicator shows an amendment from 98.9% to 98.2% due to the 

figures being audited post validation. 

 

In 2014/15 The Christie achieved all national targets as demonstrated below. 
National 
targets and 
minimum 
standards 

Target 
Threshold 
2014/15 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Yearly 
position 

Infection 
control 

Number of attributable  
C-diff cases 

12 0 3 1 0 4 

Number of MRSA 
bacteraemia 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

MRSA screening 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Cancer 
targets 

% of cancer patients waiting 
a maximum of 31 days for 
diagnosis to first definitive 
treatment 

96% 98.4% 98.7% 98.2% 98.3% 98.4% 

% of cancer patients waiting 
a maximum of 31 days for 
diagnosis to subsequent 
treatment (anti cancer drugs) 

98% 100% 99.8% 99.8% 100% 99.9% 

% of cancer patients waiting 
a maximum of 31 days for 
diagnosis to subsequent 
treatment (surgery) 

94% 98.8% 99.5% 98.3% 98.1% 98.0% 

% of cancer patients waiting 
a maximum of 31 days for 
diagnosis to subsequent 
treatment (radiotherapy) 

94% 99.7% 99.5% 99.0% 99.8% 99.6% 

% of cancer patients waiting 
a maximum of 62 days from 
GP referral to first definitive 
treatment including rare and 
testicular cancers (based on 
reallocated position)  

85% 90.0% 87.1% 86.6% 89.9% 88.4% 

% of cancer patients waiting 
a maximum of 62 days from 
screening referral to first 
definitive treatment 

90% 100% 100% 100% 75% 95.3% 

18 weeks 
targets 

Referral to treatment waiting 
times – admitted 95

th
 

percentile 
90% 97.3% 97.5% 96.1% 96.0% 96.7% 

Referral to treatment waiting 
times – non-admitted 95

th
 

percentile 
95% 98.6% 97.9% 97.7% 98.6% 98.2% 

18 week incomplete 
pathways 

92% 98.3% 98.0% 97.0% 98.9% 98.2% 
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The Christie internal target in line with the 62-day target continues to ensure that our 

own internal performance improves, despite the day the patient arrives to us on the 

pathway. The target is set to 85% of all referrals received to first definitive treatment 

(FDT) within 31 days from receipt of the referral form. The charts below demonstrate 

that The Christie continually meets these targets.  

 
2013/14 

80%

85%

90%

95%

Apr-
13

May-
13

Jun-
13

Jul-13
Aug-
13

Sep-
13

Oct-
13

Nov-
13

Dec-
13

Jan-
14

Feb-
14

Mar-
14

Internal 31 day 85.2% 90.5% 91.1% 90.3% 85.0% 89.1% 91.3% 89.9% 90.8% 88.9% 93.9% 91.0%

31 day internal target 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85%

Internal performance - referral receipt to FDT in 31 days

 
 

2014/15 

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Apr-
14

May-
14

Jun-
14

Jul-14
Aug-
14

Sep-
14

Oct-
14

Nov-
14

Dec-
14

Jan-
15

Feb-
15

Mar-
15

Internal 31 day 88.9% 89.1% 88.8% 86.9% 84.9% 89.3% 98.4% 89.7% 89.7% 86.8% 93.6% 94.2%

31 day internal target 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85%

Internal performance - referral receipt to FDT in 31 days

 
 

Independent review of quality reports 

An assurance opinion on data quality within the Quality Report is also provided by 

our External Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers who are required to perform audit 

work on two nationally mandated performance indicators and one local indicator 

mandated this year by Monitor.  The performance indicators and their criteria are as 

follows: 

 

Mandatory performance indicators 

i) Maximum waiting time of 62 days from urgent GP referral to first treatment for all 

cancers  

 

Where the numerator is the number of patients receiving first definitive treatment 
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for cancer within 62 days following an urgent GP (GDP or GMP) referral for 

suspected cancer within a given period for all cancers (ICD-10 C00 to C97 and 

D05) and the Denominator is the total number of patients receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer following an urgent GP (GDP or GMP) referral for suspected 

cancer within a given period for all cancers (ICD-10 C00 to C97 and D05).  

 

Reallocation of breaches between Trusts are made depending on when the referral 

has been transferred to a secondary Trust for further treatment, with referrals 

made before day 42 resulting in breaches being allocated to the treating Trust but 

referrals after day 42 resulting in breaches being reallocated to the referring Trust.  

 

ii) Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete 

pathways  

 

Where the numerator is the number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the 

end of the reporting period (monthly) who have been waiting no more than 18 

weeks and the denominator is the total number of patients on an incomplete 

pathway at the end of the reporting period.  

 

iii) 10% Reduction of grade 2 or above of pressure ulcers from 2013/14  

 

Where pressure ulcers diagnosed within the first 48 hours are excluded as these 

are deemed not to be attributable to the care provided at the Trust. Pressure 

ulcers are graded according to the European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel 

(EPUAP) grading system from 1-4, with 4 being the most severe.  

 

Where pressure ulcers are diagnosed on admission, or within 72 hours of 

admission, these are excluded as they have been deemed not to be attributable to 

the care provided at the Trust. Only hospital acquired pressure ulcers are included 

in the indicator. 
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2014/15 saw many proud moments for 

The Christie. We celebrated the official 

opening of our £12m Palatine 

Treatment Centre which houses our 

teenage and young adult services and 

haematology and transplant inpatient 

service; the news that one of our nurses 

had been awarded the prestigious 

annual ‘Nurse of the Year’ title; and the 

progression of our ambitious building 

programme comprising the UK’s first 

national high energy proton beam 

therapy service, our board approval of 

our Integrated Procedures Unit and the 

start of work on a Maggie’s Centre. 

 

We continue to receive positive feedback 

from patients about our service quality and 

standards of care securing strong results in 

both the National Inpatient Survey – 

scoring almost 9 out of 10 overall, and also 

in the Patient Friends and Family Test 

where we consistently recorded scores of 

around 90% and higher. We also achieved 

very positive results in the National Cancer 

Patient Experience Survey as well as strong 

endorsement from our staff in the Staff 

Friends and Family Test scoring much 

higher than the national average both as a 

place for treatment and a place to work. 

 

We received high praise in the annual 

Patient Led Assessments of the Care 

Environment (PLACE) survey which sees 

patient assessors inspect the hospital and 

score it for standards of cleanliness, food, 

privacy, dignity and wellbeing, and the 

condition, appearance and maintenance of 

the building. 

 

Our contribution to partnerships such as 

the Manchester Academic Health Science 

Centre, the Manchester Cancer Research 

Centre, Macmillan Cancer Improvement 

Partnership and Manchester Cancer 

continues to strengthen our goal of 

delivering the highest quality care and 

treatment with real patient benefits, and 

our work towards a future without cancer. 

 

We formed a new commercial partnership 

with Alliance Medical to provide NHS PET-

CT scanning services throughout the 

country, delivering £87m of new 

investment over 10 years to provide 

scanning services and Christie expertise to 

60% of the population. 

 

We were delighted to be chosen by Cancer 

Research UK as part of a new centre of 

excellence for lung cancer research and 

proud to note that our clinical trials centre 

was shown to be the biggest oncology unit 

in the UK. 

 

Several important milestones were reached 

this year as Joseph Holt Brewery marked its 

100 year fundraising partnership with us by 

launching a centenary appeal for our new 

Integrated Procedures Unit; our mobile 

chemotherapy unit completed its first 12 

months on the road saving patients in 

excess of 30,000 miles of travel; and our 

Christie at Oldham satellite site celebrated 

A year in focus  
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its fifth anniversary and treated its 6,000th 

radiotherapy patient closer to home. 

 

So much has been achieved for our patients 

this year and exciting developments and 

initiatives are coming to fruition as we 

continue our aim to improve outcomes for 

our patients and become one of the top 

cancer centres in the world by the end of 

the decade. 
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At The Christie, we are committed to 

involving and informing both patients 

and the public about every aspect of 

our service.  

 

We believe that such involvement helps us 

provide a service that meets the needs of 

our patients. By listening to what people 

who come to The Christie think about what 

we do, we understand what is important to 

our patients. 

 

As part of our commitment, we promise to 

do the following; 

 Provide an extensive range of 

information to patients 

 Recruit, inform and engage with our 

members 

 Have a council of governors which has 

representatives from our public 

members 

 Hold quarterly council of governors 

meetings in public 

 Keep interested members of the public 

well informed of developments and 

news through our website, the media 

and other communication channels 

 Have a Freedom of Information (FOI) 

lead officer for all enquiries under the 

FOI Act 

 Hold our regular board of directors 

meetings in public 

 Publicise our complaints procedure on 

our website and ensure that 

investigation of any complaint is 

thorough and prompt 

 Pursue an open and positive 

relationship with the media 

 

Focusing on the people 

who count  
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Following a lengthy phase of 

engagement with patients we carefully 

listened to staff, members of the 

public, governors, healthcare 

organisations and others to find out 

what they would like from The Christie 

by 2020. As a result we launched our 

20:20 Vision strategy in September 

2012.  

 

Within the strategy we set ourselves four 

pledges to prepare for the future, and to 

give us a clear guide to 2020. These are: 

 

1. We will continue to lead the 

development of cancer treatment, 

research and education so that by 2020 

we are recognised as one of the world’s 

top five comprehensive cancer centres. 

2. We will continue to ensure that 

patients can receive The Christie 

experience throughout their illness and 

wherever our services our provided. 

3. We will provide high quality specialist 

care at our main site in south 

Manchester and wherever possible 

offer our specialist treatment closer to 

patients’ homes. 

4. We will continue to offer the latest 

technology and develop new 

treatments for the future, making our 

data on outcomes of treatments 

available to the public.  

More than two years on, we are confident 

we are making real progress on reaching 

our 20:20 Vision. Throughout this report 

there are tangible examples of projects 

helping us achieve our goals and making a 

real difference to patient care, such as our 

new integrated Palatine Treatment Centre 

bringing together our specialised 

haematology and young oncology services, 

the launch of The Christie Quality Mark 

recognising high standards of care, the 

opening of a Christie chemotherapy unit at 

Royal Albert Edward Infirmary, and the 

development of plans to deliver the first 

national high energy proton beam therapy 

service at The Christie in 2018. 

 

 

Seeing more clearly:              

our 20:20 Vision  
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The Christie with its research partners 

continues to break new ground in the 

treatment of cancer. The last 12 months 

have set the cornerstone for a new 

phase of research delivery. 

 

The Christie has an international reputation 

in research, development and evaluation of 

new cancer treatments. Studies are 

conducted to the highest standards and are 

rapidly translated into clinical care.  

 

The Christie is the main partner in Greater 

Manchester’s Research network which 

recruited more patients into cancer clinical 

trials in 2014/15 than any other cancer 

network in the country.  This means that 

our patients had access to the most 

innovative and leading edge treatments. 

 

 
 

The Trust leads the cancer theme within the 

Manchester Academic Health Science Centre 

(MAHSC). In line with this The Christie has 

been instrumental in developing the group, 

known as Manchester Cancer, which brings 

together cancer research, education and 

service across Greater Manchester.  The 

Trust continues to work with the 

Manchester Cancer Research Centre (MCRC), 

which is our research partnership with The 

University of Manchester and Cancer 

Research UK-Manchester Institute  

(CRUK-MI).  

 

The MCRC has continued to develop its 

world-class research programme and a state 

of the art research building which will 

increase laboratory research 

accommodation and clinical research 

administration accommodation. This will 

allow for new researchers to be appointed 

and to work closely between basic science 

whilst providing the latest care to Christie 

patients.  

 

The Christie campus is unique in the co-

location of a comprehensive cancer centre 

alongside the University of Manchester 

Cancer Institute and the Cancer Research 

UK Manchester institute.  This provides the 

perfect environment to discover and deliver 

new treatments.  To further enhance this, 

the three partners have invested £37m in 

attracting the best cancer researchers in the 

world to work with our teams.  We have 

been successful in recruiting 12 leading 

researchers with focuses across 

radiotherapy research and experimental 

cancer medicine (phase 1 clinical trials).    

 

The research division at The Christie is 

responsible for the development and 

Enhancing and expanding 

our research 
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implementation of the research strategy, 

and the management of all staff and 

facilities associated with research. The 

Christie’s research strategy is managed 

through The Christie Research Strategy 

Committee.  

 

The division is staffed by a broad range of 

disciplines which include clinical research 

nurses, radiographers, pharmacists, 

laboratory staff,  statisticians and 

administrators. The research facilities 

include a dedicated clinical trials unit (CTU), 

the Manchester Academic Health Science 

Centre, trials coordination unit and a 

dedicated radiotherapy research centre. The 

Manchester Cancer Research Centre 

biobank also reports into the division. 

 

Experimental Cancer Medicine 

The development of new cancer treatments 

is dependent on the testing of new drugs in 

cancer patients. These tests are undertaken 

in clinical trials. Any new drug product is 

initially evaluated in a small number of 

patients in phase I trials. These trials 

evaluate different dosages for toxicity, 

clinical activity and drug exposure. 

Experimental cancer medicine trials are 

conducted within the clinical trials unit 

which provides increased clinic and 

treatment delivery accommodation, a 

clinical trials laboratory area (for the 

processing and short term storage of trial 

samples), aseptic preparation and clinical 

trials pharmacy space together with 

accommodation for staff. 

The Christie opened the clinical trials unit in 

2010 as a dedicated clinical trials facility, 

and is pivotal to the quality delivery of 

early phase cancer trials, including first into 

human studies. The new inpatient unit has 

been active since September 2011 and 

houses six overnight beds allowing trials 

that require an overnight stay to be carried 

out in the same location.  

 

In 2014 The Christie approved a significant 

growth plan for experimental cancer 

medicine research that will see the number 

of patients treated grow by 5-10 fold in the 

next five years. This will ensure that The 

Christie remains at the forefront of phase 1 

clinical trials. It is critical to delivering the 

MCRC ‘Precision Medicine’ research strategy 

in having a broad portfolio of new drugs 

available to match to the most relevant 

molecular driver within the patients tumour 

by working with academic and commercial 

partners to develop the best care for our 

patients.  In driving this strategy we will 

add further world firsts for cancer care at 

The Christie. 

 

Hodgkin lymphoma 

The RAPID trial led by Professor Radford 

demonstrated that Positron Emission 

Tomography (PET) scans can help doctors 

decide if radiotherapy is needed after 

chemotherapy for Hodgkin lymphoma. 

 

Doctors usually treat early stage Hodgkin 

lymphoma with chemotherapy and 

radiotherapy. These treatments often work 
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very well, and between 75-95% of people 

are cured. 

 

Non-small cell lung cancer 

The Christie participated in the first-in-

human experiment with a drug termed 

AZD9291 in 2013, treating the third patient 

ever to receive the drug. This patient 

together with two thirds of subsequent 

patients treated with AZD9291 experienced 

a shrinkage of their tumour to less than one 

third of pre-treatment tumour volume 

(partial response). The data has been so 

compelling with the drug that the Food and 

Drug Administration have designated fast-

track status to the regulatory submission 

which is scheduled to be only two years 

after the human trials begun - an 

unprecedented speed of clinical 

development in which the first-in-human 

trial (AURA) was adapted to become the 

trial-of-registration intent. 

 

Leukaemia 

Haematology Consultant Tim Somervaille 

and his research team at the Patterson 

Institute have been working collaboratively 

with the Spanish-based Clinical 

Biopharmaceutical Company, Oryzon, a 

world leader in Epigenetics. Their in-house 

pre-clinical research has been key to 

identifying this new target as outlined in 

their 2012 Cancer Cell publication.  Working 

with Oryzon, a new drug, ORY-1001, has 

been designed to inhibit/block LSD-1 

activity, an enzyme that controls genes 

involved in leukaemia cancer cell growth 

and proliferation. This unique mechanism 

of action is ground-breaking in the 

targeting of treatments for acute 

leukaemia. 

 

This Phase 1 first-in-man clinical trial study 

offers a treatment to patients who have 

exhausted all other conventional treatment 

options. 

 

Patient and public involvement: 

Building on last year’s new developments 

we now have a research database 

comprising of patients, carers and the 

public who wish to be involved in clinical 

research activities. Following on from our 

first Patient Research Focus group meeting 

in March we are now developing three 

streams of involvement for our group 

which include: public speaking, educational 

events and raising the profile of clinical 

research across the Trust; involvement in 

protocol review, review of patient 

information sheets and grant applications; 

attending open events as patient advocates 

for research and contributing to improving 

the patient experience for individuals using 

the clinical research facilities. 

 

We were fortunate in having Derek Stewart 

OBE involved with this key piece of work, 

who facilitated our first meeting and 

continues to be a key point of contact with 

this new development. 
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UK Clinical Research Facility Conference 

2016 

The Christie has been successful in securing 

a bid as the lead site in conjunction with 

the two other Manchester CRFs to host the 

UKCRF 12th National Annual Meeting in 

July 2016. This is also the Manchester 

European year of science and provides an 

opportunity to showcase the work of the 

Manchester CRFs as well as providing the  

infrastructure to support this very 

prestigious event. 

Manchester Academic Health Science 

Centre Trials Coordination Unit  

The Christie hosts the MAHSC-Trials Co-

ordination Unit (MAHSC-CTU), which 

provides support to researchers to ensure 

that robust grant applications for academic 

studies are produced, that study design is 

methodologically sound, that these studies 

are undertaken within the rigorous national 

and international regulatory and legal 

framework and that the data collected is 

robust and verifiable before being 

analysed. 

 

The unit has entered into collaboration 

with the Cancer Research UK/Liverpool 

Cancer Trials Unit to form the North West 

Surgical Trials Centre, which aims to 

increase the portfolio of surgical-led 

academic studies within the UK.  This 

initiative is driven and supported by the 

Royal College of Surgeons. Our 

collaboration with Liverpool is also being 

extended to support the development of a 

more robust and current e-database for 

clinical trials data management. 

 

Radiotherapy research 

Radiotherapy is used in the treatment of 

over 50% of our cancer patients; therefore 

research in this area is important if the 

treatments offered to patients are to 

improve. The Trust has a dedicated 

radiotherapy research facility, the Wade 

Centre. This centre has been successful in 

galvanising radiotherapy research within 

the Trust and ensures new techniques from 

research are transferred into the clinical 

care of our patients. 

 

During the year plans have developed 

further for the development of the planned 

£125m Proton Beam Therapy Centre. The 

Christie charity is fundraising to include a 

dedicated research facility within this unit.  

In addition to this we have recruited an 

international expert in Proton Beam 

Therapy research to lead on our ambitious 

research plans. 

 

The Christie has joined an international 

consortium to develop the next advance in 

linear accelerator technology through the 

utilisation of Magnetic Resonance Imaging 

(MRI) to increase the specificity to the 

targeted cells and reduce the side effects 

for patients. This will be a huge 

breakthrough for cancer treatments and 

will be made available first at The Christie.  
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Tissue banking 

In the seven years since the MCRC biobank 

was established, it has responded to 

research requirements by developing a 

flexible model to ensure researchers’ needs 

can be met. Originally set up with the 

premise that a six-pack of fixed and frozen 

tumour, normal and matched blood and 

urine from patients undergoing surgery 

would be banked for future use, it soon 

became apparent that this would only 

satisfy a proportion of research needs.  

 

To facilitate bespoke requests, the biobank 

has had to respond rapidly to manage the 

logistical and ethical challenges this can 

bring. The first significant change was the 

shift from purely retrospective biobanking 

to more prospective sample collection, 

driven by both the requirement for samples 

which can only be collected prospectively 

and the need to ensure finite resource is 

used as efficiently as possible. 

Specific requests for samples now 

facilitated through the biobank include 

collection of fresh tissue, which requires 

coordination of staff to ensure samples can 

be delivered immediately to the researcher 

and the quality of the sample can be 

maintained. This is often coupled with the 

need for consent to be taken to allow tissue 

to be used for the creation of animal 

models of disease, a requirement under The 

Human Tissue Act. This requires detailed 

planning on both the biobank and research 

side, where tumour size, type of media 

used and time all impact on the viability of 

the sample for its intended use. 

 

To further meet research requirements, an 

update to the biobank’s research tissue 

bank ethics approval now allows a single 

consent to enable serial collection of 

samples, something which has facilitated 

research studies involving the collection of 

blood from patients throughout the course 

of their treatment. The new forms also 

allow the patient to be consented for 

collection of alternative, non-invasive 

sample types, such as ascites, pleural fluid 

and plucked hair. 

 

In addition to creating a flexible model for 

sample collection, the biobank also apply 

the same ethos to data collection. This has 

been facilitated by obtaining a permission 

called Section 251 Support from the Health 

Research Authority, which allows linkage of 

large archival tissue sample cohorts, falling 

outside of the consent provisions of The 

Human Tissue Act, to be married to clinical 

datasets. This enables follow up and 

outcome data to be linked to the tissue 

samples so research looking at markers for 

survival and disease progression can be 

carried out. 

 

In recent years the biobank has also acted 

as a vehicle to successfully deliver sample 

collection for a number of national research 

initiatives & projects, such as The CRUK 

Stratified Medicine Programme, CRUK 100K 

Genome Pilot and TracerX.  
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At the end of 2014, Central Manchester 

Foundation Trust (CMFT) and The Christie 

NHS Foundation Trust submitted a joint bid 

to become a Genomics Medicine Centre 

(GMC) for the 100,000 Genomes Project and 

were successfully selected in the first wave. 

CMFT will act as the overall lead for 

Manchester and for rare diseases, with The 

Christie leading on the cancer element. It is 

anticipated that the cancer sample 

collection will begin in May 2015. 
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At The Christie we feel it is vitally 

important to promote and enhance 

education, training and development 

for all staff. Developing skills and 

knowledge keeps our staff at the 

cutting edge of cancer care.  

 

This year has seen some significant 

developments in The School of Oncology.        

 

Training the workforce of the future 

Health Education North West’s review 

noted that The Christie is maintaining the 

highest quality in training the workforce, in 

relation to facilitation of practice education 

for non-medical students, and gave the 

Trust one of the highest scores across the 

North West. The School improved on its 

already exceptional rating of 93% in 2013, 

and achieved an overall rating of 96% 

(against an average of 90% in Greater 

Manchester and 87% regionally).  

 

Manchester Medical School undertook their 

first quality assurance visit to The Christie. 

Feedback was extremely positive. Students 

commented how welcome they feel at The 

Christie, how well organised the induction, 

placements and lectures are. As well as the 

good learning opportunities experienced 

including small group teaching and lectures, 

they valued being welcomed into 

multidisciplinary teams. Following the visit 

the medical school have supported a 

change in the year five curriculum, meaning 

that every Manchester medical student will 

spend a week at The Christie, working 

within a multi-professional specialty team. 

 

During the year, 252 prospective medical 

students from 13 local schools attended 

two medical careers sessions. Of these, 44 

were selected by their schools to attend a 

one week work experience programme. 

This involved visits to Christie clinics and 

wards, practising key skills in the clinical 

skills suite, and experiencing the life of a 

junior and senior doctor. Students were 

also invited by Christie medical physics and 

engineering and radiotherapy to ‘open 

events’ to help them understand more 

about allied health professions (AHP) and 

scientific careers in the NHS.  

 

New education developments for 

Christie staff 

The Christie Care Certificate was launched 

in January 2015. The draft standards of the 

new national care certificate for all health 

care support workers were published in 

2014. The School worked with clinical 

colleagues to review these in relation to the 

needs of Christie patients, and developed 

The Christie Care Certificate and The 

Christie Nursing Assistant Care Certificate, 

which meet the national standards, but add 

to them to ensure Christie patients receive 

the very best care. The first two Christie 

staff completing the programme were 

presented with their care certificates and 

nursing assistant hospital badges by Jane 

Cummings, NHS Chief Nurse, on her recent 

visit on 27th March 2015.  

Investing in knowledge  
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Three new leadership programmes were 

developed and delivered in 2014-15, adding 

to the assessment centres already running 

for senior clinical and managerial staff. In 

total The Trust has invested in leadership 

training for 92 staff. The most senior 

medical staff undertook leadership and 

mentoring training, skilling them up to 

provide mentoring for new and more junior 

medical colleagues. A leadership 

development programme was delivered to 

the medical trainees to prepare them for 

leadership roles in the NHS, and a new 

inter-professional clinical leadership 

programme was launched in May 2014, 

comprising six seminars on topics such as: 

the changing landscape of the NHS, 

structures and influences in The Christie, 

developing motivation and enthusiasm in 

colleagues, writing business cases, and 

learning how to influence.  

 

World class cancer education delivered 

to the UK 

The School of Oncology will play a lead role 

in delivering the educational aspects of the 

new national PET-CT contract. The first, 

Introduction to PET-CT study day ran at The 

Christie on 21st March. Two further study 

days are now planned. The School also 

developed and delivered a new two day 

cannulation and radioisotope training for 

PET-CT technologists. This successful 

programme provided theoretical and skills 

based training, with observation experience 

and patient management guidance.  

 

The School launched ChristieEducationLive!  

as a new way to access online live 

education from desktops. The first event 

took place on 25th March when 34 health 

professionals from UK, Northern Ireland, 

and the USA, joined 100 more in the 

auditorium for an acute oncology study 

day. The online learners joined different 

sections of the event from their desktops 

and were able to interact with the 

audience, and speakers, by sending 

questions via a live moderated chat room.  

 

ChristieEducationOnDemand! will now 

make events available on demand or as  

e-learning packages on our new Moodle 

platform, which can be accessed globally.     

These developments have been made 

possible due to the continued investment in 

technology by the School of Oncology. 

 

The School of Oncology has expanded its 

general and specialist surgical training 

programme, run in association with 

Doctors’ Academy and The Royal College of 

Surgeons of Edinburgh. We have run 15 

surgical training events, including a new 

procedural skills module, alongside the 

established Fellow of the Royal College of 

Surgeons (FRCS) and Membership of the 

Royal College of Surgeons (MRCS) revision 

modules. There has been an expansion of 

the basic surgical skills programme for 

medical students and junior doctors, and a 

continuation of the specialist laparoscopic 

surgical training courses.  
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The International School of Oncology  

The Christie international scholars 

programme is a joint initiative between The 

School of Oncology and The Christie 

Charitable Fund. The programme utilises 

income from medical training events, in 

partnership with the charity, to create 

scholarship opportunities for trainees from 

outside the UK to come to The Christie and 

work alongside our trainees under the 

supervision of our expert clinicians. The 

School will soon be welcoming an Italian 

trainee into the clinical oncology team, and 

a trainee from Portugal into the medical 

oncology team. 

 

The School of Oncology’s hugely successful 

Fellow of the Royal College of Radiologists 

(FRCR) revision course was run for the first 

time in India. Faculty from The Christie and 

the University of Manchester travelled to 

Kolkata to deliver lectures live, and The 

School of Oncology Moodle platform was 

used to deliver 

ChristieEducationOnDemand! for parts of 

the programme, which had been pre-

recorded in the UK. It is understood that 

those who attended the course were more 

than twice as likely to pass the 

examination. 

 

The School of Oncology has developed a 

number of agreements with international 

partners and groups to deliver training 

events, support developments and provide 

observerships for clinical staff. A team from 

The School of Oncology were collaborative 

partners in the delivery of a very successful 

symposium on HIPEC surgery (a specialist 

use of chemotherapy in surgery) with the 

Indo-British Health Initiative in Chennai. 

The symposium was attended by clinical 

staff from ten different countries.  

 

Development of a new academic 

programme  

The School of Oncology is developing its 

portfolio of academic programmes. This 

includes the development of a haematology 

course in partnership with the University of 

Manchester. Discussions are also taking 

place with higher education partners for 

the delivery of a number of other modules.  

Other exciting news included the 

development of the MRes (Master of 

Research) in experimental cancer medicine. 
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The Trust follows the government 

commitment to sustainability and to 

carbon reduction and has therefore 

chosen to follow the NHS foundation 

trust annual reporting manual and 

include a sustainability report within 

this annual report. 

 

Overall strategy for sustainability 

The Trust has objectives and governance 

structures to implement a sustainable 

development plan (SDMP), following the 

NHS sustainable development unit (SDU) 

guidance which addresses relevant 

legislation, regulatory requirements, 

associated risks, mitigation and adaption of 

Trust strategies. 

 

The Trust SDMP is formulated to clarify all of 

the Trust related objectives as a whole and 

provides a framework to monitor our progress 

via quarterly reports reviewed via a 

sustainability committee reporting to the 

capital and workforce planning group. This 

provides sustainability leads with formal 

direction and responsibilities to ensure all the 

areas of sustainability are continually 

addressed. The Trust monthly performance 

report covers sustainable monitoring in the 

form of scoring by way of the good corporate 

citizenship toolkit. 

 

In addition, all project managers, in compiling 

business cases, are required to carry out 

sustainable pre assessments in detail, this is 

crucial to the success and approval of any 

business case in the future. 

The Trust, in addressing sustainability, has had 

a very positive affect on development of the 

site. This has become increasingly more 

evident, particularly as stakeholders become 

more informed.  Local planning, councillors 

and our neighbours are continually addressing 

all of the sustainable elements which are now 

crucial to the further development and success 

of the overall goals of the Trust. The Trust has 

previously achieved three consecutive annual 

Green Apple awards, for its overall strategy in 

embracing all the sustainable areas, 

sustainable travel and energy efficient 

infrastructure. Following very positive 

efficiency gains with the energy program the 

trust is moving forward with a further phase 

to its energy savings program.  

 

The guidance for public sector reports sets out 

a base minimum, however the guidance also 

provides the opportunity to report beyond 

these requirements. The Trust continually 

addresses all of the SDU areas as follows:-  

 

(Please note that the Trust, in following 

Estates Returns Information Collection (ERIC) 

guidance, does not monitor sustainability of 

other site users)  

 

Greenhouse gas emissions  

The Trust has a clear commitment to 

efficiency and the reduction of greenhouse 

gas emissions having invested almost two 

million pounds in a number of energy 

conservation measures over the last three 

years; these measures have had a positive 

Improving our environment 
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impact in reducing energy consumption and 

will continue to do so for many years.  

 

Further schemes are being developed; these 

will concentrate on an additional 

renewable energy installation and the 

replacement of old and inefficient heating 

plant.  

 

As the Trust qualifies for the Carbon 

Reduction Commitment scheme (CRC) its 

liability and reporting commitments are 

managed in line with environment agency 

guidance. 

 

Waste minimisation and management 

The Trust complies with waste regulations 

to satisfy assurance bodies. Systems are in 

place to ensure that the prevention, 

segregation, handling, transport and 

disposal of waste is properly managed to 

minimise the risks to the health and safety 

of staff, patients, the public and the safety 

of the environment. 

 

The Trust is committed to the waste 

segregation process in line with legislation 

and guidance. New waste streams and 

waste systems are continually being 

instigated across the site and will ultimately 

produce data, to allow additional target 

setting to segregate, reduce, reuse and 

recycle individual waste streams.  

 

Evidence-based assessments are recorded in 

the performance scorecard reports on a 

monthly basis. External audits are 

undertaken to satisfy stakeholders that the 

Trust meets legislative requirements. In 

addition external assurers are consulted 

when setting new objectives for any 

forthcoming changes to guidance. 

 

Targets are set in line with Government and 

the Trust’s exacting requirements. 

Achievements of the targets are met by 

adopting the waste management strategy 

of prevention, reduce, reuse, recycle and 

rethink.  

 

Increases in patient and site activity are 

applied to the monitoring process which 

itself is continually reviewed to ensure all 

factors are embraced. Achieving the 

ongoing targets related to CO2 emissions is 

crucial in the Trust’s endeavour to fully 

embrace the NHS sustainability objectives. 

The Trust’s sustainable development 

management plan (SDMP) will further 

embrace the Trust’s objectives. 

 

Waste minimisation and management 

metrics are summarised in the financial and 

none financial matrix of this report. 

 

Finite resource consumption 

The Trust has an obligation to provide a 

hygienic and safe water system for staff 

and patients, whilst maintaining this 

system to the highest standard the efficient 

use of water is considered on all new 

developments and refurbishments. 
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Biodiversity action planning  

The Christie understands that sustainable 

health requires not only effective medical 

treatments but also healthy environments.  

 

The value of green space and nature is 

reflected in the Government’s Biodiversity 

Strategy reflecting that people intuitively 

feel nature is good for them, and The 

Christie believes good environments make 

us feel better. Therefore our capital projects 

are designed to provide, wherever possible, 

accessible green space to help maintain 

ecosystems and to provide areas for 

exercise, relaxation and to promote well-

being. 

 

It is our strategy to provide sustainable 

development which maximises green space 

to give a feel good factor to as many 

people as possible. 

 

Sustainable procurement 

The Trust continues to take steps to ensure 

that its procurement policies and 

procedures seek to incorporate appropriate 

sustainability practices 

 

A sustainable procurement policy has been 

developed and this will supplement the 

sustainable action plan. 

The procurement element of the 

sustainable development management plan 

(SDMP) has been completed and the 

objectives therein are now being worked 

against. 

 

The objectives are as follows: 

 Have a trust sustainable procurement 

policy and action plan  

 Agree carbon reduction targets for 

procurement i.e. all products and 

suppliers credentials   

 Encourage adoption of suppliers who 

are sustainable  

 Compare quality of procurement 

sustainability performance against 

other NHS organisations  

 

Stakeholder awareness of and commitment 

to sustainable issues continues to be 

increased and procurement emphasise to 

project teams the importance of 

considering and taking into account 

sustainability issues when formulating 

procurement requirements at pre-

qualification stage, when developing 

specifications and at tender 

evaluation/award stage.  

In accordance with the Greening 

Government Commitments the Trust aims 

to cut paper use year on year. 

Year Number of reams +/- 

2014/15 15,190 -1.96% 

2013/14 15,494 +5.25% 

2012/13 14,721 -13.29% 

2011/12 16,979  

 

Further voluntary reporting 

The guidance for public sector reports sets 

out a base minimum, however the guidance 
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also provides the opportunity to report 

beyond these requirements.  

 

Food waste 

The catering department has maintained its 

target of 10% food wastage which was set 

out by the Trust. The average food wastage 

was 5% per month over the last 12 months.  

 

Catering management has worked on 

several electronic systems to reduce 

significantly the paperwork, and improve 

the accuracy of our audit reports for 

internal and external audits. The cashless 

swipe card system is well accepted by all 

departments, and the electronic monitoring 

and billing system is also a great success. 

The electronic systems allow the finance 

department to receive accurate details and 

also produce accurate invoices on request.  

 

The catering department continuously 

strives to be more sustainable and suppliers 

have been regularly under review to be 

more sustainable, which includes the use of 

the local community.  

 

Low carbon travel, transport and access 

The Trust aims to provide methods of 

travel, which do not have a significant 

adverse impact on the environment or add 

to problems of congestion, while at the 

same time aiming to reduce carbon 

emissions in line with relevant Government 

legislation and the Trust’s agreed 

sustainable development plan. 

 

The Christie green travel plan (GTP) 2014 – 

2030 was prepared in partnership with 

Manchester City Council (MCC). 

 

The Trust had successfully achieved the 

modal shift targets from a previous five 

year plan and is committed to sustainable 

development. The intention of the GTP is to 

support the Manchester City Council carbon 

reduction schemes and address the Trust’s 

commitment to good corporate citizenship. 

 

Data to monitor progress on modal shift is 

obtained annually through a survey of all 

site users. At the time this travel plan was 

written the survey had only been issued to 

those staff on the Christie payroll, not other 

site users.  This indicated 34.7% of staff 

members commute via sustainable travel. 

These results were used to form the 

baseline against which this GTP will be 

measured. 

 

The new modal shift target is to aim high 

with the following targets for staff using 

sustainable travel: 

 Short term (2019) -  48% 

 Medium term (2024) – 52% 

 Long term (2030) – 60% 

 

The progress of the GTP plan is monitored 

through quarterly meetings with a MCC 

travel policy officer.  In 2014 -15 the key 

actions that have been progressed to 

support the GTP are as follows: 
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 Business case baseline assessments –

reviewed and amended to include 

sustainable travel elements. 

 Funding for new shower blocks and 

refurbishment of current facilities now 

set aside. 

 Communication & marketing strategy 

developed and ratified. 

 Quarterly progress reports presented to 

internal & external committees. 

 Christie accessibility analysis of all site 

users commission. 

 Personal travel planning offered to 

employees. 

 Travel plan coordinator attends 

Transport for Greater Manchester travel 

choices workshops. 

 Travel plan coordinator has become a 

member of Transport for Greater 

Manchester workplace Cycle Champions 

Network 

 Twice yearly bike doctor 

 A pilot park and ride scheme 

developed, with plans to extend the 

scheme in the future. 

 

Designing the built environment 

Our designs for new capital development 

maximise opportunities to reduce our 

environmental impact, improve our natural 

environment and make ready for a change 

to our climate; helping us create 

environmentally sustainable care. 

 

We recognise the importance of delivering 

on this agenda through the design and 

build process with all projects over £2m 

undergoing an environmental assessment 

(BREEAM). We commit to achieve an 

Excellent status for all new buildings and 

Very Good for refurbishment projects. 

 

Our capital planning team continue to 

progress the capital programme while 

conforming to the guidelines of the NHS 

Good Corporate Citizenship toolkit,   

developed by the Sustainable Development 

Commission (SDC) to help cut carbon 

footprints and improve environmental 

performance. 

 

Organisational and workforce 

development 

The Trust has an active communications 

strategy for every level of the organisation. 

This includes raising awareness of 

sustainability to include staff, visitors and 

patients. Individual applicants are made 

aware of the Trust’s position in terms of the 

green travel plan at the point of 

application. This clarifies no on-site parking 

is available for any potential interview or 

any future role, it also highlights local 

parking restrictions and promotes the park 

and ride scheme. This information is 

reiterated in the successful candidates 

recruitment information, Trust induction 

and corporate communications. The Trust 

undertakes ongoing healthy workplace 

initiatives for staff promoting alternative 

and healthier ways of travelling to work. 

The annual health and wellbeing day is well 

attended across the Trust and involves a 

variety of companies promoting public 
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transport initiatives and cycle to work 

schemes.  

 

The Trust is currently working alongside a 

local school to offer work experience to 

pupils to encourage them to work locally 

within the NHS. The Christie principles and 

behaviours are promoted within the 

organisation and externally promoting a 

clean, safe and tidy environment. 

 

Role of partnerships and networks 

The NHS should be an example of a low 

carbon sustainable organisation. We 

therefore identify and work effectively in 

partnership with all relevant stakeholders 

to support treatments close to home, and 

localising services within the community. 

 

Finance 

There are two key factors that support 

financial stability at The Christie, the 

delivery of a sustainable financial position 

to ensure the longevity of the organisation, 

and also investment in supporting the 

wider sustainability agenda. In 2014/15 the 

Trust delivered a strong financial position, 

reporting a £12.9m operating surplus 

(consolidated position).  This is due to a 

number of factors including successful 

delivery of the Trust’s savings programme, 

strong financial controls and governance, 

and the receipt of charitable income for 

new building developments.  This enabled 

the Trust to continue to receive the highest 

Monitor rating for its key financial 

indicators which consider the liquidity of 

the organisation and the ability of the Trust 

to repay its debts. 

 

In addition, the Trust continued to include 

sustainability as a key part of its investment 

appraisal methodology, by considering the 

different facets of how a business case can 

support the sustainability agenda.  A 

number of investments were approved 

which specifically supported sustainability 

in the Trust, including energy conservation 

measures,  implementation of elements of 

the travel and parking strategy and 

initiatives to support paperless working. 

Although the Trust continues to be subject 

to the external challenging financial 

climate, it is anticipated that the next 

financial year will also show a positive 

financial position, which is testament to the 

work all staff do to deliver a sustainable 

Trust. 

 

Governance and corporate citizenship  

NHS Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) 

objectives are embraced within the Trust. 

The Trust continues to action good 

corporate citizen objectives, monitoring 

itself against the corporate citizenship 

assessment toolkit. The Trust has core 

principles with corporate and component 

objectives to protect and enhance the 

environment and local community. Terms of 

reference for a sustainable development 

committee (SDC) are approved by the 

capital and workforce planning committee 

(CWP). The remit of the SDC includes 

corporate citizenship monitoring. 
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Waste minimisation and management 

Financial and non-financial data 2013/14 and 2014/15 

Greenhouse gas emissions Non-financial data 2013/14 Non-financial data 2014/15 

 

Scope 1 (direct) GHG emissions Gas consumption  

44,902,757.39 kWh 

Gas consumption  

47,283,845.22 kWh   

Scope 2 (energy indirect) 

emissions 

Electricity consumption 

1,552,641.00 kWh 

Electricity consumption 

1,138,009.66 kWh 

Scope 3 official business travel 

emissions 

170 tonnes – total Co2 

emissions 

171 tonnes – total Co2 

emissions 

Greenhouse gas emissions Financial data 2013/14 Financial data 2013/14 

Scope 1 (direct) GHG emissions CRC Liability £113,928.00 

9494 tCO2 

CRC Liability £149,109.00 

9092 tCO2 

 

 

Waste minimisation and 

management 

Non-financial data (tonnes) 

2013/14 

Non-financial data (tonnes) 

2014/15 

Waste sent to landfill 287.96 249.98 

Waste recycled/reused 257.52 325.60 

Waste incinerated 212.40 264.60 

Total amount of waste produced 

by the Trust 

757.88 840.18 
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Expenditure on waste disposal Financial data £k 2013/14 Financial data £k 2014/15 

Waste sent to landfill 82,609.50 76,457.13 

Waste recycled/reused 18,596.31 19,361.89 

Waste incinerated 88,810.92 100,905.25 

Total expenditure on waste 

disposal 

190,016.73 196,724.27 

Non-disposal waste related 

purchases 

7,140.00 9,000.00 

Total 197,160.73 205,724.27 

 

Finite resources Non-financial data 2013/14 Non-financial data 2014/15 

Water 95,781 m3 96,515 m3 

Electricity 5589.50 Gj 4096.83 Gj 

Gas 161,649.85 Gj 170221.83 Gj 

Other energy consumption Nil Nil 

 Financial data £k 2013/14 Financial data £k 2014/15 

Water £296,568.32 £299,659.61 

Electricity/gas £1,740,978.36 £1,510,933.38 

Other energy consumption Nil Nil 
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Having the right staff makes a big 

difference to our patients, so we spend 

a great deal of time attracting, 

retaining and developing the very best 

workforce possible. Making our staff 

feel valued and supporting their 

wellbeing, helps them to make our 

patients feel valued and supported too.  

 

The Christie Commitment 

The Christie Commitment is the name of 

our organisational development plan.  Built 

on our previous success and track record of 

delivery, it describes our principles, 

behaviours and staff pledges. It is our 

promise to patients, carers and families 

about how they will be cared for, and for 

our staff it is our promise about how we 

will treat each other. The Christie 

Commitment is the framework to enable 

engagement initiatives to be developed 

further in a planned and considered way.  

 

To support this, we established a group of 

Christie Commitment champions whose role 

is to promote and support the staff 

engagement agenda primarily within their 

own departments but also across the 

organisation. This group will receive regular 

updates on new initiatives and will provide 

feedback and suggestions from staff for 

further improvements. 

 

One idea that was generated by the group 

took place in February 2015. The aim of 

‘one week, all staff’ was to speak to as 

many staff as possible in one week, or 

encourage them to share their views 

through other means, such as comments on 

a postcard, drop in sessions and an 

anonymous online feedback form. 

 

Our Christie Commitment champions spent 

the week asking staff how it feels to work 

at The Christie. We wanted them to tell us 

what we do well and how could we 

continue to improve.   

 

Recommendations and improvements 

requested by staff were summarised and 

evaluated alongside our staff pledges. 

Where possible, improvements will be 

implemented and tracked via our Christie 

champions. We plan to update our staff by 

holding a similar event later in the year. 

 

Communication and engagement 

There are a variety of methods used to 

communicate with our staff which are 

developed and reviewed regularly. We 

have a quarterly staff magazine and a 

monthly team briefing system. The face-to-

face briefing is delivered by the Chief 

Executive as well as by written cascade to 

all staff. The purpose of the briefing is to 

update staff about the Trust’s performance, 

our plans and developments, and progress 

against our 20:20 vision.  Staff also have 

access to the intranet which provides a 

wide range of information ranging from 

charity events to policies and procedures. 

 

To further promote our culture of 

openness, our monthly board of directors 

Our greatest asset 
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and council of governors meetings are 

public, and staff are welcome to attend.  

 

We recognise the contribution of our staff 

through our monthly ‘You Made a 

Difference’ award. Staff can be nominated 

by patients, families or colleagues.  All of 

the nominations show how committed our 

staff are to providing the best possible care 

and experience for our patients.   

 

We also hold annual awards to celebrate 

the contribution of our long serving staff 

and volunteers and team and individual 

awards linked to our 2020 vision.  

 

The 2014 team of the year awards were 

included in our staff celebration event held 

in April 2015 in the National Football 

Museum in Manchester. 

 

All our new staff attend the Trust induction 

programme which focuses on our principles 

and behaviours. This helps staff better 

understand how they can make a difference 

to our patients.  

 

Six months after appointment we ask for 

staff feedback about their experience to 

date. We use this information to make 

improvements to ensure that new staff feel 

welcome and supported, particularly during 

their early days with us.  

 

Staff Friends and Family Test 

The national Staff Friends and Family Test 

was launched in April 2013. Each quarter 

we surveyed all staff to ask if they would 

recommend The Christie to their friends and 

family as a place to be treated or to 

work. This is the highest recommendation 

that anybody could give.  The table below 

demonstrates our results for the 12 months 

up to 31 March 2015, although no surveys 

were conducted during quarter three due 

to the national staff survey also taking 

place.  

 

Recommend as a place for 

treatment 

96% 

Recommend as a place of 

work 

73% 

 

Leadership development 

In order to deliver our 20:20 vision our 

managers and leaders will need to develop 

and enhance their skills as leaders of 

services and people. Leadership 

development is therefore a key priority of 

the organisational development strategy. 

This year we have developed multi-

disciplinary programmes for both our 

clinical and non-clinical managers. The 

Trust’s expectations of our managers and 

leaders are informed by our values and 

behaviours, and these flexible programmes 

will help participants achieve their 

development priorities 

 

Health and wellbeing 

Supporting our staff’s health and wellbeing 

is an important part of our Christie 

Commitment.   
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We work closely with our occupational 

health partners to help employees maintain 

and improve their health and wellbeing. 

The department advises on occupational 

health matters to employees and managers. 

They survey workers’ health in relation to 

ability and suitability for work, both pre 

and during employment, support 

operational and human resource managers 

with management of sickness absence and 

health related performance issues and 

survey working environments and practices 

that may affect workers’ health and 

wellbeing according to health and safety 

legislation. We have on site 

physiotherapists and face to face 

counselling provisions available to staff. 

We have provided a comprehensive flu 

vaccination programme throughout the 

year which saw the Trust vaccinate 86% of 

the workforce, the second highest result in 

the country. 

The Trust promotes a healthy working 

environment to positively affect health and 

wellbeing, thereby increasing the 

effectiveness of the organisation.  

Our Christie Commitment champions 

developed a 12 month plan of activity 

which included getting involved in the Dry 

January campaign, supporting Stoptober 

and Movember campaigns and health MOT 

days.  

 

In July 2014 we held a staff summer 

celebration which was themed around the 

commonwealth games with food and drink 

from the commonwealth countries. Events 

included a static bike challenge, a giant 

connect four game and boules. 

Our annual staff health and wellbeing 

event was held in March 2015 and focused 

on four health and wellbeing themes - eat 

well, be active, think well and changing life 

style.  Each theme was supported by a 

range of 25 different activities, which were 

both interactive and informative.  The 

event was a great success with over 400 

staff attending.   

 

In addition, we ran two raising concerns 

events jointly with the Trade unions in 

September 2014 and we are planning to 

launch some mindfulness resilience training 

for managers. 

The table shows that our average sickness 

remains stable.  

 

Average sickness 2012 2013/ 

2014 

2014/ 

2015 

Average sickness 

% (12 months) 

3.42 3.18 3.49 

Average full 

time equivalent 

2179 2260 2257.51 
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Staff satisfaction survey 

The Care Quality Commission requires this annual survey to be carried out by all NHS Trusts in 

England. Once again, despite a difficult economic climate the Trust had excellent results from 

the national staff survey and has continued to improve.  

 

We were particularly pleased that 92% of respondents strongly agree or agreed they would be 

happy with the standard of care provided if a friend or relative needed treatment. This score 

was the second highest in the country.  

 

A total of 800 staff were surveyed and the response rates are shown in the table below. 

 

 

2013/14 2014/15 
Trust 

improvement / deterioration 
Trust National 

average 

Trust National 

average 

Response rate 50% 49% 51% 42% 1% increase 

 

Areas of improvement 

As a result of action taken following last year’s survey, the Trust has shown an improvement in 

the percentage of staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and patient care they are able 

to provide from 81% last year to 90% this year. The 2014 national average was 84%. 

Continued work and action in response to last year’s survey has also supported better than 

average results in the following areas, compared with all acute specialist trusts in 2014: 

- effective team working 

- support from immediate managers 

- the percentage of staff suffering work-related stress in last 12 months 

- the percentage of staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents witnessed in the last 

month 

- fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting procedures 

- the percentage of staff agreeing that they would feel secure raising concerns about 

unsafe clinical practice 

- the percentage of staff experiencing bullying and harassment from staff, patients, 

relatives or public in last 12 months 

- the percentage of staff feeling pressure in last 3 months to attend work when feeling 

unwell 

- the percentage of staff able to contribute towards improvements at work 

- staff job satisfaction 
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- the percentage of staff able to contribute towards improvements at work 

- staff job satisfaction 

- staff recommendation of the Trust as a place to work or receive treatment 

- the percentage of staff believing the Trust provides equal opportunities for career 

progression or promotion 

- the percentage of staff experiencing discrimination at work in last 12 months 

- the percentage of staff agreeing feedback from patients/service users is used to make 

informed decisions in their directorate/department 

 

Staff engagement 

In simple terms happy and motivated staff have a positive impact on patient care and 

outcomes. The NHS staff survey uses responses to three key findings to determine an overall 

engagement score on a scale of 1 to 5 with 5 indicating the highest levels of engagement. The 

Trust’s score of 3.96 for overall staff engagement is above average when benchmarked with 

acute specialist trusts. 

 

Key findings 
The Christie 
2014 

National 
average  
2014 

The Christie 
2013 

Overall staff engagement (score out of 5) 3.96 3.95 3.97 

Staff ability to contribute to improvements 
at work 

73% 71% 74% 

Staff recommendation of the Trust as a 
place to work or receive treatment  
(score out of 5) 

4.17 4.14 4.18 

Staff motivation at work (score out of 5) 3.89 3.90 3.91 

 

Top 5 ranking scores 2013 
Trust 

2014 Trust 
improvement / 
deterioration 

National 
average 

Trust 

Percentage of staff believing the 
Trust provides equal opportunities for 
career progression or promotion 

92% 90% 95% 
+3% 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
physical violence from staff in last 12 
months 

0% 1% 1% +1% 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
discrimination at work in last 12 
months 

6% 9% 5% -1% 
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Percentage of staff feeling satisfied 
with the quality of work and patient 
care they are able to deliver 

81% 84% 90% +9% 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse from 
patients, relatives or the public in the 
last 12 months 

13% 22% 13% No change 

 

Bottom 5 ranking scores 
2013 
Trust 

2014 Trust 
improvement/ 
deterioration 

National 
average 

Trust 

Percentage of staff receiving job-
relevant training, learning or 
development in last 12 months 

83% 81% 78% -5% 

Percentage of staff receiving health 
and safety training in last 12 months 

76% 78% 68% -8% 

Percentage of staff having equality 
and diversity training in last 12 
months 

66% 68% 61% -5% 

Staff motivation at work  
(score out of 5) 

3.91 3.90 3.89 -0.02 

Percentage of staff having well 
structured appraisals in last 12 
months 

42% 42% 41% -1% 
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Health and safety performance  

The Trust recognises its legal duty to 

protect patients, staff and visitors from the 

risk of injury or work-related ill health.  

There is an effective executive-led approach 

to managing health and safety with close 

co-operation between management and 

staff side representatives.  Managers have 

access to specialist trained advisers in 

health and safety, moving and handling, 

fire and security. In addition, advice and 

support are available from radiation 

protection, infection control, occupational 

health and waste management. 

 

There were 212 reported staff accidents in 

2014/15, compared with 226 in 2013/14.  Of 

these, 15 resulted in significant injury, 

compared with eight in the previous year.  

The top three categories of accidents were 

inoculation incidents (38), slips, trips and 

falls (31) and collision with objects (27).  

Regular reports of all accidents, dangerous 

occurrences and ill health are discussed by 

the Health and Safety Committee, which 

meets a minimum of four times per year.   

 

The following policies were revised and 

approved during the year: genetically 

modified micro-organisms, water systems, 

moving and handling, waste management, 

wheeled equipment, control of substances 

hazardous to health (COSHH), supporting 

staff, work equipment (PUWER), 

maintenance, first aid, management of 

contractors, personal protective equipment 

(PPE) and confined spaces. 

Moving forward  

As part of The Christie Commitment, the 

Trust already receives regular feedback 

from staff through our local monthly 

survey. This has demonstrated consistently 

excellent results with 96% of staff 

recommending The Christie as a place for 

treatment and 73% as a place to work. 

 

Over the next 12 months we will continue 

to work with our Christie Commitment 

champions to implement and develop our 

staff engagement programme further. 
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Creating an inclusive culture for our 

patients and staff is vital to what we do 

at The Christie. Our approach to 

equality and diversity is to ensure our 

care is patient-centred, and that 

patients, visitors and colleagues are 

treated with dignity and respect at all 

times.  

 

a. Summary of approach and comment 

on publication duties 

We are determined to ensure that we offer 

equal access to healthcare and employment 

opportunities to everyone in the 

communities we serve. The Trust is 

committed to actively promoting equality 

across all activities with the intention of 

achieving and maintaining a fully inclusive 

organisation. 

 

The director of workforce is the executive 

lead for equality and the equality and 

diversity manager is responsible for 

coordinating equality and diversity 

activities in respect of service delivery and 

the workforce. We regularly discuss 

workforce equality issues with trade union 

colleagues through our staff forum. 

We continue to actively engage in a variety 

of activities to promote equality within our 

services and our workforce.  

 

Key achievements in 2014/15 include: 

 

 We published our patient and 
workforce equality monitoring reports 
in January 2015.  

 Our equality performance was assessed 
using the NHS Equality Delivery  
System 2 and involving feedback from 
key stakeholders. 

 

 Our 2014/15 patient services equality 
objectives (to enhance the long-term 
care planning for male patients with 
testicular/male cancers and female 
patients with ovarian cancer at the end 
of treatment with provision of 
rehabilitation and information; and to 
increase the level of our patient 
information by protected 
characteristics in order to inform our 
engagement activities with the local 
black and minority ethnic communities) 
have been successfully completed.   
 

 We continue to introduce exciting new 
developments to support our patients 
with protected characteristics. Over the 
last year, we have opened our new 
integrated teenage and young adult 
unit with state of the art facilities for 
our younger patients. 2014 also saw 
the upgrading of our chapel, prayer 
room and the creation of a new multi-
faith room.    
 

 Patient satisfaction levels with care 
provided at The Christie are extremely 
high; in the National Inpatient Survey 
2013/14, we were better than most 
other trusts in response to the 
question ‘Overall, did you feel you 
were treated with respect and 
dignity?’  
 

 In the NHS Staff Survey 2014, our 
male/female, disabled/not disabled 
and white/black and minority ethnic 
staff all consistently scored over 4 out 

An inclusive culture  
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of a possible 5 in recommending the 
Trust as a place to work or receive 
treatment.  
 

 Our 2014/15 workforce equality 
objectives (to deliver a programme of 
plans to raise aspiration and 
achievement of young people in the 
workforce and in the local community 
and support the development of the 
healthcare workforce of the future; 
and to deliver a programme of plans to 
support staff health and well-being, 
including a focus on managing work-
related stress) have been successfully 
completed. 
 

 The Christie Commitment sets out the 
principles and behaviours which 
underpin all that we do, including 
promoting a fair culture, and treating 
everyone with compassion, dignity and 
respect. A range of activities have 
taken place this year towards our five 
pledges to support staff at work. 

 

b. Summary of performance – 

workforce statistics (see table) 

The Trust has a predominantly female 

workforce (approximately 73% female). 

With regard to ethnicity, over 27% of our 

workforce comprises staff from black and 

minority ethnic backgrounds.  

 

In 2014/2015, we have continued to 

increase the proportion of our staff for 

which we have equality data in respect of 

protected characteristics, although 

disclosure remains at the individual’s 

discretion. Further details of our workforce 

composition are provided in the table 

below. 

 

c. Future priorities 

We continue to develop our equality 

objectives in relation to our patient services 

and workforce based on our equality 

monitoring reports and engagement with 

our stakeholders including patients, staff 

and staff representatives.  

 

Our 2015/16 equality objectives include: 

 To enhance the experience of 
vulnerable patients, with disabilities in 
addition to their cancer diagnosis, with 
provision of personalised and accessible 
information 

 To deliver high quality care to people 
with dementia alongside their cancer 
diagnosis and to support their carers 

 To introduce a range of interventions to 
mainstream mechanisms for staff to 
raise concerns at work, including any 
concerns of harassment or bullying 

 To demonstrate progress against 
indicators of workforce race equality 
using the NHS Workforce Race Equality 
Standard.  
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Workforce statistics 

 

Age Number % 

16-20 8 0.3 

21-50 1874 75.2 

51+ 610 24.5 

Total 2492 100% 

 

Ethnicity Number % 

Asian/Asian British 120 4.8 

Black/Black British 83 3.3 

Mixed 34 1.4 

Other 33 1.3 

White 2125 85.3 

Undefined/undeclared 97 3.9 

Total 2492 100% 

 

Gender Number % 

Female 1816 73 

Male 676 27 

Total 2492 100% 

 

 

 

Religious belief Number % 

Atheism 323 13 

Buddhism 11 0.4 

Christianity 1223 49.1 

Hinduism 22 0.9 

Islam 74 3 

Judaism 10 0.4 

Sikhism 2 0.1 

Other 156 6.3 

Undefined/undeclared 671 26.9 

Total 2492 100% 

 

 

 

Disability  Number % 

Yes 85 3.4 

No 1887 75.7 

Undefined/undeclared 520 20.9 

Total 2492 100% 
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Sexual orientation Number % 

Bisexual 9 0.4 

Gay 31 1.2 

Heterosexual 1843 74 

Lesbian 17 0.7 

Undefined/undeclared 592 23.8 

Total 2492 100% 
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At The Christie, patients are at the 

heart of everything we do, and are our 

motivation to provide the best 

standards of care in a world class cancer 

centre. 

 

Our work receives recognition from our 

peers and the healthcare industry, as well 

as other organisations that acknowledge 

our expertise, innovation and 

achievements. 

 

Some recent highlights include: 

 

Nursing Times Awards 2014 

We were shortlisted for three Nursing 

Times awards, winning the Nurse of the 

Year award with dementia clinical nurse 

specialist, Lorraine Burgess. 

 

Nurse clinician, Andrea Burgess was 

shortlisted for the Cancer Nursing award 

and our clinical research nurses were 

shortlisted for the Clinical Research Nursing 

award. 

 

Health Education North West Excellence 

in Learning and Development Awards 

2014 

Our School of Oncology won the Excellence 

in Learning and Development award for its 

work developing excellent student 

placements, providing support and 

development for staff and for offering an 

overall high quality medical education 

programme. 

 

NHS North West Leadership 

Recognition Awards 2014 

Jackie Bird, Chief Nurse and Executive 

Director of Nursing and Quality won the 

Innovator of the Year at the NHS North 

West Leadership Recognition Awards 

 

Healthcare Financial Management 

Association (HFMA) Awards 2014 

The Christie’s Director of Pharmacy, Rob 

Duncombe, won the Working with Finance 

Clinician of the Year Award at the HFMA 

Awards for his innovative schemes that 

improve the patient experience as well as 

delivering savings for the NHS. His cyclical 

prescribing scheme has been adopted for 

national implementation. 

 

Our Finance team was also shortlisted for 

the North West Innovation Award by 

HFMA. 

 

Pancreatic Cancer UK 

Lynne McCallum, specialist nurse at The 

Christie, received an award from Pancreatic 

Cancer UK for her work on a nurse-led audit 

of malignant pancreatic cancer patient care. 

 

Novalis Certified Radiosurgery Centre 

accreditation 

The Christie at Salford site was recognised 

internationally for the standard of care it 

provides to radiotherapy patients and has 

been accredited as a Novalis Certified 

Radiosurgery Centre. It is one of only three 

European centres to receive this acclaim. 

 

Proud moments 
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Society and College of Radiographers 

Awards 2014 

The Christie at Oldham radiography team 

was named the North West Team of the 

Year by the Society and College of 

Radiographers. 

 

Queen’s birthday Honours  

Former Christie nurse, Anne Cawthorn 

received an MBE for services to nursing. 

 

Federation of Holistic Therapists awards 

2014 

Our complementary therapy team won the 

Excellence in Practice award from the 

Federation of Holistic Therapists. 

 

Recognising Excellence in Practice 

Awards 

For the second year running our Ward 11 

team was recognised by the University of 

Manchester for its excellence in providing a 

practice learning environment 

 

HSJ Awards 2014 

Jac Livsey was shortlisted for the Clinical 

Leader of the year award for her work 

improving patient outcomes across Greater 

Manchester.  

 

BMJ Awards 2014 

Our patient safety committee was 

shortlisted for the Berwick Patient Safety 

Team award.  

 

 

Patient Safety Care Awards 2014 

Two teams at The Christie were shortlisted 

for the Cancer Care Award - our acute 

oncology management service, which 

provides the Christie Hotline and our 

dementia team. 

 

Our dementia team was also shortlisted for 

the Patient Safety in Care of Older People 

award. 

 

Organisation of European Cancer 

Institutes (OECI) Comprehensive Cancer 

Centre status 

Our accreditation as a Comprehensive 

Cancer Centre by the Organisation of 

European Cancer Institutes (OECI) was 

extended to March 2016. The Christie was 

the first UK organisation to be officially 

accredited as a Comprehensive Cancer 

Centre by the OECI in 2008. 

 

Ofsted ‘Outstanding’ rating 

The Christie Day Nursery was deemed 

Outstanding in an Ofsted inspection. The 

designation noted the nursery’s exceptional 

standard of teaching, excellent partnership 

with parents and its collaborative approach 

in providing links that support children’s 

learning both in the nursery and at home.  
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More than 28,000 generous supporters 

helped The Christie charity raise over 

£13m in 2014/15.  

 

2014 saw the opening of the Palatine 

Treatment Centre. This innovative building, 

the only one of its kind in the UK, combines 

our Haematology Transplant Unit with our 

Young Oncology Unit. Our supporters 

raised the £10m needed for this state of the 

art facility which will be part of the 

landscape of The Christie for many years to 

come. 
 

However, our supporters did not stop 

there; they continued fundraising for 

everything from complementary therapies 

to cancer research. Their dedicated support 

enables The Christie to continue to offer 

state of the art treatments, clinical trials 

and a better patient experience.  
 

2014 also marked 100 years of support from  

the Joseph Holt Brewery and the Edward 

Holt and Peter Kershaw Charitable Trusts. 

Helping found The Christie in 1914 they are 

a large part of our heritage and our history 

is marked by their support. In 2014 Joseph 

Holt Brewery launched their centenary 

appeal to raise £300,000 for our Integrated 

Procedures Unit. The appeal was a huge 

success and work will begin on the project 

in July 2015. 
 

The Christie charity ball, held in March 2015 

was one of our largest successes to date 

raising £150,000 for proton beam therapy 

research. Supported by Simply Health and 

Interserve, the evening was a resounding 

success and has already secured a place in 

many supporters’ calendars for 2016.  
 

The Christie embarked on its first weekly 

lottery in October 2014. With six months 

success under our belt, we promoted the 

lottery further in Spring 2015 with former 

‘Heartbeat’ actress Tricia Penrose and her 

mum who is a Christie patient.  It is only £1 

per line per week to play, with a top prize 

of £25,000.  
 

We received over 182 gifts from supporters 

in their wills, raising just under £5m, a 

substantial part of the funds The Christie 

raises on an annual basis.  
 

The Christie charity continues to be 

accountable to our donors and we work to 

be as efficient as we can with our 

expenditure. For every pound donated, 83p 

goes directly to help us deliver the very 

best care for our patients. This compares to 

a charity average of 78p from every £1.  

Whatever and however our fundraisers and 

donors give, we remain proud and grateful 

to have them as part of The Christie charity.  

 

Our generous supporters  
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Being a member is a way of showing 

your support for The Christie. Members 

can be patients, friends, relatives, staff 

and general members of the public. We 

keep our members informed about the 

latest Trust news and invite them to 

special events, giving them a voice via 

the ability to elect their governor. 

Through the model of membership, 

people can influence the way we 

deliver our services and future 

strategies.  

 

Recruitment and representation 

By the end of March 2015 The Christie 

public membership remained stable at 

27,821 members. Having a large group of 

supporters providing a wide opinion base 

helps us to maintain a high profile for the 

Trust and develop the services we provide. 

 

We use a variety of approaches to recruit 

members. In particular, we recruit new 

members via The Christie charity, by 

inviting patients to become members, 

through our membership newsletter, as a 

result of community engagement by our 

public governors and via our website. 

 

As a specialist tertiary centre we feel our 

membership should reflect both the size 

and diversity of the population we serve 

and the activities we undertake. We 

monitor the age, gender and ethnic mix of 

our membership and would like to recruit 

more members particularly from 

underrepresented groups. 

 

The council of governors, through its 

membership and community engagement 

committee, is responsible for ensuring that 

we have a representative, active and 

engaged membership. This is achieved 

through our three year membership 

strategy and supporting annual action plan. 

The current membership strategy runs from 

April 2013 to March 2016 and is available 

on our website. 

 

Our governors have taken a proactive 

approach to engagement by using a 

portfolio of materials to go into the 

community and act as Christie ambassadors, 

being an open line of communication 

between the community and the hospital.  

 

We have a growing group of members who 

have joined our ‘patient databank’ 

representing patients and carers. These 

members are invited to take part in focus 

groups to give us first hand feedback about 

our existing services and input into the 

ways in which we may wish to develop our 

services in the future. Focus group topics 

discussed this year included our website 

and patient entertainment system, equality 

and diversity, clinical trials and complaints 

and responses. 

 

There are two constituencies within the 

membership, as detailed overleaf: 

 

Keeping people involved  
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Public membership 

This is open to anyone aged 16 or over, 

living in England and Wales. There are 

currently 14 areas within this constituency, 

12 based on local government electoral 

boundaries within our network with the 

others covering the ‘North West’ and ‘rest 

of England and Wales’. There is one 

governor for all public areas except 

Manchester, which has two. 

 

Staff membership 

Our staff and volunteers automatically 

become members as they join The Christie. 

The classes within the constituency are 

medical staff, nurses, other clinical 

professional staff, non-clinical staff and 

volunteers. At the end of March 2015 we 

had 2,455 staff members and 311 volunteer 

members. 

 

Being a member is a way of showing your 

support of The Christie. Members can be 

patients, friends, relatives, staff and 

general members of the public. We keep 

our members informed about the latest 

Trust news and invite them to special 

events, giving them a voice via the ability 

to elect their governor. Through the model 

of membership, people can influence the 

way we deliver our services and future 

strategies. 

 

 

Membership statistics 

Public 

constituencies 

Number 

of 

members 

Bolton 1,462 

Bury 1,535 

Cheshire East 2,759 

Cheshire West 781 

Manchester 2,940 

North West 2,937 

Oldham 2,009 

Rochdale 1,314 

Salford 1,949 

Stockport 2,526 

Tameside and Glossop 1,590 

Trafford 2,098 

Wigan 1,688 

Rest of England 2,233 

Total public 

members 

27,821 

 

For further information on membership or 

to contact your governor, please contact: 

 

Membership Office 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 

Wilmslow Road 

Manchester M20 4BX 

Tel: 0161 446 8616 

Website: www.christie.nhs.uk 
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Age 

0-16 2 

17-21 213 

22-49 6,541 

50+ 10,158 

Unspecified 10,907 

Total 27,821 

 

Ethnicity 

White 12,318 

Mixed 94 

Asian 905 

Black 406 

Other 108 

Unspecified 13,990 

Total  27,821 

 

Gender 

Male 11,408 

Female 13,576 

Unspecified 2,837 

Total 27,821 

 

As at 31
st
 March 2015. 
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It’s important to keep communication 

open between our members and our 

management. Our council of governors 

provides a crucial link between the two. 

The council is made up of both elected 

and partner governors who act on 

behalf of their members or partners, 

working closely with us to support 

future plans and ensuring we keep 

pushing our standards for the benefit 

of our patients. 

 

Our council is made up of 29 governors: 15 

representing the public, patients and carers; 

five representing our staff and volunteers 

and nine appointed by partner 

organisations. The composition of the 

council has not changed during the year.  

Governors on the council of governors meet 

the ‘fit and proper’ persons test as 

described in the provider licence. 

 

Elections in 2014/15 

There were six constituencies up for 

election in 2014/15; Bolton, Bury, Cheshire, 

Oldham, Salford and Tameside & Glossop 

and one staff vacancy; non-clinical. 

 

The results of the elections held in 2014/15 

are as follows: 

 

Re-elected: 
Ann Gavin-Daley 

Salford 
 

Elected: 

Lisa Wylie 

Bolton 
 

Mohammad Qureshi 

Bury 
 

Alice Choi 

Cheshire 
 

Frank Howard  

Oldham 
 
Mary Maden 

Tameside & Glossop 
 
Elected uncontested 

Rachel Daniel 

Staff Governor: Non-Clinical 

 
We have begun a review of our partner 

governors and are looking at making 

contact with some of our stakeholders in 

order to establish the options available to 

us. 

 

Working with our governors 

Our governors play a vital role in helping us 

to communicate with our members and 

partner organisations about our vision, 

strategy, and performance. It is their 

responsibility to maintain and review the 

membership strategy and maintain our 

membership. They have specific 

responsibilities to appoint and remunerate 

the chairman and non-executive directors, 

to appoint the external auditor (as 

required) and to receive the annual report 

Our council of governors  



Council of governors 

 

126 

 

 

and accounts. The board of directors 

consults with our governors when the 

annual plan is being prepared and also on 

other issues such as revisions to our 

constitution and our declaration for the 

Care Quality Commission’s ‘essential 

standards of quality and safety’.  

 

The council met formally eight times during 

2014/15 (three of these were extraordinary 

meetings of the council and one was a joint 

meeting of the Board and Council). The 

council of governors has four sub 

committees focusing support into the areas 

of nominations, membership, quality, and 

development & sustainability.  Members of 

the board can attend meetings of the 

council of governors.  Our governors have 

provided the board with support, as well as 

an appropriate degree of challenge. They 

have contributed to our strategic plans via 

their involvement in council meetings, 

committees and working groups and they 

appointed a new external auditor in 2012.  

The governors have not exercised their 

powers during this financial year (under 

paragraph 10C of schedule 7 of the NHS Act 

2006) to require a director/s to attend a 

Governors’ meeting to obtain information 

about the organisations performance or the 

directors performance of their duties.   

 

The Trust expenses policy ensures that 

governors are appropriately reimbursed for 

reasonable expenses incurred in the course 

of their duties.  As part of the internal audit 

plan adherence to the Trust’s expenses 

policy is reviewed periodically. 

 

Nominations committee 

This committee makes recommendations 

to the council on the appointment and 

remuneration of the Chair and non-

executive directors. It met formally eight 

times during the year. Our Chair also 

chair’s this committee and Jackie Collins, 

(lead governor and public governor for 

Stockport), Paul Fulford (staff governor 

for registered medical practitioners) and 

David Makin (Manchester cancer patient 

representative partner governor) are all 

members of the committee.  The Director 

of Workforce may be asked to attend as 

advisor to the committee. 

 

In 2014 the nominations committee 

appointed our new chair.  They engaged 

an external search agency and 

recruitment advisors to assist them with 

the appointment.   The agency worked 

closely with the committee and 

candidates were assessed on the basis of 

their qualities, expertise and the 

competencies they demonstrated at 

interview.  The search agency confirmed 

the process had been open, fair and 

transparent and candidates had been 

assessed on their merits which follows 

best practice for public appointments.  

The appointment was endorsed by the 

council of governors at an extraordinary 

meeting held in September 2014. 
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The committee also recommended to the 

Council of Governors the appointment of 

the interim non-executive directors. 

 

Membership and community 

engagement committee 

This committee directs and monitors 

recruitment and engagement activity, 

manages our communication with members 

through newsletters and letters and has 

overseen the organisation of a governor led 

programme of community engagement.  

 

We invite members to regular supporters’ 

seminars and major events such as Trust 

open days. Through the membership and 

community engagement committee we are 

encouraging and developing increased 

participation of members by building a 

‘databank’ of people who are readily 

available to give their views on our services 

and offering additional engagement 

opportunities. In particular this group of 

members are invited to take part in our 

programme of patient focus groups which 

are run by the membership and voluntary 

services team. 

Quality committee 

The Council of Governors’ Quality 

Committee monitors, reports and comments 

on patient experience and quality and 

standards of service. This involves both 

formal feedback reports and a range of 

presentation to the committee meetings 

combined with direct engagement with 

patients, carers and front line staff.   

 

Priorities this year have been 

understanding and learning from 

complaints, staff satisfaction surveys and 

incidents, monitoring of clinical outcomes 

unit progress and review and 

understanding ward information boards 

including key data re: ward staffing 

numbers and reports. In addition to the 

above, members have been actively 

involved in the development and 

implementation of the new Christie Quality 

Mark accreditation. 

 

Development and sustainability 

committee 

This committee reviews the Trust’s annual 

plan and strategy on behalf of the council 

of governors and makes suggestions and 

recommendations to the Board.  It also 

receives presentations from senior 

executives on major capital projects and 

provides input on behalf of the council of 

governors. 

 

The register of interests of our governors is 

available at www.christie.nhs.uk 

 

file:///C:/Users/HRushton/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/Version%202%20CM/www.christie.nhs.uk
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Roger Bowman  
Elected 

public 
Trafford 8/8 1 D&SC 2016 

Alice Choi  
Elected 
public 

Cheshire 4/4 2 D&SC 2017 

Jackie Collins 
 

1 
Elected 

public 

Stockport 6/8 0 Nomco 2015 

Alex Davidson  
Elected 

public 

Cheshire East 6/8 1 QC 2015 

Ann Gavin-Daley  
Elected 

public 

Salford 7/8 1 QC 2017 

Damian Heron  
Elected 
public 

Remainder of England and 

Wales 

3/8 2 D&SC 2016 

Frank Howard  
Elected 
public 

Oldham 4/4 2 D&SC 2017 

Rada Kemp  
Elected 

public 

Manchester 2/8 1 MC 2016 

Peter Latimer  
Elected 

public 

North West 7/8 0 D&SC 2016 

Mary Maden  
Elected 

public 

Tameside & Glossop 2/4 2 MC 2017 

Christine 

Mathewson 
 

Elected 

public 

Rochdale 8/8 1 QC 2015 

Mohammad 

Qureshi 
 

Elected 
public 

Bury 4/4 2 QC 2017 

Carl Sharpe  
Elected 

public 

Wigan 8/8 0 MC 2015 

Roger Smith  
Elected 

public 

Manchester 8/8 0 D&SC 2016 

Lisa Whylie  
Elected 

public 

Bolton 3/4 2 MC 2017 

Rachel Daniel  
Elected 

staff 

Non-clinical staff 4/4 2 QC 2017 

Thelma 

Gowenlock 
 

Elected 

staff 

Volunteers 7/8 1 QC 2015 

Mr Paul Fulford  
Elected 

staff 

Registered medical practitioner 4/8 1 Nomco 2014 

Peter Mackereth  
Elected 

staff 

Registered nurses 6/8 2 QC 2016 

David Hamilton  
Elected 

staff 

Other clinical professional 8/8 2 D&SC 2016 

David Makin  
Appointed Greater Manchester cancer 

provider  board – patient rep 
7/8 n/a Nomco n/a 

Cllr Sue Dearden  
Appointed Local authority - AGMA 1/8 n/a Not 

allocat-
ed 

n/a 

Cllr Andrew 

Simcock 
 

Appointed Local authority – Manchester  
City Council 

   7/8 n/a MC n/a 
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Marcella Turner 

 
 

Appointed The Black Health Agency 1/8 n/a QC n/a 

Professor Stefan 

Meyer 
 

Appointed The University of Manchester 2/8 n/a QC n/a 

Barrie Jones 

 
 

Appointed The Christie Charity 7/8 n/a MC n/a 

 

Key: 

QC Quality Committee 

D&SC Development and Sustainability Committee 

MC Membership Committee 

Nomco Nominations Committee 

 

Notes: 

1. Jackie Collins, public governor for Stockport continued as our lead governor throughout the 

year. 
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The board of directors is responsible for 

ensuring the Trust’s management 

delivers the strategy whilst complying 

with its constitution and statutory and 

regulatory requirements. The board 

works continually to ensure the high 

standards are maintained, the 

organisation runs smoothly and 

programmes of work are on schedule. 

Directors on the board of directors 

meet the ‘fit and proper’ person test as 

described in the provider licence. 

The board’s key responsibilities are: 

 to set strategic objectives, taking into 
account views of the council of 

governors and other key stakeholders to 
provide the healthcare required under 
its contracts with commissioners and 
other organisations 

 to ensure appropriate governance and 

performance arrangements are in place 

to deliver the Trust’s strategic 

objectives 

 to ensure the quality and safety of all 

healthcare services, research and 

development, education and training 

 to ensure that the Trust complies with 

the terms of its authorisation by 

Monitor, its constitution, relevant 

legislation, mandatory guidance and 

other relevant obligations 

 

Our authorisation from our regulator 

Monitor and constitution govern the 

operation of the Trust. The schedule of 

reservation and delegation of powers sets 

out the types of decisions that must be 

taken by the board of directors and those 

which can be delegated to management. 

The constitution defines which decisions 

must be taken by the council of governors 

and how disagreements between the board 

and the council should be resolved. 

 

Composition of the board 

The board of directors comprises of five 

executive directors (including the chief 

executive) and six non-executive directors 

(including the non-executive chair). The 

Director of Workforce attends board 

meetings but has no voting rights. 

 

There have been a number of changes to 

the board during 2014 (see pages 142-143 

for details).   

The current board comprises: 

 

Christine Outram 

Chair  

 

Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 

 

Executive directors 

Jackie Bird 

Executive Director of Nursing & Quality 

 

Mr Anthony Blower 

Executive medical director 

 

Joanne Fitzpatrick 

Executive Director of Finance & Business 

Development 

 

Our board of directors  
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Jason Dawson 

Interim Chief Operating Officer  

 

The executive team has delivered another 

outstanding year of financial and service 

performance. 

 

Non-executive directors 

During 2014/15 the council of governors 

approved the following interim non-

executive director appointments: 

 

Dame Christine Beasley 

Jayne Brown 

Neil Large 

Kathryn Riddle 

Dr Ronald Stout 

 

Our board has complied with the 

requirements of the constitution relating to 

board composition.  The board is satisfied 

that it has acted appropriately and been 

balanced, complete and has contained a 

suitable range of appropriate and 

complementary skills and experience. 

 

The board considers that all the non-

executive directors are independent and 

the Chair was independent on 

appointment.   

 

Kathryn Riddle is the senior non-executive 

director and is the designated link to the 

governors in case they have concerns but 

do not feel they can raise these with the 

chair or any of the executive directors.  She 

also leads the appraisal process of the chair. 

Process for evaluation of performance 

All directors have an annual performance 

appraisal and a personal development plan. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for the 

performance appraisal of the executive 

directors. The performance of the Chief 

Executive is reviewed by the Chair. The 

results of these appraisals are reported to 

the remuneration committee.   

 

The performance of the non-executive 

directors is reviewed by the Chair and 

reported to the council of governors, using 

a process agreed by the council of 

governors. The performance of the Chair is 

reviewed by the non-executive directors led 

by the senior independent director in a 

process agreed by the council of governors. 

 

In March 2014 Monitor issued a 105 notice 

of intervention following concerns raised 

about the governance of the board of 

directors because of the suspension of the 

previous chief executive and the 

resignation of its chairman Lord Bradley.  

The notice of intervention required the 

appointment of Sir Hugh Taylor as 

chairman and regular reporting to Monitor 

of progress with board governance.  These 

requirements were complied with and a 

notice of the Trust’s return to full 

compliance with its licence condition was 

issued on 18th November 2014. 

 

In July 2014 concerns were raised with 

Monitor and the CQC that the Trust was 

failing to respond to issues raised by staff 
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which could constitute governance and 

poor culture failings. Following a joint 

review by both regulators including a 

combined visit to the Trust and staff 

meetings, they issued a report Monitor/CQC 

review  

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/

Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20int

o%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%

20The%20Christie.pdf. This confirmed that 

there were no serious governance failings 

or failings of culture.  It also identified 

areas of good practice and areas where 

improvements could be made.  A 

coordinated plan to do this has been 

enacted and can be found at Monitor/CQC 

improvement plan 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/

Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20p

lan%20Jan%202015.pdf.  At no time have 

there been any concerns about the 

standards of care and treatment of patients 

and services identified. 

 

In consideration of the Risk Assessment 

Framework requirements set out by the 

regulator and following both of these 

events, the Board of Directors 

commissioned an independent review of 

leadership and governance. This was 

carried out by PwC during Quarter 4. The 

findings also confirm that there are no 

serious failings of governance or culture at 

the Trust.  The review identifies a number 

of areas of good practice and makes 

recommendations aimed at moving our 

leadership and governance arrangements 

from good to great.  The report can be 

found at 

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/1

5-

17b%20xindependent%20review%20report

.pdf. 

 

Board appointments 

The interim non-executive directors were all 

appointed for a period of up to 12 months 

and steps are currently being taken to 

appoint permanent non-executive directors 

to these posts. All permanent appointments 

made since 1
st
 April 2007 (including the 

Chair) were made by the nominations 

committee and approved by our council of 

governors for a term of three years.  

 

The Chair and any non-executive directors 

may be removed by the council of 

governors in accordance with paragraph 25 

of our constitution.  

 

The executive directors were appointed 

through an open competition panel; their 

contracts of employment do not contain an 

expiry date. 

 

Interests and commitments 

The register of interests of directors may be 

viewed at www.christie.nhs.uk 

 

Board meetings and committees 

The board supports the Nolan principles 

and makes the majority of its decisions in 

meetings open to the public. The board met 

in public ten times during the year. It also 

met in private ten times and held three 

informal board time outs.    

http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/685391/Monitor%20and%20CQC%20review%20into%20whistleblowing%20concerns%20at%20The%20Christie.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20plan%20Jan%202015.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20plan%20Jan%202015.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20plan%20Jan%202015.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20plan%20Jan%202015.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/702428/Monitor%20CQC%20report%20action%20plan%20Jan%202015.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/media/788567/15-17b%20xindependent%20review%20report.pdf
http://www.christie.nhs.uk/
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A board/governor time out event was also 

held during the year; this afforded the 

opportunity for our governors to input into 

the Trust’s strategic plan. 

 

The board delegates some of its work to 

sub committees. There is a standing item at 

each board meeting to receive minutes of 

board subcommittee meetings. Attendance 

by directors at board and subcommittee 

meetings is shown on page 141. There are 

six board subcommittees, the work of each 

is described briefly below.  

 

Audit committee 

The audit committee provides independent 

assurance to the board that there are 

effective systems of governance, risk 

management and internal control in place 

for all matters relating to corporate, 

financial and investment governance and 

risk management. The committee was 

chaired by Lee Childs, non-executive 

director, until his term of office ended in 

July 2014 and is currently chaired by Neil 

Large, interim non-executive director. All 

the non-executive directors (with the 

exception of the Chair) are members of this 

committee.  

 

The committee receives reports, scrutinises 

the findings, makes recommendations on 

requirements and follows up on actions 

taken. 

 

Key activities during the year were: 

 reviewing the Trust’s annual report, 

financial statements quality of costing 

& coding and quality accounts 2014/15 

 receiving and acting upon the annual 

governance report from the external 

auditor 

 monitoring the board assurance 

framework 

 approving the corporate governance 

documents of the Trust 

 receiving reports from the internal 

auditor including counter fraud 

 

The effectiveness of the external audit 

process is assessed through regular reports 

to the committee as well as regular contact 

with the senior finance team. The external 

auditor is appointed by a committee of 

governors, the executive director of finance 

& business development and the Chair of 

the audit committee for a period of 3 years 

(with an option to extend for a further 2 

years). A tender was last conducted in 

October 2012 and the committee agreed at 

the January meeting to apply the option to 

extend for a further year until October 

2016. 

 

So far as the directors are aware there is no 

relevant audit information of which the 

NHS Foundation Trust’s auditor is unaware 

and the directors have taken steps to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the NHS 

Foundation Trust’s auditor is aware of that 

information. 
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Our internal audit function produces a plan 

of audits to be undertaken during the year.  

These are reviewed by the audit committee; 

additional audits can also be added to the 

plan during the year at the request of the 

audit committee. 

 

Quality assurance committee 

The quality assurance committee provides 

independent assurance to the board that 

there are effective systems of clinical and 

corporate governance, risk management 

and internal control for clinical and research 

governance and risk management. The 

committee is chaired by Dame Christine 

Beasley, interim non-executive director, and 

comprises 2 other non-executive directors, 

Kathryn Riddle and Dr Ron Stout.   

Following a review it was concluded that 

the Chair and Chief Executive would not be 

members of the committee but could 

attend meetings if they chose to do so or it 

is considered necessary by the committee.   

 

Key activities during the year were: 

 reviewing the Trust’s declaration of 

compliance with Essential Standards 

and meeting on-going compliance with 

registration requirements for the Care 

Quality Commission  

 receiving reports and action plans from 

internal and external assessments 

 monitoring the board assurance 

framework 

 receiving internal audit reports relating 

to quality 

 review of the terms of reference of the 

committee 

Charitable funds committee 

The role of our charitable funds committee 

is to oversee the management of The 

Christie Charitable Fund.  It is chaired by the 

Chair of the Trust. 
 

Remuneration committee 

The Remuneration Committee determines 

the pay of the executive directors.  The 

committee is a non-executive committee of 

the board comprising the independent non-

executive directors.  The chair of the Trust 

also chairs the remuneration committee. 

 

The remuneration committee ensures that 

appropriate procedures are in place for the 

nomination, selection, training, 

development, monitoring, evaluation and 

remuneration of the chief executive and 

executive directors, having proper regard to 

the financial and commercial health of the 

organisation and for the provision of any 

national arrangements for such staff. 

 

The committee evaluates and considers the 

recommendations of the chair on the 

performance of the chief executive and 

evaluates and considers the 

recommendations of the chief executive on 

the performance of the executive directors.  

The committee determines the appropriate 

remuneration and terms of service for the 

chief executive and executive directors 

including all aspects of salary, provisions 

for other benefits (including pensions) and 

arrangements for termination of 

employment and other contractual terms.  

Any decision must be based on individual 
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contributions to the trust, having proper 

regard to the trust's circumstances and 

performance and to the provisions of any 

national arrangements for such staff 

(where appropriate). 

 

The committee advises on and oversees 

appropriate contractual arrangements for 

executive directors including the proper 

calculation and scrutiny of termination 

payments taking into account such national 

guidance as is appropriate.   

 

The committee evaluates its own 

membership and performance on a regular 

basis and is authorised to obtain reasonable 

external legal or other independent 

professional advice if it considers this to be 

necessary. 

 

Interviews were held in March 2015 to 

appoint a permanent Chief Executive. This 

was an important appointment for the 

Trust. An external search agency was 

engaged to assist with the recruitment. A 

rigorous process was used to assess 

candidates’ skills, competencies and values.  

In line with the Chair appointment the 

recruitment process followed best practice 

for public appointments.  

 

Management board 

The role of the management board is to 

formulate recommendations on strategic 

and operational matters for referral to the 

board of directors for approval.  The 

committee also monitors the effective and 

efficient financial, performance, risk, quality 

and safety management of The Christie. It 

takes place monthly and is chaired by the 

Chief Executive and comprises the 

executive directors, divisional directors and 

general managers. The terms of reference 

including its membership were reviewed 

during the year. 

 

Finance and investment committee 

The finance and investment committee 

provides an independent and objective 

review of the financial and investment 

policy and performance issues of the Trust. 

Reporting to the board of directors the 

committee reviews all major business cases 

above £1.0m and provides assurance to the 

board on investment decisions and financial 

policies. The chair of the committee is the 

chair of the board.  

 

During the year the business of the finance 

and investment committee has been 

considered as part of the private board. The 

finance and investment committee has the 

option to meet separately to the board of 

directors. 

 

Board members 

 

Non-executive directors 

Christine Outram (Chair) 

Dame Christine Beasley 

Jayne Brown 

Neil Large    

Kathryn Riddle    

Dr Ronald Stout 
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Executive directors 

Caroline Shaw (suspended 19
th
 December 

2013; resigned 10
th
 October 2014) 

Roger Spencer 

Jackie Bird 

Mr Anthony Blower 

Joanne Fitzpatrick  

Jason Dawson 

 

Non-executive directors who stepped down 

during the year (including the interim chair) 

Sir Hugh Taylor 

Barrie Bernstein 

Lee Childs    

Jennie Johnson 

Patrick Loftus 

 

Non-executive directors 

Christine Outram 

Christine Outram was appointed as Chair of 

The Christie on 1st October 2014. Christine 

has had a long career in the NHS with over 

20 years’ experience at Chief Executive 

level.  She has held a number of leadership 

positions in a range of health service 

organisations, and in professional 

education, training and research. She 

continues to be passionate about working 

with clinical staff and patients to provide 

excellent services and outcomes for people.   

 

Dame Christine Beasley 

Dame Christine Beasley was appointed as 

an interim non-executive director at The 

Christie in May 2014. She is the 

independent Chair of the Health Education 

North Central and East London (HE NCEL) 

Board. Prior to this she was Chief Nursing 

Officer at the Department of Health.  

Christine served as Director of Partnership 

Development at The Modernisation Agency.  

She was the Head of Development and 

Nursing at the Directorate of Health and 

Social Care and Director of Nursing Human 

Resources and Organisational Development 

at NHS London. She is currently a trustee at 

the Burdett Trust and the Advancing 

Quality Alliance (AQuA) and was awarded 

Honorary Doctorates from the Universities 

of Nottingham, Wolverhampton, 

Northumbria, Sheffield Hallam, Keele, 

Plymouth, and City University, London. She 

is also a Fellow of the Queen's Nursing 

Institute and she is also chair of Council at 

Bucks New University. 

 

Christine is a registered nurse and is a 

qualified District Nurse. Christine was 

awarded a CBE in 2002 and a DBE in June 

2008. 

 

Kathryn Riddle 

Kathryn was appointed as interim non-

executive director at The Christie in May 

2014.   

 

She has been Chair of Health Education 

Yorkshire and the Humber since 2013 and 

has been involved in Health Services since 

1994 chairing the Community Health Trust 

in Sheffield, the Strategic Health Authority 

in Yorkshire and the Humber and from 

2011-2013 she chaired NHS North of 

England. 
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Kathryn was the first woman to be 

appointed Pro-Chancellor at the University 

of Sheffield and the first female Chairman 

of Council at the University from 2007-2013. 

 

She was Honorary Colonel of the Sheffield 

Universities Officer Training Corps from 

2008-2014 and is a past High Sheriff of 

South Yorkshire. A Magistrate since 1975 

she chaired the Family Panel at Sheffield 

and the South Yorkshire Panel of Guardians 

ad Litem for 8 years. 

 

Kathryn has had associations with a 

number of charities including Scope, Victim 

Support and Birthright. 

 

Kathryn is a former lecturer in law and is 

currently a Patron of St Luke’s Hospice in 

Sheffield and a Deputy Lieutenant of South 

Yorkshire. 

 

Neil Large  

Neil was appointed as an interim Non-

Executive Director at The Christie in July 

2014; he also Chair’s the Trust’s Audit 

Committee. He is currently Chairman of the 

Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust having been appointed in 

December 2009 and was previously a Non-

Executive Director for 2 years at that Trust. 

Neil is an accountant by profession and has 

spent most of his career in the NHS holding 

board level appointments both Chief 

Executive / Executive and NED positions for 

over 25 years. His last Executive 

appointment prior to retirement was as 

Director of Finance & ICT of the former 

Cheshire & Merseyside Strategic Health 

Authority and he was a member of the 

National Finance Staff Development 

Committee. 

 

Neil also supports local charitable 

/voluntary causes being a Trustee of 

Tarporley Cottage Hospital (Charitable 

organisation) and a member of the Chester 

University Audit & Risk Management 

Committee. 

 

Dr Ronald Stout 

Ron was appointed as an interim Non-

Executive Director at The Christie in July 

2014. 

 

Ron arrived at The Christie in 1976 to train 

in Clinical Oncology.  He was appointed a 

consultant in 1981, providing outreach 

services initially to Preston and then to 

Oldham from 1993, until he retired in 2009. 

The management of lung and cervical 

cancers were his main clinical interests, 

affording him many opportunities to 

engage in new treatment developments 

and clinical trials, primarily in the use of 

special radiotherapy techniques for placing 

radioactive sources within the body. This 

work led to several publications and 

invitations to share The Christie experience 

at many national and international 

symposia. He was an examiner from 1996-

2005, for the Final Part Fellowship in Clinical 

Oncology of The Royal College of 

Radiologists (FRCR) and visiting external 
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examiner for the Hong Kong College of 

Radiologists in 2004/5. 

Between 2001-08 he served as Joint Medical 

Director of The Christie, initially to support 

the Network Management Team in the 

development of the new Greater 

Manchester and Cheshire Cancer Network 

(population 3.2 million), advising on the 

expansion of treatment facilities and work-

force development.  

 

From 2004-6 as an executive member of the 

Board, he participated in the formulation of 

the successful application for The Christie to 

become an independent NHS Foundation 

Trust. 

 

From 2006-08 he was Project Director for 

the re-design of outpatient chemotherapy 

services on The Christie site which involved 

a £30 million 4-storey new build on Oak 

Road. 

 

Jayne Brown 

Jayne was appointed as interim non-

executive director at The Christie in October 

2014.  She is an experienced executive and 

latterly non-executive director.  She has 

worked in both the public and private 

sectors and has a reputation for delivery, 

combined with strategic thinking and a 

passion for quality delivery.  She is well 

respected by staff and peers and has highly 

developed leadership and interpersonal 

skills.  Jayne is professionally qualified in 

Public Health and Human Resource 

Management.  She has a B.A Politics & 

Modern History, an M.P.H in Public Health 

and was awarded an OBE in 2004 for 

services to the NHS 

 

Executive directors 

Roger Spencer 

Roger was appointed Chief Executive at The 

Christie on 4th March 2015.  Roger has 

worked at the Trust since April 2006 as 

Interim Chief Executive (from 

19th December 2013), Chief Operating 

Officer and Deputy Chief Executive and as 

Director of Delivery.   

 

Roger has managed significant service 

developments at The Christie including the 

satellite radiotherapy centres across Greater 

Manchester, transforming delivery of 

Christie services to an outpatient based 

model and has led negotiations for the 

establishment of partnership working 

including our private patient joint venture, 

our pharmacy partnership and our 

pathology partnership.  Roger also led the 

development of the Trust’s 5 year strategy 

which aims to deliver best outcomes for 

patients from leading edge services and 

demonstrates the sustainability of the 

organisation. 

 

Roger was previously General Manager for 

Emergency and Critical Care, Women and 

Children and Clinical Support Services at 

Salford Royal Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust, the Greater Manchester SHA national 

imaging contract manager and was Deputy 

Director of Operations at Burnley 

Healthcare NHS Trust 
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Roger is an independent director of 

Southway Housing Trust.  He holds an 

MBA, an honours degree in Nursing Studies 

and is a Registered Nurse. 

 

Jackie Bird 

Jackie was appointed as Executive Director 

of nursing and quality at The Christie in 

June 2011, joining from The Rotherham 

NHS Foundation Trust where she was chief 

of quality and standards and chief nurse. 

Prior to this she was the deputy director of 

nursing and governance at Salford Royal 

NHS Foundation Trust.  Jackie is responsible 

for the professional leadership of nursing 

and other health professionals, such as 

therapists. Her director role allows her to 

develop her long standing interest in cancer 

while addressing improvements in patient 

safety, patient experience and clinical 

outcomes.  

 

Jackie was awarded a Florence Nightingale 

Leadership Scholarship in 2013 and has 

used her scholarship to develop and 

introduce a quality mark for patients 

undergoing chemotherapy. Jackie is the 

registered nurse governing body member 

on Calderdale Clinical Commissioning Group 

and is the elected Director of Nursing 

representative on Health Education (NW) 

Board. A registered nurse and a mental 

health trained nurse, she holds an honours 

degree in nursing studies and a Masters in 

management and leadership. 

 

Mr Anthony Blower 

Tony was appointed as Executive Medical 

Director at The Christie in July 2013.  He 

was Medical Director of Greater Manchester 

and Cheshire Cancer Network (GMCCN) 

between May 2012 and March 2013. He was 

a Consultant General and Colorectal 

Surgeon at Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh 

NHS Foundation Trust for 20 years until 

2013. He is the former Clinical Director of 

surgery and Trust Cancer Lead at 

Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

 

Tony was Chair of the Colorectal Cancer 

Clinical Subgroup GMCCN from 2006 to 

2012, Chair of the Head and Neck Cancer 

Clinical Subgroup GMCCN from 2011 to 

2012 and is a former member of The 

General Surgery Specialist Training 

Committee for the North West Deanery. 

 

Joanne Fitzpatrick 

Joanne was appointed as Executive Director 

of Finance and Business Development at 

The Christie on 1st April 2013 and is the 

former Deputy Director of Finance and 

Business Development, a post which she 

held from 2001 to 2013. Prior to that she 

was the Assistant Director of Finance at The 

Christie NHS Foundation Trust from 1992 to 

2001. Joanne is also a Director of The 

Christie Clinic and The Christie Pathology 

Partnership.  

 

In 2011, Joanne was recognised as being 

one of the top Deputy Directors of Finance 
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in the NHS through the successful 

attainment of the HFMA Deputy Director of 

Finance Award.  

She is a qualified accountant and holds an 

ACMA.  

 

Jason Dawson  

Jason was appointed as Interim Chief 

Operating Officer from 6th January 2014.  

 

Jason was Deputy Chief Operating Officer 

from 2011 to 2013 at The Christie. He has 

over 20 years senior experience in both the 

public and private sectors including health, 

local authority and education, with over 10 

years General Management experience. 

Jason was a General Manager with the 

Trust from 2009 to 2011 prior to which he 

was Director of a management consultancy 

operating in the public and private sector. 
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Board attendance at meetings
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Number of meetings 10 5 4 1 5 2 7 

Current board of directors (#was in attendance at the September 2014 meeting) 

Christine Outram (Chair) 5/5 n/a 2/2 n/a 2/2 n/a# 3/3 

Dame Christine Beasley (Interim 

NED) 

6/9 1/3 3/4 1/1 0/4 2/2 0/4* 

Kathryn Riddle (Interim NED) 7/9 1/3 3/4 0/1 4/4 1/2 3/4 

Dr Ronald Stout (Interim NED 7/7 2/3 3/3 n/a 2/3 1 /2 0/3* 

Neil Large (Interim NED) 7/7 2/3 n/a n/a 2/3 n/a 3/3* 

Jayne Brown (Interim NED) 3/5 1/2 1/2 n/a 0/2 n/a 0/3* 

Roger Spencer Chief Executive 10/10 n/a n/a 1/1 5/5 n/a 5/5* 

Jackie Bird (Executive Director of 

Nursing & Quality) 

10/10 5/5 4/4 1/1 4/5 n/a 3/5* 

Joanne Fitzpatrick (Executive 

Director of Finance & Business 

Development) 

10/10 5/5 n/a 1/1 5/5 n/a 5/5* 

Mr Anthony Blower  

(Executive Medical Director) 

9/10 n/a 3/4 1/1 4/5 n/a 3/5* 

Jason Dawson  

(interim Chief Operating Officer) 

10/10 n/a n/a 1/1 1 /2 n/a 2/3* 

Ann McEvoy  

(Director of Workforce) 

10/10 n/a n/a 1/1 3/5 n/a 4/5* 

Previous board members 

Sir Hugh Taylor 5/5 n/a n/a 1/1 2/3 2/2 4/4 

Lee Childs 4/4 3/3 n/a 1/1 1 /2 1/1 2/2 

Pat Loftus 4/4 3/3 n/a 1/1 0/2 1/1 1 /2* 

Barrie Bernstein 4/4 n/a 1/1 1/1 0/2 1/1 0/2* 

Jennie Johnson 1/2 n/a n/a 0/1 0/1 n/a 1/1* 
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The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has 

applied the principles of the NHS 

Foundation Trust Code of Governance 

on a comply or explain basis. The NHS 

Foundation Trust Code of Governance 

most recently revised in July 2014 is 

based on the principles of the UK 

Corporate Governance Code issued in 

2012. 

 

A review has been conducted to see how 

the board has complied with its adoption 

of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of 

Governance. Details of how it has applied 

these principles are set out below, 

together with what work is taking place to 

maintain compliance. 

 

A. Directors 

In March 2014, following concerns raised 

regarding the governance of our board of 

directors, the Trust was issued with a 

section 105 which automatically turned our 

governance rating to red. Our Regulators 

undertook a review which found no serious 

failings of governance or culture at the 

Trust. They reported that they had found 

areas where there was strong staff 

engagement and support for the leadership 

team. At no time were any concerns raised 

about patient care.   

 

The Trust complied with all the 

requirements of the Section 105 and in 

November 2014 Monitor issued a Statement 

of Compliance which determined that its 

regulatory action was concluded and our 

governance rating returned to green 

(backdated to Q2). 

 

The directors have led the organisation 

with effective decision making to ensure 

the right outcomes are delivered in terms of 

providing a safe and effective service for 

our patients and service users. There is a 

clear balance between executive and non-

executive director roles. 

 

B. Governors 
During 2014/15 the council of governors 

has been extremely effective in carrying out 

its role as defined in the constitution and in 

the code of governance. A board and 

governor time out event was held at the 

end of November 2014 which afforded 

governors the opportunity to input into the 

Trust’s strategic development plan.  

Governors have been active during the year  

through their committees and other 

working groups. 

 

C. Appointments, resignations and 

terms of office 

Resignations & end of term of office 

Jennie Johnson (Non-executive director - 

resigned 30th June 2014) 

Lee Childs (Non-executive director - term 

of office ended 31st July 2014) 

Patrick Loftus (Non-executive director - 

resigned 2nd September 2014) 

Barrie Bernstein (Non-executive director - 

resigned 2nd September 2014) 

Code of governance  
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Sir Hugh Taylor (Chair until 30th September 

2014) 

Caroline Shaw (Chief Executive – suspended 

19
th
 December 2013; resigned 10

th
 October 

2014) 

 

Appointments 

Dame Christine Beasley (interim Non-

executive director from 12th May 2014) 

Kathryn Riddle (interim Non-executive 

director from 12th May 2014) 

Dr Ronald Stout (interim Non-executive 

director from 17th July 2014) 

Neil Large (interim Non-executive director 

from 17th July 2014) 

Jayne Brown (interim Non-executive 

director from 2nd October 2014) 

 

Christine Outram (Chair from 1st October 

2014) 

Roger Spencer (Chief Executive from 4th 

March 2015) 

 

D. Information, development and 

evaluation 

An integrated performance and quality 

report which includes quality, performance 

and financial information is provided to the 

board of directors’ monthly. 

 

Evaluation of the performance of the 

board, its principal committees and 

individual directors is carried out annually. 

 

Governors have access to the full papers 

(including the agenda) for each board 

meeting a week in advance.  They also 

receive follow-up information which 

includes a copy of the chief executive’s 

report and a summary performance report 

after each meeting.   Additional 

information is available on request from 

any of the executive directors. 

 

New governors receive training to aid their 

understanding of The Christie’s activities 

and their roles and responsibilities as 

governors. Induction training is offered to 

all new governors. These sessions evolve 

following governor feedback on their 

content. External training is also available 

and governors can request bespoke training 

sessions if required. 

 

E. Director remuneration 

The remuneration of executive directors is 

reviewed annually using published data and 

the advice of an independent remuneration 

consultant (when appropriate). The 

remuneration of executive directors is 

approved by the remuneration committee 

which comprises all non-executive directors. 

 
Remuneration of senior management is 

subject to agenda for change and is not 

recommended by the remuneration 

committee 

 

F. Accountability and audit 

The board of directors’ receive a 

comprehensive report of the financial 

position each month. This provides a 

balanced and understandable assessment 

of the Trust’s position and prospects. 
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The Trust uses its audit and quality 

assurance committees to review the 

systems of internal control to safeguard 

investment, assets, patient safety and 

service quality and to ensure compliance 

with its legal duties. 

The audit committee is led by a non-

executive director with relevant financial 

experience; he carries out his role as 

defined in the committee Terms of 

Reference which ensures appropriate 

financial reporting and robust systems of 

internal control  

 

G. Relations with stakeholders 

The board of directors continues to support 

public governors in their engagement with 

members and patients. The board of 

directors is working closely with the 

organisation’s key stakeholders.   

 

The Christie is satisfied that it complies, or 

is undertaking action to maintain 

compliance, with the provisions of the 

code. 
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Details of senior employees’ remuneration and pension benefits can be found in the 

two tables in this remuneration report and are subject to audit. 
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Caroline Shaw 
Chief Executive  
Until 10/10/14 
 

 200-205   0  0  0  0 200-205 210- 215 0 0 0 35 – 37.5 245-250 

Roger Spencer 
Chief Executive 
from 04/03/15 
(Acting Chief 
Executive 03/12/13 
-03/03/15) 

 145-150  0 0 0 122.5-125 270-275 135 -140 0 0 0 25.5 - 27.5 165 - 170 

Joanne Fitzpatrick 
Executive Director 
of Finance & 
Business 
Development 

120-125 0 0 0  10-12.5  130-135 120-125 0 0 0 327.5 - 330 450 - 455 

John Scampion 
Interim Director of 
Finance & Business 
Development 
01/11/13–31/03/14 

0 0 0 0 0 0 70-75 0 0 0 0 0 

Jackie Bird 
Executive Director 
of Nursing & 
Quality 

120-125 0 0 0 7.25-10 130-135 120-125 0 0 0 52.5 - 55 175 -180 

Mr Anthony 
Blower  
Executive Medical 
Director 

205-210 0 0 0 52.5-55 

260-265 

160-165 0 0 0 112.5 - 115 265 - 270 

Jason Dawson  
Acting Chief 
Operating Officer 
from 01/01/14 

115-120 0 0 0 60-62.5 175-180 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Remuneration report  
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Lord Keith Bradley 
Chairman 
until 16/03/14 

0 0 0 0 0 0 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 

Sir Hugh Taylor 
Interim Chairman 
17/03/14-30/09/14 

20-25 0 0 0 0 20-25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Christine Outram 
Chairman 
from 01/10/14 

20-25 0 0 0 0 20-25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Lee Childs 
Non-executive 
until 31/07/14 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 15 - 20 0 0 0 0 15 - 20 

Dame J Forgham-
Bailey 
Non-executive 
until 31/03/14 

0 0 0 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Barrie Bernstein 
Non-executive 
until 02/09/14 

5-10 0 0 0 0 0 10 - 15 0 0 0 0 10 -15 

Pat Loftus 
Non-executive 
until 02/09/14 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Jennie Johnson 
Non-executive 
until 30/06/14 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0 10 - 15 0 0 0 0 10 - 15 

Jayne Brown 
Non-executive 
from 02/10/14 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dr Ronald Stout 
Non-executive 
from 17/07/14 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Kathryn Riddle 
Non-executive 
from 12/05/14 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dame Christine 
Beasley  
Non-executive 
from 12/05/14 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Neil Large  
Non-executive 
from 17/07/14 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Band of highest paid 

director's total 
remuneration (£'000) 

200-205 210-215 

Median total 

remuneration 
27,901 27,901 

Ratio 7.3 7.6 

  

 

  

 

     Notes: P Loftus has foregone any remuneration. 
 

Annual statement on remuneration 

The remuneration committee met 3 times in year. The committee is a non-executive committee 

of the board comprising the independent non-executive directors. The chair of the Trust also 

chairs the remuneration committee.    

Meetings were held on: 

 30th June 2014 attended by Sir Hugh Taylor (chair), Patrick Loftus, Barrie Bernstein and 

Dame Christine Beasley 

 29th September 2014 attended by Sir Hugh Taylor (chair), Dame Christine Beasley, Kathryn  

Riddle and Dr Ronald Stout (Christine Outram, chair elect,  attended but had no voting 

rights) 

 27th March 2015 attended by Christine Outram (chair), Dame Christine Beasley, Kathryn 

Riddle, Dr Ronald Stout and Neil Large.  

 

The committee made the following decisions in relation to senior managers’ remuneration; 

1. To apply the national pay position to the eligible executive directors including 

agreement not to pay any performance related pay; 

2. To award a temporary 10% pay uplift to the interim chief executive for acting up into 

the role; 

3. To discontinue the performance related pay scheme for the chief executive; 
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4. To accept the resignation of the Chief Executive; 

5. To agree the newly appointed chief executive salary using data from both the IDS 

report 2014 and an independent survey of CEO salaries produced by Odgers Berndtson 

(supplied as part of the Chief Executive recruitment package);   

6. To consider the performance related pay scheme for executive directors at their 

meeting in May 2015. 

 

Senior managers’ remuneration policy 

There have been no additional payments made to the senior managers outside of their salary in 

year. 

The Christie is committed to the overarching principles of value for money and high 

performance.  

In making its decisions on remuneration, the Committee considers the responsibilities and 

requirements of each of the executive director roles, how long individuals have been in post 

and the performance of the Trust.  

All Executive Directors work within the NHS National Terms and Conditions. All service 

contracts have a 6 month notice period set within them.  Executive Directors are only entitled 

to payment for loss of office if a redundancy situation has arisen. Redundancy is calculated 

within clearly defined parameters as per legislative and NHS terms and conditions. 

Executive Directors are expected to devote sufficient time to ensure satisfactory discharge of 

their duties in accordance with agreed responsibilities and rota’s as determined by their 

manager. 

The performance of the executive directors is assessed through regular appraisal against pre-

determined objectives. Comparative data is used to determine market rates of similar acute 

NHS Foundation Trusts. The executive directors are all employed on a permanent contract basis. 

 

Non-executive director payments 

 Fee payable Additional fee payable 

Christine Outram £42,700 N/A 

Dame Christine Beasley £12,850 £3,000 to chair the Quality Assurance 

Committee 

Neil Large £12,850 £3,000 to chair the Audit Committee 

Kathryn Riddle £12,850 N/A 

Dr Ron Stout £12,850 N/A 

Jayne Brown £12,850 N/A 
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The chair of the foundation trust is expected to devote 3 days a week to their duties which may 

include some time commitment during the evening or weekend. 

Non-executive directors are expected to devote sufficient time to ensure satisfactory discharge 

of his/her duties. This will be no less than 2.5 days per month and will comprise a mixture of 

set commitments with more flexible arrangements for ad-hoc events. 

Non-executive directors are not entitled to any payment for loss of office. Non-executive 

directors are appointed for an initial 3 year period. 

Two people have had off-payroll payments during 2014/15. All other remuneration payments 

and expenses were paid through payroll. 

 

Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers 

 

Pension benefits 

Name and title 
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(bands of 

£2500) 

£000 

(bands of 

£2500) 

£000 

(bands of 

£5000) 

£000 

(bands of 

£5000) 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 £00 

C SHAW 0 0 65 - 70 205 - 210 1,142 0 1,123 0 

R SPENCER 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 50 - 55 155 -160 969 124 827 0 

J FITZPATRICK 5 - 7.5 0 - 2.5 45 - 50 135 - 140 822 32 773 0 

J BIRD 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 50 - 55 150 -155 895 33 876 0 

A BLOWER 2.5 - 5 5 - 10 75 - 80 225 - 250 1,765 105 1,624 0 

J DAWSON 2.5 - 5 0 10 - 15 0 121 33 86 0 

 

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries 

in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members. 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension 

scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the 

member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.  A 

CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in 

another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 

transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the 

benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 

pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The 

CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another 

scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They 

also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 

purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are 

calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of 

Actuaries. 

 

Real Increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the 

value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses 

common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 

 

 

 
Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s 

responsibilities as the accounting 

officer of The Christie NHS Foundation 

Trust. 

 

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief 

executive is the accounting officer of the 

NHS foundation trust.  The relevant 

responsibilities of the accounting officer, 

including their responsibility for the 

propriety and regularity of public finances 

for which they are answerable, and for the 

keeping of proper accounts, are set out in 

the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting 

Officer Memorandum issues by Monitor. 

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has 

directed The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 

to prepare for each financial year a 

statement of accounts in the form and on 

the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  

The accounts are prepared on an accruals 

basis and must give a true and fair view of 

the state of affairs of The Christie NHS 

Foundation Trust and of its income and 

expenditure, total recognised gains and 

losses and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting 

Officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual and in particular 

to: 

 Observe the Accounts direction issued 

by Monitor, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure 

requirements, and apply suitable 

accounting policies on a consistent 

basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a 

reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting 

standards as set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual have been followed, and 

disclose and explain any material 

departures in the financial statements; 

 Ensure that the use of public funds 

complies with the relevant legislation, 

delegated authorities and guidance; 

and 

 Prepare the financial statements on a 

going concern basis. 

 

The accounting officer is responsible for 

keeping proper accounting records which 

disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 

time the financial position of the NHS 

foundation trust and to enable him/her to 

ensure that the accounts comply with 

requirements outlined in the above 

mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is 

also responsible for safeguarding the assets 

of the NHS foundation trust and hence for 

taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 

 

Statement of accounting 

officer’s responsibilities  
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I 

have properly discharged the 

responsibilities set out in Monitor’s NHS 

Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 

Memorandum. 

 

 
Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 

28th May 2015 
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Scope of responsibility 

As Accounting Officer, I have 

responsibility for maintaining a sound 

system of internal control that supports 

the achievement of the NHS foundation 

trust’s policies, aims and objectives, 

whilst safeguarding the public funds 

and departmental assets for which I am 

personally responsible, in accordance 

with the responsibilities assigned to 

me. I am also responsible for ensuring 

that the NHS foundation trust is 

administered prudently and 

economically and that resources are 

applied efficiently and effectively.  I 

also acknowledge my responsibilities as 

set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
The purpose of the system of internal 
control 
The system of internal control is designed 

to manage risk to a reasonable level rather 

than to eliminate all risk of failure to 

achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 

therefore only provide reasonable and not 

absolute assurance of effectiveness. The 

system of internal control is based on an 

ongoing process designed to identify and 

prioritise the risks to the achievement of 

the policies, aims and objectives of The 

Christie NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate 

the likelihood of those risks being realised 

and the impact should they be realised, and 

to manage them efficiently, effectively and 

economically. The system of internal control 

has been in place in The Christie NHS 

Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 

March 2015 and up to the date of approval 

of the annual report and accounts. 

 

Capacity to handle risk 
As accounting officer I have overall 

responsibility for risk management 

processes across the organisation. I have 

delegated responsibility for the 

coordination of risk management systems 

and processes to the executive director of 

nursing and quality. She discharges her 

responsibilities through the quality & 

standards team, which includes lead 

officers for the Care Quality Commission 

(CQC) essential standards of quality & 

safety, the National Health Service 

Litigation Authority (NHSLA) risk 

assessment standards, the corporate risk 

register and the incident reporting 

management system. She coordinates the 

governance and risk management 

arrangements undertaken within the 

organisation through performance review 

meetings with all operational divisions and 

through the risk & quality governance 

committee.  

The board assurance framework is 

delegated to the Company Secretary 

thereby ensuring impartiality from the 

operational management of the Trust.  The 

Board assurance framework is reviewed 

twice a year at the Audit and Quality 

Assurance committee meetings and at the 

Board of Directors meeting. 

Annual governance statement 
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Risks associated with information systems 

and processes are the responsibility of the 

executive director of finance & business 

development at board level who acts as the 

senior information risk owner. The risk 

management strategy & policy (2014-2017) 

provides a framework for managing risks 

across the organisation, which is consistent 

with best practice and Department of 

Health guidance. The strategy provides a 

clear, structured and systematic approach 

to the management of risks to ensure that 

risk assessment is an integral part of 

clinical, managerial and financial processes 

at all levels across the organisation. The 

strategy sets out the role of the board of 

directors’ and standing committees 

together with individual responsibilities of 

the Chief Executive, executive directors, 

managers and all staff in managing risk. In 

particular the risk and quality governance 

committee through its sub-committees of 

patient safety, patient experience and 

clinical & research effectiveness, provide 

the mechanism for managing and 

monitoring risk throughout the Trust and 

reporting through to the board of 

directors’.  

 

The board receives its assurances on the 

risk management and governance 

arrangements in place through its quality 

assurance and audit committees.  Both of 

these are non-executive board committees 

and each is chaired by a non-executive 

director. All non-executive directors have 

independent access to the internal and 

external auditors.  

The Christie staff are well trained and 

equipped to manage risk in a number of 

ways appropriate to their authority and 

duties.  Risk management training is 

provided for all staff through our 

comprehensive induction programme. In 

addition there is specific tailored training 

for individual roles and these are agreed 

with staff through personal development 

plans.  Regular risk management awareness 

training continues for all staff through our 

corporate essential training programme. 

This includes key risk areas such as incident 

reporting and investigation, Root Cause 

Analysis training, complaints handling, 

infection prevention & control, health and 

safety and moving and handling.  

 

The organisation aims to ensure that it 

learns from internal and external incidents 

and shares good practice through a range 

of mechanisms including governance 

meetings, team briefings, action plans 

arising from external reviews such as 

National Inquiries, Freedom to Speak out, 

the NHSLA risk assessment standards, 

publications of the Royal Colleges, peer 

review and PLACE inspections.  The board 

of directors also reviews relevant reports 

and carries out gap analyses from the CQC, 

Monitor and the Department of Health. 

 
The risk and control framework 
The Trust’s risk management strategy aims 

to control, manage and mitigate risk. It sets 

out a system for continuous improvement 

via risk management which extends to all 

areas of the organisation. It aims to reduce 
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clinical and nonclinical risks. Risk 

management is integral to Trust business 

and is embedded in the culture of the Trust.  

Individual and organisational learning from 

incidents, mistakes, accidents and near 

misses is a key component of the Trust’s 

risk management strategy to ensure 

continual improvement.   

 

Risks are quantified using the 

Australia/New Zealand risk management 

standard 4360:2004 which measures risk 

using a combination of consequence (also 

described as impact or severity) and the 

likelihood (or probability or frequency) of 

an event occurring.  During 2014/15 the 

organisation has had 1 high scoring 

corporate risk which relates to changes to 

tariff and the potential loss of income as a 

result of the local and national 

commissioning intentions which could have 

an adverse impact on the trust affecting 

service, performance and income.   All risks 

have been appropriately managed during 

the financial year using the Trust’s risk 

management systems.   

 

The Trust uses Datix to support its risk 

management and risk register processes. 

This database encompasses incidents, 

formal and informal complaints, litigation 

details and risks.  All staff have a role in 

identifying risks and helping to reduce their 

impact.  

 

Key risks for the organisation, corporate 

and divisional, are reported in the 

integrated performance and quality report 

and are reviewed formally by the risk and 

quality governance committee, 

management board and the board of 

directors each month.  Identified risks are 

reported using the Trust’s integrated 

performance and quality reporting 

structures and are reviewed at divisional, 

management and board meetings. 

Managers systematically assess risk in their 

areas of responsibility.  All risk assessments 

are documented and risks recorded on the 

risk register. Once analysed the higher 

scoring risks are managed by higher levels 

in the organisation.  Risk control measures 

are identified and where resources may be 

required to control the risk a business case 

is developed; these are treated as a priority.  

 

The risk and control framework is based on 

a board reporting process which ensures 

that information is presented to the board 

in a timely manner and in an appropriate 

format. The board assurance framework 

provides an immediate means of alerting 

the board to areas of concern or failures of 

control, enabling the board to ensure that 

the appropriate management resource is 

committed to resolving such issues. The 

reporting process includes the corporate 

plan which identifies the strategic 

objectives of The Christie. Progress towards 

their achievement is presented to the board 

twice per year.  

 

The board assurance framework is regularly 

reviewed and updated using the corporate 

risk register and corporate plan and is 

presented to the board at the start of the 
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year and reviewed by the audit, quality 

assurance and the board of directors during 

the year.  Each objective is allocated to 

either the audit or quality assurance 

committee. The presentation of the 

assurance framework has been improved to 

assist the board to judge the effectiveness 

of control measures intended to reduce the 

risks to the organisation in achieving its 

principal objectives. The audit and quality 

assurance committees examine issues at 

random and in depth to ensure that the 

system accurately describes risk and 

controls. 

 

The Christie works with a number of 

partner organisations as shown below, to 

ensure that risks to The Christie are 

identified, assessed and appropriate action 

is taken these organisations include: 

 NHS England and the Christie 

Commissioning Strategy Board (CCSB)  

 The University of Manchester and The 

University of Salford and a number of 

other academic institutes and 

professional bodies to ensure training 

and education is delivered in line 

with national standards and the 

academic expectations of relevant 

bodies 

 Manchester Academic Health Science 

Centre (MAHSC), a partnership 

between The University of 

Manchester and six NHS 

organisations, uniting leading 

healthcare providers with world-class 

academics and researchers. 

 Other acute trusts as part of 

Manchester Cancer Services Provider 

Board 

 Our private patient joint venture 

partner Health Corporation of 

America to continually develop 

private patient services at The 

Christie; 

 Our pharmacy services partnership 

with Central Homecare, Alliance 

Healthcare and Boots UK to provide 

the first hospital pharmacy of its kind, 

offering both outpatient and 

inpatient dispensing services; 

 Our pathology services partner 

Synlab UK Ltd to improve turnaround 

times for our patients and maintain 

delivery of high quality results. 

 

The organisation’s response to national 

alerts and governance action is managed 

through the patient safety committee and 

management board and reported to the 

board of directors. We are a level 3 

compliant organisation as assessed by the 

NHSLA in 2012.  

 
The Christie also engages with public and 

NHS stakeholders in the following way: 

 public: council of governors and 

committees of governors, members’ 

meetings, local public engagement 

meetings, and Patient surveys (both 

internal and external), suggestion 

schemes and the patient comment 

system 
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 NHS: The Christie Commissioning 

Strategy Board (currently led by NHS 

England), Greater Manchester Cancer 

Services Provider Board, PCT 

representation on the drugs 

management committee and 

patient/user input into capital 

planning through the Neighbourhood 

forum. 

 

The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with 

the registration requirements of the Care 

Quality Commission and systems exist to 

ensure compliance with the registration 

requirements.  A process of self-assessment 

is in place following the CQC inspection 

process and is undertaken annually by each 

service.  The outcomes of each assessment 

are reported formally and discussed at the 

performance review meeting and action 

plans are monitored to closure.   The 

outcome of the Trust’s assessment of 

compliance with the CQC requirements is 

presented to the public Board of Directors 

meeting in April of each year. 

 

As an employer with staff entitled to 

membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 

control measures are in place to ensure all 

employer obligations contained within the 

Scheme regulations are complied with. This 

includes ensuring that deductions from 

salary, employer’s contributions and 

payments into the Scheme are in 

accordance with the Scheme rules, and that 

member Pension Scheme records are 

accurately updated in accordance with the 

timescales detailed in the Regulations. 

 

Control measures are in place to ensure that 

all the organisation’s obligations under 

equality, diversity and human rights 

legislation are complied with. 

 

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk 

assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery 

Plans are in place in accordance with 

emergency preparedness and civil 

contingency requirements, as based on 

UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that 

this organisation’s obligations under the 

Climate Change Act and the Adaptation 

Reporting requirements are complied with. 

 

Review of economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness of the use of resources 

As accounting officer, I have responsibility 

for reviewing the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control to ensure that 

resources are used economically, efficiently 

and effectively.  My review is informed by 

the work of the internal auditors, clinical 

audit and the executive directors within the 

NHS Foundation Trust who have 

responsibility for the development and 

maintenance of the internal control 

framework. Divisional and corporate 

departments are responsible for the 

delivery of financial and other performance 

targets via our performance management 

framework which includes monthly 

performance reviews with each service. 
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My review is also informed by comments 

made by the external auditors in their 

management letter and other reports. I 

have been advised on the implications of 

the result of my review of the effectiveness 

of the system of internal control by the 

board, audit, quality assurance, risk and 

clinical governance committees and a plan 

to address weaknesses and ensure 

continuous improvement of the system is in 

place. 

 

Information governance 

Information governance risks are managed 

as part of the risk management systems and 

processes and assessed using the 

Information Governance Toolkit. The Trust’s 

risk register is updated with currently 

identified information risks including data 

quality and data security risks which are 

reviewed by the Risk and Quality 

Governance Committee.  In addition 

independent assurance is provided as part 

of the national PbR (payment by results) 

audit process, and the Information 

Governance Toolkit self-assessment review 

undertaken by internal audit. 

 

During 2014/15 the Trust reported a small 

number of level 1 Information governance 

incidents and no level 2 incidents. 

 

Annual Quality Report 

The directors are required under the Health 

Act 2009 and the National Health Service 

(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as 

amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for 

each financial year. Monitor has issued 

guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on 

the form and content of annual Quality 

Reports which incorporate the above legal 

requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual. 

 

The directors are required under the Health 

Act 2009 and the National Health Service 

(quality accounts) Regulations 2010 (as 

amended) to prepare quality accounts for 

each financial year. Monitor has issued 

guidance to NHS foundation trust boards 

on the form and content of annual quality 

reports which incorporate the above legal 

requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual.   

 

The quality report presents a balanced view 

and is based on accurate data.  The board 

of directors’ is assured of this through the 

Trust’s governance processes and 

leadership by the executive team. Systems 

are in place to collect, validate and analyse 

all data using the appropriately skilled 

team. This may be the information or 

performance team, infection control team, 

internal audit team, the quality & standards 

team or the UK cancer information team.  

Our annual quality reports are a bringing 

together of reports on quality of care 

contained in the quality accounts section of 

our monthly integrated performance and 

quality report. The monthly reports are 

considered by the senior clinicians and 

managers of the organisation at monthly 

management board meetings and by the 



The Christie Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 

 

159 

 

board of directors. The quality report has 

been received by the quality assurance 

committee and has been approved by 

management board. The preparation of 

quality accounts has been led by the 

executive director of nursing & quality. 

Review of effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility 

for reviewing the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control. My review of the 

effectiveness of the system of internal 

control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, clinical audit and the 

executive managers and clinical leads 

within the NHS foundation trust who have 

responsibility for the development and 

maintenance of the internal control 

framework. I have drawn on the content of 

the quality report attached to this Annual 

report and other performance information 

available to me. My review is also informed 

by comments made by the external auditors 

in their management letter and other 

reports. I have been advised on the 

implications of the result of my review of 

the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control by the board, audit committee, 

quality assurance committee and the risk & 

quality governance committee and a plan to 

address weaknesses and ensure continuous 

improvement of the system is in place. 

 

The Board Assurance Framework provides 

me with evidence that the effectiveness of 

controls to manage risks to the 

organisation achieving its principal 

objectives have been reviewed. My review 

is also informed by: 

 Assessment of financial reports 

submitted to Monitor, the 

Independent Regulator of NHS 

Foundation Trusts 

 Opinions and reports made by 

external auditors 

 Opinions and reports made by 

internal auditors 

 NHS Litigation Authority risk 

management accreditation, and 

other external inspections, 

accreditations and reviews. 

 

The process that has been applied in 

maintaining and reviewing the 

effectiveness of the system of internal 

control has been reviewed by:  

 The Board; through consideration of 

key objectives and the management 

of principal risks to those objectives 

within the Assurance Framework, 

which is presented to board bi 

annually. 

 The Audit Committee  by reviewing 

and monitoring the opinions and 

reports provided by both internal 

and external audit 

 The Quality Committee; by 

reviewing and monitoring the 

opinions and reports provided by 

both internal and external audit 

 The Risk and Quality Governance 

Committee by implementing and 

reviewing clinical governance and 

risk management arrangements and 
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receiving reports from the sub risk 

committees 

 External assessments of services 

 

In March 2014 following concerns raised in 

regard to the governance of our Board of 

Directors, Monitor issued the Trust with a 

notice of intervention.  The requirements of 

the notice were complied with and on 18th 

November 2014 the Trust received a 

Statement of Compliance.  Monitor 

concluded its regulatory action at the Trust 

and our governance rating was changed 

from red back to green (backdated to Q2).  

At no time during this period were there 

any concerns raised about our patient care 

or treatment. 

 

In July 2014 our Regulators undertook a 

joint review which confirmed there were no 

serious governance failings or failings of 

culture at the Trust.  One of the 

recommendations from the review was for 

the Trust to commission an independent 

external review of leadership and 

governance.  This was carried out during 

Quarter 4 and the findings confirmed those 

of our Regulators.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conclusion 

As accounting officer and based on the 

information provided above I am assured 

that no significant internal control issues 

have been identified.  

 

 
Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 

28
th
 May 2015 
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Report on the financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, The Christie Group NHS 

Foundation Trust’s (“the Trust’s”) group 

financial statements and parent Trust’s 

financial statements (the “financial 

statements”): 

 give a true and fair view of the 

state of the Group’s and of the 

Parent Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 

2015 and of the Group’s income and 

expenditure and Group’s and Parent 

Trust’s cash flows for the year then 

ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual 2014/15.  

 

What we have audited 

The Group’s and Trust’s financial 

statements comprise: 

 the Consolidated and Parent Trust’s 

Statement of Financial Position as at 

31 March 2015; 

 the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income for the year 

then ended; 

 the Consolidated and Parent Trust’s 

Statement of Cash Flows for the 

year then ended; 

 the Statement of Changes in 

Taxpayer’s Equity for the year then 

ended; and 

 the notes to the financial 

statements, which include a 

summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory 

information. 

 

The financial reporting framework that has 

been applied in the preparation of the 

financial statements is the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15 

issued by the Independent Regulator of 

NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

 

Our audit approach 

 Overall Group materiality: 

£4,582,000 which represents 2% of 

total revenue.  

In establishing our overall approach we 

assessed the risks of material misstatement 

and applied our professional judgement to 

determine the extent of testing required 

over each balance in the financial 

statements. The scope of the group audit 

includes the audit of The Christie 

Foundation Trust and The Christie 

Charitable Fund. 

 Management Override of Controls 

and Fraud in Revenue/Expenditure 

Recognition ; 

 Valuation of Property, Plant and 

Equipment; and 

 The Christie Clinic LLP & LOC @ The 

Christie LLP (Joint Ventures) 

 

The scope of our audit and our areas of 

focus 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is 

located in Withington, Manchester, and is 

Independent auditors’ report to the Council of 

Governors of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust  
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one of the largest cancer treatment centres 

in Europe. It serves an immediate 

population of 3.2 million in the Greater 

Manchester and Cheshire area and also 

delivers a number of regional and national 

services from the main Christie site. As a 

Centre of Excellence, it focuses solely on 

improving outcomes for oncology patients 

and is dedicated to the delivery of cancer 

treatment, care, research and education. 

The Christie Group includes the following 

significant entities: 

 The Christie Foundation Trust 

 The Christie Charitable Fund 

 The Christie Clinic LLP (Joint 

Venture) 

 LOC @ The Christies LLP (Joint 

Venture) 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing (UK 

and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). 

We designed our audit by determining 

materiality and assessing the risks of 

material misstatement in the financial 

statements. In particular, we looked at 

where the directors made subjective 

judgements, for example in respect of 

significant accounting estimates that 

involved making assumptions and 

considering future events that are 

inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, 

we also addressed the risk of management 

override of internal controls, including 

evaluating whether there was evidence of 

bias by the directors that represented a risk 

of material misstatement due to fraud.  

The risks of material misstatement that had 

the greatest effect on our audit, including 

the allocation of our resources and effort, 

are identified as “areas of focus” in the 

table below. We have also set out how we 

tailored our audit to address these specific 

areas in order to provide an opinion on the 

financial statements as a whole, and any 

comments we make on the results of our 

procedures should be read in this context. 

This is not a complete list of all risks 

identified by our audit.  

 

Areas of focus 
 
Management Override of Controls and 
Fraud in Revenue/Expenditure 
Recognition 

See note 1 to the financial statements for 

the directors’ disclosures of the related 

accounting policies, judgements and 

estimates relating to the recognition of 

income and expenditure and notes 2-4 for 

further information. 

 

We focussed on this area because there is 

a heightened risk that, due to: 

 the risks surrounding the future 

financial position and sustainability 

and position of the Trust; 

 the pressure the Trust is under to 

achieve the current Cost Improvement 

Programme (‘CIP’) plan; and 
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 the inherent complexities in a number 

of contractual arrangements entered 

into by the Trust. 

 

Income 

The Trust principal source of income is 

from Clinical Commissioning Groups 

(“CCGs”) and NHS England. The service 

level agreements with the CCGs and NHS 

England are renegotiated annually and 

consist of standard monthly instalments 

and a ‘true up’ receipt, which is negotiated 

with the CCGs and NHS England at the end 

of financial year and is, therefore, subject 

to management judgement regarding the 

value and recoverability of the related 

income. 

 

Expenditure 

We focussed our work on the elements of 

expenditure that are the most susceptible 

to manipulation, being:  

• non-standard, journal, transactions, 

including the accrued/deferred income and 

accrued/prepaid expenses; and 

• items of expenditure whose value is 

estimated, including provisions. 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment       

(indexation valuation) 

See note 10 to the financial statements for 

the disclosures in relation to PPE. 

We focussed on this area because Property, 

plant and equipment (“PPE”) represents 

the largest balance in the Trust’s statement 

of financial position and the Trust has 

undertaken an ambitious capital 

investment strategy over recent years 

which continued in 2014/15. PPE is valued 

at £173,151,000. 

All PPE assets are measured initially at cost, 

with land and buildings being 

subsequently measured at fair value based 

on periodic valuations. The valuations are 

carried out by professionally qualified 

valuers in accordance with the Royal 

Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 

Appraisal and Valuation Manual, and are 

required to be performed with sufficient 

regularity to ensure that the carrying value 

is not materially different from fair value 

at the reporting date. 

 

A full valuation of the Trust’s portfolio of 

land and buildings (including dwellings) 

was undertaken during 2013/14 by the 

Trust’s valuation experts. Management 

have applied the BCIS indexation for the 

purpose of an interim valuation as at 31 

March 2015 and this has resulted in an 

uplift of the Land and Buildings balance to 

the value of £11,739,000. 

 

How our audit addressed the area of 

focus  

 

Journals 

Our journals work was carried out on a risk 

based basis. We used data analysis 

techniques to identify the journals that had 

higher risk characteristics, for example, 

being posted and authorised by the same 
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individual, round sum journals or being 

posted outside “normal” office hours. 

We selected a sample of manual and 

automated journal transactions that had 

been recognised in both income and 

expenditure, focussing in particular on 

those recognised near the end of the year 

or included in accrued/deferred income or 

prepaid/accrued expenses. 

We traced these journal entries to the 

supporting documentation (for example, 

invoices, goods received notes, cash 

receipts and payments).  

Our testing did not identify any issues. 

 

Recognition and measurement of 

estimates 

We evaluated and tested management’s 

accounting estimates (such as the valuation 

indices and location factor for PPE, 

accruals/provisions, bad debt provisions 

and depreciation rates) and the basis of 

their calculation. In particular we tested 

the current year activity for each estimate 

to determine whether the estimates 

recognised are considered to be 

appropriate and are consistent with those 

in the previous accounting period. We 

considered whether there was any 

indication of bias in management’s 

calculations. 

 

From the testing performed we have not 

identified any indication of management 

bias and the accounting estimates are 

considered to be appropriate. 

Income 

We tested a sample of revenue 

transactions recognised after the year end 

to check that the amount of revenue 

recognised was accurately and 

appropriately recognised in 2014/15. This 

involved agreeing the revenue transactions 

to supporting invoices, goods despatch 

note (where applicable) and cash receipts. 

 

For the Trust’s contracts with its CCGs and 

NHS England, we agreed the total contract 

value to a signed agreement and 

authorised variations where applicable. 

These variations are those agreed and 

authorised between the Trust and its 

commissioners to reflect any areas of over 

or under performance. We examined that 

the final March 2015 payment was 

correctly accounted for and tested by 

reference to performance reports whether 

the service agreement / contract volume 

had been met. We evaluated the SLAs for 

any monies for specific purposes or 

potential deferred income items and 

checked these were accounted for 

appropriately. 

 

Expenditure 

For a sample of transactions recognised 

during the year and, around (both before 

and after) the year end, we confirmed that 

the expenditure had been recognised in 

line with the accounting policies and in the 

correct accounting period by agreeing the 

transactions to the supporting invoice and 

cash payments.  
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We tested the controls in place to ensure 

that modifications to the payroll standing 

data files were appropriately authorised by 

testing a sample of starters, leavers and 

other amendments to the standing data 

back to supporting evidence and 

authorisation to confirm that the 

modification had been processed 

appropriately and completely.  

Our testing did not identify any control 

weaknesses that caused us to change our 

planned testing approach.  

 

Intra-NHS balances 

We obtained the Trust’s mismatch reports 

received from Monitor, which identified 

balances (debtor, creditor, income or 

expenditure balances) that were disputed 

by the counterparty. We then checked that 

management had investigated all disputed 

amounts and discussed with them the 

results of their investigation and the 

resolution. We read correspondence with 

the counterparties, which corroborated 

these results. We then considered the 

impact, if any, that the remaining disputed 

amounts would have on the Trust’s 

financial statements and determined that 

there was no material impact. 

 

Our testing did not identify any evidence of 

fraud or manipulation of the Trust’s results. 

 

We used our valuations expertise to 

confirm that management’s decision to 

apply the BCIS indexation and the 

indexation applied to the carrying value of 

Land and Buildings (including dwellings) 

was appropriate, particularly given the 

time period that had elapsed since the last 

full valuation and the trust’s specific 

circumstances, including regional 

adjustments. 

 

We evaluated and challenged the valuation 

report produced by the Trust’s valuation 

experts and used our own valuations 

expertise in the health sector to: 

 check the valuers’ qualifications 

and objectivity; 

 consider the suitability of the 

methodology adopted in valuing 

the assets; and 

 agree the movement in the BCIS 

indexation that has been adopted 

in the valuation to the average 

BCIS movements in the area. 

 

We found no issues from this testing. 

 

We also checked and found that the 

valuation of land and buildings per the 

Valuation report had been accurately 

reflected in the financial statements and 

that the gains and impairments have been 

accurately reflected in the correct area 

within the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income and reserves. 
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The Christie Clinic LLP and LOC @ The 

Christies LLP (Joint Ventures) 

The Christie Clinic (“TCC”) is accounted for 

as a joint venture, having been established 

by the Trust and Healthcare America 

(“HCA”) in September 2010. There are two 

areas of focus in connection with the profit 

sharing arrangement with HCA that 

require consideration for our audit as 

summarised below: 

 

Non-coterminous year ends 

TCC has a year end of 31 December, and as 

such we have audited financial statements 

to rely on for nine months of the financial 

year. The remaining three months (January 

to March) are covered by unaudited 

management accounts. For the first time 

the impact of the profit element arising 

from these accounts is expected to be 

material. 

 

Management accounts 

From discussion with management, we 

have identified that there are significant 

reconciling adjustments between TCC’s 

year-end management accounts and the 

audited financial statements. Given we rely 

on the management accounts of TCC for the 

period January to March for the profit 

calculation in the Trust’s financial 

statements, the possibility of reconciling 

adjustments needs to be considered. 

The work carried out in this area has been 

set out as follows: 

 We issued group instructions to the 

joint ventures’ external auditors, 

asking them to provide us with 

details of the work they have 

carried out for the audit of the joint 

ventures and any misstatements or 

other issues we should be aware of.  

 We reviewed the work of the 

component auditor and assessed its 

impact in relation to the Christie 

Group audit. 

 We re-calculated the profit share 

based on the agreement between 

The Christies and HCA and ensured 

that the profit recognised is in line 

with the agreement. 

 We obtained JV management 

accounts for the period January to 

March 2015 and ensured that the 

appropriate adjustments have been 

made from the management 

accounts to the calculation that has 

been used for the purpose of the 

profit share calculation. 

 

How we tailored the audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit to 

ensure that we performed enough work to 

be able to give an opinion on the financial 

statements as a whole, taking into account 

the structure of the Group, the accounting 

processes and controls, and the 

environment in which the Group operates. 

In establishing our overall approach we 

assessed the risks of material misstatement, 

taking into account the nature, likelihood 

and potential magnitude of any 

misstatement. Following this assessment, 

we applied professional judgement to 
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determine the extent of testing required 

over each balance in the financial 

statements. 

 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by 

our application of materiality. We set 

certain quantitative thresholds for 

materiality. These, together with 

qualitative considerations, helped us to 

determine the scope of our audit and the 

nature, timing and extent of our audit 

procedures and to evaluate the effect of 

misstatements, both individually and on the 

financial statements as a whole.  

Based on our professional judgement, 

consistent with last year, we determined 

materiality for the financial statements as a 

whole as follows: 

 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that 

we would report to them misstatements 

identified during our audit above £229,100 

(2014: [£190,000) as well as misstatements 

below that amount that, in our view, 

warranted reporting for qualitative 

reasons. 

 

Other required reporting in accordance 

with the Audit Code for NHS 

foundation trusts 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed 

by the Audit Code for NHS foundation 

trusts 

In our opinion:  

 the information given in the 

Strategic Report and the Directors’ 

Report for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the 

financial statements; and 

 the part of the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report to be audited 

has been properly prepared in 

accordance with the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual 2014/15. 

 

Consistency of other information 

Under the Audit Code for NHS foundation 

trusts we are required to report to you if, in 

our opinion: 

 information in The Christie NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Report 

(the “Annual Report) is: 

Overall 

Group 

materiality 

£4,582,000  

(2014: £4,468,000). 

How we 

determined 

it 

2% of revenue 

Rationale 

for 

benchmark 

applied 

We have applied this 

benchmark, which is a 

generally accepted measure 

when auditing not for profit 

organisations, because we 

believe this to the most 

appropriate financial measure 

of the performance of a 

Foundation Trust. 
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 materially inconsistent with the 

information in the audited 

financial statements; or 

 apparently materially incorrect 

based on, or materially 

inconsistent with, our 

knowledge of the Trust acquired 

in the course of performing our 

audit; or  

 otherwise misleading. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising 

from this responsibility.  

 

 The statement given by the 

directors on page 143, in accordance 

with provision C.1.1 of the NHS 

Foundation Trust Code of 

Governance, that they consider the 

Annual Report taken as a whole to 

be fair, balanced and 

understandable and provides the 

information necessary for members 

to assess the Group’s and Parent 

Trust’s performance, business model 

and strategy is materially 

inconsistent with our knowledge of 

the Group’s and Parent Trust 

acquired in the course of 

performing our audit. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising 

from this responsibility. 

 The section of the Annual Report on 

page 133 as required by provision 

C.3.9 of the NHS Foundation Trust 

Code of Governance, describing the 

work of the Audit Committee does 

not appropriately address matters 

communicated by us to the Audit 

Committee. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising 

from this responsibility. 

 

 the Annual Governance Statement 

does not meet the disclosure 

requirements set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual 2014/15 or is misleading or 

inconsistent with information of 

which we are aware from our audit. 

We are not required to consider, nor 

have we considered, whether the 

Annual Governance Statement 

addresses all risks and controls or 

that risks are satisfactorily 

addressed by internal controls. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising 

from this responsibility 

Quality report including economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness of 

resources 

Under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation 

Trusts we are required to report to you if, 

in our opinion: 

 we have not been able to satisfy 

ourselves that the Trust has made 

proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources. 
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We have no exceptions to report arising 

from this responsibility 

 

 we have qualified, on any aspect, 

our opinion on the Quality Report 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising 

from this responsibility 

 

Responsibilities for the financial 

statements and the audit 

 

Our responsibilities and those of the 

directors 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ 

Responsibilities Statement, the directors are 

responsible for the preparation of the 

financial statements and for being satisfied 

that they give a true and fair view in 

accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an 

opinion on the financial statements in 

accordance with the National Health Service 

Act 2006, the Audit Code for NHS 

Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor and 

ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require 

us to comply with the Auditing Practices 

Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has 

been prepared for and only for the Council 

of Governors of The Christies NHS 

Foundation Trust as a body in accordance 

with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the 

National Health Service Act 2006 and for no 

other purpose. We do not, in giving these 

opinions, accept or assume responsibility 

for any other purpose or to any other 

person to whom this report is shown or 

into whose hands it may come save where 

expressly agreed by our prior consent in 

writing. 

 

What an audit of financial statements 

involves: 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements sufficient to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are 

free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an 

assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are 

appropriate to the Group’s and 

Parent Trust’s circumstances and 

have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by the 

directors; and  

 the overall presentation of the 

financial statements.  

We primarily focus our work in these areas 

by assessing the directors’ judgements 

against available evidence, forming our 

own judgements, and evaluating the 

disclosures in the financial statements. 

We test and examine information, using 

sampling and other auditing techniques, to 

the extent we consider necessary to 

provide a reasonable basis for us to draw 
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conclusions. We obtain audit evidence 

through testing the effectiveness of 

controls, substantive procedures or a 

combination of both.  

In addition, we read all the financial and 

non-financial information in the Annual 

Report to identify material inconsistencies 

with the audited financial statements and 

to identify any information that is 

apparently materially incorrect based on, or 

materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 

acquired by us in the course of performing 

the audit. If we become aware of any 

apparent material misstatements or 

inconsistencies we consider the implications 

for our report. 

 

Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the 

audit of the financial statements in 

accordance with the requirements of 

Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the National Health 

Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for 

NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.  

 

Fiona Kelsey (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory 

Auditors 

Manchester 

28th May 2015 

 

(a) The maintenance and integrity of 

The Christie Group NHS Foundation 

Trust website is the responsibility of 

the directors; the work carried out 

by the auditors does not involve 

consideration of these matters and, 

accordingly, the auditors accept no 

responsibility for any changes that 

may have occurred to the financial 

statements since they were initially 

presented on the website. 

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom 

governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial 

statements may differ from 

legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Quality report appendices 
Appendix 1 
National and Local Clinical Audit Actions 
 
Completed projects: core programme (n=62)  
Audit ID Audit title (& rationale) Compliance comment Action plan approved 

(date & place) 

Core programme 

National audits required for Quality Accounts          

12/931 AUGIS 2012 national 
oesophageal cancer audit 
(Quality accounts) 

Treatment data submitted. 
Participating in network discussions 
as per national recommendations but 
specific action at the Christie is 
focused on data quality. Forms 
developed in CWP to capture data. 

Oesophagagastric 
subgroup, Jan 2015 

13/1006 National Emergency 
Laparotomy Audit (NELA) 
organizational audit 
(Quality Accounts) 

Assurance. Compliance with 4 of 5 
standards; bi-monthly review of 
mortality following EGS not 
considered appropriate at The Christie 
with current patient numbers and 
practice. No action required. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting, 
Sep 2014 

13/1020 Emergency use of oxygen 
(British Thoracic Society) 
2013 (Quality Accounts) 

Partial compliance: good monitoring 
but low numbers of patients 
prescribed oxygen. Further 
discussions to consider whether the 
status of oxygen prescribing is to be 
increased in the trust to meet national 
recommendations. 

Acute Oncology, May 
2014 

13/1068 Regional Audit of 
Platelets, (Quality 
Accounts) 

Significant assurance; all but one 
result above regional average. Reduce 
the number of prophylactic 
transfusions that receive more than 
one dose. 

Hospital Transfusion 
Committee, Jul 2014 

13/1114 Lung cancer (NLCA) 2014 
(Quality Accounts) 

Generally surgical and chemotherapy 
rates at least as good as rest of UK 
and small increase on last year. Some 
variation across network. Baseline 
data comes from MDT (not hosted at 
The Christie).  
Anticipate improvement in future 
data accuracy due to COSD monthly 
update. Ongoing liaison with COU to 
address any issues. Encourage 
documentation of co-morbidity/PFTs 

as recording poor across network. 

Lung DG, Feb 2015 

13/820 National Care of Dying 
Audit - Hospitals (NCDAH) 
(Quality Accounts) 

Good compliance with referral to 
specialist palliative care, giving advice 
within 24hrs and integrated services, 
Compliance since the LCP withdrawn 
reduced in the interim before new 

Palliative care core 
team meeting, May 
2014 
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national directive available. The final 
actions are currently being agreed. 
Implemented 7 day working. Make 
end of life care training mandatory. 
Develop electronic recording of end of 
life care to replace LCP. 

13/974 Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) 
2013 (Quality Accounts) 

Significant assurance. Post-Operative 
Mortality remains low compared with 
the National Average. Private patients 
included in the audit were less likely 
to be discussed MDT meetings. All 
eligible patients are enrolled onto the 
Enhanced Recovery Programme in 
order to reduce inpatient stay. All 
suitable patients are offered 
laparoscopic surgery with the 
benefits/risks as opposed to open 
surgery explained. CNS has been 
appointed. 

Colorectal MDT AGM, 
Date TBC 2015 

13/975 Head and Neck oncology 
(DAHNO) 2013 (Quality 
Accounts) 

Significantly increased numbers of 
patient treatments successfully 
matched to tumour records from 
referring trusts. Continue to develop 
electronic recording of data to 
facilitate accurate and complete 
submissions. Continue to work with 
referring trusts to ensure treatment 
data can be uploaded. 

H&N morbidity & 
mortality meeting, 
2014 

14/1201 National Prostate Cancer 
Audit (NPCA) (Quality 
Accounts) 

Data for all eligible patients 
submitted. Introduction of new 
electronic MDT forms will improve the 
audit data capture process. The 
format of the audit is being changed 
in April, so awaiting more details. 
Data quality of the national reports is 
being checked. 

Urology surgical 
team, 2014 

14/1254 ICNARC - CMPD adult 
critical care (Quality 
Accounts) 

258 admissions reported since the last 
summary covering Jan-Jun 2014. No 
actions identified. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting 

Required for Commissioning for Quality & Innovation schemes (CQUINs) 

12/860 Directory of Care - Lung 
Protocol Audit  
(CQUINS) 

Compliant. No action required as have 
assurance from national lung cancer 
audit for the only weak result (MDT 
discussion). 

Lung DG, May 2014 

12/923 Directory of care protocol 
– Breast (CQUINS) 

Clinical lead advised data collected 
was incorrect and needs to be re-
done. To identify doctor to carry out 
and decide what sample to use. Will 
register as new project. 

Breast DG, Dec 2014 

13/1205 End of Life - HPB Re-audit 
(CQUIN) 

Improved very good compliance. To 
continue the one day training on 
advance care planning; encourage 
attendance and participation from the 

HPB team, May 2014 
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HPB disease group. 

13/1206 End of Life - Melanoma 
Re-audit 
(CQUIN) 

Good compliance with slight fall in 
evidence of communication with the 
patient’s General Practitioner about 
advanced care planning. Disseminate 
findings to group. To continue the 
one day training on advance care 
planning and to encourage 
attendance and participation from the 
melanoma disease group. 

Melanoma team, 
May 2014 

13/1207 End of Life - Upper GI Re-
audit 
(CQUIN) 

Assurance for identification of 
advanced disease progression and 
documentation of involvement in 
decision making. Encourage offer of 
referral to specialist/community 
palliative care services and 
communication with GPs. To continue 
the one day training on advance care 
planning; encourage attendance and 
participation from the UGI disease 
group. 

Upper GI team, May 
2014 

13/965 Hospital acquired 
thrombosis RCA annual 
audit (CQUIN) 

Fully compliant with carrying out 
RCAs. Fewer HAT events this year and 
care generally good. To remove brain 
tumour as a contraindication on 
prescription chart. To work with 
radiology and informatics to ensure 
all cases are captured. To liaise with 
similar trusts to benchmark HAT rates. 

Thrombosis 
Committee, Aug 2014 

14/1208 30 day SACT mortality 
(commissioners) 

Exceeded 90% completion or reviews. 
Less than 1% of all patients receiving 
SACT have treatment related death 
and nearly half of these were due to 
neutropenic sepsis. Actions being 
taken forward by individual disease 
groups. Also to improve 
documentation of PS and site of SACT 
administration. 

SACT Delivery Group, 
Mar 2015 

14/1285 End of Life - HPB Re-audit 
(CQUIN) 

Assurance, good compliance 
continued. To continue the one day 
training on advance care planning and 
to encourage attendance and 
participation from the HPB disease 
group. 

Palliative care core 
team meeting, Jul 
2014 

14/1286 End of Life - Melanoma 
Re-audit (CQUIN) 

Good compliance continued for 4 
standards with dip in patients being 
given an opportunity to discuss their 
prognosis. To review methodology to 
ensure larger sample size for next re-
audit. To continue the one day 
training on advance care planning and 
to encourage attendance and 
participation from the melanoma 
disease group. 

Palliative care core 
team meeting, Jul 
2014 
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14/1287 End of Life - Upper GI Re-
audit (CQUIN) 

Consistently good overall compliance. 
To present the current findings to the 
UGI team and encourage offer of 
referral to specialist/community 
palliative care services and 
communication with GPs. To continue 
the one day training on advance care 
planning and encourage attendance 
from UGI DG. 

Palliative care core 
team meeting, Jul 
2014 

14/1314 An Audit of Carer 
Experience  
(audit of the Christie 
Supportive Care Initiative  

Partial assurance. Relatives caring for 
patients with melanoma attending 
the Christie feel they are treated with 
dignity and respect, are pleased with 
the level of overall support they 
receive and have confidence and trust 
the healthcare teams. Actions being 
finalised. Amend wording of some 
questions to avoid ambiguity. Extend 
survey to UGI and HPB DGs. To 
consider how best to raise awareness 
of emotional support available to 
carers and improve communication 
with community services. 

Patient Experience 
Committee, TBC 2014 

14/1315 An Audit of Patient 
Experience of the Christie 
Supportive Care Initiative 
- Melanoma (CQUIN - 
patient survey) 

Good satisfaction with most of the 
internal criteria set. Encourage offer 
of referral to hospital PCSC and 
community services. Audit tool 
revised regarding coordination of care 
between the Christie and community 
services. 

Melanoma team, 
Palliative care core 
team meeting, Dec 
2014 

14/1365 End of Life – Melanoma 
(CQUIN) 

Partial assurance. 3 of 5 standards 
fully compliant, but small sample size. 
To highlight results to team and 
continue joint working with all 
melanoma team members. To 
continue the one day training on 
advance care planning and to 
encourage attendance and 
participation from the melanoma 
disease group. 

Melanoma team 
meeting, Jan 2015 

14/1366 End of Life - Upper GI 
(CQUIN) 

Assurance. 4 of 5 standards fully 
compliant. To highlight results and 
continue joint working with all UGI 
team members. To continue the one 
day training on advance care planning 
and to encourage attendance and 
participation from the UGI disease 
group. 

UGI team meeting, 
Jan 2015 

14/1388 An Audit of Patient and 
Carer Experience of the 
Christie Supportive Care 
Initiative - Upper GI 
(CQUIN) 

Assurance, with largely good levels of 
satisfaction. Encourage offer of 
referral to supportive care services. 
Carry out in-depth patient interviews 
to correlate further. 

UGI team meeting, 
Jan 2015 
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Audits required to address key risks 

14/1218 Audit of chest drains 
inserted at the Christie: 
success and complications 
(Commissioned by Exec 
review group) 

Assurance. Previous high 
pneumothorax rate has been rectified 
by the introduction of an alternative 
type of chest drain. Further audit 
recommended - ward versus radiology 
insertion rates and complications. 

M&M meeting, 2014 

14/1232 Standards of information 
giving at the end of 
treatment  
(post CQUIN measure) 

Assurance that some communication 
is generated in almost all, however 
not all were structured letters.  Only 
65% of letters written to GP.  Poor 
compliance where patients have 
received a copy of the letter. 
Comprehensive summary should be 
sent to GP at treatment conclusion.  
Clinical teams within Manchester 
Cancer tumour pathways should 
agree the format and content of the 
EOTS.  All patients should be offered 
a copy. Wide dissemination prior to 
re-audit 2016. 

Patient Experience 
Committee, Grand 
round, Pathway 
Directors, 
Manchester Cancer 
planned for 2015 

14/1390 Letters generated 
following discharges 
(baseline audit) 

Poor provision of full clinical 
information following admissions to 
GPs and others. The frequent episodes 
and planned OP contact soon after an 
admission may be a significant 
obstacle in notes being sent to clinical 
teams for letters to be produced. 
Single electronic discharge summary 
developed to be completed on ward 
with TTOs before the patient goes 
home. Re-audit in 6 months. 

Risk and Quality 
Governance 
Committee, Oct 2014 

Audits required for risk management (NHSLA standards)/ Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

13/1096 Re-audit HIV screening in 
lymphoma  
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Much improved compliance with 
screening but no documentation of 
informing patients of result. 
Disseminate requirements to screen 
all newly diagnosed lymphoma 
patients for HIV. Inform patients of 
and document the HIV result (whether 
positive or negative). 

Lymphoma DG, 
planned before Dec 
2014; To be included 
in Trust M&M 
meeting in 2015 

13/1097 HIV screening in HIV 
related malignancies 
(cervical cancer)  
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Weak compliance for screening; 
informing patients of the results poor. 
Checklist to be introduced to ensure 
all are screened.  Web form field 
added to record reason for non-
screening.  Add HIV to first chemo 
sheet so patient advised of result. 

Gynae DG, Jul 2014; 
To be included in 
Trust M&M meeting 
in 2015 

13/1098 HIV screening in HIV 
related malignancies 
(Kaposi’s sarcoma) 
(Risk management, was 

Full compliance (low numbers). No 
recommendations as patients aware 
of HIV status before attending 
Christie, so no screening required. 

Trust M&M meeting,  
2015 
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NHSLA) 

13/1167 Inoculation Re-Audit Jan 
2014 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Good compliance with policy but 
increase number of incidents. Staff to 
be reminded to assess any likely 
exposure to blood or body fluids and 
ensure PPE is worn that provides 
adequate protection against the risks 
associated with the procedure or task 
being undertaken. 

Infection Control 
Committee, Apr 2014 

13/1187 MEWS Re-Audit 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Generally good compliance though 
some missing observations and some 
carried out at lower frequency than 
should be. Senior ward nurses who 
are familiar with policy and have 
been signed off as competent in 
observations to arrange teaching 
sessions on wards where results 
indicate the policy is not being 
followed. Re-audit in 12 months. 

Resuscitation 
Committee, Jun 2014 

13/906 Medical Devices Training 
re-audit 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Significant and increased compliance; 
medical staffing records unavailable 
for audit. Liaise with MDTC for 
medical staff to establish the extent 
of recorded medical device training 
and its location. Develop specific 
action plans for areas with less than 
95% compliance. 

Medical Devices and 
Procurement 
Committee, May 
2014 

13/911 Annual re-audit of 
Intrathecal Chemotherapy 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Full compliance except for two 
instances acted on. Investigate 
instance of medical staff signing for 
nurse check of ITC. Alter audit tool to 
extend administration time period to 
17:30.  Remind staff of the need to 
complete all details.  

Patient Safety 
Committee, Jul 2014 

13/983 Annual record keeping 
2013 (Risk management, 
was NHSLA) 

Overall compliance good.  Medical 
documentation of time, bleep, name 
and designation and nursing 
identification and designation of 
nursing staff require improvement. 
Nursing band 7 forum includes 
documentation as a standard agenda 
item  To discuss implications for re-
audit through changes to EPR/CWP. 
Review current history sheet to 
prompt doctors to record time and 
signature. 

Patient Safety 
Committee, Apr 2014 

13/988 Outpatient prescribing 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Good compliance for controlled drugs 
and pharmacy screening. Poor 
completion of allergy status, name of 
patient's consultant, prescriber 
name/designation & contact details. 
Communicate poor results to areas, 
use of electronic prescribing to be 
promoted.  Clinical trial & controlled 

Safe Medicines 
Practice Committee, 
May 2014 
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drug prescriptions to be developed 
into electronic prescribing. Carry out 
specific audit for trial prescriptions. 

13/992 Re-audit HIV screening 
(overview) re-audit 2013 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Partial compliance. Results being 
acted on by DGs. GUM doctors to 
present at Grand Round to raise 
awareness. No further action 
identified at trust level.  

NIPR group, ?2014 
Grand round, Apr 
2015 

13/996 Clinical supervision for 
nurses & allied health 
professionals audit 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Increased and good compliance with 
number of trained Clinical supervisors. 
Continue with current training 
providers to deliver both training and 
updates 
Consider alternative ways to promote 
clinical supervision for nurses and 
AHP’s within the trust 

Education committee, 
May 2014 

14/1226 Internal transfer of 
patients re-audit 2014/5 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Assurance that the forms is in the 
casenotes. Completion of the detail 
improved notably since previous 
audit. Re-educate staff around the 
need to complete all sections of the 
Internal transfer form. 

Patient Safety 
Committee, Jan 2015 

14/1228 Discharge of patients 
receiving radio iodine 
treatment re-audit (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Fully compliant. No action required. Patient Safety 
Committee, Oct 2014 

14/1233 Cardiac arrest equipment 
(crash trolleys) re-audit 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Overall compliance above 90%. 6 area 
leads with poor compliance to be 
contacted by resuscitation lead to 
action improvement in checking 
procedure. Spot check to ensure 
checking procedure is accurate 
reflection of trolley content. 

Resuscitation 
Committee, 2014 

14/1235 WHO Observational Re-
audit (Risk management, 
was NHSLA) 

Full compliance. The undertaking of a 
‘Team Brief’, ‘Time Out’ and ‘Sign Out’ 
remains consistently high with 100% 
achievement across all measures 
during this current audit.  Discontinue 
the current regular auditing of WHO 
observational practice due to 
consistently high achievement of 
standards and revised current 
practices now in place. Consider 
external auditor to re-audit or repeat 
if concerns. 

Surgical directorate 
meeting, Jan 2015 

14/1236 WHO surgical checklist - 
briefing and de-briefing 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Full compliance by consultant 
surgeons; compliance varies by other 
staff groups and across specialties. 
Discussed findings at Directorate, 
with clinical Director and at Staff 
meeting. Amended layout and 
wording of Briefing and debriefing 
paperwork to allow the option of N/A 

Surgical directorate 
meeting, 2014 
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to specific staff groups. Re-audit on a 
monthly basis and then 6 monthly. 

14/1237 Annual re-audit of 
Intrathecal Chemotherapy 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Full compliance except for one 
instance where time of administration 
was not recorded during an 
emergency treatment over a 
weekend. Remind staff of the need to 
complete all details.  

SACT Delivery Group, 
Mar 2015 

14/1240 Annual re-audit AAND 
(DNAR) (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Compliance maintained at previous 
levels but time still only recorded for 
73% of sample.  Increased number of 
nursing staff signing the form but 
improvement needed. Oncology 
consultants to be invited to take part 
in CCU M&M meetings.  Collaboration 
with School of Oncology and 
Palliative care for communication 
training around AaND.  Electronic 
AaND form to be pursued. 

Resuscitation 
Committee, Feb 2015 

14/1241 Annual re-audit of the 
completion of the 
nutritional screening tool 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Compliant for inpatient screening and 
much improved compliance with 
related aspects of care largely due to 
electronic tool on CWP. 89% referred 
to dietetic service when applicable 
(score >=15). New on-line electronic 
referral system to be implemented 
will automatically generate a dietetic 
referral if score ≥ 15 to ensure 100% 
compliance. Dietitians to attend 
weekly ward MDT meetings. Re-audit 
in 12 months. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Apr 2015 

14/1247 Annual Safe Medicines 
Practice Audit: 
prescribing, 
administration and 
storage (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Good compliance across many aspects 
of drug storage, documentation, 
medicines reconciliation and omission 
of drugs. Raise awareness within all 
affected teams of areas of non-
compliance. Improve use of drug 
allergy wristbands, weekly controlled 
drug stock checks, prescriber 
identification, annotation of 
indication for ‘as required’ 
prescriptions, patient self-
administration of medicines and 
storage issues in radiotherapy. Re-
audit. 

Safe Medicines 
Practice Committee, 
Jan 2015 

14/1249 Re-audit of Informed 
consent (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Full compliance with documentation 
of information given but 
deterioration in evidence of 
competence to take consent. Review 
of issues with current process to 
record evidence of competence with 
Medical director. Medical director to 
write to medics who have not 
complied with process. Re-audit of 

Patient Safety 
Committee, Oct 2014 
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competence aspect within 6 months. 

14/1250 Moving and handling out 
patient department risk 
assessment re-audit 2014 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Good compliance; all standards met 
and 4/6 scored 100%. All outpatient 
and day case depts are required to 
keep a sample of completed risk 
assessments for future audits or scan 
and forward to MH Advisor on 
completion 

Health & safety 
committee, Nov 2014 

14/1251 Manual Handling Risk 
Assessment Monitoring - 
high & significant risks Re-
audit 2014 (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Partial compliance although 
improvement in number of areas 
completing risk assessments. Part of 
the risk management strategy 
monitoring is to embed the risk 
register review process across the 
trust – this will be monitored via 
division. Continue to monitor during 
monthly H&S inspections. Visit the 1 
area without any risk assessments. 

Health & safety 
committee, Nov 2014 

14/1275 Re-audit protected 
mealtimes (CQC) 

Good compliance with further 
improvement required to access to 
ward, preparing tables, 
documentation of food charts after 
meals and data collection. Dieticians 
to retrain ward staff on Food Record 
Chart completion.  Continue to 
educate staff regarding protected 
meal times. Ensure auditors check if 
there were appropriate exclusions 
when instances of non-compliance 
occur. Re-audit in 6 months. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Aug 2014 

14/1276 To audit the patient 
dysphagia meals to 
ensure that they meet the 
national Dysphagia Diet 
food Descriptors (required 
for PLACE (PEAT)) 

Good compliance with national 
dysphagia diet food texture 
descriptors. Catering team to discuss 
film of surface oil on reheated 
category D meals with supplier and 
feedback to Steering group. To 
increase monitoring of patient 
satisfaction with meals for next re-
audit. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Aug 2014 

14/1277 Re-audit 2014 compliance 
of NPSA alert in relation 
to placement and care of 
naso-gastric tubes  
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Good recording of on-going tube 
management and maintained 
reduction in x-ray requests. Poor 
compliance with some aspects of 
specifically designed documentation 
but information generally recorded 
elsewhere. Training for nursing staff 
and radiographers to continue.  A 
new link nurse programme has been 
established. Electronic nursing 
assessments implemented. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Jan 2015 

14/1283 Patient Handling Risk 
Assessment - Inpatients - 
Re-audit, (Risk 
management, was 

Significant assurance re initial 
assessment and improved assessment 
review within a week. Disseminated 
results to ward teams. Dashboard 

Health & Safety 
committee; matrons 
Feb 2015 
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NHSLA) reporting of electronic results within 
CWP portal is to be developed. 

14/1328 Annual review of cardiac 
arrests (RCAs) (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Improved compliance with 
resuscitation being attempted for 
patients who are likely to benefit; the 
number of inappropriate CPR 
attempts has reduced. Collaboration 
with School of Oncology and 
Palliative Care to deliver 
communication training specific to 
AaND to improve understanding and 
communication with patients and 
families. Consultants to be invited to 
M&M discussions if their patient died 
on CCU. 

Resuscitation 
Committee, Feb 2015 

14/1367 Re-audit protected 
mealtimes (2014 -2nd) 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Some good compliance; improvement 
required for clearing bedside tables, 
staff hand washing and monitoring 
those at risk of poor nutrition. 
Continue education on protected meal 
times, use of snacks and menu folders 
to all ward nursing staff and HCA’s. 
To incorporate snacks, menus and 
PMT into Nutrition & Hydration week. 
Address interruptions with medical 
staff. Re-audit in 6 months. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Jan 2015 

14/1368 Nutritional Screening 
Partial re-audit of the 
Nutrition Care Plan and 
Food Record Chart (Risk 
management, was 
NHSLA) 

Improvement in weekly repeated risk 
scores and referrals to good 
compliance. Poor compliance with 
nursing documentation of individual 
care plans and Food Record Charts 
being in place. Nutrition 
screening/care plan/food record chart 
training, promotion at Nutrition Week 
in March. Dietitians to attend weekly 
ward MDT's. Re-audit. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Apr 2015 

14/1399 Cardiac arrest equipment 
(crash trolleys) re-audit 
(Risk management, was 
NHSLA) 

Significant assurance for 39 areas. 3 
area leads requiring improvement to 
be contacted by resuscitation lead to 
action improvement in checking 
procedure. Spot check of all trolleys to 
be carried out by resuscitation 
lead/deputies to ensure checking 
procedure is accurate. 

Resuscitation 
committee, Mar 2015 

 
 

Key 

Action plan required 

Already reported 
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Completed projects: non-core programme (n=108)  
Audit ID Audit title (& rationale) Compliance comment Action plan approved 

(date & place) 

Non-core programme 

National audits (outside the National Clinical Audit Patient Outcomes Programme) 

12/944 SACT Prescribing and 
Pharmacist Verification 
(National study) 

National study concluded that >1 in 
10 chemotherapy prescriptions 
contained an error. Recording of 
allergies and drug interactions were 
particularly poor. Christie data not 
available to comment or act on. 

Network 
Chemotherapy Group 
and DTC (drugs & 
therapeutics 
committee) 2014 

13/972 RCP: Implementing 
NICE guidance for 
health and work: a 
national organisational 
audit round 2  
(audit NICE guidance) 

Compliant. No further action 
required - on-going through 
Healthy workplace champions 
group. 

HR department, Apr 
2014 

Audits required to address local risks 

11/760 The analysis of cardiac 
monitoring and cardiac 
events in patients who 
completed adjuvant 
Trastuzumab from 
January to December 
2010 (Audit of NCRI 
management of cardiac 
health in trastuzumab 
patients, 2009; NICE 
TA107, CG80, 2006 

Poor compliance referring patients 
with poor cardiac history and 
obtaining baseline ECG prior to 
treatment. New protocol 
implemented incorporating NICE 
monitoring guidelines in 2013. Re-
audit in 2014. 

Breast DG, Sep 2012; 
Trust M&M meeting, 
Feb 2015 

11/782 Cardiac Toxicity in 
Lymphoma Survivors 
(adherence to the 
Manchester Lymphoma 
Group Network 
Guidelines) 

Poor compliance across all 
standards; some actions already 
implemented and further changes 
planned after discussion with full 
team. Improve consent by including 
risk of cardio-toxicity on the pre-
printed form.  Improve pre-
treatment cardiac assessment using 
a check-list & electronic MDT form.  
Improve information giving to 
patients and GPs via patient 
summary sheets. Re-audit 2015. 

Manchester lymphoma 
group, Nov 2014 

14/1160 Audit of fertility 
preservation for male 
teenage/young adult 
cancer patients  
(compliance with NICE 
guidance) 

Good compliance with NICE 
guidance. Included subfertility as a 
serious risk on all pre-printed 
chemotherapy consent forms. 

Young Oncology Unit 
clinical governance 
meeting, 2014, Medical 
student project option 
presentation, Jul 2014 

14/1331 Mental Capacity 
Assessment, Best 
Interest Decision 
Making and 

Compliance and identification of 
patients requires improvement. To 
develop a robust method of 
capturing the Mental Capacity Act 

Safeguarding 
Committee, Dec 2014 
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Deprivation of Liberty 
(risk management, 
adherence to 
legislation) 

use within The Christie, possibly 
through CWP.  Continue to educate 
clinicians in the use of the Mental 
Capacity Act and the need for clear 
documentation within the medical 
notes. Re-audit. 

14/1383 Small Cell Lung Cancer 
PCI (prophylactic 
cranial irradiation) 
(requested at Exec 
review) 

Full compliance; all 5 eligible cases 
May to Oct 2014 considered for PCI. 
No action required. 

Executive Review 
Group, Jan 2015 

14/1390 Letters generated 
following discharges 
(baseline audit) 

Poor provision of full clinical 
information following admissions to 
GPs and others. The frequent 
episodes and planned OP contact 
soon after an admission may be a 
significant obstacle in notes being 
sent to clinical teams for letters to 
be produced. Single electronic 
discharge summary developed to be 
completed on ward with TTOs 
before the patient goes home. Re-
audit in 6 months. 

Risk and Quality 
Governance 
Committee, Oct 2014 

14/1392 Medical Handover in 
critical care unit (audit 
of Royal College of 
Physicians guidance) 

Poor compliance for keeping record 
of medical handover.  More 
interruptions than would be liked. 
Separate folder for handover sheets 
to be introduced.  Handovers now 
in CCU doctors on call lounge. To 
confirm re re-audit. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting, 
Mar 2015 

PE14/1304 Safety Culture Staff 
Questionnaire (Risk 
management) 

Good survey responses across the 
Trust overall. Meetings held within 
services and departments to review 
results and to plan localised actions 
where required. Informed update of 
risk management strategy. Re-
survey in 3 years. 

Patient Safety 
Committee, Oct 2014 & 
Jan 2015 

Audits around quality and standards 

11/747 Biodegradable Stent 
Audit  
(initially adherence to 
GMCCN cancer upper 
GI guidelines – 
standard stent 
protocol; clinical 
effectiveness) 

Acceptable rate of complications. 
The mean time to re-intervention 
was over 6 weeks which fits with 
the expected lifetime of the stent. 
There is scanty data to guide the 
use of biodegradable stents in this 
patient group. An RCT is planned to 
evaluate their use for patients with 
oesophageal malignancy who are to 
undergo palliative radiotherapy. 

Upper GI cancer team, 
2014 and presented in 
part at North West 
Gastroenterology 
Meeting, Jul 2014. 

12/859 A prospective audit of 
gynaecological cancer 
referral quality (Supra 

Network audit report identified 
some areas for improvement in the 
patient pathway prior to tertiary 

Supradistrict audit 
meeting, Nov 2014 
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Audit ID Audit title (& rationale) Compliance comment Action plan approved 
(date & place) 

District Audit) care. Lead has left trust; no actions 
identified. 

12/864 Assessment the pick-up 
rate of metastatic 
disease with baseline 
CT scans in patients 
with high risk early 
breast cancer  
(audit NICE guidance) 

Full compliance. No change 
required. 

Breast DG, Jul 2012 

12/876 Audit of the use of 
sunitinib in metastatic 
renal cell carcinoma 
(audit NICE guidance) 

Partial documented compliance with 
NICE guidance, but the response to 
sunitinib was better than expected 
according to published results. Most 
adverse effects of sunitinib were 
similar, but nausea, vomiting, 
altered taste and mucositis were 
more common.  
Improved documentation of 
performance status, through CWP. 
Discuss nausea, vomiting and 
mucositis as part of consent process. 
CNS provides information and 
signposts; documented in the CNS 
web form. 

UGI team, renal sub-
group, 2014 

12/957 Audit of Trastuzumab 
use in oesophago-
gastric cancer patients 
(NICE guidance) 

For the patients who tested as Her2 
positive and received Trastuzumab 
there was overall good compliance 
with NICE guidance. Improvement 
required to document HER2 testing. 
Improve communication from MDT 
to the Her2 lab when there has 
been an MDT decision to request 
Her2. Improved form and including 
in webform with reminders to flag 
incomplete forms. Re-audit in 1 
year. 

Oesophagagastric 
subgroup, Apr 2013 

13/1026 Directory of Care 
Protocol - Head & Neck 
concurrent cisplatin 
chemotherapy (rollout 
from CQUIN) 

Overall good compliance. Head and 
neck assessment form is being 
amended and should include some 
measures from the protocol. Audit 
form to be amended to include 
items that are recorded elsewhere. 
Dental services have improved since 
the data was collected. 

H&N DG. Not 
presented.  

13/1118 CVC infections on HTU 
(re-audit) 

Previously reported CVC infection 
rate reduced (awareness of issues 
on unit and improved review of 
data).To implement prospective 
data collection via suitable 
electronic system to allow timely 
and accurate analysis of infection 
rates as per Matching Michigan 

HTU quarterly meeting 
and Infection control 
committee, Jan 2015 
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Audit ID Audit title (& rationale) Compliance comment Action plan approved 
(date & place) 

criteria. Business case submitted. 

13/1133 Re-audit Efficacy of 
mouthcare regimen for 
patients with oral / 
nasal cavity tumours 
undergoing IMRT  
(re-audit of protocol) 

Some full and some partial 
compliance, though improved. 
Recommendations listed but being 
finalized.  

H&N morbidity & 
mortality meeting, May 
2014 

13/1152 Are patients with 
breast ductal carcinoma 
in situ referred for 
radiotherapy treated 
according to Christie 
breast group 
guidelines? 
(audit NICE guidance) 

Good compliance with local and 
NICE guidance for radiotherapy. 
Breast DG discussing use of 
endocrine therapy as local guidance 
differs to NICE recommendation. 
Local guidelines are regularly 
reviewed to ensure over-treatment 
is minimised. 

Breast DG, Jun 2014 

13/1158 Audit of delays in the 
clinical pathway of 
patients attending for 
emergency treatment 
for Metastatic Spinal 
Cord Compression 
(MSCC), (audit internal 
radiotherapy pathway; 
NICE guidance CG75) 

Good compliance with 5 hour 
pathway overall (80%). Competency 
package will be developed to allow 
specialist radiographers to gain 
competency to complete the entire 
planning and approval process for 
MSCC treatment plans, thus 
reducing a common cause of delays. 

Metastatic spinal cord 
compression sub group, 
Jul 2014 

13/1173 Airway Care - ET Cuff 
Pressure Management,  
(review against 
published best practice) 

Poor compliance with published 
best practice around endotracheal 
tube cuff pressure. To provide 
training for all anaesthetic 
practitioners on the use of ETT cuff 
inflator/pressure gauge and best 
practice. Re-audit in 6 months. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting, 
2014 

14/1130 Discharge prophylaxis 
for haematology 
patients (re-audit 2014) 

Improved compliance but further 
room for improvement. Discharge 
prophylaxis guideline posted on 
HTU doctor's notice board. E-
learning module developed for all 
new doctors. Discharge summary 
for prophylaxis updated with more 
comprehensive anti-fungal 
guidance. Re-audit in 2 years. 

HTU quarterly meeting, 
May 2014 

14/1221 Re-audit of rasburicase 
use relative to hospital 
policy (audit local 
policy) 

Full compliance - no cases of 
Tumour Lysis Syndrome identified. 
New protocol has reduced 
unnecessary exposure of patients to 
intravenous medication where it is 
unlikely to confer additional 
benefit, reduced drug costs and 
nursing staff administration. Ward 
pharmacists have been given an 
education session on the re-audit 
findings and can instigate registrar 
review of Rasburicase at ward level. 

Lymphoma DG, Feb 
2015 
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(date & place) 

The audit findings will be taken 
forward to inform guideline review. 
Further training and audit hoped 
for. 

14/1257 Re-audit of record 
keeping in psycho-
oncology case notes 
(audit local policy) 

Partial compliance with good 
improvement on previous results. 
Reminded staff to sign case notes 
with an identifiable signature in 
interim before electronic casenotes 
solve this issue. 

Psycho Oncology 
Service meeting, Jun 
2014 

14/1266 Enteral Feed 
Documentation  
(Re-audit 2014) 

Overall good and improved 
compliance with local policy. 
Despite improvements, compliance 
with documentation of bolus feeds 
and pump feed stop times is weak. 
Discuss results with Dietitians. 
Include the importance of 
completing the enteral monitoring 
chart and prescribing the enteral 
feeds when completing enteral 
nutrition training with nursing staff 
and doctors. 

Nutrition Steering 
Group, Oct 2014 

14/1295 Review of surgical 
dates in relation to 
patients receiving short 
course pre-operative 
radiotherapy for a 
rectal cancer diagnosis 
(audit national 
guidance) 

Poor compliance with Association of 
Coloproctology guidelines. Network 
evidence based guidelines to be 
produced. Re-audit 3 months after 
implementation of network 
guidelines. 

Lower GI DG, May 2014 

14/1303 Re-audit of CMV 
surveillance and 
treatment in high risk 
allogeneic transplant 
patients 
(compliance with SOP) 

Good and improved compliance 
with local procedure. Build patient 
awareness regarding need for 
regular CMV testing as out-patient 
to avoid CMV disease. Staff 
education regarding acting on 
missed tests & alerting staff of CMV 
risk patients. Re-audit in 2 years. 

HTU quarterly meeting, 
Apr 2014 

14/1325 A re-audit of 
requesting Mid-Stream 
Specimen of Urine 
(MSSU) test before 
each cycle of 
chemotherapy for 
Genito-urinary tract 
patients (re-audit) 

Compliance with standard, 
improvement since last audit. 
Improve timeliness of acting on 
MSSU results by introducing SpR 
information leaflet for new staff. 
Liaise with Pathology to ensure 
MSSU source is stated on results. 

GU DG, Aug 2014 

14/1344 Audit of Peripheral 
Cannulation (audit 
local policy) 

Partial compliance, 70% standards 
>95% compliance and some areas 
for improvement. Reiterate policy in 
training. Develop a proforma on 
which the VIP score can be 
documented to evidence that the 

Education committee, 
Mar 2015 
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Audit ID Audit title (& rationale) Compliance comment Action plan approved 
(date & place) 

cannula had an acceptable score 
prior to use. Re-audit in 1 year. 

14/1345 MEWS in Theatre (re-
audit) 

Partial compliance which was 
adversely affected by 5 blank forms. 
Retrain all staff on MEWs 
completion, stressing the 
importance of completing all 
sections. Re-audit. 

Surgical theatres, Dec 
2014 

14/1350 NICE audit of Docetaxel 
usage in prostate 
cancer Jan 2013 to Dec 
2013 (re-audit) 

Compliant with NICE guidelines. 
Ensure documented radiological 
evidence of metastatic disease 
before prescribing this 
chemotherapy to comply with NICE 
standards 

GU DG, 2014 

14/1361 Audit of out of hours 
blood result reporting, 
recording and effects 
on clinical decision-
making (review of care 
processes across trusts) 

Requires improvement in 
documentation. New forms 
developed and piloted as an interim 
solution prior to 24 hour service 
hopefully available in 6 months. 
Raised awareness of issues and 
considering e-lite bite training. 

Patient Safety 
Committee, Jan 2015 

14/1362 Minimum standards of 
healthcare records and 
multidisciplinary 
continuity in medical 
record keeping on a 
large surgical ward of a 
regional oncological 
referral centre (audit 
compliance). 

Partial compliance. 
Recommendations include visual 
reminders that patient is on 
Enhanced recovery programme 
(ERP) on notes, ad hoc and formal 
education and space for patient ID 
in ERP. 

Surgical directorate 
meeting, Nov 2014 

14/1397 Internal Audit Sepsis 
(internal Clinical 
Coding review) 

Partial compliance. Awareness of 
the coding rules and Regulations for 
coding sepsis needs to be raised 
with all the clinical teams, and 
clinical staff who input annotations 
to the CWP. Discussed constraints of 
recording diagnosis of sepsis in 
current HTU system for ICNARC. 

Clinical coding 
department, Jan 2015 

Audits around patient experience 

13/1062 To assess the need for 
outpatient 
physiotherapy input 
following plastic 
surgery at The Christie 
(review of capacity) 

Small number of patients’ 
highlighted requiring physio. 
All required further exercises with 
some requiring mobility reviews or 
advice as well. Review exercise 
sheets.  Provide bleep service to 
plastics clinic.  Absorb current need 
for follow up physio in the current 
service.  

Rehabilitation team, 
Mar 2014 

13/1075 Audit of Enhanced 
Recovery Programme 

Part of an on-going programme of 
audit and reporting, including to 
surgical directorate. Funding has 

Enhanced Recovery 
Programme, Nov 2014 
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Audit ID Audit title (& rationale) Compliance comment Action plan approved 
(date & place) 

been agreed for weekend physio 
cover for 4 hours on both Saturday 
and Sundays. This should again 
contribute to a reduction in 
complications thus improving 
length of stay and patient 
experience. 

13/1148 Is the key worker 
known to the new 
patient for the 
Neuroendocrine 
service? (audit 
standards set out with 
in the National cancer 
patient experience 
survey ) 

Weak compliance with patient 
seeing key worker as a new patient. 
There are an increasing number of 
new patient referrals in 3 clinics; 
may need to expand the NET 
nursing service. Introduction of new 
patient packs and use in clinics with 
no NET nurse specialist input. 
Business case for another NET 
specialist nurse. Re-audit. 

ENETS accreditation 
review, Dec 2013 and 
Christie NET business 
meeting, 2014 

13/1161 Patient satisfaction 
with prostate cancer 
follow up clinics at The 
Christie and in a local 
GP practice 

Good overall satisfaction, especially 
for community clinic.  Waiting times 
and quality of pre-appointment 
patient information could be 
improved at The Christie. Clarity of 
patient information sent at 
appointment improved.  Waiting 
times fed back to management 
team at Christie.  Contact number to 
be inserted into patient 
appointment letter. 

GU DG, Nov 2014 

13/1137 Audit of how many 
patients receiving 
radiotherapy to the 
breast are attending 
the Arm Exercise class 
provided by 
Physiotherapy  
(MSc project) 

Low attendance at arm exercise 
class with uncertainty how 
effectively NICE guidance and 
Christie protocols that patients are 
informed of its benefits are 
implemented. Raise profile with 
staff and patients. Develop annual 
CPD session on the process and 
importance of AEC. Add a section in 
Mosaic for staff to record discussed 
with patient. Re-audit. 

Breast MDT, 
Superintendent 
Radiographers and 
Physiotherapy 
department, 2014 
 

14/1265 The Christie One Day 
Every Patient - 
Outpatient survey 
March 2014 
(commissioned by 
Director of Nursing, 
assurance re national 
survey results) 

Overall good and improved 
compliance with national OP survey 
criteria. Levels achieved exceed the 
threshold for highest scoring 20% 
of Trusts in the 2011 National 
Outpatient Survey, for all key 
measures. Customer care training to 
be developed and implemented in 
2014.  Liaise with Radiotherapy to 
identify any shared learning re 
advising patients of waiting times. 

Patient Experience 
Committee, May 2014 

14/1346 Re-Audit of One Day, 
Every Patient Survey 

Assurance for 4 of 5 local standards. 
Discussion with matrons action 

Patient Experience 
Committee, Mar 2015 
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2014 (patient survey) required for whom to contact if you 
were worried about your condition 
or treatment after you left hospital. 
Disseminate comments re food, WiFi 
and Hotline to necessary teams to 
address. Re-audit 

14/1375 Upper GI Cancer Nurse 
Specialist Service - 
Patient Survey 

Above expected baseline level of 
assurance that patients are aware 
of CNS. CNS leaflet to be given to 
new patients in CNS absence. 
Secretaries will now email the CNS 
new patient letter. CNS can then 
identify patients who need to be 
seen on second visit. Re-audit in 1 
year. 

Upper GI DG 

CE11/694 Survey of psychosocial 
needs of adult patients 
who have received 
whole brain 
radiotherapy for 
treatment of a 
childhood brain tumour 
(medical student 
project) 

Student presentation indicated late 
effects are frequent and affect 
quality of life. Specialist MDT care is 
needed for this group of patients. 
Explore hyperfaction radiotherapy 
schedules and multi-drug regimes. 
Pursue Proton beam therapy. 

CNS DG, Jul 2012 

CE11/771 Patient Pain 
Management Outcome 
(Interventional 
Procedures)  
(patient survey) 

Positive patient feedback on pain 
control. No action or re-audit 
planned. 

Radiology 
departmental meeting, 
Jul 2013 

CE11/783 PICC Audit (patient 
survey)  

Poor questionnaire response; 
unable to measure original 
standards. Stopped prematurely 
because of the CAVA trial. Data 
presented at NIVAS along with an 
overview of CVC types and clinical 
outcomes. 

NIVAS, National 
infusion and vascular 
access society, 2013 

CE12/946 Survey of levels of 
suspected dementia in 
patients with Head and 
Neck or Lung Cancer 
awaiting radiotherapy  
(CQUINs action plan re 
outpatients with 
dementia) 

In clinics which are attended by 
health promotion workers, 
cognitive screening is an effective 
intervention. To consider how key 
data should be recorded in EPR to 
allow further outcomes review. 

H&N meeting, Sep 2014 

CE13/1172 Friends and Family test 
(CQUIN) 

Compliant with CQUIN measure.  
Outperform national data for 
England regarding % of patients 
extremely and likely to recommend. 
Communicate findings for each 
ward via Ward Boards.  Ward 
managers to review comments from 
patients monthly and take action to 

Patient Experience 
Committee, 2015 
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address matters of concern. 

CE13/1191 Patient persistence 
with the long term use 
of hormonal agents 
(pharmacy student 
project) 

Disease progression was the main 
reason cited for discontinuation. 
Pharmacy student reported that all 
of small sample patients who 
responded felt they had received 
enough information before starting 
treatment. A research project would 
be required to include side effects 
and medication beliefs as issues 
affecting patient compliance with 
hormonal agents. 

Pharmacy department, 
2014 

CE13/997 What Are Patient 
Experiences of a Critical 
Care Follow Up Service 
at a Regional Cancer 
Centre: A Service 
Evaluation  
(patient survey) 

Positive patient feedback. To 
produce an information booklet 
including exercises, self-help and 
coping strategies. To review 
communication between staff 
groups and streamline care. 

Acute and Critical Care 
Directorate, May 2014 

CE14/1355 OP waiting times (20 
minute measure) 
(review of services and 
processes to measure 
waiting) 

Room for improvement. Immediate 
review of clinic templates for the 
worst performing clinics. Rolling 
programme of template update for 
all other clinics. Actions being 
monitored at performance review 
meetings. 

Performance review 
meetings, 2014 

Outcomes and involvement across disease groups, specialties and disciplines 

13/1142 Systemic anti-cancer 
treatment of the 
elderly population i.e ≥ 
70 years of age for 
advanced  Non-small 
Cell Lung cancer 
(comparison of 
outcomes against 
international 
standards) 

Our results show that fit elderly 
patients are appropriately selected 
for SACT. Overall survival was in 
keeping with reported series 
unselected with regards to age; 
demonstrating that fit elderly 
patients can tolerate and benefit 
from SACT. Largest sample size 
presented so far internationally. No 
change in practice is needed. 

Lung DG, Sep 2014, 
Poster presentation at 
39th ESMO Congress, 
2014 

12/954 Sentinel lymph node 
biopsy - An Audit to 
match criteria to actual 
referrals in melanoma. 
Closing the Audit loop. 
(re-audit) 

Majority of patients offered SLNB. 
Medical student commented on 
limitations of study but suggested 
room for improvement. Increase 
publicity of the patient criteria 
outlined for sentinel lymph node 
biopsy in melanoma by the GMCCN. 

Plastic surgery at 
UHSM, 2014 

12/961 Quality of surgical 
pathology reports and 
turnaround times (re-
audit) 

Lead advised project complete but 
no report or information provided. 

Pathology department, 
Jul 2013 

13/1048 Intraluminal 
brachytherapy of the 
bronchus: an audit of 

Medical student presentation 
showed compliance with standards 
set. A new ILT form was introduced 

Lung DG, Jul 2013 
ESMO educational 
course, Feb 2014 
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practice (medical 
student project) 

to ensure patients have necessary 
indications when referred for ILT. 
Raised awareness of ILT service in 
areas where not many referrals are 
made. Future study in 3 years’ time.  

13/1102 Targeted Therapies in 
the treatment of Renal 
Cell Carcinoma 
(Pharmacy student 
project) 

Study confirms similar effectiveness 
between PAZ and SUN in RCC in 
usual clinical practice. In this study, 
PAZ with a better QoL profile and 
fewer ADRs was given to older 
women who may be more frail 
compared to younger men receiving 
SUN, however this does not affect 
survival.  No action identified. 

Pharmacy department; 
Submitted to 
International Society 
for Pharmaco-
epidemiology (ISPE) 
2013 

13/1168 Use of GemX 
(concurrent 
gemcitabine 
chemotherapy with 
radiotherapy) in muscle 
invasive bladder cancer 
(post trial outcomes) 

Assurance. Excellent response to 
treatment maintained outside a 
study setting. Aim to select fit, good 
performance patients to optimise 
treatment completion. Continue 
database management. 

GU DG Oct 2014 

13/1177 Service evaluation of 
level 3 care on CCU 

Reduced mortality compared to 
previous year. Discussed patient 
characteristics and mortality since 
inception of level 3 care at The 
Christie within the team. Annual 
review required. Considering survey 
of patient/carer experience. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting, 
Nov 2014 

13/1197 Incidence of CNS 
metastases in NSCLC 
patients with EGFR 
activating mutations 
treated with EGFR TKIs 
(outcomes) 

Outcomes in line with published 
data. No specific action required. To 
continue to consider NSCLC patients 
with activating EGFR mutations for 
active treatment of brain 
metastases to improve outcomes. 

Lung DG; abstract 
submitted to ESMO 
2014 

14/1294 Palliative radiotherapy 
for lung cancer  
(A re-audit of 
outcomes, practice and 
patient selection) 

Reduction in 14 and 30 day 
mortality post palliative 
radiotherapy and increases in 
median survival linked to lower 
WHO PS. Recording of WHO 
performance status improved. A 
lower proportion of patients were 
treated with poor performance 
status in 2013 which might have 
contributed to the lower 14/30 day 
mortality rates.  

Lung DG, 2014, Trust 
Morbidity and 
Mortality meeting, Oct 
2014, British Thoracic 
Oncology Group 
Meeting, January 2015 

Clinical and process effectiveness projects without standards to measure 

CE12/939 A decade of T cell 
lymphoma practice at 
The Christie audit of 
patient and disease 
characteristics, 

Outcomes following first-line 
treatment for PTCL OS and PFS 
remain disappointing and more 
effective first-line treatments are 
urgently required. The on-going UK 

Lymphoma DG, 
International 
Conference of 
Malignant Lymphoma 
meeting, Jun 2015 
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treatments and clinical 
outcomes 

NCRI randomised phase II CHEMO-T 
study is comparing CHOP with a 
gemcitabine and cisplatin 
containing regimen (GEM-P) in the 
first-line treatment of PTCL. 
Autologous SCT in CR1 may offer a 
survival benefit for eligible patients. 

CE13/1029 Recruitment of Ethnic 
Minority Patients into 
Clinical Trials (service 
evaluation for MSc) 

Confirmed that the issue of BME 
representation in CCTs is complex 
and that there are barriers to 
general access to cancer services. 
Improve CCT information for BMEs. 
Develop R&D ethnic minority focus 
group. Develop staff training for 
recruiting BME patients. Review 
interpreter service. Improve 
demographic data collection. 
Incorporate BMEs CCT involvement 
into the E&D report. 

R&D clinical trials 
coordination unit, 2014 

CE13/1030 Chemotherapy induced 
diarrhoea (participation 
in national study) 

Data was submitted to national 
study but no report forthcoming 
from the drug company leading it. 
No action taken due to small sample 
size. 

SACT Delivery Group, 
not required 

CE13/1035 Metyrapone UK audit 
(multi-centre 
retrospective survey) 

This was a national audit led from 
Sheffield.  Metyrapone was 
effective in achieving 
eucortisolemia in over 70% of 
patients without any other cortisol-
lowering intervention, with a 
satisfactory safety profile. A variety 
of monitoring regimens were used, 
but greater standardisation of 
practice and more active dose 
titration is needed.  

Oral presentation at 
ENDO 2014 (annual 
meeting of the 
Endocrine Society) 

CE13/1037 Use of short acting 
fentanyl citrate for the 
management of 
incident pain 
associated with 
radiotherapy planning 
and treatment. (service 
evaluation) 

Effentora remains a valuable drug 
in helping patients with procedural 
pain in radiotherapy setting. 
Currently discussing with palliative 
care and pharmacy teams whether 
Effentora can be prescribed in 
patients on lower dose of opioids 
than 60 mg of oral morphine or 
equivalent dose (in radiotherapy 
setting). 

DTC (drugs & 
therapeutics), Nov 2013 

CE13/1059 Audit to assess the 
diagnosis, treatment 
and survival of patients 
treated for carcinoma 
of unknown primary 
(medical student 
project) 

Poor outcomes for this group of 
patients diagnosed prior to NICE 
guidance. Noted factors which 
indicate better outcome for small 
group of patients which will inform 
decision making with patients 
regarding the value of 

Gynae DG; submitted 
for ESMO presentation, 
2014 
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chemotherapy.  

CE13/1061 The impact  of micro 
enemas on rectal size 
variations in prostate 
radiotherapy (service 
evaluation) 

Analysis suggest the introduction of 
micro-enema in addition to 
formalized dietary advice may 
reduce rectal volume prior to 
radiotherapy which may stabilize 
rectal distension during treatment. 
Reduced number of repeated 
planning scans in micro-enema 
group. Currently discussion within 
urology team whether we should 
prescribe micro-enema to all 
patients before radical radiotherapy 
for prostate cancer. If agreed, 
further guidance will be needed. 

GU DG, 2014 

CE13/1064 Vulval flap 
reconstruction 
following radical 
surgery for vulval 
carcinoma (outcomes) 

The rate of post-op complications in 
this audit is lower than most 
published case series. The clinical 
factors (surgical excision margins, 
site of recurrence, stage of disease) 
contributing to recurrence and 
mortality from disease is in keeping 
with previous studies. No action 
required. 

Surgical directorate 
meeting, Sep 2013 

CE13/1079 Instant Release 
Fentanyl Baseline 
Review (service 
evaluation) 

The PCSCT play a major role in 
assessing and managing patient´s 
BtCP including their suitably for IRF. 
The results highlighted areas for 
improvements in the use of IRF 
preparations. Improve education to 
ward nursing staff regarding IRF, 
produce an information leaflet for 
patients, improving documentation 
in casenotes and examining the 
most effective, yet safe method of 
prescribing IRF products. Re-audit in 
2015. 

Palliative care core 
team meeting, Jun 
2014, European 
Palliative Care 
Association, Barcelona, 
June 2014 

CE13/1084 Retrospective review 
of the demographics, 
management and 
Outcomes of patients 
with primary 
cutaneous large B-cell 
lymphoma, leg type 
(service evaluation) 

All patients wherever possible 
should have Doxorubicin containing 
chemotherapy regimens. Collect 
data prospectively on CWP form for 
this group of patients. Form a multi-
centre group with Liverpool and 
Birmingham to collaborate on a 
multi-centre audit for this group of 
patients. 

Lymphoma DG, Jul 
2013 

CE13/1085 RiCoN pilot study - 
Access to critical care 
multidisciplinary audit 
(critical care network) 

Assurance re unplanned admissions 
for patients with recorded time for 
decision to admit. Small sample size 
and difficulty collecting time of 
decision to admit. 
Re-audit planned and unplanned 

Critical care network 
meeting, Jun 2013 
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admissions in 2014/15. Data to be 
collected prospectively. 

CE13/1088 Length of stay in 
elective colonic surgery 
(multi-centre telephone 
interview study) 

National summary report reinforced 
current practice; no need for any 
local change. Further work is 
planned to develop and confirm 
these initial findings in units across 
a range 
of performance. 

Published in Patient 
Safety in Surgery, Jan 
2015 

CE13/1091 Clinical effectiveness of 
serum 5HIAA 
measurement in 
relation to clinical 
parameters of disease 
state (medical student 
project) 

Assurance via medical student 
project re change introduced. Serum 
5-HIAA is an equivalent measure of 
disease activity in patients with 
NETs as urine 5-HIAA. Serum or 
plasma 5-HIAA offers a desirable 
alternative biochemical measure. 
Discontinuation of cumbersome 24-
hour urine collections for urine 5-
HIAA analysis in patients with NETs. 
Confirm that our conversion from 
relying on urinary measurement of 
5HIAA to relying on plasma was 
appropriate. 

Endocrinology 
departmental lunch 
meeting, Jul 2013 

CE13/1107 Audit of the use of 
Eribulin in metastatic 
breast cancer (clinical 
outcomes) 

Patients achieved a high response 
rate and overall survival comparable 
to the phase III EMBRACE trial 
results, with an expected and 
manageable level of toxicity. 
Analysing data further to look at 
outcomes within subgroups such as 
receptor status and previous lines of 
treatment. 

Breast DG, Jun 2014 

CE13/1112 Efficacy of Irinotecan in 
combination with oral 
capecitabine as second 
line treatment for 
patients with 
Metastatic UGI cancers 
(medical student 
project) 

Irinotecan/5-FU given in the second-
line setting appears to have modest 
activity and reasonable tolerability 
in patients with locally advanced or 
metastatic upper gastrointestinal 
cancer. Further research could be 
considered. 

Upper GI DG, 2014 

CE13/1123 Post operative Pain 
Management in Robot 
Assisted Laproscopic  
Prostatectomy (RALP) 
(service evaluation) 

Patients who had a SAB + GA for 
RALP,  had a lower requirement of 
post op rescue Opioids and had a 
lower incidence of PONV as 
compared to those who  underwent 
RALP under GA only. Recommend 
regular use of SAB with 
Diamorphine for RALP for better 
postoperative pain relief and less 
side-effects. Re-audit in 2 years. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting, 
Sep 2014 

CE13/1140 Unscheduled Patient 
Review During 

24/473 patients required 
unscheduled review in this audit 

Radiotherapy 
department, 2014 
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Radiotherapy, (service 
evaluation for MSc) 

sample. Breast and head and neck 
patients accounted for the largest 
number of unscheduled reviews. 
50% of reviews were carried out by 
radiographers with PGD 
competency. There is potential for 
radiographer role expansion in the 
review of patients, particularly with 
breast patients. Adding 
supplementary prescribing to 
routine medications on PGD could 
provide more a more flexible 
approach to providing medication. 

CE13/1178 Perioperative 
management of 
diabetic patients 
(baseline assessment 
by critical care team) 

Baseline assessment indicates 
improvement required in pre op 
assessment and better control of 
glucose intraoperatively and post 
operatively. Involve the diabetic 
team to write up guidelines for the 
trust and re-audit in 3 months. 

Critical Care and 
Anaesthesia 
Directorate Meeting, 
May 2014 

CE13/1184 An evaluation of 
current radiotherapy 
practice in 
administering 
intravascular contrast 
under patient group 
directives (survey 
carried out nationally 
as part of MSc) 

Compliance. RCR and NICE guidance 
was incorporated into most 
radiotherapy centres to differing 
degrees and recommendations 
made to standardise care. No action 
is required at the Christie. 

Radiotherapy 
department, 2014 

CE13/1186 TKI inhibitors in GIST 
(junior doctor study led 
by North Manchester 
General Hospital) 

Small study relating to pre-
treatment assessment of patients, 
largely outside the Christie. No 
action required. 

North Manchester 
General Hospital;  
ASGBI international 
surgical congress, 2014 
 

CE13/1193 Evaluation of the 
survivorship website 
and films 
(service evaluation) 

Positive feedback from staff and 
patients. Proceed with phase two of 
the development of the website 
including a charitable bid for 
funding resources, expansion of the 
provision of podcasts, three more 
'survivorship films', improve 
marketing, develop patient 
resources and encourage 
testimonials. 

Survivorship Steering 
Group, May 2014 

CE13/1202 Use of Lidocaine for 
Neuropathic Pain 
(regional network 
audit) 

Partial compliance for network 
audit which acknowledged some 
limitations. No action considered 
necessary. 

Palliative Care North 
West Audit Group, 
2014  

CE13/1215 The response of total 
skin electron beam 
therapy for cutaneous 
T-cell lymphoma using 

Present dose is better tolerated. 
Higher response rate achieved. 
Duration of response related to 
initial stage of disease.UK nationally 

Lymphoma DG, May 
2014 
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the M-SWAT score 
(clinical outcomes) 

agreed dose of TSEB to be agreed. 

CE13/1216 Pancreatic malignancy - 
do we adequately 
recognise and treat the 
nutritional 
complications of this 
disease group? 
(service evaluation) 

Identified improvement in 
management of nutritional 
complications. Feedback to all 
groups. Work with PCUK etc to 
develop a validated screening tool. 
Obtain patient views and re-audit. 

HPB MDT, Sep 2014 

CE13/1311 X-Y FISH sex 
mismatched allograft 
who relapsed with 
100% STR 
(retrospectively 
reported baseline 
study, small numbers) 

Assessed the need to perform both 
STR and X-Y FISH testing in the post 
allograft setting to monitor for 
disease progression/relapse in AML, 
MDS and MPD patients. Agreed that 
for standard risk or those with no 
pre transplant cytogenetic 
abnormality then STR lineage 
specific testing will be adequate. 
Re-audit in 2 years. 

HTU quarterly meeting, 
Jun 2013 

CE13/960 Assessment of ACE-27 
Questionnaire in 
Urology Cancer Patient 
Post-operative 
Outcomes 

ACE- 27 is not a good tool for 
differentiating amongst cancer 
patients those who will have 
complications. Higher ACE- 27 score 
is associated with greater risk of 
adverse events following surgery; 
ASA and Karnofsky scores did not 
correlate significantly. Adaptation 
of the ACE-27 score for cancer 
patients by removing the cancer 
question could be a worthwhile 
modification and cancer patients 
could therefore be scored more 
accurately. 

GU DG, Jun 2013 

CE13/967 Baseline Audit to 
assess the CT scan of 
patients with ovarian 
cancer prior to their 
development of bowel 
obstruction; analysis of 
risk factors for bowel 
obstruction onset seen 
on prior CT scan. 

Overall survival in patients with 
malignant bowel obstruction is poor 
and has not changed over the last 
decade. Judicious selection of 
patients for surgery and/or 
chemotherapy can double survival 
and is particularly relevant for 
chemo-naïve patients at first 
presentation.  

Gynae DG; ESMO 2012 
and NCRI 2013 

CE13/969 Audit to assess disease 
status of ovarian 
cancer patients pre-
chemotherapy (to 
correlate post surgery 
assessment with CT 
scan findings pre-
chemotherapy) 

Some outcomes and conclusions 
drawn with limitations identified. 
No action identified. Findings need 
to be validated in a larger patient 
cohort. Potential to define patient 
categories most likely to benefit 
from maintenance therapy in the 
first-line setting. 

North West 
oncologists, Jul 2014; 
Industry sponsored 
event, London, Jun 
2014 

CE13/998 Baseline audit to assess 
survival outcomes of 

No statistically significant difference 
in progression free survival and 

Medical student project 
option presentation, Jul 
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ovarian and colorectal 
cancer patients in 
clinical trials (4

th
 year 

medical student project 
option) 

overall survival found between trial 
and control group. Limitations and 
recommendations for further work 
identified. 

2014 

CE14/1212 Vascular redistribution 
for SIRT- efficacy and 
safety with SPECT CT 
correlation (service 
evaluation) 

This technique is successful. It is 
safe to redistribute blood supply if 
the patient cannot be treated 
conventionally due to anatomy or 
inability to coil the right gastric 
artery. 

Radiology 
departmental meeting; 
RSNA meeting in 
Chicago, November 
2014 

CE14/1252 Re-audit re 
management of 
diabetes  
(service evaluation) 

Prevalence of diabetes in line with 
national figures but high proportion 
of high risk patients due to high 
dose steroid treatment. Standard 
protocols have increased 
monitoring of patients. Pursue 
introduction of diabetes specialist 
nurse. Increase publicity of inpatient 
diabetic service. Consider diabetes 
link nurses for each ward to spread 
simple education and awareness. 

Safe Medicines Practice 
Committee, 2014 

CE14/1264 Smoking & Alcohol 
Assessment Advice for 
All Preoperative 
Patients and Breast 
Clinic patients (review 
post CQUIN project) 

Referrals were increased in both 
areas with the largest gains from 
the preoperative clinics compared to 
previous year’s data. To continue to 
provide Health Advice at pre-op and 
breast cancer clinics and promote 
the services with health 
professionals and service users. To 
extend the level of service to lung 
cancer patients. Review data 
annually. 

Enhanced Recovery 
Programme Group and 
Breast DG, Apr 2015 

CE14/1273 Mortality and 
Morbidity in 
gynaecological cancer 
(assurance re network 
morbidity standards) 

Compliant with agreed Network 
morbidity standards in Gynae-
cological Oncology. Prospective 
data collection to ensure more 
complete data for re-audit. 

Gynae DG, May 2014 

CE14/1279 Sepsis outcomes at the 
Christie Hospital (the 
development of a 
lower risk scoring tool 
to permit admission 
avoidance) (clinical 
outcomes) 

Tool performed well initially, but 
much of its effectiveness lost in 
validation. Currently enough 
evidence to support including 
creatinine and albumin in future 
screening tools. Educational 
programme to roll out standard 
toolkit underway. To revisit the 
audit data in the future to try to 
improve the calibration of the 
equation/scoring system. Will then 
revalidate it prospectively. 

Trust M&M meeting, 
Oct 2014 

CE14/1280 Current patterns of 
practice for prostate 

Survey across English radiotherapy 
treatment centres revealed 

GU DG, Dec 2014 
Submission of results 
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cancer treatment 
radiotherapy reviews 
(staff survey) 

variations, extension of 
radiographer's roles and 
weaknesses in recording toxicities 
and discussion of sexual function 
and concerns. Developed a grading 
tool for use in on treatment reviews 
via CWP.  

to journal Dec 2014 

CE14/1282 Do standardised 
uptake values from 
PET-CT scans predict 
EGFR status of lung 
tumours?  
(4

th
 year medical 

student project option) 

A statistically significant association 
was found between SUV and EGFR 
mutation status which may help 
inform treatment decisions while 
waiting for results of EGFR 
mutation testing or where 
insufficient material is available for 
testing. Further data and analysis to 
increase sample size. No change in 
practice identified. 

Lung DG, Nov 2014; 
Medical student project 
option presentation, Jul 
2014 

CE14/1284 Second line 
chemotherapy for 
metastatic bladder 
cancer (service 
evaluation) 

National electronic survey to 
radiotherapy sites showed 94% of 
the 65 departments contacted are 
currently using I.V. contrast to 
enhance their pre-treatment 
imaging. 67% of sites use a PGD to 
deliver the contrast. 
Recommendations made to 
encourage departments to adapt 
their practice to comply with RCR 
and NICE guidance hopefully 
leading to the development of 
standardized care in the delivery of 
IV contrast in the radiotherapy 
setting. 

GU DG, Nov 2014 

CE14/1292 Goblet cell carcinoid 
tumours of the 
appendix: The Christie 
Experience (clinical 
outcomes) 

In this relatively large series, only 
stage at diagnosis and Tang 
classification correlated with 
prognosis in patients with 
appendiceal GCC. No action 
required. 

HPB/NET MDT, Dec 
2014 

CE14/1296 Audit of referral 
patterns in newly 
diagnosed and 
relapsed cases of 
lymphoma (service 
evaluation) 

Partial compliance. Improve equality 
of access by promoting referrals 
especially from hospitals with low 
referral patterns. Undertake steps 
to improve participation in clinical 
research and promote shared care 
with referring Trusts. Audit the 
MDT pathway. 

Lymphoma DG, Jul 
2014 

CE14/1302 Primary and Secondary 
Graft Failure Post 
Allograft 
(outcomes) 

Failure rate in line with national 
published data. No action required. 

Stem Cell 
Transplantation 
combined quality and 
JACIE meeting, May 
2014 

CE14/1313 Is there a relation There was no significant variation in GU DG, Oct 2014 
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between rectal size 
changes and prostate 
position during the 
course of 
radiotherapy? And 
does staging scan 
predicts the rectal 
filling at planning 
scan?  
(medical student 
project) 

AP rectal diameter and prostate 
position during IMRT when 
compared to the measurements on 
RTP scans. Prostate motion was not 
related to changing inter-fraction 
AP rectal diameter. Interventions 
should be offered to patients with 
an AP rectal diameter of >3.5cm on 
staging scan prior to the first RTP 
scan. No action required to 
implement. 

CE14/1317 Exploring 
standardisation and 
transparency of 
caseloads within 
Physio/ OT workforce 
against agreed local 
standards set by senior 
staff (service 
evaluation) 

Significant improvement. Most staff 
following completion of audit now 
meet the consensually agreed 
departmental standards of average 
numbers of patients on their 
caseload. Greater transparency 
achieved. On going monitoring of 
caseloads through informal 
meetings/appraisal/delayed 
discharges. Re-audit in a year over a 
6 month period. 

Rehab department, Feb 
2015 

CE14/1319 Adjuvant capecitabine 
after pancreatic 
adenocarcinoma 
resection: The Christie 
Experience (outcomes) 

Adjuvant capecitabine may be an 
option for patients with resected 
pancreatic adenocarcinoma, with no 
differences in DFS or OS 
demonstrated when compared to 
patients receiving adjuvant 
gemcitabine. Until validated in a 
prospective study; and based on the 
lower dose intensity achieved in the 
capecitabine arm, we recommend 
adjuvant gemcitabine as the 
standard of care rather than 
adjuvant capecitabine in our 
patients.  

UGI DG (HPB/NET) Mar 
2015; Submitted to 
ESMO 2015. 

CE14/1326 Clinical assessment of 
the new EGIS colonic 
stent design (Medical 
student service 
evaluation) 

Double knitted, covered stents seem 
to have a very acceptable re-
intervention rate combined with 
good symptom relief. The high 
migration rate seemed to relate to 
patients receiving further 
treatment, reducing the tumour and 
the associated obstruction. The on-
line database used in this pilot will 
be made available for a multicentre 
study to investigate these small-
scale results further. 

Radiology 
departmental meeting, 
Nov 2014 

CE14/1329 Breast cancer screening 
after radiotherapy for 
Hodgkin's lymphoma: 
audit and review 

Identified that approx 60% female 
NHL patients treated with 
radiotherapy to mediastinum 
and/or neck <36 years old should go 

Lymphoma DG, 2014 
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(service evaluation) on to have breast screening within 
8 years. Develop a system to 
prospectively identify patients 
requiring breast cancer screening 
after radiotherapy to mediastinum 
and/or neck. Develop system with 
NHS breast screening programme. 
Assess whether this cohort from 
2004-2009 have had breast 
screening. 

CE14/1354 Outcomes of robotic 
gynaecological 
procedures (clinical 
outcomes) 

Increasingly complex procedures 
being undertaken and number of 
cases done per year are rising with 
less complications and shorter 
length of stay in the hospital. 
Continue with carefully selected 
cases. Aim to do more complex 
procedures (radical hysterectomies, 
trachelectomies, pelvic exenterative 
surgeries). Record length of stay, 
blood loss and intra-operative and 
postoperative complications. Audit 
prospectively. 

Surgical directorate 
meeting, Sep 2014 

PE13/1163 A feasibility study 
considering 
implementation of a 
medicines 
reconciliation service 
into the outpatient 
oncology setting 
(pharmacy student 
project) 

Pharmacy student report concluded 
that delivery of medicines 
reconciliation and patient education 
for oncology outpatients appears to 
be feasible and suggests use of 
accredited clinical pharmacy 
technicians would be most efficient. 
Further study, over a longer 
duration and with larger samples, 
would be needed to establish the 
longer-term feasibility of running 
this as a standard service. 

Pharmacy department, 
2014 

PE13/1183 Radiotherapy 
Treatment Times 
(process evaluation) 

The majority of treatments overran 
their standardised timeslots. 
Feedback has provided helpful 
insight into common causes of 
delay. Some current treatment 
times have been modified 
(increased and reduced) due to the 
results from this evaluation. Further 
evaluation may be required before 
more appointment lengths can be 
modified. 

Radiotherapy 
department, 2014 

PE13/1189 Which policies and 
practices help or hinder 
NHS trusts to achieve 
high rates of seasonal 
influenza vaccination 
amongst frontline 

MSc project found measures to 
improve influenza vaccination 
availability and accessibility, 
widespread promotion of 
programmes and on the ground 
support were all found to help 

Deputy director of 
nursing and quality, 
Nov 2014; Health and 
safety committee 
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healthcare workers?  
(external MSc student 
project) 

encourage vaccination, but official 
targets had an unclear affect. 
Recommendations include measures 
to improve availability and 
accessibility such as peer 
vaccination and mobile vaccination 
teams, building effective on the 
ground support and undertaking 
individual follow-up. No action 
required here. 
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Appendix 2 
 
Quality reports feedback  
 
Outlined below are the verbatim statements on the feedback of our quality accounts from: 
 

1. NHS England Specialised Commissioning 
 

The Christie NHS FT Quality Account 2014/15 response 
Specialised Commissioning Northwest Hub  

 
As the lead Commissioner we welcome the opportunity to provide a commentary on the past 
year’s Quality account from The Christie.  It is noted that in your Quality Account key 
priorities for 2014/15 work has furthered developed regarding the publication of clinical 
outcomes data with a focus on breast cancer, upper gastroenterology and prostate cancers 
with further demonstration of how treatments and advancing research and technology, 
provided by the Trust is enhancing survival for patients diagnosed with cancer. We welcome 
the introduction of your business intelligence systems which are giving live data and 
performance information across a range of clinical indicators and enabling staffing levels to 
be monitored, resources utilised appropriately and staff the tools to make improvements. We 
look forward to seeing further developments in this system. The e form system has already 
demonstrated improvements in care and is providing nurses with robust tools of assessment. 
We look forward to seeing good outcome data from these initiatives. 
 
We are pleased to see that the CQUIN framework is being met by the organisation and the 
local challenges have been fundamentally about improving the quality of life for patients 
and improving their experiences of care. The patient voice continues to be routinely heard at 
board via a variety of means however it would be useful for the board to have the patient 
present their own account, on occasion, however we continue to acknowledge the good 
practice of the Trust in ensuring that the patients voice gets to the board, and the quality 
rounds undertaken by multi professional staff in improving patient care on the frontline.  
 
The patient experience continues to be well represented in the quality account with high 
levels of patient satisfaction observed. We are also pleased to note the information 
regarding learning from complaints themes and trends and the actions taken from the 
learning. We particularly note the range of initiatives the organisation is leading or is part of, 
in improving the cancer pathway and the quality of life for patients. These should be 
commended. We note that waiting time targets for chemotherapy have not been stretched 
further in the past year and would welcome a review of these moving forwards. 
 
The trust has demonstrated a commitment to an open and honest culture discussing in detail 
the serious incidents reported in 14/15 and the actions required to ensure improvements are 
made. This is also reflected in the wide variety of performance data within the quality 
account, the detailed account of the clinical audits undertaken and the outcome for these for 
patients. 
 
Finally we recognise and welcome the work in developing the Trusts quality strategy moving 
forward and the development of the Christie Charter Mark in the provision of high quality 
consistent care in other settings. 
 

Lesley Patel Director of Nursing and Quality: North  
On behalf of Northwest Specialised Commissioning Hub  
May 2015 
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2. Healthwatch 
 
Healthwatch were invited to comment on the quality report.   
 

3. Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) 
 
AGMA Overview and Scrutiny Committee were invited to comment on the quality report.  
 

4. The Christie Governors 
 

Governors Quality Statement for Quality Accounts April 2014-March 2015 
 
Continuing Open Relationship between the Council of Governors and Trust Board 
The relationship between the Council of Governors and the Christie NHS Foundation Trust, 
has enabled us to continue to work together throughout 2014/2015 to learn from and 
understand the quality of the patients experience across the Trust and see continuous 
improvements.  
 

Access to Appropriate Information 
The Quality committee is provided with information about the quality of care and Executive 
and Non-Executive Directors continue to attend the Quality Committee and provide regular 
updates and discuss Quality issues with the Committee. In addition the Committee regularly 
invites local managers and front line staff to provide presentations and discuss specific issues 
to inform us of quality improvements and respond to queries raised by the committee e.g. 
management of falls and pressure area care. Members of the Quality Committee are also 
actively supported and encouraged to meet with patients and obtain their feedback 
regarding the care and environment at the Christie. This feedback is valued by the Trust 
Board and Council of Governors. The Trust and it's managers actively feedback to members 
on any issues raised and where necessary provide proactive feedback on the situation and 
the efforts being made to resolve outstanding issues. 
 

Governors Evidence Based Summary Statement  
The above approach enables the Quality Committee to triangulate feedback and provide 
valued reassurance to the Council of Governors on key matters relating to the patients 
experience. 
Having reflected on comments and discussion raised at their meetings in 2014/15 overall as a 
Council of Governors, we believe the Trust continues to provide a high quality and safe 
service for patients as evidenced to us by ; 

 Integrated performance reports which include information on waiting times, infection 

rates, response from patients surveys, serious untoward incidents reports, details about 

the number and types of complaints received, and financial information. 

 A monthly summary from the Chief Executive which gives us information about  all 

relative issues affecting the trust and contact details for relevant executive staff member 

if further information is required about any specific item. The above includes regular 

updates of the Trust’s 20/20 vision 

 The feedback demonstrates the proactive patient centred progress being made and clear 

focus on staff development and support to provide high quality care and services. This is 

also clearly articulated in the Trust’s draft formal annual plan which has been discussed 

with the COG and relevant subcommittees. 
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 An annual complaints report is presented to the Quality Committee giving governors 

information about all complaints that have been received and further evidence of the 

considerable learning has been taken from complaints over the year. 

 Information about infection rates which have remained below target. This is particularly 

commendable considering the patient group that the hospital serves as most patients 

have an impaired immune system. 

 Through 2014/15 Members have sought and obtained detailed insight into the following 

fundamental aspects of care and communications eg how the Trust is addressing 

 Prevention & management of falls. 

 Prevention & Control of infection. 

 Developments to improve electronic communication with GPs. 

 Development of systems to focus on outcomes of care. 

 Management of acute oncology care services. 

 

The above have enabled Governors to understand the mechanism in place to address these 
important fundamental areas. This has provided reassurance to the Quality Committee and 
the Council of Governors regarding these important issues for patients and the wider 
community. This focus has provided valuable insight for the Governors.  In addition to the 
above the Governors have access to the following; 

 Regular communication with the Chairman of the Trust who is the Chair of the Council of 

Governors. 

 Freedom for all governors to attend the monthly Board of Directors meetings which 

normally include a presentation from a member of the clinical staff on the latest 

developments. 

 One and often two non-executive directors attend all quality meetings. This practice 

provides a flow of information to and from the Board of Directors. 

 Quality Assurance committee updates are received from the Non-Executive Chair of the 

committee /Director of Nursing and members of the Quality Committee are provided with 

answers to any queries and more detailed explanations as required. 

 Participation in “Talking to patients and carers” initiative – this is an exercise undertaken, 

before each Quality Committee meeting when governors go out into the hospital and talk 

to patients and their families about the experience they have had. The total freedom to 

speak to whoever they choose (subject to advice on the patient’s wellbeing on the day) 

gives governors the re-assurance that the feedback given is a true and honest appraisal of 

the experience patients have had. Any issue raised from the interviews is proactively 

reviewed by the manager and feedback is provided illustrating that all issues are taken 

seriously and responded to. The experience of the governors concerned, without 

exception, is predominantly positive and it is almost impossible to obtain any constructive 

comment to help us improve our service.  

 Active participation in the steering group overseeing the development of the “Christie 

Quality Mark” to promote consistency of Christies care provision   in the North West in 

accordance with the 20/20 vision. 

 Presentation and discussion of National patient survey reports and subsequent action 

plans. 

 Minutes from all Council of Governors sub committees. 

 Reports from clinical areas on initiatives and new developments to improve the patient 

experience. 
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 The Francis Report of the Mid Staffordshire Public Inquiry and the outcome of the report 

in relation to the Christie have been discussed with the COG and the COG Quality 

Committee has requested comprehensive feedback on progress regarding the local action 

plan. 

 

Effectiveness 
The Council of Governors monitors the Trust effectiveness and efficiency through the key 
targets agreed for the Trust and the Trust continues to stretch itself to identify further 
improvements. The Quality committee has been in existence from when the Trust became a 
Foundation Trust and this continuity means that members have a high level of awareness of 
the quality agenda and hence the ability to request presentations and information they feel 
is beneficial.  The link between this committee and the Quality Assurance Committee cannot 
be over-emphasised and shows how seriously the Christie takes quality in all aspects of care 
and treatment of patients. 
 

Experience 
The Trust has an experienced and highly committed group of Governors. There are some 
excellent examples of their community and member engagement across the areas we serve. 
Together this enables us to actively contribute to ensuring high quality patient centre care 
and services across the Christie NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Based on the evidence above, the Council of Governors have confidence that the Trust 
continues to demonstrate proactive commitment to delivering safe and high quality patient 
centred services to meet the needs of patients cared for by the Christie now and in the 
future. The challenging times seen by the Trust have been resolved in the latter part of 
2014/15 with the appointment of a permanent Chair and Chief Executive.  The Council of 
Governors is reassured that the quality and overall performance of patient care and services 
have been, and continue to be delivered to a high standard. 
 

Alex C Davidson 
On Behalf of the COG Quality Committee April 2015 
 
There has been no changes made to the final quality account after the receipt of the 
statements referred to above. 
 

5. Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the quality report 
 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality 
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  
 
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of 
annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the 
arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data 
quality for the preparation of the quality report.  
 
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves 
that:  

 the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15 and supporting guidance; 

 the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of 

information including:  

 Board minutes for the period April 2014 to March 2015 (the period);  
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 Papers relating to quality report  reported to the Board over the period April 2014 to 

March 2015;  

 Feedback from the Commissioners, Northwest Specialised Commissioning Hub dated 

May 2015;  

  Feedback from Governors dated April 2015;  

 The Trust’s 2014/15 complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009;  

 The 2014 national inpatient survey;  

  The 2014 national staff survey;  

 Care Quality Commission Intelligent Monitoring Report dated December 2014; and 

 The Head of Internal Audit’s 2014/15 annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment.  

the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance 

over the period covered;  

 the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;  

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 

performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to 

confirm that they are working effectively in practice;  

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is 

robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed 

definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and 

 the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 

guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) (published at 

www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data 

quality for the preparation of the Quality Report (available at 

www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual).  

 
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the 
above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.  
 

By order of the board  
 

 
 Date:  28th May 2015 
Chairman  
 

  
Date:  28th May 2015 
Chief Executive 
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6.  Independent Auditors’ Limited Assurance Report to the Council of Governors 
of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report  

 
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust to 
perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the ‘Quality Report’) and specified 
performance indicators contained therein. 
 

Scope and subject matter  
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2015 subject to limited assurance (the “specified 

indicators”); marked with the symbol   in the Quality Report, consist of the following 
national priority indicators as mandated by Monitor: 

 
Specified Indicators Specified indicators criteria (exact page 

number where criteria can be found) 

Percentage of incomplete pathways 
within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways 

Page 84 

Maximum waiting time of 62 days from 
urgent GP referral to first treatment for all 
cancers 

Page 84 

 
Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors  
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in 
accordance with the specified indicators criteria referred to on pages of the Quality Report as 
listed above (the "Criteria").  The Directors are also responsible for the conformity of their 
Criteria with the assessment criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (“FT ARM”) and the “Detailed requirements for quality reports 2014/15”  issued by 
the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).  
 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on 
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that: 

 The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as 

specified in Annex 2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for 

quality reports 2014/15”; 

 The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified 

below; and 

 The specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance 

with the Criteria and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the “2014/15 Detailed 

guidance for external assurance on quality reports”. 

 
We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of 
the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for quality reports 2014/15; and consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.  
 
We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is 
materially inconsistent with the following documents:   

 Board minutes for the period April 2014 to March 2015 (the period); 

 Papers relating to quality report reported to the Board over the period April 2014 to 

March 2015;  
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 Feedback from the Commissioners, Northwest Specialised Commissioning Hub dated May 

2015;  

 Feedback from Governors dated April 2015; 

 The Trust’s 2014/15 complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009;  

 The 2014 national inpatient survey;  

 The 2014 national staff survey;  

 Care Quality Commission Intelligent Monitoring Report dated December 2014; and 

 The Head of Internal Audit’s 2014/15 annual opinion over the Trust’s control 

environment. 

 
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.  
 
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) Code of Ethics. Our team 
comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.  
 
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors 
of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in 
reporting The Christie NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. 
We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 
March 2015, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their 
governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection 
with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust for our work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed and with 
our prior consent in writing.  
 

Assurance work performed  
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:  

 reviewing the content of the Quality Report against the requirements of the FT ARM and 

“Detailed requirements for quality reports 2014/15”; 

 reviewing the Quality Report  for consistency against the documents specified above;  

 obtaining an understanding of the design and operation of the controls in place in 

relation to the collation and reporting of the specified indicators, including controls over 

third party information (if applicable) and performing walkthroughs to confirm our 

understanding; 

 based on our understanding, assessing the risks that the performance against the 

specified indicators may be materially misstated and determining the nature, timing and 

extent of further procedures;  

 making enquiries of relevant management, personnel and, where relevant, third parties; 

 considering significant judgements made by the NHS Foundation Trust in preparation of 

the specified indicators;  

 performing limited testing, on a selective basis of evidence supporting the reported 

performance indicators, and assessing the related disclosures; and 
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 reading the documents. 

 
A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. 
The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence 
are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.  
 

Limitations  
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for 
determining such information.  
 
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the 
selection of different but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially 
different measurements and can impact comparability. The precision of different 
measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, 
may change over time. It is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the 
assessment criteria set out in the FT ARM the “Detailed requirements for quality reports 
2014/15 and the Criteria referred to above.  
 
The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports are determined by Monitor. This 
may result in the omission of information relevant to other users, for example for the 
purpose of comparing the results of different NHS Foundation Trusts.  
 
In addition, the scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or 
non-mandated indicators in the Quality Report, which have been determined locally by The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

Conclusion  
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that for the year ended 31 March 2015,  

 The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as 

specified in Annex 2 to Chapter 7  of the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for 

quality reports 2014/15”; 

 The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the documents 

specified above; and 

 the specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance 

with the Criteria and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the “Detailed 

guidance for external assurance on quality reports 2014/15”.  

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Manchester 
28 May 2015 
 
The maintenance and integrity of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust’s website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the assurance providers does not 
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the assurance providers accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the reported performance 
indicators or criteria since they were initially presented on the website. 
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The Christie NHS Foundation Trust  

 

These accounts for the year ending 31 March 2015 have been prepared by The Christie 

NHS Foundation Trust under paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National 

Health Service Act 2006, in the form which Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS 

Foundation Trusts has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.  

 

 

 
Roger Spencer 

Chief Executive 

28
th
 May 2015 

Foreword to the accounts 



Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2014-2015

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ending  31 March 2015

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Note 2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating income 3 235,854 229,109 221,138 223,420

Operating expenses 4 (224,529) (224,529) (205,633) (205,630)

Operating surplus/ (deficit) 11,325 4,580 15,505 17,790

Finance costs

Finance income 8.1 388 242 313 174
Finance costs - financial liabilities 8.2 (788) (788) (842) (842)
Finance costs - unwinding of discount on provisions 17 (11) (11) (12) (12)
PDC dividends payable (2,450) (2,450) (2,027) (2,027)
Gains on revaluation and disposal of investment assets 11.3 30 0 31 0

Net finance costs (2,831) (3,007) (2,537) (2,707)

Share of profit of joint venture accounted for using the equity 
method 11.2 4,368 4,368 2,902 2,902

Surplus/ (deficit) for the year 12,862 5,941 15,870 17,985

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation gains/ (losses) on Property, Plant and Equipment 7,294 7,294 5,030 5,030
Revaluation gains/ (losses) on intangible assets 0 0 0 0
Fair value gains/ (losses) on available for sale financial 
investments 0 0 0 0
Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 0 0 0 0
Other recognised gains and losses 0 0 0 0
Other Reserve Movements 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the year 20,156 13,235 20,900 23,015

The notes on pages 215 to 255 form part of these accounts.
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Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2014-2015

Statement of Financial Position as at  31 March 2015

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Note 31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non Current Assets
Intangible assets 9 2,292 2,292 839 839
Property, Plant and Equipment 10 173,151 173,151 158,422 158,422
Investments in jointly controlled operations 11.1 11,249 11,249 6,439 6,439
Investment assets 11.3 453 0 427 0
Trade and other receivables 13.1 196 196 878 878

Total non-current assets 187,341 186,888 167,005 166,578

Current assets
Inventories 12 482 412 673 648
Trade and other receivables 13.1 14,330 14,637 14,461 14,464
Other financial assets 13.4 187 25 263 35
Non current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups 10.6 0 0 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 14.1 92,735 48,438 88,373 51,419

Total current assets 107,734 63,512 103,770 66,566

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 15.1 (19,702) (19,548) (22,679) (22,648)
Borrowings 16 (1,053) (1,053) (1,065) (1,065)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 17 (737) (737) (183) (183)
Other liabilities 15.2 (689) (689) (217) (217)
Tax payable 15.1 (31) (31) (1,822) (1,822)

Total current liabilities (22,212) (22,058) (25,966) (25,935)

Total assets less current liabilities 272,863 228,342 244,809 207,209

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15.1 0 0 0 0
Borrowings 16 (16,896) (16,896) (17,950) (17,950)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 17 (740) (740) (652) (652)
Other liabilities 15.2 (11,840) (11,840) (9,276) (9,276)

Total non-current liabilities (29,476) (29,476) (27,878) (27,878)

Total assets employed 243,387 198,866 216,931 179,331

Financed by taxpayers' equity

Public dividend capital 24 69,269 69,269 62,969 62,969
Revaluation reserve 31,764 31,764 25,100 25,100
Income and expenditure reserve 97,833 97,833 91,262 91,262
Charity Reserves 27 44,521 0 37,600 0

Total Taxpayers' Equity: 243,387 198,866 216,931 179,331

Roger Spencer
Chief Executive Date: 28 May 2015

The accounts on pages 210 to 255 were approved by the board on 28 May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:
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Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2014-2015

Statement of changes in taxpayers' equity  31 March 2015

Minority 
interest

Public 
dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve

Charity 
Reserves

Total reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2014 as previously 
stated

0 62,969 25,100 91,262 37,600 216,931

Prior year adjustment 0 0 0 0 0 0
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2014 - restated 0 62,969 25,100 91,262 37,600 216,931

Total comprehensive income for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 0 5,941 6,921 12,862
Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on intangible 
assets

0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on Property, 
Plant and Equipment

0 0 7,294 0 0 7,294

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 0 0 0 0

Public dividend capital received 0 6,300 0 0 0 6,300
Other transfers between reserves 0 0 (630) 630 0 0

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2015 0 69,269 31,764 97,833 44,521 243,387

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2013 as previously stated 0 61,916 20,124 73,223 39,715 194,978

Prior year adjustment 0 0 0 0 0 0
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2013 - restated 0 61,916 20,124 73,223 39,715 194,978

Total comprehensive income for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 0 17,985 (2,115) 15,870
Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on intangible 
assets

0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on Property, 
Plant and Equipment

0 0 5,030 0 0 5,030

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 0 0 0 0

Public dividend capital received 0 1,053 0 0 0 1,053
Other transfers between reserves 0 0 (54) 54 0 0

 Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2014 0 62,969 25,100 91,262 37,600 216,931

The notes on pages 215 to 255 form part of these accounts.

Group
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Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2014-2015

Statement of changes in taxpayers' equity  31 March 2015

Minority 
interest

Public 
dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve

Total reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2014 as previously 
stated

0 62,969 25,100 91,262 179,331

Prior year adjustment 0 0 0 0 0
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2014 - restated 0 62,969 25,100 91,262 179,331

Total comprehensive income for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 0 5,941 5,941
Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on intangible 
assets

0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on Property, 
Plant and Equipment

0 0 7,294 0 7,294

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 0 0 0

Public dividend capital received 0 6,300 0 0 6,300
Other transfers between reserves 0 0 (630) 630 0

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2015 0 69,269 31,764 97,833 198,866

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2013 as previously stated 0 61,916 20,124 73,223 155,263

Prior year adjustment 0 0 0 0 0
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2013 - restated 0 61,916 20,124 73,223 155,263

Total comprehensive income for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 0 17,985 17,985
Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on intangible 
assets

0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains/(impairment losses) on Property, 
Plant and Equipment

0 0 5,030 0 5,030

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 0 0 0

Public dividend capital received 0 1,053 0 0 1,053
Other transfers between reserves 0 0 (54) 54 0

 Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2014 0 62,969 25,100 91,262 179,331

The notes on pages 215 to 255 form part of these accounts.
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Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2014-2015

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ending  31 March 2015

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Note 2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/ (deficit) 11,325 4,580 15,505 17,790
Depreciation and Amortisation 4.1 11,132 11,132 9,121 9,121
Impairments 4.1 208 208 8,088 8,088
Reversal of Impairments (4,653) (4,653) (7,552) (7,552)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 740 436 (614) (80)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 191 236 136 148
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (2,876) (2,999) (2,346) (2,301)
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 3,036 3,036 (675) (675)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 631 631 38 38
Increase/(decrease) in tax payable (1,791) (1,791) 0 0
(Profit)/loss on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 3.2 61 61 0 0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 18,004 10,877 21,701 24,577

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 8.1 388 242 313 174
Purchase of financial assets - The Christie Clinic joint venture 11.1 0 0 0 0
Cash from drawdown of profit from The Chrisite Clinic joint venture 11.1 0 0 3,754 3,754
Purchase of Financial Assets 11.3 / 13.4 (62) 0 (74) (10)
Sales of financial assets 11.3 / 13.4 142 10 420 55
Purchase of intangible assets (1,715) (1,715) (681) (669)
Sales of intangible assets 0 0 0 0
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (14,480) (14,480) (24,137) (24,137)
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment 0 0 0 0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (15,727) (15,943) (20,405) (20,833)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received 24 6,300 6,300 1,053 1,053
Loans received 16 0 0 0 0
Loans Repaid 16 (911) (911) (911) (911)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (3) (3) (24) (24)
Capital element of PFI obligations (136) (136) (225) (225)
Interest paid 8.2 (752) (752) (798) (798)
Interest element of finance lease 0 0 (2) (2)
Interest element of PFI obligations (36) (36) (42) (42)
PDC Dividend paid (2,377) (2,377) (1,953) (1,953)
Receipts for donated Property, Plant and Equipment 0 0 0 0
Receipts for donated intangible assets 0 0 0 0

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities 2,085 2,085 (2,902) (2,902)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14 4,362 (2,981) (1,606) 842
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 14 88,373 51,419 89,979 50,577

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 14 92,735 48,438 88,373 51,419

The notes at pages 215 to 255 form part of these accounts.
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The Christie NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2014-15

Notes to the Accounts
1. Accounting Policies

Monitor has directed that the accounts of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following
accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 2014/15 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (FT
ARM 2014-15) issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with
items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting Conventions

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment at their value to the business by reference to their
current costs and Non-Current Investment Assets which are valued at fair value at the balance sheet date. NHS
foundation trusts in compliance with HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) are not required to comply
with IAS 33 requirements to report "earnings per share" or historical profits and losses.

1.1.1 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be 'acquired' only if they are acquired from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be 'discontinued' only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be 'discontinued' if they
transfer from one NHS body to another. 

1.1.2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Where the Trust has made such judgements and estimates these are referred to in the relevant notes and accounting
policies.

a) Segmental reporting - see note 2
b) Pension scheme valuation - actuarial valuations have been used in in the valuation of the scheme - see note 1.3.1

c) The ill health retirement benefit is based on figures provided by the Pensions Agency - see note 17
d) Other provisions - see note 17
e) The figures relating to the joint venture with The Christie Clinic are based on audited accounts and management
estimations provided by The Christie Clinic and those for the Christie Pathology Partnership are based on the
management accounts provided by the Partnership. - see note 11
f) Due to the early closure of the accounts, accruals have been used based on the best estimate known at the time.

g) Non current Property, Plant and Equipment asset valuation relating to land and buildings are based on the District
Valuers valuation - see note 10
h) The valuation for the Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander investment is based on an update on 31 October 2014, from
the Administrators in relation to the projected dividend  - see note 13.4
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i) The Trust has made a judgement to defer some of the income received in 2014/15 where that income has been
received to specifically fund an activity which will occur in a future financial year.

1.1.3  Consolidation

1.2 Income

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is from
commissioners for healthcare services. Income relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end
are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period compared
to expected total length of stay.

Where income is received for a specific activity (treating Research & Development as one activity) that is to be
delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met and
is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

The Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust show both the NHS Foundation Trust and the 
Group balances.  The Group balances comprise The Christie NHS Foundation Trust, The Christie Charitable Fund 
and The Christie Charity Trading Company (TCCTC) which are consolidated on a line-by-line basis.

The Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee to The Christie Charitable Fund.  The Foundation Trust has assessed 
its relationship to The Christie Charitable Fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Foundation Trust 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the charitable fund, so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities for itself, its patients or its staff.

The Christie Charity Trading Company (TCCTC) is consolidated into The Christie Charitable Fund accounts as 
TCCTC is deemed to be a subsidiary of The Christie Charitable Fund as its purpose is to carry on business as a 
general commercial company to procure profits and gains for the purpose of paying them to The Christie Charitable 
Fund.  TCCTC was incorporated on 27th April 2009 and the Christie Charitable Fund holds 10 ordinary £1 shares in 
TCCTC, which is 100% of the available shares.

Prior to 2013/14, the FT ARM permitted the Foundation Trust not to consolidate the Charitable Fund.  From 2013/14, 
the Foundation Trust has consolidated the Charitable Fund and has applied this as a change in accounting policy.  
The Charitable Fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31 March in accordance with the UK Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP). On 
consolidation, necessary adjustments are made to the charity’s assets, liabilities and transactions to
- recognise and measure them in accordance with the Foundation Trust’s accounting policies; and
- eliminate intra-group transactions, balances, gains and losses.

The Charitable Reserves are comprised of the following Fund types:
a) Restricted Funds - Where there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is 
classified in the accounts as a restricted fund.
b) Endowment Funds - Funds where the capital is held to generate income for charitable purposes, and which cannot 
be spent, are accounted for as endowment funds. Income credited to endowment funds is transferred to designated 
funds to be utilised in line with the terms of the endowment.
c) Unrestricted Funds - These include those funds which the trustee is free to use for any purpose in furtherance of 
the charitable objects. Unrestricted funds include designated funds which the trustee has chosen to earmark for set 
purposes. The major funds held within these categories are disclosed in Note 27.2
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1.2.1 Charitable Income

Legacies
- Pecuniary legacies are recognised as they are received.
- Residuary legacies are included in the accounts at the earlier of receipt or agreement of the estate accounts.
- Finalisation of the estate accounts is assumed when notification of this is received from the personal 
representatives.
- Reversionary interests, involving a life tenant, are not recognised in the accounts due to the inherent uncertainties 
involved.
- Legacies to which the charity is entitled and for which notification has been received but uncertainty over 
measurement remains, are disclosed, if material, as contingent income.

Gifts in Kind
The amount at which gifts in kind are recognised is either a reasonable estimate of their value to the funds or the
amount actually realised. Where applicable the basis of valuation would be disclosed in the Notes to the Accounts.

Donations of investments listed on the Alternative Investments Market and other secondary markets are not
recognised until the shares are sold. This is due to the AIM donated shares typically having a time restriction placed
upon them which prevents their sale for a minimum period after the donation is made and the difficulty of attributing a
value in advance of the sale of the shares listed on such exchanges.  

Intangible Income
Assistance in the form of donated facilities, beneficial loan arrangements, donated services or services from
volunteers is only recorded when they are provided at a financial cost to a third party and the benefit is quantifiable
and measurable.  Volunteers do bear costs however these are regarded as personal and are not quantified.

1.3 Expenditure on employee benefits

1.3.1  Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial accounts to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the
following period.

Pension costs - NHS Pension scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of
these follows:

a) Accounting valuation
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A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period.
This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and
financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2014, is based on valuation data as 31 March
2013, updated to 31 March 2014 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed
by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31
March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008.
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future
scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision due in 2015.

The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with
the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary
and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.

The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out at as at March 2012 and will be used to
inform the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015.

c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met
before these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the
best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable
pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free
lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension
commutation”.
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Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From
2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

1.3.2  Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as Property, Plant and Equipment.

1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment

1.4.1 Recognition

Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
 -  it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
 -  it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
 -  it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
 -  the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
 -  individually have a cost of at least £5,000;  or
 -  form a group of assets which individually have a cost of more than £250, collectively have a cost of at least
    £5,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
    anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
 - form part of the initial setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward or unit, irrespective of their
    individual or collective cost.

1.4.2 Valuation

Property, Plant and Equipment assets are stated at the lower of replacement cost and recoverable amount. On initial
recognition the assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including any costs such as installation
directly attributable to bringing them into working condition. The carrying values of Property, Plant and Equipment
assets are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may
not be recoverable. The costs arising from financing the construction of Property, Plant and Equipment is not
capitalised but charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) account in the year to which they relate.

All land and buildings are restated to current value using professional valuations in accordance with IAS16 every five
years, with an interim valuation every three years. If the fair value of a revalued asset differs materially from its
carrying amount, an independent valuation is carried out for that class of asset.

Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. This year's valuation was undertaken by Mrs S Hall (MRICS) of
the Valuation Office Agency.
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The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost of a Modern Equivalent Asset
for specialised operational property and Existing Use Value for non-specialised operational property. The value of
land for existing use purposes is assessed at Existing Use Value. For non-operational properties including surplus
land, the valuations are carried out at Open Market Value.

Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five or
three-yearly valuation or when they are brought into use.

Operational equipment is valued at net current replacement cost. Equipment surplus to requirements is valued at net
recoverable amount.

1.4.3  Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving
from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be
determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets
the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that
does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

1.4.4  Depreciation

Property, Plant and Equipment assets are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual
value on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under
finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives or, where shorter, the lease term.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets surplus to requirements.

Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in on-Statement of Financial Position PFI contract assets
are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the Trust, respectively.

Equipment is depreciated on historic cost for low value and/or short life assets and on current cost for other
equipment assets evenly over the estimated life of the asset.

1.4.5  Revaluation and impairment

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to
the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefit or service potential in the
asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the
income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses:
and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
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An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that,
the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any
remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer
was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation
gains.

1.4.6  De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met;

 -  the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
    customary for such sales;
 -  the sale must be highly probable i.e.:
● management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
● an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
● the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
● the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and
● the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes
made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value
less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value
less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions
have been met.

Property, Plant and Equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for
Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-
recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

1.5 Intangible Assets

1.5.1  Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Where internally generated assets are held for service potential, this
involves a direct contribution to the delivery of services to the public.

Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in a Trust's activities for more than one year;
they can be valued; and they have a cost of at least £5,000.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised
as intangible assets.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at historical cost. Internally-generated assets are
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
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● the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use,
● the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it,
● the ability to use the intangible asset,
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits,
● the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and use it,
● the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of Property, Plant and Equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

1.5.2  Measurement

Intangible non current assets held for operational use are valued at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment. The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full year
following acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
the expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) in the period in which it is incurred.

1.5.3  Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives or, in the case of
software licences, over the term of the licence where this is shorter.

1.6  Donated assets

Donated and grant funded Property, Plant and Equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposes a condition that the future
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the
donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the
condition has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of Property,
Plant and Equipment.

1.7  Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM,
are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets are recognised as PPE
at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 17.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the charges
for services. The finance cost is calculated using the effective interest rate for the scheme.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the
SOCI.
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Where the balance of the risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property are borne by the PFI operator, the PFI
payments are recorded as an operating expense. Where the Trust has contributed land and buildings, a prepayment
for their fair value is recognised and amortised over the life of the PFI contract by charge to the SOCI. Where, at the
end of the PFI contract, a property reverts to the Trust, the difference between the expected fair value of the residual
on reversion and any agreed payment on reversion is built up over the life of the contract by capitalising part of the
unitary charge each year, as a tangible non current asset.

1.8  Government grants

Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs) or NHS trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.

1.9 Research

The revenue costs of personnel, consumables, etc. engaged in research and development activities is shown as
direct expenditure of the Trust. Some of these activities are funded through charitable sources and therefore an
amount corresponding to the expenditure charged to the SOCI is included in operating income from charitable and
other contributions to expenditure.

Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar
as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as
assured.  

Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It is revalued on the
basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation, on a monthly basis.  

Expenditure which does not meet the criteria for capitalisation is treated as an operating cost in the year in which it is
incurred. Where possible NHS foundation trusts disclose the total amount of research and development expenditure
charged in the SOCI separately. However, where research and development activity cannot be separated from
patient care activity it cannot be identified and is therefore not separately disclosed. 

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to
the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1  The Trust as lessee

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is recorded
as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is
the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on
the outstanding liability.
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The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost.
The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is charged to
Finance Costs in the SOCI.

Operating leases

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to
operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.

1.10.2  The Trust as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.11 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the NHS Foundation Trust becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

De-recognition

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Classification and Measurement

Financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets. 

The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current investment, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables,
accrued income and ‘other receivables’.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as non-current financial liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance Property, Plant and Equipment or intangible
assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.

Impairment of financial assets

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired. Financial
assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account/bad debt provision.

1.12 Provisions

The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant,
the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and mandated by HM
Treasury.
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Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value
of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at note 17 but is not
recognised in the NHS foundation trust’s accounts.

Non-clinical risk pooling

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and, in return, receives assistance
with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in respect of
particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

1.13 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, except for pharmacy stocks which are valued at
average cost.  This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to current cost due to the high turnover of stocks. 

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.15   Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at
the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.  

A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as PDC dividend. The charge is
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust during the
financial year.

Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities; except for
(i) donated assets (including lottery funded assets),
(ii) plus the value of any deferred income balance that funds a donated asset (to avoid the potential to double count
donated assets as a reduction in relevant net assets where a donated asset is associated with a deferred income
balance).
(iii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash balances held in
GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility

(iv) for 2013/14 only, net assets and liabilities transferred from bodies which ceased to exist on 1 April 2013
(v) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for
the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the
audit of the annual accounts.

226



1.16 Non Current Asset Investments

1.16.1 Recognition and Measurement

Non current asset investments are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date.

1.16.2 Realised and unrealised gains and losses
All gains and losses are taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they arise.  Realised gains and losses 
on investments are calculated as the difference between sales proceeds and opening fair value (or cost if purchased 
since the previous period end). Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as the difference between fair value at the 
year end and the opening fair value (or cost if purchased since the previous period end).

1.17   Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more
future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 18, unless the probability of a transfer of economic
benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:

● possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

● present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefit will
arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
    
1.18   Corporation tax

Under s519A ICTA 1988 the Trust is regarded as a Health Service body and is, therefore, exempt from taxation on its
income and capital gains. Section 148 of the 2004 Finance Act provided the Treasury with powers to disapply this
exemption. Accordingly the Trust is potentially within the scope of corporation tax in respect of activities which are not
related to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare and where the profits exceed £50,000 pa. Activities such as staff
and patient car parking and sales of food are considered to be ancillary to the core healthcare objectives of the Trust
(and not entrepreneurial) and therefore not subject to corporation tax. Any tax liability will be accounted for within the
relevant tax year.

1.19  Value Added Tax (VAT)

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of non current assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.20   Foreign exchange

The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position
date:

• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’) are
   translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March;
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at
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   the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the
   date the fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the
Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains
and losses on these items.

1.21   Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way each individual case is handled.

Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the SOCI on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Trust not been bearing its own
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). Note 21 is compiled directly
from the losses and compensations register which is prepared on a cash basis.

1.22  Consolidation - Joint ventures

Joint ventures are separate entities over which the Trust has joint control with one or more other parties. The meaning
of control is to exercise control or power to influence so as to gain economic or other benefits. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Valuation of the investment in the Joint Venture is recognised at cost and the carrying amount increased or
decreased to recognise The Christie's share of its profit or loss.

1.23  Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted
 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued a number of new accounting standards for
implementation in future years. We have considered these and it is unlikely that they will have a material impact on
the financial accounts.

IFRS 13  Fair Value Measurement published in May 2011.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers published in May 2014.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments published in July 2014.
IAS 36 (amendment)  - recoverable amount disclosures published in May 2013.
Annual Improvements 2012 published in December 2013.
Annual Improvements 2013 published in December 2013
IAS 19 (amendment) - employer contributions to defined benefit pension schemes published in November 2013.
IFRIC 21 Levies published in May 2013.

No accounting standards in issue have been adopted early.
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2.   Operating segments

3.   Operating income 
Group NHS 

Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS 
Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income from activities   3.1.1 185,793 185,793 161,964 161,964
Other operating income 3.2 50,061 43,316 59,174 61,456

235,854 229,109 221,138 223,420

3.1.1  Income from activities by type
Group NHS 

Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS 
Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Elective income 32,105 32,105 34,309 34,309
Non Elective income 10,628 10,628 12,526 12,526
Outpatient income 120,749 120,749 97,531 97,531
Other types of activity 22,311 22,311 17,598 17,598

Total 185,793 185,793 161,964 161,964

Income from activities relates to income arising from mandatory services.

Due to the specialist nature of the trust increased income is from the complexities of patient case mix.

Under IFRS 8 'Operating Segments', the Trust is required to disclose financial information across significant operating segments which reflect the way the 
management runs the Trust.

The Trust has applied the aggregation criteria from IFRS 8 Operating Segments because the clinical divisions provide similar services, have homogenous 
customers, common production processes and a common regulatory environment. The overlapping activities and interrelation between the divisions also 
suggests that aggregation is appropriate. The divisions report to the CODM, and it is the CODM that ultimately makes decisions about the allocation of 
budgets, capital funding and other financial decisions.

On this basis the Trust believes that there is one segment. The overall surplus reported to the Trust Board was £5,941k (2013/14 £17,985k) for The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust and £12,862k (2013/14 £15,870k) for The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group.  These figures are the same as the position reported 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Trust’s core activities fall under the remit of the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") as defined by IFRS 8 'Operating Segments', which has been 
determined to be the Management Board, a sub-committee of the Board of Directors. These core activities are primarily the provision of specialist NHS 
healthcare, the income for which is received through contracts with commissioners. The planned level of activity is agreed with our main commissioners for 
the year, and are listed in the related party disclosure (see Note 22).

The Trust manages the delivery of healthcare services across clinical divisions. Certain aspects of performance are reported at a divisional level to the 
Management Board, although this is not the primary way in which financial matters are considered.

Growth in activity relates to chemotherapy and radiotherapy.
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3.1.2   Income from activities by source
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000
NHS Foundation Trusts 761 761 781 781
NHS Trusts 192 192 208 208
CCGs and NHS England 181,497 181,497 158,357 158,357
Department of Health 0 0 0 0
Non English NHS Bodies 3,343 3,343 2,618 2,618

Total 185,793 185,793 161,964 161,964

3.2   Other Operating Income
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000
Research and development 8,636 8,636 12,362 12,362
Education and training 3,630 3,630 4,018 4,018
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure 0 4,947 0 6,411
Charitable and other contributions to capital expenditure 0 1,512 0 10,637
Non-patient care services to other bodies 980 980 1,711 1,711
Christie Medical Physics & Engineering 5,395 5,395 5,756 5,756
Joint venture - The Christie Clinic LLP 5,545 5,545 5,683 5,683
Joint venture - The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP 1,507 1,507 0 0
North West Cancer Intelligence Services 0 0 43 43
Income in respect of staff costs 1,897 1,897 1,916 1,916
Clinical excellence awards 1,130 1,130 1,252 1,252
Catering and other commercial income 1,685 1,685 1,660 1,660
Creche services 646 646 596 596
Property rentals 620 620 656 656
Car parking 327 327 311 311
Pharmacy sales 55 55 3 3
Profit on disposal of land and buildings 0 0 0 0
Reversal of Impairments of land and buildings** 4,653 4,653 7,552 7,552
Reversal of Impairments of Financial Assets 0 0 74 10
Donations 8,243 0 8,849 0
Legacies 4,940 0 5,825 0
Other 172 151 907 879

Total 50,061 43,316 59,174 61,456

*Joint venture income relates to services provided to The Christie Clinic LLP and The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP via Service Level 
Agreements, property rental income and other contractual payments.

**Following the independent valuation, a number of properties have been revalued upwards.  Where these had suffered impairments 
through the SOCI in prior years, the revaluation has been reversed through the SOCI to the extent that the prior charge is not exceeded.
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4.  Operating Expenses

4.1   Operating expenses comprise:
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Services from Foundation Trusts 5,743 5,743 2,897 2,897
Services from NHS Trusts 832 832 765 765
Purchase of healthcare/services from other NHS bodies 2,292 2,292 2,410 2,410
Executive directors' costs 1,152 1,152 1,017 1,017
Non-executive directors' costs 118 118 101 101
Staff costs 98,508 98,508 95,555 95,555
Drug costs 59,303 59,303 48,866 48,866
Supplies and services - clinical 20,535 20,535 14,188 14,188
Supplies and services - general 3,367 3,367 2,680 2,680
Establishment 2,551 2,551 2,425 2,425
Research & Development 90 90 3,103 3,103
Transport 765 765 536 536
Premises 11,231 11,231 10,797 10,797
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 27 27 (91) (91)
Change in provisions discount rate 29 29 (12) (12)
Other impairment of financial assets 0 0 0 0
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 10,870 10,870 8,874 8,874
Amortisation of intangibles 262 262 247 247
Non current asset impairments 208 208 8,088 8,088
Non current asset reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0
Audit fees 72 62 71 62
Other auditors' remuneration 94 94 6 6
Insurance and clinical negligence 683 683 662 662
Loss on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 61 61 0 0
Legal fees 119 119 (30) (30)
Consultancy costs 2,535 2,535 1,569 1,569
Redundancy and termination benefits 5 5 57 57
Losses, ex gratia and special payments* 110 110 26 26
Other 2,967 2,977 826 832

Total 224,529 224,529 205,633 205,630

4.2   Audit fees
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Audit services - statutory audit 58 48 57 48
Audit services - audit related regulatory reporting 14 14 14 14

Total 72 62 71 62

4.3   Other auditors' remuneration

The fees paid or payable to the external auditor for other services are made up as follows;

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Strategic Plan Advice 30 30 6 6
Governance Assurance 60 60 0 0
Additional Reporting - The Christie Clinic LLP 4 4 0 0

Total 94 94 6 6

*Total losses reported in this note are prepared on an accruals basis and therefore do not compare to note 21. 

The auditors' total liability (including interest) for all claims connected with the services or the agreement with the Trust (including but not limited to 
negligence) is limited to £1m.
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5.   Operating leases

5.1   NHS FT as lessee
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 39 39 253 253
Contingent rents 0 0 0 0
Less Sub-lease payments received 0 0 0 0

39 39 253 253
Total future minimum lease payments
Payable:
Not later than 1 year 0 0 253 253
Later than 1 year not later than 5 years 0 0 0 0
Later than 5 years 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 253 253

5.2   NHS FT as lessor
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Recognised as income
Rents 1,968 1,968 1,966 1,966
Contingent Rents 0 0 0 0

Total 1,968 1,968 1,966 1,966

Receivable:
Not later than 1 year 1,897 1,897 1,823 1,823
Later than 1 year not later than 5 years 7,690 7,690 7,150 7,150
Later than 5 years 18,750 18,750 20,634 20,634

Total 28,337 28,337 29,607 29,607

The Trust has granted a lease to Public Health England for accomodation at 63-65 Palatine Road.  This lease is due to expire on 31 May 2015.

The Trust has granted a 5 year lease to the NHS Blood Transfusion Service for use of the Photophoresis Unit.  This lease is due to expire on 30 November 2016.

The Trust has a lease arrangement with Siemens Medical Diagnostics Limited for the provision of immunological, haematological and chemistry analytical 
services.

The Trust has granted a number of leases to the University of Manchester at the Withington site.  

The Trust entered into an agreement with The Christie Clinic whereby the joint venture leases from the Trust part of the new patient treatment centre for 20 years, 
effective from 15 September 2010.  

The Trust entered into an agreement with The Christie Clinic whereby the joint venture leases from the Trust a ward initially for for four years.  This has now been 
extended for a further four years until 14 September 2018.
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6.   Employee costs and numbers

6.1  Employee expenses
Group

2013-2014

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 82,869 74,708 8,161 81,180
Social security costs 6,281 6,281 0 5,676
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 
 - Directors 120 120 0 95
 - Other staff 9,466 9,466 0 9,148
Pension costs - other contributions 2 2 0 2
Termination benefits 5 5 0 57
Agency/ contract staff 922 0 922 471

Total 99,665 90,582 9,083 96,629

Capitalised staff costs are excluded from this note and total £796k (2013/14: £530k)

6.2   Average numbers of persons employed

Group

2013-2014

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total
wte wte wte wte

Medical and dental 221 148 73 212
Administration and estates 738 735 3 702

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 329 329 0 321

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 528 527 1 505
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 476 474 2 507
Bank and agency staff 7 0 7 16

Total 2,299 2,213 86 2,263

Capitalised staff numbers are excluded from this note and total 11 wte (2013-14: 8 wte)

6.3   Employee Benefits

6.4   Staff exit packages

Group Group

Exit package cost band
Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of other 
departures agreed

Total number 
of exit 
packages by 
cost band

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band

<£10,000 1 0 1 0 0 0
£10,000    -   £25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£25,001    -   £50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£50,001    -   £100,000 0 0 0 0 1 1
£100,001  -  £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£150,001  -  £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£200,001  -  £250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£250,001  -  £300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£300,001  -  £350,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£350,001  -  £400,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£400,001  -  £450,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total number of exit packages by type 1 0 1 0 1 1
Total resource cost (£000's) 5 0 5 0 57 57

All employee costs and numbers for The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group disclosed within Note 6 relate solely to The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.

The Chrisite Charitable Fund do not employ any staff directly.  The Christie NHS Foundation Trust recharges the Christie Charitable Fund for staff undertaking 
fundraising, management, finance and administration duties and for the staff undertaking the charitable activities of research, clinical care and other activities. 
These include the staff costs related to The Christie Charitable Fund Trading Company Limited.

Group

Group

2014-2015 2013-2014

The Trust has made the following termination payments to staff during the year, the total cost of these is shown within operating expenses.

2014-2015

2014-2015

This relates to non-pay benefits which are not attributable to individual employees. There were no such benefits this year.

Prior year figures for Nursing & Healthcare assistants have been amended for 2013-14 as 143 staff were incorrectly shown as nursing staff  
rather than Healthcare assistants.
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6.5   Early Retirements due to ill-health

6.6   Directors' Remuneration and Other Benefits 

Group Group
2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000

Directors' Remuneration 1,152 1,017

Employer contributions to a pension scheme in respect of Directors 120 95

Post employment benefits 0 0

Long term benefits 0 0

2014-2015 2013-2014

Number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under a defined 
benefit scheme.

6 5

7.1   Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance

Number £000 Number £000

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 24,982 113,248 24,544 105,717
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 23,380 108,097 23,524 101,163

Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 94% 95% 96% 96%

Total NHS trade invoices in the year 1,841 20,084 1,870 15,698
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 1,538 18,207 1,482 13,668

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 84% 91% 79% 87%

7.2.   The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Group Group
2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims made 
under this legislation from claims made by small businesses. 0 0

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation 0 0

During 2014-15 there were 3 early retirements (2013-14,3) from the Trust on the grounds of ill-health.  The estimated additional pension 
liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £141k (2013-14 £153k).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by NHS 
Pensions.

(Full details of Directors' remuneration and other benefits are set out in the Trust's Remuneration report which is included in the annual 
report).

During 2014-15 no remuneration was made to the Trustee of The Christie Charitable Fund (2013-14: £nil).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods 
or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

There is also a further requirement for all NHS Foundation Trusts to pay all small local businesses within 10 days from date of invoice or 
receipt of goods.  The Trust has paid 82% within this target (2013-14: 86%).

2014-2015 2013-2014
Group Group
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8.   Finance costs and finance revenue

8.1   Finance income
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank interest receivable 288 145 266 130
Interest on loans and receivables 97 97 44 44
Interest on held-to-maturity financial assets 3 0 3 0
Other gains (investment properties) 0 0 0 0

Total 388 242 313 174

8.2   Finance costs - financial liabilities
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest on loans and overdrafts 752 752 798 798
Interest expense under finance leases 0 0 2 2
Interest on obligations under PFI contracts 36 36 42 42
Interest on late payment of commercial debt 0 0 0 0
Other interest expense 0 0 0 0

Total interest expense 788 788 842 842

Other finance costs 0 0 0 0

Total 788 788 842 842
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9.   Intangible assets

9.1   Intangible assets 2014-2015

Software 
purchased

Software 
Internally 

generated
Licences and 

trademarks Patents
Development 
Expenditure Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2014 3,031 0 0 0 0 3,031
Additions - purchased 1,715 0 0 0 0 1,715
Additions - leased 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - purchased from The Christie Charitable Fund contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers (to)/from NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (799) 0 0 0 0 (799)
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2015 3,947 0 0 0 0 3,947
Accumulated Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2014 2,192 0 0 0 0 2,192
Charged during the year 262 0 0 0 0 262
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers to NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (799) 0 0 0 0 (799)
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2015 1,655 0 0 0 0 1,655

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2015 2,292 0 0 0 0 2,292
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net book value - Purchased from the Christie Charitable 
Fund Contributions at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net book value at 31 March 2015 2,292 0 0 0 0 2,292

9.2   Intangible assets 2013-2014

Software 
purchased

Software 
Internally 

generated
Licences and 

trademarks Patents
Development 
Expenditure Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2013 2,362 0 0 0 0 2,362
Additions - purchased 669 0 0 0 0 669
Additions - leased 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - purchased from The Christie Charitable Fund contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers (to)/from NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2014 3,031 0 0 0 0 3,031

Accumulated Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2013 1,945 0 0 0 0 1,945
Charged during the year 247 0 0 0 0 247
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers to NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2014 2,192 0 0 0 0 2,192

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2014 824 0 0 0 0 824
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net book value - Purchased from the Christie Charitable 
Fund Contributions at 31 March 2015 15 0 0 0 0 15

Net book value at 31 March 2014 839 0 0 0 0 839

Group

Group

All Intangible Assets of the The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group are held by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.  The Christie Charitable Fund does not hold any 
Intangible Assets.
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10.   Property, Plant and Equipment

10.1   Property, Plant and Equipment 2014-2015

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings
dwellings and payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2014 14,851 147,320 0 1,875 48,214 33 7,925 0 220,218
Additions - purchased 0 1,711 0 7,794 2,397 0 965 0 12,867
Additions - purchased from The Christie 
Charitable Fund contributions

0 502 0 872 138 0 0 0 1,512

Impairments 0 (208) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (208)
Reclassifications 0 0 0 (2,659) 2,659 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 7,294 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,294
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (4,834) 0 (145) 0 (4,979)
Gross cost at 31 March 2015 14,851 156,619 0 7,882 48,574 33 8,745 0 236,704

Accumulated Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2014 896 27,787 0 0 27,356 3 5,754 0 61,796
Charged during the year 0 5,996 0 0 4,198 7 669 0 10,870
Impairment Reversals 0 (4,653) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,653)
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (4,323) 0 (137) 0 (4,460)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2015 896 29,130 0 0 27,231 10 6,286 0 63,553

Net book value at 1 April 2015 13,955 127,489 0 7,882 21,343 23 2,459 0 173,151

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2015 13,505 56,689 0 7,717 14,544 0 2,037 0 94,492
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2015 0 16,324 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,324
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 472 0 0 0 472
Net book value - Purchased from the 
Christie Charitable Fund Contributions at 
31 March 2015 450 54,476 0 165 6,327 23 422 0 61,863
Net book value at 31 March 2015 13,955 127,489 0 7,882 21,343 23 2,459 0 173,151

10.2   Property, Plant and Equipment 2013-2014

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings
dwellings & payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2013 12,706 123,485 0 6,284 46,872 0 7,213 0 196,560
Additions - purchased 1,975 2,474 0 5,358 1,338 0 712 0 11,857
Additions - purchased from The Christie 
Charitable Fund contributions

0 204 0 9,740 659 33 0 0 10,636

Impairments 0 (334) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (334)
Reclassifications 170 16,127 0 (19,507) 3,210 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 5,364 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,364
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (3,865) 0 0 0 (3,865)
Gross cost at 31 March 2014 14,851 147,320 0 1,875 48,214 33 7,925 0 220,218

Accumulated Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2013 121 23,958 0 0 26,982 0 5,190 0 56,251
Charged during the year 0 4,068 0 0 4,239 3 564 0 8,874
Impairments 775 (239) 0 0 0 0 0 0 536
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (3,865) 0 0 0 (3,865)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2014 896 27,787 0 0 27,356 3 5,754 0 61,796

Net book value at 1 April 2013 12,585 99,527 0 6,284 19,890 0 2,023 0 140,309

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2014 13,505 53,234 0 1,740 13,223 0 1,634 0 83,336
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2014 0 14,939 0 0 29 0 0 0 14,968
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 619 0 0 0 619
Net book value - Purchased from the 
Christie Charitable Fund Contributions at 
31 March 2015 450 51,360 0 135 6,987 30 537 0 59,499
Net book value at 31 March 2014 13,955 119,533 0 1,875 20,858 30 2,171 0 158,422

All Property, Plant and Equipment of the The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group are held by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.  The Christie Charitable Fund do not hold any 
Property, Plant and Equipment Assets.

Group

Group

Land and buildings were revalued as at 31 March 2015 (previously revalued at 31 March 2014).  The valuation exercise was carried out by an independent professional valuer.  
Independent valuations have not been undertaken for the remaining classes of Property, Plant and Equipment as their carrying amount is deemed to be the fair value. 

The Christie Charitable Fund has provided funding for assets donated in year.

There are no restrictions placed on the use of the trust's Charity funded assets as part of the offer of funding.
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10.3   Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The net book value of land and buildings at 31 March 2015 comprises:
Group Group
2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000
Freehold 125,120 118,549
Long leasehold 16,324 14,939
Short leasehold 0 0
Total 141,444 133,488

10.4   Economic Lives of Non-current Assets

Min Life Max Life
Intangible assets Years Years
Software purchased 1 5

Property, Plant and Equipment
Buildings excluding dwellings 5 74
Plant and machinery 1 15
Transport equipment 3 5
Information technology 1 10

10.5   Impairments
Impairments charged in the year to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
£000 £000 £000 £000

Impairments arose from:
Loss or damage from normal operations 0 0 0 0
Loss as a result of catastrophe 0 0 0 0
Abandonment in the course of construction 0 0 0 0
Unforeseen obsolescence 0 0 0 0
Over-specification of assets 208 0 7,134 0
Changes in market price 0 0 954 0

0 0 0 0
Other (specify) 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments (4,653) 0 (7,552) 0
Total (4,445) 0 536 0

10.6   Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups

The Trust has no non-current assets held for sale or in disposal groups.

Group Group

Group

2014-2015 2013-2014

Write down to depreciated replacement costs on 
bringing a new asset into use
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10.7   Net book value of assets held under finance leases 2014-2015

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture PFI Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings arrangements
dwellings and payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,573 2,695
Additions - purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - purchased from The Christie 
Charitable Fund contributions

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (122) 0 0 0 0 (122)
Gross cost at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,573 2,573

Accumulated Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 93 0 0 0 1,983 2,076
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 118 122
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (97) 0 0 0 0 (97)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,101 2,101

Net book value at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 0 590 619

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 472 472

Net book value at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 472 472

10.8  Net book value of assets held under finance leases 2013-2014

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture PFI Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings arrangements
dwellings and payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,573 2,695
Additions - purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - purchased from The Christie 
Charitable Fund contributions

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,573 2,695

Accumulated Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 69 0 0 0 1,770 1,839
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 213 237
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 93 0 0 0 1,983 2,076

Net book value at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 0 803 856

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 0 590 619

Net book value at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 0 590 619

Group

Group
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11.   Investments

11.1   Investment in jointly controlled operations

TCC CPP Total
£000 £000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 2014 6,439 0 6,439

Acquisitions in year 0 442 442
Share of profit/ (loss) 4,368 0 4,368
Impairments 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 

Carrying value at 31 March 2015 10,807 442 11,249

TCC CPP Total
£000 £000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 2013 7,291 0 7,291

Acquisitions in year 0 0 0
Share of profit/ (loss) 2,902 0 2,902
Impairments 0 0 0
Disposals (3,754) 0 (3,754)

Carrying value at 31 March 2014 6,439 0 6,439

11.2   Disclosure of aggregate amounts for assets of jointly controlled operations

TCC CPP

Proportion of ownership interests held by The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust Group

49.0% 49.9%

Proportion of voting rights held by The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust Group

50.0% 50.0%

Gross Assets Net Assets Total Profit/(Loss)
£000 £000 £000

The Christie Clinic LLP (TCC) 29,486 27,122 9,739
The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP (CPP) 1,619 417 (544)

Total 31,105 27,539 9,195

Gross Assets Net Assets Total Profit/(Loss)
£000 £000 £000

The Christie Clinic LLP (TCC) 20,156 17,193 6,197
The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP (CPP) 0 0 0

Total 20,156 17,193 6,797

The loss reported is due to initial start up costs and lower than expected third party sales.

2013-14

For The Christie Clinic LLP the figures in the note below are based on the draft accounts to the end of December 2014 and the Quarter 1 management 
accounts to the end of March 2015.  For The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP  the figures are based on the management accounts for the period to the 
end of March 2015.  

On 15 September 2010 the Trust entered into an LLP agreement with HCA International Limited to establish The Christie Clinic LLP (TCC).  The carrying 
value and profits represent the contractual arrangements of The Christie Clinic.

On 1 June 2014 the Trust entered into an LLP agreement with Synlab UK Limited to establish The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP (CPP).  The carrying 
value represents the value of non-current assets transferred from The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group to The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP as 
part of the initial setup with Synlab investing working capital equal to the value of the non-current assets.

All investments in joint ventures by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group have been entered into by the The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.

All investments in joint ventures by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group have been entered into by the The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.

2014-2015

2014-2015

2013-2014

For TCC and CPP the residual proportions of ownership interests and voting rights are held by HCA and Synlab respectively.
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11.3 Investment assets

Unrestricted Endowment Total
2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Market value at 31 March 2014 6 421 427 393 
Less: disposals at carrying value (6) (59) (65) (6)
Add: acquisitions at cost 0 57 57 5 
Movement in cash held as investment assets:
arising from disposals, income received and distributions 0 6 6 6 
arising from cash transferred from short term deposits 0 0 0 0 
Unrealised gain/ (loss) on revaluation 0 28 28 29 
   
Market value at 31 March 2015 0 453 453 427 

Unrealised gain/ (loss) on revaluation as above 0 28 28 29 
Realised loss on disposal 1 1 2 2 

Total gain/(loss) on revaluation and 
disposal of investment assets 1 29 30 31 

Analysis of non current asset investments

Market value at 31 March 2015: Unrestricted Endowment 2014/15 2013/14
Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Investments listed on Stock Exchange 0 424 424 401
Cash held as part of the investment portfolio 0 29 29 26

0 453 453 427

The non current asset investments held at 31 March 2015 related to the endowment funds were all invested in the UK.  
The investments held for the unrestricted funds which were fully disposed in 2014-15 had been invested in the USA.  

2014/2015 2013/14
Premier Portfolio Conbrio UK Opps Charity 53% 54%
I Shares III FTSE UK Gilts 9% 9%
Premier Portfolio Conbrio Managed Multi Asset 5% 5%
DB X-Trackers MSCI USA TRN Index ETF 0% 9%

12.   Inventories
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
Inventories £000 £000 £000 £000

Raw materials and Consumables 482 412 673 648
Work in progress 0 0 0 0
Finished goods 0 0 0 0

Total 482 412 673 648

Inventories recognised in expenses 2,150 2,150 4,285 4,285
Write down of inventories recognised as an expense 0 0 0 0
Reversal of any write down of inventories resulting in a 
reduction of recognised expenses 0 0 0 0

Total 2,150 2,150 4,285 4,285

All of the Investments assets are held by The Christie Charitable Fund.

The investment portfolio consists of unit trusts, open ended investment company funds, exchange traded funds and gilts.  Those which exceed 5% of 
the portfolio as at 31 March 2015 are:
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13.   Trade and Other Receivables and Financial Assets

13.1   Trade and Other Receivables

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables - revenue 3,663 4,469 0 0
Other receivables with related parties 761 765 196 0
Non-NHS trade receivables - revenue 2,846 3,614 0 878
Non-NHS trade receivables - capital 0 0 0 0
Provision for impairment of receivables (45) (31) 0 0
Finance lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Operating Lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Prepayments 2,860 2,184 0 0
Accrued income 4,230 3,359 0 0
PDC dividend refund accrual 0 73 0 0
Charitable fund receivables 0 0 0 0
Other receivables 15 28 0 0

Trade and other receivables 14,330 14,461 196 878

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables - revenue 3,663 4,469 0 0
Other receivables with related parties 761 765 196 0
Non-NHS trade receivables - revenue 2,793 3,564 0 878
Non-NHS trade receivables - capital 0 0 0 0
Provision for impairment of receivables (45) (31) 0 0
Finance lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Operating Lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Prepayments 2,860 2,184 0 0
Accrued income 4,223 3,196 0 0
PDC dividend refund accrual 0 73 0 0
Charitable fund receivables 382 244 0 0
Other receivables 0 0 0 0

Trade and other receivables 14,637 14,464 196 878

13.2   Provision for impairment of receivables 
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS 

Foundation 
Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 31 31 161 161
Increase in provision 43 43 11 11
Amounts utilised (13) (13) (39) (39)
Unused amounts reversed (16) (16) (102) (102)
At 31 March 45 45 31 31

13.3   Analysis of impaired receivables 

Ageing of impaired receivables
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS 

Foundation 
Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Up to three months 0 0 9 9
In three to six months 40 40 0 0
Over six months 5 5 22 22

45 45 31 31

Ageing of non impaired receivables past their due date.
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS 

Foundation 
Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Up to three months 6,265 6,579 7,608 7,774
In three to six months 83 83 82 82
Over six months 892 892 911 911

7,240 7,554 8,601 8,767

The above analysis does not include accrued income or prepayments

Group

NHS Foundation Trust

Current Non-current

Current Non-current
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13.4   Other financial assets
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Other financial assets at 31 March 187 25 263 35

14.1  Cash and cash equivalents
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Balance at 1 April 88,373 51,419 89,979 50,577
Net change in the year 4,362 (2,981) (1,606) 842

Balance at 31 March 92,735 48,438 88,373 51,419

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 10,157 52 10,396 52
Cash with the Government Banking Service 82,578 48,386 77,977 51,367

Cash and Cash Equivalents as in SoFP 92,735 48,438 88,373 51,419

14.2  Analysis of changes in net (debt)/ funds

31 March 2014 Movement in year 31 March 2015
£000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 88,373 4,362 92,735

Debt due within one year (1,065) 12 (1,053)

Debt due after one year (17,950) 1,054 (16,896)

Total net funds 69,358 5,428 74,786

31 March 2014 Movement in year 31 March 2015
£000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 51,419 (2,981) 48,438

Debt due within one year (1,065) 12 (1,053)

Debt due after one year (17,950) 1,054 (16,896)

Total net funds 32,404 (1,915) 30,489

The Trust invested £1,000k and The Christie Charitable Fund invested £6,500k in a term deposit account with Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander in 2008, prior to the bank 
being put into administration.  Based on the Administrator's assessment in 2008-09 these assets were initially impaired to £500k and £3,250k respectively (50p in the £ 
recovery) at 31 March 2009.

The Administrator has since improved his assessment of the potential recovery and at 31 March 2015 this stood at £850k and £5,525k respectively (85p in the £ recovery).  
The total of declared and received dividends at 31 March 2015 amounts to £825k and £5,363k respectively (82.5p in the £).

The Administrator's assessment of the outstanding valuation yet to be received via dividends is £25k and £162k respectively.  As at 31 March 2015 the Administrator has 
declared no dividends that have not yet been received.

Group

NHS Foundation Trust
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15.1   Trade and other payables

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receipts in advance 2,608 2,063 0 0
NHS payables revenue 2,175 2,262 0 0
Amounts due to related parties 202 29 0 0
Trade payables capital 2,672 2,773 0 0
VAT payable 19 0 0 0
Other payables 4,311 7,748 0 0
Accruals 7,715 7,804 0 0
PDC dividend payable 0 0 0 0

19,702 22,679 0 0

Taxes payable 31 1,822 0 0

Total Trade and Other Payables 19,733 24,501 0 0

Non-
current

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receipts in advance 2,608 2,063 0 0
NHS payables revenue 2,175 2,262 0 0
Amounts due to related parties 202 29 0 0
Trade payables capital 2,672 2,773 0 0
VAT payable 19 0 0 0
Other payables 4,309 7,747 0 0
Accruals 7,563 7,774 0 0
PDC dividend payable 0 0 0 0

19,548 22,648 0 0

Taxes payable 31 1,822 0 0

Total Trade and Other Payables 19,579 24,470 0 0

15.2  Other liabilities

Non-
current

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred Income 689 217 11,840 9,276

Total Other Liabilities 689 217 11,840 9,276

Non-
current

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred Income 689 217 11,840 9,276

Total Other Liabilities 689 217 11,840 9,276

Non current deferred income relates to research and development funds received to undertake clinical trials and other research 
projects which last in excess of one year.

Group

NHS Foundation Trust

Current

Group

NHS Foundation Trust

Current Non-current

Other payables includes £6k (2013-14: £nil) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015.

Current

Current

Other payables includes £6k (2013-14: £nil) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015.

Non current deferred income relates to research and development funds received to undertake clinical trials and other research 
projects which last in excess of one year.
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16.   Borrowings

16.1   Borrowings

2014-2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank Overdraft 0 0 0 0
Loan from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 911 911 16,443 17,354
Finance Lease Liabilities 0 18 0 1
Obligations Under PFI contracts 142 136 453 595

Total 1,053 1,065 16,896 17,950

Loan from Foundation Trust Financing Facility

All Borrowings of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group are by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.  The Christie Charitable Fund 
does not have any Borrowings.

Group
Current Non-current

The trust had an application for a £21m loan to support its investment in new buildings to improve patient access to services approved 
by the foundation trust financing facility. 

Repayment of the loan principle commenced from 15 September 2011 on a bi-annual basis. The loan is charged at a fixed interest rate 
of 4.2% pa. The final repayment date is 15 March 2034.
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 17.   Provisions

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to former directors 0 0 0 0
Pensions relating to other staff 11 11 107 103
Personal injury claims 98 69 0 0
Other 628 103 633 549

Total 737 183 740 652

Pensions Pensions Personal Other Total
relating to relating to injury

former other claims
directors staff

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2014 0 114 69 652 835
Change in discount rate 0 3 0 26 29
Arising during the year 0 10 63 599 672
Utilised during the year 0 (11) (20) (25) (56)
Reversed unused 0 0 (14) 0 (14)
Unwinding of discount 0 2 0 9 11

At 31 March 2015 0 118 98 1,261 1,477

Expected timing of cash-flows:
Not later than 1 year 0 11 98 628 737
Later than 1 year not later than 5 years 0 42 0 272 314
Later than 5 years 0 65 0 361 426

0 118 98 1,261 1,477

The other provision include:

All Provisions for liabilities and charges of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group are by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.  The Christie 
Charitable Fund does not have any Provisions.

Group
Current Non-current

 - An ill-health retirement of £479k;
 - Potential VAT liability following HMRC Compliance review of £295k;
 - Cost of pseudomyxoma peritonei complications of £266k The provision is been based on the average cost of complications per operation
   over the preceding 3 years, linked to the number of operations undertaken within a 3 year period.

£2,306k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2015 in respect of the clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust 
(£632k at 31 March 2014).

The above provision for personal injury is based upon information supplied by the NHS Litigation Authority. The associated contingent liability is 
shown under note 18.1.
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18.   Contingencies at 31 March

18.1 Contingent Liabilities

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

Group NHS Foundation 
Trust

 2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Personal injury claim (41) (41) (31) (31)
Indemnities (61) 0 (29) 0

(102) (41) (60) (31)

18.2 Contingent Assets

Number of Shares Percentage Holding

Champion Limited (formerly Stepquick PLC) 659,521 2.11%

The Group has no other contingent assets at the balance sheet date.

19.   Capital commitments

The value of these shares are not considered to be material to The Christie Charitable Fund.

The personal injury claims liability is based upon information supplied by the NHS Litigation Authority.

For the Indemnities liability, The Christie Charitable Fund has a policy of accepting unclaimed legacy funds whilst offering 
indemnities to Solicitors for these funds.  The repayment of these funds is classified as possible and not probable and 
therefore a contingent liability is recognised for all gifts where an indemnity is given.  These are held for five years from the 
date of the gift.

The Christie Charitable Fund holds the following shares in these companies at 31 March 2015:

The Trust has entered into capital commitments for a number of projects, including significant design work for a new facility 
and the purchase of high value medical research and treatment equipment.  As at 31 March 2015 the capital commitments 
contracted amounted to £6.9m (£7.5m contracted at 31 March 2014).
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20.   Lease obligations

20.1   Finance lease obligations

Amounts payable under finance leases:

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year 0 19 0 18
Between one and five years 0 1 0 1
After five years 0 0 0 0
Less future finance charges        0 (1) 0 0

Present value of minimum lease payments 0 19 0 19

Included in:
Current borrowings 0 18
Non-current borrowings 0 1

0 19

20.2   Private Finance Initiative lease obligations

Amounts payable under PFI leases:

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year 171 171 142 136
Between one and five years 497 668 453 595
After five years 0 0 0 0
Less future finance charges        (73) (108) 0 0

Present value of minimum lease payments 595 731 595 731

Included in:
Current borrowings 142 136
Non-current borrowings 453 595

595 731

The finance lease obligations relate to the following private finance initiative schemes;

PFI 1. Provision of an Energy Management Service

Contract Start date: September 2003
Contract End date: August 2019

31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000

Total Total

Within one year 864 864
2nd to 5th years 2,592 3,456
6th to 10th years 0 0

3,456 4,320

Group

All Finance Leases held by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group are held by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.  The Christie Charitable Fund 
do not hold any Finance Leases.

Group

Group

All PFI Assets held by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group are held by The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.  The Christie Charitable Fund does 
not hold any PFI Assets.

20.3 The Trust is committed to make the following payments for the service element of on-SoFP PFI's obligations  until the commitment 
expires:

Present value of minimum lease 
paymentsMinimum lease payments

Present value of minimum lease 
paymentsMinimum lease payments
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21.   Losses and special payments

22.    Related Party Transactions

Receivables Payables Income Expenditure
£000 £000 £000 £000

Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 888 328 2,324 1,642
University Hospital Of South Manchester NHS Foundation Trust 93 373 2,166 1,947
Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust 655 11 442 3,081
East Cheshire NHS Trust 4 176 74 2,115
Health Education England 1 1 3,734 2
Cheshire, Warrington & Wirral Area Team 0 0 162,653 0
Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne & Wear Area Team 3,584 0 18,675 0

Receivables Payables Income Expenditure
£000 £000 £000 £000

HM Revenue & Customs 122 50 0 6,281
NHS Pension Scheme (Employers Contributions ) 0 6 0 9,586
Welsh Health Bodies 134 1 2,849 1
NHS Blood & Transplant 0 62 15 2,293

Receivables Payables Income Expenditure
£000 £000 £000 £000

The Christie Clinic LLP 1,014 120 5,545 121
The Christie Pathology Partnership LLP 170 220 1,507 5,565

Other bodies within the Whole Government Accounts (WGA) boundary the Group has had material transactions with are listed below:

The Group has had material transactions with the following joint ventures:

There were 32 cases of losses and special payments (2013-14: 31 cases) totalling £151k (2013-14: £83k) paid during 2014-15.

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.

During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has undertaken any 
material transactions with The Christie NHS Foundation Trust or The Christie Chartiable Fund. See note 6.6 for details of Directors' 
remuneration and other benefits.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year The Christie NHS Foundation Trust Group has had a significant 
number of material transactions totalling £1.9m (2013-14: £3.0m) with the Department.  In addition The Group had significant transactions 
(£1.5m and greater) with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent.  These entities are listed below:
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23.   Financial instruments

IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39 require disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.  Under the NHS financial 
regime the service provider relationship that the Trust has with its commissioners and the way they are 
funded, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.  Also financial 
instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed 
companies to which IAS 39 mainly applies.  The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds 
and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held 
to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.

Market risk

Market risk is the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such measures as 
interest rates and stock market movements. The Trust's transactions are almost all undertaken in sterling 
and so it is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. It holds no significant investments other than short-term 
bank deposits. Other than cash balance, the Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of 
interest and the Trust's income and operating cash-flows are substantially independant of changes in 
market interest rates.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the possibility that the Trust might not have the funds available to meet it's commitments to 
make payments.  Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and the availability 
of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  

The Trust's net operating costs were incurred under annual service agreements primarily with NHS 
England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  The Trust has achieved a risk 
ratio for liquidity of 4 as defined by Monitor's compliance framework. This illustrates the liquidity risk to the 
Trust is low.

Interest-Rate Risk

All of the Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest, the Trust is not, 
therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk. 

Foreign Currency Risk

The Trust has negligible foreign currency income or expenditure.
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 23.1   Financial Assets
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0
NHS receivables 3,663 3,663 2,802 2,802
Non-NHS receivables 8,003 8,310 11,396 11,399
Cash at bank and in hand 92,735 48,438 88,373 51,419
Other investments 453 0 0 0
Current assets 187 25 263 35

Total at 31 March 105,041 60,436 102,834 65,655

23.2    Financial Liabilities
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0
NHS payables 2,175 2,175 2,938 2,938
Non-NHS payables 14,719 14,565 19,256 19,225
Borrowings 17,354 17,354 18,266 18,266
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations 595 595 749 749
Provisions under contract 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 0 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 34,843 34,689 41,209 41,178

The carrying values of short term financial assets and financial liabilities are considered to approximate to fair value.

23.3    Maturity of financial liabilities
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

In one year or less 17,947 17,793 23,258 23,227
In more than one year but not more than five years 4,097 4,097 4,242 4,242
In more than five years 12,799 12,799 13,709 13,709

Total 34,843 34,689 41,209 41,178

The carrying values of short term financial assets and financial liabilities are considered to approximate to fair value.

The Trust has a loan with the Foundation Trust Financing Facility which is categorised as non-current financial liabilities. The carrying value of 
the liability is considered to approximate to fair value as the arrangement is of a fixed interest and equal instalment repayment nature and the 
interest rate is not materially different to the discount rate.

The items listed above are classified as other financial liabilities. 

The items listed above are classified as loans and receivables. Carrying value is considered to approximate to fair value.

251



Consolidated Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2014-2015

24.   Public Dividend Capital
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust
Group NHS Foundation 

Trust

2014-2015 2014-2015 2013-2014 2013-2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Public dividend capital at start of year 62,969 62,969 61,916 61,916
New public dividend capital received 6,300 6,300 1,053 1,053
Public dividend capital repaid in year 0 0 0 0
Public dividend capital repayable 0 0 0 0
Public dividend capital written off 0 0 0 0
Other movements in public dividend capital in year 0 0 0 0

69,269 69,269 62,969 62,969

25.   Prior Year Adjustments

26.   Events after the reporting year

There were no post balance sheet events requiring disclosure.

There are no prior year adjustments relating to the year.
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27.  Charity reserves

31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000

Endownment funds 455 422
Unrestricted funds 44,066 37,178

44,521 37,600

27.1  Endowment funds

Balance Incoming Resources Transfers Gains and Balance
31 March Resources Expended Losses 31 March

2014 2015
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Edith and Hiram Tagg and Samuel Fidler Gregson Memorial Fund 421 3 0 0 29 453 
Minor Legacies 1 1 0 0 0 2 
Total 422 4 0 0 29 455 

27.2  Unrestricted funds

Balance Incoming Resources Transfers Gains and Balance
31 March Resources Expended Losses 31 March

2014 2015
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cancer appeal fund 18,350 8,652 (4,039) (405) 1 22,559 
General research 7,382 1,013 (1,193) 54 0 7,256 
GI DOG research 1,057 161 (117) 0 0 1,101 
Medical equipment fund 1,137 330 (18) (399) 0 1,050 
Melanoma and kidney research 1,570 20 (42) (20) 0 1,528 
Paediatric oncology unit 724 884 (254) (293) 0 1,061 
Leukaemia research 734 532 (5) 0 0 1,261 
Pat seed fund 479 399 (6) 778 0 1,650 
Other 5,745 1,355 (785) 285 0 6,600 

37,178 13,346 (6,459) 0 1 44,066 

Transfers between funds relate to grant applications approved by the Charitable Fund Committee where funds are requested from different unrestricted funds.

The fund names are self explanatory in most cases but further information is given below:-  

The purpose of the Edith and Hiram Tagg and Samuel Fidler Gregson endowment fund is to benefit children and elderly patients at the Christie Hospital. 

The terms of the initial minor legacy were for the capital of £1k to be invested and the income applied for the general purposes of the charity.  A new legacy 
under an endowment has been received in 2015-16 which follows the same conditions.

The movements on the larger funds (balance over £1,000k at the beginning or close of the year) are disclosed above.

The Cancer Appeal Fund is the general fund for the Charity. The other unrestricted funds are designated funds which have been earmarked for various 
purposes in the future which meet the objectives of the charity.
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28. The Christie Charitable Fund

28.1 Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities for the year ended 31 March 2015

2014/15 2013/14

Trading Unrestricted Endowment Total Total
Activities Funds Funds

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Incoming resources
Incoming resources from generated funds:

Voluntary income:
Donations 0 8,243 0 8,243 8,849 
Legacies 0 4,939 1 4,940 5,825 

Sub total voluntary income 0 13,182 1 13,183 14,674 
Activities for generating funds 0 21 0 21 28 
Investment income 0 143 3 146 139 
Other incoming resources 0 0 0 0 0 
Total incoming resources 0 13,346 4 13,350 14,841 

Resources expended
Costs of generating funds 0 2,325 0 2,325 2,534 

Charitable activities
Clinical care 0 189 0 189 576 
Research 0 1,318 0 1,318 1,149 
Purchase of new equipment 0 969 0 969 842 
New buildings, refurbishment & major projects 0 877 0 877 10,028 
Other including staff & patient welfare 0 703 0 703 1,839 
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 0 0 0 0 0 
Sub total expenditure on charitable activities 0 4,056 0 4,056 14,434 

Governance costs 0 78 0 78 83 

Total resources expended 0 6,459 0 6,459 17,051 

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before transfers 0 6,887 4 6,891 (2,210)

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 

0 6,887 4 6,891 (2,210)

Gains/(losses) on revaluation and disposal
of investment assets 0 1 29 30 95 

Net movement in funds 0 6,888 33 6,921 (2,115)

Fund balances brought forward at 31 March 2014 0 37,178 422 37,600 39,715 

Profit on ordinary activities 0 0 0 0 0 

Fund balances carried
forward at 31 March 2015 0 44,066 455 44,521 37,600 

As per the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual for 2014-15, The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities and Balance Sheet for The 
Christie Charitable Fund presented in this note have been prepared in accordance with the Charities Act 2011,  "Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP)" issued in March 2005 and applicable UK Accounting Standards (UK GAAP).

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before other 
recognised gains and losses
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28. The Christie Charitable Fund

28.2 Consolidated Balance Sheets as at 31 March 2015

Unrestricted Endowment Total at 31 Total at 31
Funds Funds March 2015 March 2014

 
£000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed Assets
Investments 0 453 453 427 

Total Fixed Assets 0 453 453 427 

Current Assets
Stocks 70 0 70 25 
Debtors 73 2 75 241 
Investments 162 0 162 227 
Cash at bank and in hand 44,295 2 44,297 36,955 

Total Current Assets 44,600 4 44,604 37,448 

Creditors: Amounts falling due
within one year 534 2 536 275 

Net Current Assets 44,066 2 44,068 37,173 

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 44,066 455 44,521 37,600 

Provisions for Liabilities and Charges 0 0 0 0 

Total Net Assets 44,066 455 44,521 37,600 

The Funds of the Charity
Capital Funds:

Endowment Funds 0 455 455 422 

Income Funds:
Unrestricted 44,066 0 44,066 37,178 

Total Charity Funds 44,066 455 44,521 37,600 

A separate Trustees Report and Accounts for the Christie Charitable Fund will be available from 31 January 2016 and can be obtained from the Finance 
Department on 0161 446 8091 or via the Charity Commission website at www.charity-commission.gov.uk.
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The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 
Wilmslow Road 
Manchester M20 4BX 
United Kingdom

Phone 0161 446 3000 
Fax 0161 446 3977 
www.christie.nhs.uk

Keep up-to-date with all our news from the latest 
Christie developments to charity events.

Join us on Facebook  
www.facebook.com/TheChristieNHS

Follow us on Twitter @TheChristieNHS


	1Annual Report Cover_A4_AWK
	2Blank
	3parliament cover sheet
	4Blank
	5Contents
	6About us
	7Chair and Chief Executive's statement
	8Composition of the board
	9Business review v2
	10Financial performance
	11aQuality report part 1 and part 2
	11bQuality report indicator 1, 2, 3
	11cQuality report indicator 3 continued
	11dQuality report statements of assurance
	11eQuality report Part 3
	12Improving patient care
	13PPI (focusing on the people who count)
	14 2020 vision
	15Research
	16School of oncology
	17Sustainability
	18Staff 2014-15
	19Equality & Diversity
	20Awards and accolades
	21charity highlights
	22Membership
	23Council of governors
	24Board of directors
	25Code of governance
	26remuneration report
	27Statement of accounting officer's responsibilities
	28annual governance statement
	29Independent auditors report
	30Quality report appendices
	31Foreword
	32CHRISTIE Audited Accounts v2.pdf
	Intro
	Foreword
	SOCI
	SOFP
	SOCIE GROUP
	SOCIE FT
	Cashflow
	Accounting policies
	Op seg, pool
	income
	op exp
	op leases
	staff
	better payment
	fin rev & costs
	intangible 
	tangible
	tangible contd
	Assets under finance leases
	investments
	Investments & inventories
	receivables
	Cash & KSF
	payables
	borrowings
	provisions
	conting & commits
	finance lease
	losses & Related party
	Fin instrument
	Fin ass & liab
	PDC PPA & PBalSheet
	Charitable Reserves
	Charity SOFA
	Charity BS

	32CHRISTIE Audited Accounts v2.pdf
	Intro
	Foreword
	SOCI
	SOFP
	SOCIE GROUP
	SOCIE FT
	Cashflow
	Accounting policies
	Op seg, pool
	income
	op exp
	op leases
	staff
	better payment
	fin rev & costs
	intangible 
	tangible
	tangible contd
	Assets under finance leases
	investments
	Investments & inventories
	receivables
	Cash & KSF
	payables
	borrowings
	provisions
	conting & commits
	finance lease
	losses & Related party
	Fin instrument
	Fin ass & liab
	PDC PPA & PBalSheet
	Charitable Reserves
	Charity SOFA
	Charity BS

	32CHRISTIE Audited Accounts v2.pdf
	Intro
	Foreword
	SOCI
	SOFP
	SOCIE GROUP
	SOCIE FT
	Cashflow
	Accounting policies
	Op seg, pool
	income
	op exp
	op leases
	staff
	better payment
	fin rev & costs
	intangible 
	tangible
	tangible contd
	Assets under finance leases
	investments
	Investments & inventories
	receivables
	Cash & KSF
	payables
	borrowings
	provisions
	conting & commits
	finance lease
	losses & Related party
	Fin instrument
	Fin ass & liab
	PDC PPA & PBalSheet
	Charitable Reserves
	Charity SOFA
	Charity BS

	32CHRISTIE Audited Accounts v2.pdf
	Intro
	Foreword
	SOCI
	SOFP
	SOCIE GROUP
	SOCIE FT
	Cashflow
	Accounting policies
	Op seg, pool
	income
	op exp
	op leases
	staff
	better payment
	fin rev & costs
	intangible 
	tangible
	tangible contd
	Assets under finance leases
	investments
	Investments & inventories
	receivables
	Cash & KSF
	payables
	borrowings
	provisions
	conting & commits
	finance lease
	losses & Related party
	Fin instrument
	Fin ass & liab
	PDC PPA & PBalSheet
	Charitable Reserves
	Charity SOFA
	Charity BS

	32CHRISTIE Audited Accounts v2.pdf
	Intro
	Foreword
	SOCI
	SOFP
	SOCIE GROUP
	SOCIE FT
	Cashflow
	Accounting policies
	Op seg, pool
	income
	op exp
	op leases
	staff
	better payment
	fin rev & costs
	intangible 
	tangible
	tangible contd
	Assets under finance leases
	investments
	Investments & inventories
	receivables
	Cash & KSF
	payables
	borrowings
	provisions
	conting & commits
	finance lease
	losses & Related party
	Fin instrument
	Fin ass & liab
	PDC PPA & PBalSheet
	Charitable Reserves
	Charity SOFA
	Charity BS




